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CORRIGENDA
At page 252, footnote 6, the page number of the report cited should read 341.
At page 501 in the first line c. 203 should read c. 49.
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TO THE

SUPREME COURT OF CANADA
APPELS A LA COUR SUPREME DU CANADA

American Cyanamid Co. v. Charles E. Frosst & Co. [1965] 2 Ex. C.R. 355.
Appeal pending.
Breton v. La Reine [1965] 2 R.C. de 'E. 30. Appel interjeté.

Canada Malting Co. Lid. v. Burnett Steamship Co. Lid. [1965] 2 Ex.C.R.
257. Motion to quash granted.

Canadian National Railway Co. v. Palmer [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 305. Appeal
pending,

Cimon Lid. v. Bench Made Furniture Corp. et ol [1965] 1 Ex.C.R. 811. Appeal
discontinued.

Crown Trust Co. (McArdle Estate) v. Minister of National Revenue [1964]
Ex.C.R. 941; [1965] S.C.R. 723. Appeal dismissed.

Dobieco Lid. v. Minister of National Revenue [1963] Ex.C.R. 348. Appeal
allowed.

Dubiner v. Cheerio Toys & Games Lid. [1965] 1 Ex.C.R. 524. Appeal and
cross-appeal dismissed.

Falconbridge Nickel Mines Lid. v. Minister of National Revenue [1965] 2
Ex.C.R. 77. Appeal dismissed. Cross-appeal allowed.

Guaranty Trust Co. of Canada (Towle Estate) v. Minister of National Revenue
[1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 69. Appeal pending.

Harris v. Minister of National Revenue [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 653. Appeal
pending,.

Hoechst Pharmaceuticals of Canade Lid. et ol v. Gilbert & Co. et al [1965]
1 Ex.C.R. 710. Appeal dismissed.

Hoffman-LaRoche Ltd. v. Bell-Cratg Pharmaceuticals Division of L.D. Craig
Ltd [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 266. Appeal pending.

Lade v. Minister of National Revenue [1965] 1 Ex.C.R. 214. Appeal dismissed.

Manniz Ltd. v. N. M. Paterson & Sons Lid. [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 107. Appeal
dismissed.

Minister of National Revenue v. Gault [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 684. Appeal pending.

Minister of National Revenue v. Highway Sawmills Lid. [1965] 2 Ex.C.R.
297. Appeal pending.

National Capital Commission v. Munro [1965] Ex.C.R. 579. Appeal pending.

Queen, The v. Canadian Pacific Railway Co. [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 222. Appeal
discontinued.

Queen, The v. Murray et ol [1965] Ex.C.R. 663. Appeal pending.

Radio Corp. of America v. Philco Corp. (Delaware) [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 197,
Appeal pending.
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viii APPELS A LA COUR SUPREME DU CANADA

Saint John Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. Lid. v. Deputy Minzster of National
Revenue for Customs & Exzcise et al [1965] 1 Ex.C.R. 802. Appeal
allowed.

Silhouette Products Lid. v. Prodon Indusiries Lid. [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 500.
Appeal pending.

Steer v. Minister of National Revenue [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 458. Appeal pending.

Traver Investments Inc. et al v. Umon Carbide & Carbon Corp. et al [1965)
2 Ex.C.R. 126. Appeal pending.

Vincent v. Minister of National Revenue [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 117. Appeal
pending.

Wian, Robt. C., Enterprises Inc. v. Mady et al [1965] 2 Ex.C.R. 3. Appeal
discontinued.
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2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA {19651

BETWEEN: 1063
ROBERT C. WIAN ENTERPRISES, INC. .. Appricant; & o™

1965
AND —
Jan. 11

DAVID MADY, GEORGE MADY, —
ALBERT MADY, NORMA MADY
and MICHAEL MADY trading under
the firm name or style of “BIG BOY
DRIVE-IN” and MADY’S BIG
BOY LIMITED .................

Trade Marks—Registration—Ezpungement of registration—Validity of
registration—Confusion of trade marks—Trade mark made known in
Canada—User of trade mark not registered under Trade Marks Act
by person other than plaintiff—Circulation of publications in the
“ordinary course of commerce”—Trade mark made known by a person
by advertising sponsored by someone else—Affidavit evidence that
something is “well known in Canada’—Method of obtaining affidavit
evidence that something is “well known in Canada”—Meaning of
“well known wm Canada”—Burden of proving no abandonment of trade
mark—Requirement that registrant be satisfied he is entitled to use
trade mark sought to be registered—Effect of lack of statement in
application that applicant satisfied he is entitled to use trade mark
sought to be registered—Trade Marks Act, 8. of C. 19563, c. 49, ss. 2(n),
(0) and (t), 5, 6(1 and (2), 16, 17(1), 18(1), 19, 29, 49, 66, 67 and 58(3).

The plaintiff (applicant) seeks the expungement of the registration of two
trade marks registered by the defendants “Big Boy Drive-In” registered
as No. 103,521, and “Big Boy” registered as No. 105,286, the entries in
the Register in the case of both trade marks showing that they have
been used in Canada since April 12, 1955. The trade mark “Big Boy
Drive-In” relates to services, namely, “The dispensing of various types
of food and specifically a hamburger” and the trade mark “Big Boy”
relates to wares, namely, “Hamburgers”.

The grounds upon which the plaintiff seeks to have the registrations
expunged are that the registrations are invalid because on the date of
first user, accepted by the parties as being April 12, 1955, each of the
two trade marks was confusing with a trade mark that had been
previously made known in Canada “by any other person” within the
meaning of s. 16(1)(a) of the Trade Marks Act, and that the
defendants were not satisfied that they were entitled to use their trade
marks in Canada as required by s. 29, para. (z) of the Trade Marks Act.

Held: That in order to show that the trade marks under consideration
were, prior to April 12, 1955, made known in Canada by some other
person, the plaintiff must establish that, (a) the trade marks were,
prior to April 12, 1955, used by the plaintiff in the United States in
associgtion with wareg or services, (b) that such wares or services were,
prior to April 12, 1955, advertised in association with the trade marks in
(i) any printed publication circulated in Canada in the ordinary
course of commerce among potential dealers in or users of such wares
or services, or (ii) radio broadcasts, as defined in the Radio Act,
ordinarily received in Canada by potential dealers in or users of such
wares or services, and (¢) that such trade marks had, prior to April 12,
01540—13%
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1965 1955, “become well known in Canada” by reason of “such . . .
R;);r_.)C. advertising”.
Wiman 2. That to bring itself within the exception under s. 16 of the Trade Marks
ENTERPRISES, Act, the plamntiff must establish that each trade mark attached was
Inc. “confusing” with a trade mark that had been made known in Canada
DAVIDvM ADY 1in the manner set out in 5. 5 of the Act at the date on which the
et al. applicant for registration of the trade mark “first so used it”.

3. That 1n addition to having established that the trade marks had been
“made known in Canada” by the plaintiff itself prior to April 12, 1955,
within the meaning of those words as defined by s. 5 of the Act, the
plaintiff must also have discharged the burden imposed upon it by
s. 17(1) of the Act, of showing that 1t had not abandoned the confusing
trade marks at the date of advertisement of the defendant’s applica-
tions and it must have established that the trade marks attached were
“confusing” with the trade marks so made known within the meaning
of that word as defined by s. 6 of the Act.

4. That regardless of the effect of United States legislation in relation to
the facts of this case, user by some person other than the plaintiff of
trade marks that are not registered under the Canadian Trade Marks
Act cannot be regarded as user by the plaintiff of these trade marks
for the purposes of s. 5 of the Act by virtue of s. 49 thereof.

5. That the provisions of s. 49 of the Trade Marks Act cannot, by any
strain placed on their words, be interpreted as applying to user that
is not in accordance with a registration under that section in respect
of a trade mark that is registered under the Canadian Act.

6. That s. 49 of the Trade Marks Act has no application to user of a frade
mark registered under United States law by a person other than the
registered owner pursuant to some United States legislative scheme for

: letting persons other than owners of trade marks use them for dis-
tinguishing their goods or wares.

7. That the plaintiff’s attack on the defendants’ registrations by virtue of
the wording of s. 16 of the Trade Marks Act fails because the plaintiff
has failed to establish “user” of its United States trade marks by it in
the United States.

8 That circulation of publications in the “ordinary course of commerce” is
accomplished by putting the publications into the hands of members of
the public either as subscribers or as persons purchasing from news-
stands or other outlets that exist for getting such publications into the
hands of the public.

9. That the affidavit of Robert C. Wian, sworn on August 25, 1961, is
rejected on the ground that the evidence contained therein is based on
information and belief and not on personal knowledge and so is not
admassible as this is not an interlocutory motion for the purposes of
Rule 168 of the General Rules and Orders of this Court, and, even
if 1t were, the evidence would be inadmissible because the affidavit
does not give the grounds of belief.

10. That it is doubtful whether s. § of the Trade Marks Act can be read
as providing that a trade mark is deemed to be made known in Canada
“by a person” by virtue of advertising distributed or published in
Canada when that advertising was sponsored by some other person.

11. That a thing may be regarded as known in Canada if it is known only
in some part of Canada but it is not “well known” in Canada unless
knowledge of it pervades the country to a substantial extent. A trade
mark cannot be regarded as “well known in Canada” when knowledge
of it is restricted to a local area in Canada, but it must be “well known”
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across Canada “among potential dealers in or users of” the wares or 1965
services with which it is associated. Rosr. C.

12. That the plaintaff has adduced no evidence to discharge the burden Wian
imposed upon it by s. 17 of the Trade Marks Act to establish that it ENTERPRISES;
had not abandoned its trade marks at the date of the advertisement
of the denfendants’ applications for registrations of their trade marks Daym Mapy
under the Canadian Act. etal.

13. That it cannot be argued by the plaintiff that the defendants could not
have been satisfied that they were entitled to use the trade marks in
Canada in association with the wares or services described in the
applications; as required by s. 29, para. (i) of the Trade Marks Act,
when the plaintiff has failed to establish that the registrations were
otherwise invalid.

14. That there is no provision in the Trade Marks Act under which the
failure of the defendants to include in their applications for registration
of their trade marks a statement that they were satisfied that they
were entitled to use the trade marks in Canada in association with the
wares or services described in the applications, is a basis for finding
that the registrations are nullities.

Practice—Effect of United States formal judgment or Decree—Affidavits
based on information and belhef—Failure to state grounds of belief in
affidavit based on information and belief—Value of afidavits obtained
by suggestive questioning of deponents—Rule 168 of General Rules
and Orders.

Held: That the formal judgment or “Decree” made by a United States
court in an action in which the plaintiff in these proceedings was a
party and in which 1t obtained judgment against a third party on the
United States trade mark registrations in 1ssue in this case, affidavit
evidence of which judgment was filed by the plaintiff, can have no
evidentiary value or binding effect as between the plaintiff and the
defendants because not only has the doctrine of res judicata no
application where the parties are not the same but the evidence in
the United States case may well have been quite different from the
evidence m this case.

2, That there is some question of the value of affidavits filed by the plaintiff
to establish that its trade marks had become well known in Canada
prior to April 12, 1955, by reason of radio broadcasts ordinarily received
in Canada, where they have been obtained as a result of questioning
that suggested to the deponents the crucial date of April 1, 1955
concerning which their evidence was required.

3. That evidence of mmdividuals as to whether something was “well known
i Canada” at a specific time, can be relevant to the question to be
decided only if 1t be shown (a) by what scheme or survey the persons
to give evidence were chosen, and (b) by what method such persons
were questioned as to their knowledge of the question.

4. That it is of the utmost importance that the evidence submitted to
establish that something was “well known in Canada” at a specific time,
be considered in the Lght of the methods that were employed mn
selecting the deponents so that the Court can assess whether or not
they are in any way representative of the body of opmion or knowledge
that 1s being assessed. It is equally important that it be established
that the deponents were not induced to give their tfestimony by
leading questions or other improper practices.

5. That the application 1s dismissed.
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APPLICATION to strike out a trade mark.

The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Cattanach at Ottawa.

Christopher Robinson, Q.C., Donald Sim, Q.C. and James
D. Kokonis for the applicant.

David Watson for defendants.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

CarranacH J. now (January 11, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

Section 56 of the Trade Marks Act, c. 49 of the Statutes
of Canada of 1953, confers on this Court jurisdiction, on
the application of any person interested, to order that any
entry in the register of trade marks kept under that Act
be struck out on the ground that, at the date of such applica-
tion, the entry does not accurately express or define the
existing rights of the person appearing to be the registered
owner of the mark. Section 57 provides that such an applica-
tion shall be made either by the filing of an originating
notice of motion, by counter-claim, or by statement of
claim in an action claiming additional relief under the Act.
This proceeding was originally instituted on November 26,
1959, by filing a statement of claim claiming other relief
under the Act in addition to an order expunging certain
trade mark registrations. That statement of claim was
amended in accordance with an order of President Thorson
dated April 20, 1961 to limit the relief claimed to the claim
for an order expunging the trade mark registrations and, on
May 4, 1961, he made an order that the Statement of
Claim “be deemed to be an originating notice of motion”.
A “Statement of Defence and Reply to Originating Notice
of Motion” was filed on May 9, 1961. While, therefore, these
proceedings must be regarded as having been originated by
an originating notice of motion, as the issues are defined
by documents entitled Statement of Claim and Statement
of Defence, and as the parties are described therein as
“Plaintiff” and “Defendants” respectively, I shall so refer
to them in these reasons for judgment.

The entries in the Register that the plaintiff seeks to have
expunged are No. 103,521 and No. 105,286. No. 103,521



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965] 7

shows the defendants David Mady, George Mady, Albert 1965
Mady, Norma Mady and Michael Mady, trading as Big Boy Rosr.C.
Drive-In of 356 Ouellette Avenue, Windsor, Ontario 88 Exmmprssss,
registrants of the trade mark “Big Boy Drive-In” in II‘;C
respect of services, namely, “The dispensing of various types Davip Mavy
of food and specifically a hamburger” and shows that it has ot al.
been “Used in Canada since April 12, 1955”. No. 105,286 Cma_{ﬁ‘:h"-
shows the same defendants as registrants of the trade mark

“Big Boy” in respect of wares, namely, “Hamburgers” and

shows that the trade mark has also been “Used in Canada

since April 12, 1955”.

The principal ground upon which the plaintiff seeks to
have the registrations of these trade marks expunged is
that the registrations are invalid, by virtue of s-s(1) of s. 18
of the Trade Marks Act because the above named defendants
were not the persons entitled to secure their registration
under s-s(1) of s. 16 of that Act, which reads as follows:

16. (1) Any applicant who has filed an application in accordance with
section 29 for registration of a trade mark that is registrable and that he or
his predecessor in title has used in Canada or made known in Canada in
association with wares or services is entitled, subject to section 37, to
secure its registration in respect of such wares or services, unless at the date
on which he or his predecessor in title first so used it or made it known
it was confusing with

(a) a trade mark that had been previously used in Canada or made
known in Canada by any other person;

(b) a trade mark in respect of which an application for registration
had been previously filed in Canada by any other person; or

(¢) a trade name that had been previously used in Canada by any
other person.

The sole ground upon which the plaintiff contends that the
aforesaid defendants were not entitled to have their trade
marks registered under s-s(1) of s. 16 is that, upon the
date of first user, which is accepted by both parties as being
April 12, 1955, each of their trade marks was “confusing”
with a trade mark ‘“that had been previously . . . made
known in Canada by any other person” within the meaning
of those words in para. (a) of that subsection. To succeed,
therefore, the plaintiff must have established
(a) that each of the defendants’ trade marks was, on April
12, 1955, “confusing” with some other trade mark
within the statutory meaning given to that word by
s-s8. (1) and (2) of s. 6 of the Trade Marks Act, and

(b) that such other trade mark had, previous to April 12,
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1965 1955, been “made known in Canada” by some other
Bgvm. C. person within the statutory meaning given to that
IAN

ENTREPRISES, expression by s. 5 of the Trade Marks Act.
I propose to consider first what the plaintiff must have

DAvn; i\lrIADY established to have shown that a trade mark was, previous
et at.

7" to April 12, 1955, made known in Canada by some other
Cattanach J. pergon. Sections 5 and 17(1) of the Trade Marks Act read
as follows:

5. A trade mark is deemed to be made known in Canada by a person
only if it is used by such person in a country of the Union, other than
Canada, in association with wares or services and

(a) such wares are distributed in association with it in Canada, or

(b) such wares or services are advertised in association with it in

(i) any printed publication circulated in Canada in the ordinary
course of commerce among potential dealers in or users of
such wares or services, or )

(ii) radio broadcasts, as defined in the Radio Act, ordinarily
received in Canada by potential dealers in or users of such
wares Or services,

and it has become well known in Canada by reason of such distribution
or advertising.

17. (1) No application for registration of a trade mark that has been
advertised in accordance with section 36 shall be refused and no registration
of a trade mark shall be expunged or amended or held invalid on the
ground of any previous use or making known of a confusing trade mark or
trade name by a person other than the applicant for such registration or
his predecessor in title, except at the instance of such other person or his
successor in title, and the burden lies on such other person or his successor
to establish that he had not abandoned such confusing trade mark or trade
name at the date of advertisement of the applicant’s application.

It is admitted by the defendants that the United States of
Ameriea, the country in which the plaintiff claims to have
established user of a trade mark is “a country of the Union”
within the meaning of those words in s. 5 and the plaintiff
does not make any claim to have brought itself under para.
(a) of s. 5. Furthermore, having regard to s. 17, s-s(1), the
plaintiff cannot rely on a “making known of a confusing
trade mark” by any person other than itself. The plaintiff
must therefore have established, on this branch of the case,
(a) that a trade mark was, previous to April 12, 1955, used
by the plaintiff in the United States in association with
wares Or services,
(b) that such wares or services were, previous to April 12,
1955, advertised in association with that trade mark in
(i) any printed publication circulated in Canada in
the ordinary course of commerce among potential
dealers in or users of such wares or services, or
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(i) radio broadcasts, as defined in the Radio Act, 199

—
ordinarily received in Canada by potential dealers Rona:‘A S
in or users of such wares or services, and F.NTERPRISES,

(c¢) that such trade mark had, previous to April 12, 1955, IDLC
“become well known in Canada” by reason of “such . .. DAV ;\f‘m’
advertising”. Catiomen g

If the plaintiff has not established all such facts, this = —

attack on the registrations fails because s. 5 says that a

trade mark is deemed to be made known in Canada by a

person “only if” all three conditions have been satisfied

and the plaintiff must, to bring itself within the exception

under s. 16, establish that each trade mark attacked was

“confusing” with a trade mark that had been so made

known in Canada at the date on which the applicant for

registration of the trade mark attacked “first so used it”.

In addition to having established that a trade mark had

been “made known in Canada” by the plaintiff itself

previous to April 12, 1955, within the meaning of those

words as defined by s. 5, the plaintifi must also have dis-

charged the burden imposed upon it by s-s. (1) of s. 17,

supra, of showing that it had not abandoned the confusing

trade mark at the date of advertisement of the defendants’

application and it must, as already indicated, have estab-

lished that the trade marks attacked were “confusing” with

the trade mark so made known within the meaning of that

word as defined by s. 6 of the Trade Marks Act which reads

in part:

6. (1) For the purposes of this Act a trade mark or trade name is
confusing with another trade mark or trade name if the use of such first
mentioned trade mark or trade name would cause confusion with such last

mentioned trade mark or trade name in the manner and circumstances
described in this section.

(2) The use of a trade mark causes confusion with another trade mark
if the use of both trade marks in the same area would be likely to lead to
the inference that the wares or services associated with such trade marks are
manufactured, sold, leased, hired or performed by the same person, whether
or not such wares or services are of the same general class.

If the plaintiff has failed to bring itself within that part
of s. 16 on which it relies, read with ss. 5, 6 and 17, the
plaintiff relies, in the alternative, on another attack on
the registrations, which, in that event, will also have to be
considered.
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1865 Having outlined in a general way some of the obstacles

—
R%fANC' that the plaintiff must have overcome in order to succeed
Extererisws, in its main attack on the defendant’s registrations, I now

h,r,c propose to consider whether it has suceeeded in doing so.

Davip Mabny

et al. I shall first consider whether the plaintiff has established
Cattanach J. that trade marks, which it says were confusing with the
—  defendants’ trade marks, were, previous to April 12, 1955,
“used” by the plaintiff in the United States in association

with wares or services.

The trade marks on which the plaintiff relies as having
been made known by it in Canada within the statutory
meaning of those words in s. 5 are two trade marks in respect
of which it has United States registrations. The first is
United States registration No. 561, 430 registered January
30, 1950, being the word “Bob’s” and the figure of a stout
boy dressed in checkered overalls and holding up a ham-
burger from which a bite has been taken. It is registered for
“Hamburger sandwiches”. The second is United States
registration No. 574,742 consisting of the words “Big Boy”
registered on August 11, 1952. Tt is also registered for “Ham-
burger Sandwiches”.

There is no evidence that either of these trade marks has
been “used” by the plaintiff in the United States in respect
of wares or services. An affidavit of the president of the
plaintiff company shows that the plaintiff “adopted” these
trade marks (he misdescribes No. 561,430 as including the
words “Big Boy” rather than the word “Bob’s”) and says
that the plaintiff licenses and “has continuously since its
adoption of the trade marks . . . licensed restaurant owners
in the United States to use the Plaintiff’s trade marks” but
nowhere does this affidavit, or any of the other affidavits
constituting the material on which the proceedings were
heard pursuant to s-s(3) of s. 58 of the Trade Marks Act,
show any user of these trade marks by the plaintiff in the
United States or elsewhere.

What the plaintiff does rely on as user by it of the trade
marks in the United States is user of the trade marks, or one
of them, by the operators of certain “drive-in” restaurants
in the State of Michigan by a person other than. the
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plaintiff.! The plaintiff’s case, on this alternative, is that
such user was pursuant to a “Franchise Agreement”

11

1965
oyt
Rosr. C.

between the plaintiff and Fred Elias, Louis Elias and John EN'riumsms,

Elias, co-partners doing business under the firm name and
style of “Dixie Drive-In”, that such user was in compliance
with certain provisions in the United States law permitting
user of a trade mark by some person other than the owner
of the trade mark, that United States law conferred on such
user the quality of being the same as user by the owner
of the trade mark and that such user therefore acquired the
character of user by the owner of the trade mark for the
purposes of the Canadian T'rade Marks Act by virtue of the
“Registered User” provisions to be found in s. 49 of that Act.

Much of the evidence suggests that the Michigan
restaurants in question were operated by an incorporated
company and not by the partnership “Dixie Drive-in”.
(See affidavit of Gabriel W. Kassaf and the cross-examina-
tion thereon). I do not find it possible on the evidence to
find that the restaurants in question were operated by the
partnership known as “Dixie Drive-in”. For that reason,
if that trade mark has not been registered by the plaintiff
must fail. There are, moreover, other grounds for reaching
the same conclusion.

The second ground for this conclusion is that, on the facts
of this case, no user of a trade mark by a person other than
the plaintiff can be regarded, for the purpose of s. 5 of the
Canadian statute, as user by the plaintiff of that trade mark,
if that trade mark has not been registered by the plaintiff
under Canadian legislation.

To appreciate the plaintiff’s argument, it is necessary to
review certain provisions in the Canadian statute. Section
2(t) defines “trade mark” to mean, for present purposes, a
mark that is used “by a person” for the purpose of
distinguishing, or so as to distinguish, wares or services

1 One argument of the defendants with which I do not propose to deal,
because of the way in which I propose to dispose of the case, should
be mentioned at this point. That argument is that neither the user
or advertising relied on by the plaintiff is related 10 the plaintiff’s

trade mark “Big Boy” because it was, in fact, user and advertising
of the trade mark “Elias Brothers Big Boy”.

NC.
v.
Davio Mapy
et al.

Cattanach J.
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E‘E manufactured, sold, . . . or performed “by him” from those
Roer.C. manufactured, sold, . . . or performed “by others”. This,

ENTXVR;A&ES, indeed, as I understand it, is the public policy justification
Il‘;c for trade mark law—the public are entitled to be protected
Davm Mavy from being deceived as to the source of the goods or services
“al that it buys or obtains. So we find that s. 19 provides that
Cattanach J. registration of a trade mark, with certain immaterial ex-
ceptions, confers on the owner “the exclusive right” to its

use throughout Canada. This character of a trade mark

as being distinctive only of the goods of the owner of the

trade mark so that it is a means whereby the public can

have assurance that goods that they purchase are the goods

of the person with whom they have dealt in the past, and in

whom they have acquired confidence, is subject to a major
exception engrafted on Canadian trade mark law for the

first time in 1953 by s. 49 of the present statute. This section
provides for registration of a person other than the owner

of a registered trade mark as a “registered user”, who
thereupon becomes entitled to use the trade mark in accord-

ance with the terms of the registration, which user is called
“permitted user”, and “permitted user” has, by virtue of s-s.

(3) of s. 49, “the same effect for all the purposes of this Act

as a use thereof by the registered owner”. Registration of a
registered user is accomplished pursuant to the joint applica-

tion of the registered owner and the proposed registered

user, who must show the Registrar, among other things, the
relationship existing between them, the degree of control

by the owner of the trade mark over the permitted user,

the conditions or restrictions proposed with respect to the
permitted user and the Registrar is authorized to approve a

person as a registered user “if he is satisfied that . . . the

use of the trade mark . . . by the proposed registered user

would not be contrary to the public interest”. It is not
necessary for me to consider any of the many problems that

may arise as to the precise character of the duty so imposed

on the Registrar. Having regard to the inherent nature of

trade marks as being a device to protect the public from
deception, I am confident that the Registrar will feel bound

to ensure that no proposed user is registered in favour of

any person until he is satisfied that the “terms of his
registration” are such that the public will not be deceived

either as to the quality of the goods or services in respect
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of which the permitted user is to be employed or as to the ﬁﬁf

person with whom they are dealing, or as to the source of Rogr.C.
the goods or services that they are acquiring. I consider that ENTERIQQSES,
it is important to have explored the nature of the legislative Il;‘f'
scheme contained in s. 49, at least to this extent, because of Davo Mavy
its relevance to the testing of the plaintiff’s argument con- ¢t al.

cerning the applicability of the United States legislation. ~CattanachJ.

I am of opinion that, regardless of the effect of the United
States legislation in relation to the facts of this case, user
by some person other than the plaintiff of trade marks that
are not registered under the Canadian Act cannot be
regarded as user by the plaintiff of these trade marks for
the purposes of s. 5 of the Canadian Act by virtue of s. 49
thereof, the only provision to which my attention has been
drawn in this connection.

The first three s-ss. of s. 49 of the Trade Marks Act read:

49. (1) A person other than the owner of a registered trade mark may
be registered as a registered user thereof for all or any of the wares or
services for which it is registered.

(2) The use of a registered trade mark by a registered user thereof in
accordance with the terms of his registration as such in association with
wares or services manufactured, sold, leased, hired or performed by him,
or the use of a proposed trade mark as provided in subsection (2) of
section 39 by a person approved as a registered user thereof, is in this
section referred to as the “permitted use” of the trade mark.

(3) The permitted use of a trade mark has the same effect for all
purposes of this Act as a use thereof by the registered owner.

By definition in s. 2(0) “registered trade mark’” means
a trade mark that is on the “register” and “register”, by
definition in s. 2(n) means the register kept under s. 26
of the Canadian Act. Subsection (1) of s. 49 therefore
provides for registration of a person as “registered user”
of a trade mark that is on the register kept under the Cana-
dian Trade Marks Act. Subsection (2) of s. 49 says that the
use of such a trade mark by a “registered user” in accord-
ance with the terms of his registration is referred to in
that section as “permitted user” and s-s(3) then provides
that “permitted user” has the same effect “for all purposes
of this Act”—i.e., the Canadian Trade Marks Act—as use
by the registered owner. These carefully worked out provi-
sions cannot, by any strain placed on their words, be
interpreted as applying to user that is not in accordance
with a registration under s. 49 in respect of a trade mark
that is registered under the Canadian law. Section 49 has



i4

1965

——
Rosr. C.
Wian
ENTERPRISES,
Inc.

.
Davip Maoy
etal.

Cattanach J.

2 R.C.dePE. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

no application to user of a trade mark registered under
United States law by a person other than the registered
owner pursuant to some United States legislative scheme
for letting persons other than owners of trade marks use
them for distinguishing their goods or wares.

In the circumstances, I doubt that there is any need for
me to refer to the United States law. There are, however,
certain comments that I may usefully make. The provision
in the United States law upon which the plaintiff relies
for having use by a third person under a “Franchise Agree-
ment” treated as use by the plaintiff for the purpose of s. 5
of the Canadian Trade Marks Act is 8. 5 of the United States
Trademark Act, 1946, United States Public Law 489, 79th
Congress, Chapter 540, which reads as follows:

Where a registered mark or a mark sought to be registered is or may be

used legitimately by related companies, such use shall inure to the benefit
of the registrant or appheant for registration, and such use shall not affect
the validity of such mark or of its registration, provided such mark is not
used in such manner as to deceive the public.
None of the evidence concerning the United States law
provides any assistance as to the effect of this statutory
provision that, where a registered mark may be used
legitimately by related companies, such use “shall inure to
the benefit of the registrant”, which are the words upon
which the plaintiff is presumably relying. These words may
well have a clear meaning in relation to the remainder of the
United States law. I am certainly not prepared, without
some evidence as to the effect of this part of United States
law, to assume that they mean that such use shall be deemed
to be user by the registrant, not merely as a drafting device
within the context of the United States trade mark law, but
as a matter of the exercise of any sovereign power that the
United States Congress may have to deem something done
within its territorial limits, to be for universal purposes,
something that it is not.

In any event, I am not satisfied upon the evidence—both
as to the facts of the case and as to the foreign law—that
this is a case of “related companies” within the above United
States statutory provision. That provision must apparently
be read with s. 45 of the United States Trademark Act,
1946, which reads as follows:

The term “related company” means any person who legitimately con-
trols or is controlled by the registrant or applicant for registration in respfzct
to the nature and quality of the goods or services in connection with which

the mark is used.
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There are three affidavits by United States lawyers, a large Eﬁf
part of which I must disregard because such part expresses Rosr.C.
opinions as to the application of the United States law to Enmnlﬁgws,
the facts of this case—as the respective lawyers understand 111;"."-
them—or deposes to facts on information and belief. As I Davio Maoy
understand the situation, these affidavits are admissible in ot al.
so far as the deponents expound, as experts, the law of the CattanachJ.
United States, and in so far as they may state facts within
the personal knowledge of the depondents. It is my function
to make findings as to the facts of this case, to make findings
as to the applicable United States law (which is a question
of fact in these proceedings) and to apply the United States
law to the facts. Furthermore, I should comment on the use
made in these affidavits of a formal judgment or “Decree”
made by a United States Court in an action in which the
plaintiff in these proceedings was a party and in which it
obtained a judgment against a third party on these same
United States trade mark registrations. Such a judgment
cannot, of course, have any evidentiary value or binding
effect as between the plaintiff and the defendants. Not only
has the doctrine of res judicata no application where the
parties are not the same but the evidence in that case may
well have been quite different from the evidence here. In
any event, there is some indication that it is a consent
“Decree”. Taking into account the considerations to which
I have referred, I cannot, on the evidence, reach the con-
clusion that the plaintiff controls the operators of the Elias
Drive-Ins “in respect of the nature and quality of the
goods” in connection with which the United States trade
marks are used under the Franchise Agreement. Not only
is the provision in that agreement as to the character of
the hamburgers to be sold under the agreement of the most
superficial and unrestrictive character, but there is no
provision for supervision or control and the evidence
indicates that actual control concerning “nature and
quality of the goods” is, practically speaking, non-existent.

For all the above reasons, I hold that the plaintiff has
failed to establish “user” of its United States trade marks
by it in the United States. That being so, its attack on the
defendants’ Canadian registrations by virtue of the wording
of s. 16 fails, for such user of its alleged “confusing” trade
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marks is one of the conditions precedent to the success of
such attack. It may, nevertheless, be well to consider

Wian
Exmrerisus, Whether the plaintiff has succeeded in establishing the facts

Inc

required to overcome the second hurdle in the way of its

Davi Moy success on this attack. For that purpose, it is necessary to

et al.

assume that the plaintiff did establish that the two trade

CattanachJ. marks of which it is the registrant under the United States

law were ‘“used” by the plaintiff in the United States

previous to April 12, 1955, in association with hamburger

sandwiches or indeed in respect of other goods or services,

and, on that assumption, consider whether such wares or

services were advertised previous to April 12, 1955, as

required by s. 5 of the Canadian Trade Marks Act, in

association with those trade marks in

(a) any printed publication circulated in Canada in the
ordinary course of commerce among potential dealers in
or users of such wares or services, or

(b) radio broadcasts, as defined in the Radio Act, ordinarily
received in Canada by potential dealers in or users of
such wares or services.

As far as printed publications circulated in Canada in the
ordinary course of commerce among potential dealers in
or users of the plaintiff’s wares or services are concerned, the
evidence is meagre indeed. I reject any consideration of
menus, napkins, bags, comic books and the like, which got
into the hands of Canadians who patronized United States
restaurants, on the ground that such articles were not pub-
lications circulated in Canada in the ordinary course of
commerce. (In my view circulation of publications in the
“ordinary course of commerce” is accomplished by putting
the publications into the hands of members of the public
either as subscribers or as persons purchasing from
newsstands or other “outlets” that exist for getting such
publications into the hands of the public.) I reject the
evidence of circulation in Canada to be found in the affidavit
of Robert C. Wian, sworn on August 25, 1961, on the ground
that such evidence is based on information and belief
and not on personal knowledge and so is not admissible
as this is not an interlocutory motion for the purposes of
Rule 168 of the General Rules and Orders of this Court. (It
would not be admissible even on such a motion because the
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affidavit does not give the grounds of belief.) I reject the 9%

evidence in Dick Johnson’s affidavit of the distribution in Rosr.C.
Hamilton, Ontario of 300 copies of the November 1953 issue EN‘;EQ,IEISES,
of the magazine “Cooking for Profit” because that was a I:‘"-
distribution by United Gas & Fuel Company of Hamilton, Davio Maoy
Ontario, which fact, in my view, in the absence of further ‘_’fﬁl_'
evidence, indicates that this was not a “circulation in the CattanachJ.
ordinary course of commerce”’, and because there is no
evidence that this was a distribution among potential
dealers in or users of hamburger sandwiches. Finally, I reject
the evidence of the average Sunday circulation of the “Los
Angeles Examiner” in Canada during the last nine months
of 1952 because William Merritt’s affidavit, by giving the
source of his information, makes it clear that this informa-
tion is not of his own knowledge and because there is no
evidence that any of such publications contained any refer-
ence to the plaintiff’s trade marks in relation to its wares. (I
am left to surmise as to whether the “Sunday Pietorial
Review of the Los Angeles Examiner” for June 8, 1952,
referred to in Robert C. Wian’s affidavit, is one of the
publications referred to in Merritt’s affidavit. In any event,
evidence as to averages does not establish that this particular
Sunday issue ever reached Canada.) There is, in my view,
no satisfactory evidence that there was any advertisement of
the plaintiff’s wares in any publication that comes within
s. 5(b) (i) of the Trade Marks Act.

With reference to radio and television broadeasts (it is
common ground that television is included in radio as
defined in the Radio Act), the defendants have not really
challenged the plaintiff’s claim that there was, in Detroit,
some radio advertising of “Big Boy”, or of trade marks of
which the words “Big Boy”’ formed a part, in connection
with hamburger sandwiches and other food products, that
was received in Windsor previous to April 1, 1955. The
evidence of what such advertising amounted to is, how-
ever, far from satisfactory. It seems clear from an examina-
tion of paras. 2 and 3 and the final sentence of para. 4 of
the affidavit of Robert Baldrica, and the exhibits referred to
in such parts of his affidavit, that none of the information
contained therein is based on his personal knowledge and
it must therefore be rejected as evidence. The second

sentence of the fourth paragraph becomes meaningless in
91540—2
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E?E the absence of the first sentence therein. The last paragraph

Roer.C. of his affidavit does not seem to add anything material. The

EN&;‘}%SESJ first two sentences of that paragraph do not indicate that the

h:c. advertising of Elias Brothers referred to therein has any-

Davio Mavy thing to do with “Big Boy” products and the last paragraph

“al Joes little more than state the deponent’s “belief” that what

Cattanach J. gomeone else says is “accurate”. William H. Morgan’s

affidavit is also of dubious value as evidence in these

proceedings. He states that ‘“according to the records

available to me”, Elias Drive-Ins and Restaurants sponsored

certain radio spot announcements during relevant periods

and gives details of the announcements showing, among

other things, a number of references to the “Big Boy” trade

mark in relation to hamburgers and other food items.

Apparently based on the same source of information, rather

than his own knowledge, his affidavit also states that there

was a similiar sponsorship of eight “TV’ spot advertise-

ments “from January, 1955 to December 24, 1955”. On cross-

examination, he swore that all eight “TV” advertisements -

took place in December 1955 and that prior to December

1955 “It was radio and strictly radio”. On re-examination,

he said that his own “personal knowledge” was restricted to

the fact that “we paid this amount in December of ’55 for

eight TV spots”. Subsequently, he re-attended for further

cross-examination and, on further re-examination, put in

documents purporting to be copies of records kept by

“advertising agents” of which his personal knowledge, as it

appeared from his evidence, was, to say the least, somewhat

dubious. Having regard to the importance to the plaintiff’s

case of establishing that the advertising in question took

place before April 12, 1955, and to the fact that no admis-

sible evidence was led as part of the plaintiff’s original case

of the fact that such broadecasts did take place before that

date, I am not inclined to place much credence on the

evidence put in at this stage through a witness who appears

to have had no personal knowledge of the crucial fact. I

conclude, therefore, that there was, previous to April 12,

1955, radio advertising, by an operator of restaurants in

Detroit and other Michigan places, of hamburgers and other

kinds of food in association with the trade name “Big Boy”

but that it has not been established that there was similar
advertising on television before that time.
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One thing is clear and that is that the plaintiff has never

suggested that it, the plaintiff, had sponsored any such Roer.C.
advertising by either radio or television that is ordinarily EN;‘Z;‘QIJISEB,
received in Canada, but rather it was sponsored by the Igc.
Michigan interests. There is considerable doubt in my mind Davm Map¥
that s. 5 can be read as providing that a trade mark is ot al.
deemed to be made known in Canada “by a person” by CattanachJ.
virtue of advertising distributed or published in Canada
when that advertising was sponsored by some other person.
If this is the result, there does not seem to be much point in
the requirement, in s-s (1) of s. 17, that the attack on the
registration must be made by the person by whom the mark
had been made known. I need not, having regard to the fact
that my conclusion with regard to the application of s. 5
is supported by several other grounds, come to any final
conclusion on that question.

I come now to the third and final question with regard to
the application of s. 5, namely: Has the plaintiff established
that the plaintiff’s trade mark “Big Boy” became “well
known in Canada”, previous to April 12, 1955, by reason of
“such . . . advertising”—that is, such radio advertising.

In this connection, the plaintiff filed 54 affidavits by per-
sons residing in Windsor. Of these, after cross-examination
of the deponents, counsel for the plaintiff indicated that he
did not rely on 17. Reference to these cross-examinations
makes it clear that the deponents in these 17 affidavits
swore to the truth of the contents of the affidavits without
any regard to the particular words in the affidavits. Indeed,
the affidavits seem to have been drafted by a lawyer having
regard to his view of what evidence would support the
plaintiff’s case and it would seem that they were then put
in the hands of a layman who distributed them to others in
the hope that persons might be found who would subsecribe
to them, which hope was, strangely enough, realized. This
sorry performance, taken with the answers given on the
cross-examination of many deponents on whose affidavits
the plaintiff does rely, is calculated to create a very strong
anxiety concerning the reliability of evidence of this kind.

It is not that there would appear to be any intent on the
part of the deponents to mislead (all of those to whom I
refer have quite candidly contradicted, under oral examina-

tion, the statements contained in their affidavits, until it
91540—2}
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was brought home to them that they were so contradicting
themselves when they tended to try to go back to the state-
ments in their affidavits) it is rather the willingness of so
many members of the public to put their names, even under
oath, to documents stating that which some person wants
them to say without any regard to the relationship of the
words used in the documents to their actual knowledge of
the facts. In any event, deduction of this group of 17
affidavits from the total of 54 leaves 37 affidavits that the
plaintiff relies upon on this branch of the case. The affidavits
of 15 other deponents state that the deponents knew of
“Big Boy” hamburgers in the United States prior to April
1, 1955, this date having been chosen, apparently, by the
plaintiff's agents as being just before April 12, 1955, but
attribute their knowledge exclusively to information
received during personal visits to the United States or
to some means other than advertising of the kind con-
templated by s. 5. These 15 affidavits may also be deducted
from the total to which consideration must be given in con-
sidering whether there is evidence to support the plaintiff’s
contention on this third question that arises under s. 5. If
anything, they should be considered as weighing against
the plaintiff on that question because they tend to show that,
if the plaintiff’s trade mark “Big Boy” was well known in
Canada prior to April 12, 1955, it was so known, in a large
part at least, by reason of persons living in Canada having
seen the plaintiff’s trade mark while in the United States
rather than by reason of advertising that reached them in
Canada. (This is borne out by an affidavit filed by the
plaintiff showing that 1,000 Canadians each month patron-
ized the Michigan Big Boy Drive-Ins.) I am left, therefore,
with 22 affidavits that have to be considered. These
affidavits bear dates during the latter part of 1961 and may
be noted briefly as follows:

1. DORIS AKERMAN: states that “long before April 1955”
she watched in Windsor television programmes from
Detroit on which Elias Brothers advertised Big Boy
Hamburgers and that “as of April 1, 1955”, the trade
mark “Big Boy” was well known to her to refer to
hamburgers available in FElias Brothers Drive-In
restaurants in Detroit. This deponent is an employee
or agent of a Market Research concern and conducted
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the survey as a result of which the other thirty-six 968

deponents whose affidavits were relied upon were Rosr.C.
prevailed upon to sign affidavits. She obviously had an ENggmms’
interest in the effectiveness of the evidence that she Igc-
gathered. I do not think much weight can be put on Davm Moy

this deponent’s evidence. ool ak
. . Cattanach J.
2. ALBERT ALOFS: states that “prior to April 1st, 1955”, e

Big Boy hamburgers were well known to him to be
sold in the United States by Elias Bros. in Detroit
and that such familiarity arose by seeing, in Canada,
television advertisements associated with the KElias
operation “prior to April 1st, 1955”. On cross-examina-
tion, on September 25, 1961, this deponent says he saw
advertisements on television in relation to Big Boy
“about three or four or five or six years ago” and at
another point in his cross-examination, speaking of
when he saw such advertisements, he says “ ... I
wouldn’t bet any money on it. I would say that I saw it
before ’55” and, later on, he said, “It’s a hard thing for
me to say. I believe I saw it before 1955 myself. If there
is any proof that I am wrong—then I'm wrong”. Still
later in his cross-examination he said, “For the exact
date, no, I'm not certain” and “I think in my own mind
that I saw it before that date”. This deponent does
not persuade me that he remembers Big Boy television
advertising before April 1, 1955.

3. DONALD ANDERSON: After referring to certain pro-
grammes on “T.V. from 1949 to 1952”, on which a
person ate a hamburger from FElias Brothers, and
another programme of no specified date advertising
Elias Brothers, this deponent says that he can remem-
ber when the Big Boy store appeared in Windsor
and he thought at the time that it must have some
connection with the United States Big Boy and that
he had heard of Big Boy hamburgers either on radio
or television “before the Windsor Big Boy opened”.
On cross-examination this deponent was unable to be
more precise concerning the time when he heard Big
Boy programmes than “from 1956 to 1958 or perhaps
later” or “perhaps earlier”. This deponent’s evidence
is of little, if any, support for the plaintiff’s case.
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4.

MARIE BARSONA: states that “prior to April 1955” she
heard Big Boy hamburgers advertised over the radio
by Elias Brothers of Detroit and “as of April 1955” Big
Boy hamburgers therefore indicated to her hamburgers
available at Elias Brothers Stores in Detroit. On cross-
examination, this deponent seems sure that she knew
of the Detroit Big Boy before 1955 by reason of having
been in Detroit but could not be at all sure that she had
heard radio advertising of 1t before that time although,
on re-examination, her confidence in that recollection
seems to0 have revived. This deponent’s recollection of
‘he time of the broadcasts is too vague to assist the
plaintiff.

. FRANK BENDER, SR.: states that he remembers hearing

Elias Brothers Big Boy Hamburgers advertised on
television over a spot news programme in 1954 and
1955 and that as a result of seeing this advertised on
television he stopped on two ocecasions at their stores
in Detroit, the first occasion being in the summer of
1954 or 1955. On cross-examination, this deponent
did not seem to be too sure whether what he heard was
radio or television and it does not seem to have been
too clear in his mind whether it was during the summer
of 1954 or 1955. This evidence does not help to establish
that the plaintiff’s trade marks were well known in
Canada by reason of radio advertising before April 12,
1955.

. THOMAS L. BRADLEY: deposes that he saw television

advertising of Big Boy hamburgers, that he can remem-
ber the Mady Big Boy store opening in Windsor and
that he had heard of Big Boy hamburgers through radio
or television “before that time” but, on cross-examina-
tion in December 1961, he stated that he first heard
such television advertising “about four years ago” and
that he does not think that he heard it on radio. This
evidence does not support the plaintiff’s case.

GORDON CARRUTHERS: deposes that he can remember
hearing television advertising of Big Boy hamburgers
in 1952, 1953, 1954 and perhaps 1955. He also says that
he thinks the same advertising was done over radio
stations at the same time. This witness’s evidence stood
up under cross-examination.
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8. VIOLET coOPER: deposes that Big Boy hamburgers were L%_,""
well known to her prior to April 1, 1955 “from having Roer.C.
seen and visited Elias Brothers Drive-Ins selling Big ENTE;API:ISEB,
Boy Hamburgers in the Detroit area”. Her only refer- Igc
ence to broadecasts is her evidence on re-examination, Davio Mapy
after having been cross-examined on her affidavit, when etal.
she stated that she heard it on broadeasts but cannot CattanachJ.
remember whether she might have gathered any
knowledge regarding Big Boy from the radio before she
visited it in 1954. This deponent’s evidence is of no
value to the plaintiff’s case.

9. MRS. KATHERINE DELANEY: deposed that, prior to April
1, 1955, she was familiar with Big Boy hamburgers on
sale in the Detroit area and that this familiarity arose
from watehing television advertising received by her in
Windsor prior to April 1, 1955. On cross-examination,
this lady was not too sure when she heard the
advertising on radio and on “TV” but she thought it
was in 1955 and on re-examination she indicated that
she first heard it on radio in 1955 but she did not know
the date. This evidence does not establish that radio
advertising was heard in Canada before April 12, 1955.

10. pauL FiELDS: deposes that he became aware of the
name Big Boy hamburgers through purchasing them,
on visits to Detroit, prior to April 1, 1955. While there
are no references in his affidavit to radio or television
advertising, there are references to television adver-
tising in his cross-examination and re-examination but
he does not know whether he saw it before 1955. His
evidence does not bear on the point in issue.

11. NicHOLAS TFTINTUK: deposes that the name Big Boy
hamburgers was familiar to him in the Detroit area
prior to April 1, 1955 and that he was aware of Big
Boy hamburgers and Big Boy Drive-In restaurants in
the Detroit area for several years prior to April 1, 1955
by reason of having seen and patronized Big Boy
Drive-In restaurants selling Big Boy hamburgers in
this area. On cross-examination, he contradicted the
statement that he patronized the restaurant. While
there is no reference in this affidavit to this deponent
having heard or seen any advertising and there was no
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12.

13.

14.

such reference in his cross-examination, on re-examina-
tion, after confirming that the name “Big Boy Ham-
burgers” was familiar to him in the Detroit area prior
to April 1, 1955, he was asked “And how were you
aware of the existence of Big Boy Hamburgers in the
Detroit area?” and he replied, “I think by advertising
over the radio”. This last answer is a statement, albeit
by way of an afterthought, that a person in Windsor
heard radio advertising of Big Boy prior to April 1,
1955.

HORACE D. JACOBS: deposes that, prior to April 1, 1955,
Big Boy hamburgers were well known to him as refer-
ring to hamburgers available at Big Boy Drive-In
restaurants in the Detroit area and that such knowl-
edge arose as a result of watching television advertising
received by him in Windsor prior to April 1, 1955. On
cross-examination he said that his first viewing of the
television advertising might have been anywhere from
1954 to 1956. Nevertheless, on re-examination, he
indicated that there was nothing in his affidavit he
would want to retract. I doubt that such evidence can
have much, if any, weight in establishing that Big Boy
had become well known in Canada by reason of tele-
vision programmes seen before April 12, 1955.

OLGA KANUIK: deposes that she was a waitress, that,
prior to April 1, 1955, she was familiar with the fact
that Big Boy hamburgers were on sale in the Detroit
area and that this familiarity arose through radio
advertising heard in Windsor prior to April 1, 1955.
On cross-examination, this deponent denied that she
was a waitress, stated that she had told the person
doing the survey that she first heard the name Big
Boy “in the States”, and had told her that she “had
heard advertising on the television and radio”. On
cross-examination and re-examination, it became very
clear that this deponent had not known and had never
pretended to know, whether she first heard this
advertising in 1954, 1955 or 1956. Her evidence is of no
value except that she, and a sister, both say, according
to her, that they first heard of Big Boy “in the States”.

LILLIAN KoTT: deposes that “prior to April 1, 1955, she
was familiar with the name Big Boy hamburgers in
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the Detroit area and that she learned about them Eﬁf
through television and radio advertising from Detroit Rosr C.
stations received in Windsor prior to April 1, 1955” and Emmégxsms,
also from seeing Big Boy Drive-In restaurants in the Igc-
United States when on trips to Detroit. On cross- Davio Maby
examination, she denied having seen advertisements of e_tﬁ
Elias Brothers Big Boy restaurants on television, she CattanachJ
was not sure about having seen Big Boy hamburgers
advertised on television but she was sure that she had

heard advertisements of Big Boy Drive-Ins on radio;

however, she could not be sure of the date—it could be

from 1954 to 1956. On re-examination, she became
persuaded that she should stick to the date in her

affidavit but her recollection is obviously not very

clear.

15. pENISE MARCOUX: deposes to having eaten Big Boy
hamburgers in Detroit, to having heard of them on
radio or television, but on cross-examination, it became
quite clear that she could not be sure that she heard
such advertising any earlier than 1956, which is not
surprising when it is noted that, in November, 1961,
she was only 20. Her evidence does not have any
relevance to the state of affairs before April 12, 1955.

16. EpITH MARENLITTE: deposes that she remembers hear-
ing Big Boy hamburgers advertised on the radio for
years before the Big Boy store opened in Windsor. On
cross-examination, the witness was very vague about
the years she heard the advertising but seems to think
it was in the neighbourhood of “’56 or ’57, something
like that”. Her evidence is of no value on the question
I am considering.

17. ALcIDE MENARD: deposes that the trade mark Big Boy
as applied to hamburgers available at Elias Big Boy
Drive-Ins in the Detroit area was well known to him
prior to April 1, 1955 and that he became familiar with
Big Boy hamburgers through watching advertising by
Elias Stores on television programmes received by him
in Windsor prior to April 1, 1955. On cross-examination,
this witness was not sure of the time that he saw the
television programmes and agreed that the words “prior
to April 1, 1955” should be deleted from the second
part of his affidavit. On re-examination, it became
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1965 clear that this witness had got to know about the
Rosr. C. Detroit Big Boys back as far as November, 1953 through
Wian « ey .
ENTERPRISES, visiting Detroit.
Inc. .
v, 18. pDANNY PANCHUK: deposes that the name Big Boy ham-
D‘“’I‘?t %_“DY burgers was well known to him as referring to ham-
Cator—1 burgers on sale in the Detroit area prior to April 1,

— 1955 and that his familiarity with the name Big Boy
hamburgers arose from seeing the Big Boy stores
advertising Big Boy hamburgers in Detroit prior to
1955 and also television advertising received by him in
Canada prior to 1955. On cross-examination, this wit-
ness makes it quite clear that he could not remember
when he heard either television or radio advertising of
Big Boy. He said that it might be 1955, 1956 or 1957.
He just did not know.

19. NORMAN 8. PICKERING: deposes that he remembers hear-
ing Big Boy hamburgers advertised over a radio station
between the fall of 1954 and the spring of the year
1955 and that he can remember the year because he was
working in Blenheim in a garage at the time and the
radio was on all day. This witness’s evidence is sub-
stantially unchanged by cross-examination.

20. VIRGINIA ROBINSON: deposes that she was, prior to
April 1, 1955, aware of the existence of Big Boy ham-
burgers in the Detroit area and that she became aware
of the existence of Big Boy hamburgers in that area
through listening to and seeing in Windsor radio and
television advertising sponsored by the Elias Company
and broadcast on Detroit stations. On cross-examina-
tion, this deponent says that the reference to television
advertising should be deleted from her affidavit and
she agreed that she could not say definitely in what
year she first heard it on radio. On re-examination, she
decided that she could remember having heard the
radio advertising in 1954 because that was the year her
mother was sick.

21. LEO SOULLIERE: deposes that he became familiar with
Big Boy hamburgers which were available in stores in
the Detroit area before April 1, 1955 by watching
television advertising by Detroit Big Boy stores in
Windsor. On cross-examination, he agreed that the



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [19651 27

woman who had first interviewed him had suggested l_gfi_i

the date in 1955 that went into his affidavit and on RoerC.
being asked if he was sure of the exact date he replied, ENT‘LVR?RI;SES,
“Not, positive, no. I doubt if you would”. However, he If)‘"
did remember a specific occasion when he ate a Big Davio Maoy
Boy hamburger at a drive-in in Detroit in March of etal.
1954 and he thought that he did see it on television CattanachJ.
before that time, because that was what made him

stop at one of the drive-ins.

22. FRANCES SZARAN: deposed that Big Boy hamburgers
meant to her hamburgers available at drive-ins in the
Detroit area and that she became familiar with the
name Big Boy hamburgers prior to April, 1955 by hear-
ing them advertised on the radio on a Detroit station
which she listened to in Windsor. Her evidence was not
weakened on cross-examination.

On the crucial question as to whether the plaintiff’s trade
mark “Big Boy’”’ had become well known in Canada, prior
to April 12, 1955, by reason of radio broadcasts ordinarily
received in Canada, all but eight of these affidavits are, in
my view, of no evidentiary value. The remaining eight are
those of Doris Akerman, Gordon Carruthers, Nicholas
Iftiniuk, Lilliam Kott, Norman 8. Pickering, Virginia
Robinson, Leo Soulliere and Frances Szaran. Of these eight
affidavits, all but those of Gordon Carruthers, Norman §.
Pickering and Frances Szaran are, for the reasons that I
have indicated, of dubious value. In addition, there is
some question in my mind as to whether any attention can
be paid to them having regard to the fact that, except for
that of Doris Akerman, they were obtained as a result of
questioning that suggested to the deponents the crucial
date of April 1, 1955 concerning which their evidence was
required. See re Edward Hack' per Morton J., at pages 108
et seq. For this reason, it does seem to me that this evidence
is hardly worthy of having any weight attached to it.
Furthermore, it should be noted, there was no pretence of
complying with the minimum requirement for establishing
what is necessary if this type of evidence is to be employed.
In my view, the evidence of individuals on this kind of ques-
tion—that is, whether something was “well known in

1(1941) 58 R.P.C. 91.
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Eff Canada” at a specific time—can only be relevant to the
vaerlg-NC- question to be decided if it be shown
ENTI;;I;RISES, (a) by what scheme or survey the persons to give evi-

v. dence were chosen, and
Davip Mapy .

etal. (b) by what method such persons were questioned as to
Cattanach J. their knowledge of the question.

It is of the utmost importance that the evidence of the
respective deponents be considered in the light of the
methods that were employed in selecting them so that the
Court can assess whether or not they are in any way
representative of the body of opinion or knowledge that is
being assessed. It is equally important that it be established
that the deponents were not induced to give their testimony
by leading questions or other improper practices. See
Registrar of Trade Marks v. G. A. Hardie & Co. Ltd.* per
Kellock J. at page 501.

For the above reasons, I find that the plaintiff has failed
to establish that its trade marks were “well known in
Canada” prior to April 12, 1955 by reason of radio advertis-
ing.

Furthermore, I think I should say that there was really
no attempt, in my view, to show that the plaintiff’s trade
marks were “well known in Canada”. All that was attempted
was to show that they were well known in Windsor, Ontario
and surrounding territory. It was argued that, if they were
well known in any part of Canada, they were “well known
in Canada” within s. 5 of the Trade Marks Act. I cannot
accept this view. A thing may be regarded as known in Can-
ada if it is known only in some part of Canada but, in my
view, it is not “well known” in Canada unless knowledge of
it pervades the country to a substantial extent. When s. 5
speaks of a trade mark that is “well known in Canada by
reason of . . . advertising”, it suggests to me such well
known trade marks as “Coca-Cola”, “Esso”, Chevrolet” and
“Frigidaire”, names that are seen in magazine advertising
in homes in every part of the country, or are heard or seen
on radio or on television in every part of the country. I do
not think a trade mark can be regarded as “well known in

1119491 S.CR. 483.
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Canada” when knowledge of it is restricted to a local area
in Canada. In my view it must be “well known” across RosrC.
Canada “among potential dealers in or users of”’ the wares Emmfﬁgsms,
or services with which it is associated. In this connection  INC:

I have to refer to Registrar of Trade Marks v. G. A. Hardie Davm Mavy
& Co. Ltd.* per Kellock J. at p. 500. The question there ctal.
was whether it had been proved that a trade mark had been CattanachJ.
so used by any person “as to have become generally recog-

nized by dealers in and/or users of the class of wares in
association with which it had been used” so as to be registra-

ble under s. 29 of the Unfair Competition Act, 1932, and

Kellock J. said that the affidavits relied upon were quite
insufficient to establish the “general” recognition required.

He added “There must be hundreds of other laundries and

there are many other hospitals throughout the country, none

of which are so much as mentioned in the evidence.”

1965
——

A final reason why, in my view, the plaintiff’s prineipal
attack on the defendants’ Canadian registrations must fail
is that it has adduced no evidence to discharge the burden
imposed upon it by s. 17 of the Trade Marks Act to estab-
lish that it had not abandoned its trade marks at the date
of the advertisement of the defendants’ applications for
registration of their trade marks under the Canadian Act.

In the circumstances, I need not consider whether the
trade marks of the defendants’ were confusing with the
plaintiff’s trade marks.

The plaintiff’s alternative attack on the defendants’ regis-
trations is based on the requirement in para. (i) in s. 29, of
the Trade Marks Act that an application for registration
must contain “a statement that the applicant is satisfied
that he is entitled to use the trade mark in Canada in
association with the wares or services described in the
application”. There is no suggestion that the defendants’
applications did not contain this statement. The argument
is based on the assumption that the defendants were not in
fact “satisfied” that they were entitled to use their trade
marks in Canada and, that being so, their applications were
not “in accordance with section 29” ag required by s-s (1) of
8. 16.

1119491 SCR. 483.
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In the first place, I am of the view that this contention is
not open to the plaintiff on the pleadings. There is no allega-
tion in the Statement of Claim that the defendants were
not “satisfied” as to their entitlement to use the trade marks

V.
Davim Mavy they are registering and no evidence was led by either the

et al.

Cattanach J.

1964
—
dée. 14

1965
——
janv.12

plaintiff or the defendants directly related to that question.

Secondly, I cannot accept the submission that the
defendants could not have been satisfied that they were
entitled to use the trade marks in Canada in association
with the wares or services described in the applications.!
Indeed, I have difficulty in conceiving how this alternative
contention can succeed when the plaintiff has failed to
establish that the registrations are otherwise invalid. How
can the defendants have been so obviously not entitled
that the Court must infer that they were not “satisfied”
that they were entitled when the plaintiff has been unable
to show that they were not entitled?

Finally, with regard to this alternative contention, I am
unable to find that there is any provision, in the very
carefully worked out code of provisions in the Trade Marks
Act, under which this is a basis for finding that a registra-
tion is a nullity.

This contention, in my view, also fails.

The application is dismissed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.

10f course the defendants could not use the trade mark to pass their
goods off as the goods of the plaintiff, but there is no reason why they
could not so use the trade mark as not to be guilty of that tort.

ENTRE:

MARIE BLANCHE BRETON ............ REQUERANTE,
ET

SA MAJESTELAREINE ................... INTIMEE.

Couronne—Pétition de droit—Chute sur trottoir—Entretien de trotioir—
Réparation de trottoir—Responsabilité de la Couronne—Blessures cor-
porelles—Loi sur la responsabilité de la Couronne, S. du C. 1952-53,
1-2 Blis. II, ch. 30, art. 8(1)(b)—Charte de la Cité de Québec, 8. de Q.
19 Geo. V, ch. 95, art. 417—Question de droit soumise.
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Victime d’une chute sur un trottoir apparemment dangereux la requérante
poursuit en recouvrement des dommages subis et, au soutien de sa
réclamation, allégue que le trottoir en question est soit la propriété de
la Couronne, soit sous sa garde et & qui en incombe lentretien et la
réparation & titre de propriétaire du terrain vis-d-vis du trottoir. Elle
ajoute que le fait causal de responsabilité est le résultat de la négligence
fautive de l'intimée. Comme défense & l'action lintimée plaide, en
résumé, absence de lien de droit entr’elle et la requérante, A I'instruc-
tion les parties soumirent, avec la permission de la Cour, la question
de droit suivante:

L'intimée dans la présente cause, & savoir Sa Majesté aux droits du
Canada, est-elle assujettie aux dispositions de l'article 417 de la
Charte de la Cité de Québec qui impose au propriétaire de chaque
immeuble ou terrain vis-3-vis un trottoir, I'obligation d’entretenir
et de réparer ledit trottoir? Ce dernier article édictant que:

417. Dans toutes les rues de la cité, les trottoirs doivent &tre faits,
entretenus et réparés par le propriétaire de chague immeuble ou
terrain vis-d-vis duquel ils doivent étre. Si tel propriétaire néglige
de faire, refaire, entretenir ou réparer, selon le cas, les trottoirs,
le chef de police lui donnera avis, par écrit, de faire ce qui est
prescrit au sujet de ces trottoirs . . . 8i, dans les huit jours suivant
Pavis, les travaux requis auxdits trottoirs n’ont pas été faits, alors
ces travaux seront faits par la corporation, qui peut s'en faire
rembourser le colit par le propriétaire . .

Jugé: Ce réglement décréte que, dans le territoire municipal de Québee,
Tentretien convenable des trottoirs est une charge de la propriété
riveraine. Corrollairement, la conelusion découlant du texte de I'ari.
3(1)(b) de la Lot sur la responsabilité de la Couronne, S. du C. 1952-53,
1-2 Elis. II, ch. 30, qui se lit comme suit:

3. (1) La Couronne est responsable «in torl»> des dommages dont elle
serait responsable si elle était un particulier en état de majorité et
capacité,

a) ...

b) & légard d’'un manquement au devoir afférent & la propriété,
Poccupation, la possession ou le contréle de biens.

est que la Couronne assume en tout point cette responsabilité du
propriétaire québécois. Cf. Thérése Deslauriers-Drago et Sa Majesté la
Reine [1963]1 Ex. C.R. 289, 4 la p. 290.

2° La réponse doit donc &tre affirmative & la question posée.

PETITION DE DROIT en recouvrement de dommages-
intéréts subis & la suite d’une chute sur un trottoir.

La cause fut instruite devant I'Honorable Juge Dumoulin,
4 Québeec.

André Desmeules pour la requérante.
Gaspard Co6té pour l'intimée.

La question de droit est exposée dans les motivés de la
décision que rend maintenant (12 janvier 1965) M. le Juer
DumovnIN:
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Par sa pétition de droit, la requérante, une employée du
ministére provincial des Terres et Foréts, & Québec, repré-
sente que, revenant de son travail, vers 5:00 heures de
Paprés-midi, le 9 aoflit 1962, et aprés la traversée de la
Grande-Allée «pour se rendre 3 un arrét d’autobuss situé
a I'angle sud-est de cette rue et de la Place Georges V, elle
aurait fait une chute sur le trottoir et se serait infligée
«une entorse grave 3 la cheville droite.»

Elle allégue ensuite, dans sa pétition amendée, au para-
graphe 3, que:

3. Le frottoir & 'endroit de 'arrét d’autobus est soit la propriété de
Tintimée, soit sous la garde de cette dernidre 3 qui en incombe l'entretien
et la réfection en sa qualité de propriétaire du terrain situé vis-a-vis du dit
trottorr.

Vient ensuite le paragraphe 5 qui explicite le fait causal
de responsabilité «dit 4 la faute et négligence de I'intimée
et plus précisément pour les raisons suivantes:

a) Elle a négligé par U'entremise de ses préposés, de tenir le trottoir
dont il g’agit en bon état d’entretien et de réparation;

b) Elle a gardé ce trottoir dans un état qui le rendait dangereux pour
ceux qui y circulaient.»
Comme suite immédiate de Paccident attribuable 3 cette
négligence fautive, la réclamante postule, 4 titre de dom-
mages-intéréts, un montant global de $3,659.

Dans son plaidoyer de défense, I'intimée nie les reproches
matériels formulés & son égard, et ajoute d’abondant que:
10. Elle n’avait aucune obligation, soit légale, soit contractuelle, de voir

& lentretien ou d’entretenir le trottoir sur lequel la requérante alldgue
g'étre blessée, et les dommages que la requérante prétend avoir alors subis,

par suite dudit accident, ne sont pas attribuables & un manquement & un
devoir afférant & I'Intimée.

Dol il s’ensuivrait que:
13. Il o’y a aucun lien de droit entre la requérante et I'Intimée.

A Taudition, les parties, se prévalant de la Régle 149
(Régles et Ordonnances Générales de la Cour de I'Echi-

quier du Canada), soumirent 1a requéte ci-aprés reproduite:

Par leurs procureurs soussignés, les parties en la présente instance
demandent respectueusement & cette honorable Cour de décider les points
de droit ci-aprés énumérés avant qu'il ne soit procédé a Pinstruction de la
pcrésente instance.

a) I'Intimée dans la présente cause, & savoir Sa Majesté aux droits du
Canada, est-elle assujettie aux dispositions de l’article 417 de la
Charte de la Cité de Québec qui impose au propriétaire de chaque
immeuble ou ferrain vis-i-vis un trottoir, I'obligation d’entretenir
et de réparer ledit trottoir?
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b) Subsidiairement, au cas d’une réponse affirmative 3 la question (a),
serablable obligation incombe-t-elle & 'Intimée, 3 savoir Sa Majesté
aux droits du Canada, méme si entre le trottoir dont il est fait état
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dans la pétition de droit de la requérante et la propriété de Sa La REne
Majesté vis-d-vis dudit trottoir, se trouvait, contigué 3 celui-ci, DumEl‘in 5

une mince lisitre de terrain appartenant 3 la corporation de la
cité de Québec?

Cette seconde soumission purement conjecturale aussi
longtemps qu’une preuve objective ne I'elit accréditée, fut
retirée par le procureur de lintimée, M® Gaspard Co6té,
qui déclara s’en tenir uniquement & la premiére question.

La solution du probléme ainsi posé ne me semble pas
soulever de grandes difficultés.

Et d’abord, que dit la loi pertinente, en 'espéce 1'arti-
cle 3 (1) et (b), chapitre 30, du statut 1-2 Elisabeth II,
qui a force astreignante depuis le 15 novembre 1954? Je
cite:

3. (1) La Couronne est responsable «in tort» des dommages dont elle
serait responsable si elle était un particulier en état de majorité et capacité,

a) ...
b) & légard d’'un manquement au devoir afférent & la propriété,
l'occupation, la possesion ou le contrdle de biens.

Pour les fins de la discussion, il est irréfutablement
acquis que P'une des propriétés du Gouvernement du Ca-
nada, dans la cité de Québec, le manége militaire et le
spacieux quadrilatére qui couvre Vespace entre cet édifice
et 1a ligne de rue, forment un ensemble immobilier «vis-a-
visy le trottoir de la Grande-Allée, ¢oté sud-est, immeubles
possédés et occupés par les préposés de I'intimée et soumis
au contrdle de ceux-ci dans I'exécution normale de leurs
devoirs.

Puisque Vapplication pratique de la Loi sur la responsa-
bilité de la Couronne en maticre d’actes préjudiciables
consiste & imposer & I'Ttat les mémes obligations qu’a
tout «particulier en état de majorité et de eapacités, de-
mandons-nous ce que serait en pareille occurrence ’obliga-
tion incombant au propriétaire québécois.

La Charte de la Cité de Québec forme une partie inté-
grante de la législation provinciale étant le statut 19
George V, chapitre 95, sanctionné le 4 avril 1929. L’art. 417
de cette loi de la Province de Québee, édicte que:

417. Dans toutes les rues de la cité, les trottoirs doivent &tre faits,

entretenus et réparés par le propriétaire de chaque immeuble ou terrain

vis-&-vis duquel ils doivent &tre. Si tel propriétaire néglige de faire, refaire,

entretenir ou réparer, selon le cas, les trottoirs, le chef de police lui
91540—3
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donnera avis, par écrit, de faire ce qui est prescrit au sujet de ces trot-
toirs . . . Si, dans les huit jours suivant l'avis, les travaux requis auxdits
trottoirs n’ont pas été faits, alors ces travaux seront faits par la corporation,
qui peut s'en faire rembourser le cofit par le propriétaire . . .

L’intention qui ressort de cette rédaction assez fruste est
que, dans le territoire municipal de Québec, 'entretien
convenable des trottoirs est une charge de la propriété
riveraine. Corollairement, la conclusion non moins nette
découlant du texte plus limpide de 1’art. 3(1) (b) de la Loi
fédérale précitée, est que la Couronne assume en tout point
cette responsabilité du propriétaire québécois dans les limi-
tes de la Cité.

La Cour doit done répondre affirmativement 2 la question
posée et décider que Sa Majesté la Reine aux droits du
Canada est assujettie aux dispositions de Part. 417 de la
Charte de la Cité de Québec qui impose au propriétaire
de chaque immeuble ou terrain vis-3-vis un trottoir, 1’obli-
gation de ’entretenir et de le réparer.

Cette loi, assez récente, sur la responsabilité de 1a Cou-

ronne (S.C. 1952-53, 1-2 Elisabeth II, ¢. 30) dont le con-
texte élimine toute disparité légale entre la Couronne et
le sujet, a été savamment étudiée par l’honorable Juge
Noél de notre Cour dans la cause Thérése Deslouriers-
Drago et Sa Majesté la Reinet, ou il fut écrit, inter alia,
que:
3. L’article 3(1)(b) de la Loi sur la responsabilité de la Couronne
prévoit, par contre, une responsabilité directe «& ’égard d’un manquement
au devoir afférent 3 la propriété, 'occupation, la possession, ou le contrdle
des biens». Une réclamation non recevable contre la Couronne sous Varticle
3(1)(a) pourrait 1’8tre sous I'article 3(1)(b) par suite d’une responsabilité
directe du maitre représenté par son préposé . . .

Quant aux frais, ils seront & la diserétion du juge de
I'instance principale.

Jugement conforme.

1719631 R.C. de I'E. 289 & la page 290.
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BETWEEN: 1964
HARRY TOPPER. . ..o Apprrzant; P17
1965
AND Jan. 13
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL T
RESPONDENT.
REVENUE ...,

Revenue—Income—Income tar—Deductibility of interest paid on money
borrowed by taxpayer and lent to a himited company—Participation of
taxpayer, through borrowed funds, wn furtherance of real estate project
—Income Tax Act, R 8.C. 1952, ¢ 148, ss. 11(1)(c) and 12(1)(a)

This 18 an appeal by the taxpayer from his reassessment for income tax for
the taxation years 1954 to 1957 inclusive. The appellant, a resident of
Toronto, Ontario and a fur dresser and presser by trade, formed with
others m 1953 an mvestment company ecalled Forest Hill Bulding
Limited and, as a condition of acquiring a one-third interest in the
common ghares of the Company, he was required to lend certamn sums
of money to the Company for the purpose of financing construction
of a proposed building On five occasions between July 1954 and
February 1955 the appellant borrowed a total of $59,000 from his bank
and mmmediately re-lent i1t to the Company. The appellant and the
others associated with him in Forest Hill Building Limited were also
agsociated m & like manner with respect to a sumilar company,
124 Richmond West Limited, incorporated in 1956, in which share
participation was likewise conditional on the appellant lending certamn
sums of money to the Company Although the appelant had also
borrowed money at imterest to lend to 124 Richmond West Limited,
the Company at no time paid him any mterest on the loans and yet
there was a profit distributed to the shareholders on its hiquidation

For the taxation years under review the appellant had claimed as a deduc-
tion m calculating his taxable mncome the mterest he had paid m each
of the years to the bank for the said sum of $59,000 he had borrowed
and lent to Forest Hill Building Iamited and on which he had received
no mterest from the Company.

Forest Hill Building Limited, in 1961, nearly a year after notices of
reassessment of the appellant’s income had been delivered, authorized
payment of mterest at the bank rate on the loans made to it by the
appellant and others and this was at least six years after the loans were
made, the payments being made retroactive to the dates of the loans.

Held: That the appellant’s acquiescence m not receiving any interest on
the money borrowed by him from the bank at interest for more than
six years and then receiving interest from the Company only at the
rate he was required to pay to the bank effectively disposes of his
allegation that he had lent the money to the Company in the hope and
expectation of receiving interest on the loans when the Company was in
a position to pay interest out of revenue.

2 That if the urge for dividends really prompted the appellant to borrow
money at mterest and lend it to the Company, as alleged by him, the
financial forbearance of the appellant for nearly a decade appears to be
more consonant with an outright participation, through borrowed funds,

in the furtherance of the real estate projects.
91540—3%
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1965 3. That the enabling condition for availing oneself of the exception set

ToPPER out in 8. 12(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act is that the “outlay or
v expense” be invested directly in the taxpayer’s personal trade, business

MINISTER OF or calling, and not fused with the funds or working capital of a distinet

%ﬁggg legal body.
R 4. That the appeal is dismissed.

APPEAL from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Dumoulin at Toronto.

Wolfe D. Goodman for appellant.
S. Silver and D. G. H. Bowman for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Dumouvrnin J. now (January 13, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

This is an appeal from a decision of the Tax Appeal
Board, dated June 28, 1963, respecting the income tax
assessments of the appellant for taxation years 1954, 1955,
1956 and 1957.

Harry Topper, of the City of Toronto, pursues the trade
of fur dresser and presser. In the statement of facts intro-
ductory of his appeal, at paragraph 1, he states that:

1. During the year 1953, the Appellant and others formed an invest-
ment company, Forest Hill Building Limited, herein called “the Company”,
As a condition of acquiring a one-third interest in the common shares of
the Company, the Appellant was required to lend certain sums to the
Company for purposes of financing construction of a proposed building.

In order to clarify the ratio linking loans and shares,
Harry Topper testified to a respective proportion of forty
percent of the funds advanced and one third of the shares
issued; (loans, 40%; shares, 33%).

On five occasions, spreading between July 28, 1954, and
February 23, 1955, the appellant borrowed a total of
$59,000 from the Toronto Dominion Bank “and imme-
diately re-lent the said sums to Forest Hill Building
Limited” (statement of facts, para. 2).

It should be noted that according to the evidence adduced
by one Steven Polon, erstwhile President of the now defunct
real estate enterprise whose corporate style was “124
Richmond West Limited”, this company stood as a twin
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venture to Forest Hill, both firms proposing to erect build- \l_gff
ings in Toronto for investment purposes. To:PER
Polon also identified “the shareholders. ..beneficially Mivistrr or

interested in each of these companies as the Topper group, %’;'fmrf’;é;

the Tannenbaum group and my own group”, the former Dumolin 3:
of the three consisting of “Victor and Harry Topper” and —
Mrs. Florence Topper, the latter’s wife. (cf. transeript, at
pages 9 and 10).
Mrs. Florence Topper is not a party to this case, but a
son, Victor Topper, also lodged, simultaneously with his
father, appeal no. A-1620 of this Court’s records for 1963;
both issues being heard jointly, on similar facts and points
of law, the sole difference relating to dates, amounts of
money lent and bank interest paid.
Resuming the thread of the instant suit, Harry Topper’s
payments in respeet of bank interest for the taxation period
1954 to 1957 inclusive reached a total of $5,279.17.
As for the two companies, one, 124 Richmond West Ltd.,
now wound-up, obtained its incorporation January 8, 1956,
the other, Forest Hill Brilding Ltd., December 28, 1953
(cf. transeript, pages 9 and 10).
The crucial explanations of the joint schemes are vouch-
safed in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part B of the appeal and
may be summarized thus:

1 the monies borrowed from the Toronto-Dominion Bank were
expected to produce income in the form of interest at six per cent
per annum to be received from the two companies.

2. the loans to Forest Hill Building Limited and 124 Richmond West
were a condition precedent to the acquisition of shares, which in
turn would earn income “in the form of company dividends”.

To these averments, the respondent, striking at the
root of the matter, counters concisely that . . .if the appel-
lant did pay interest to a bank in the years in question,
he was not entitled to deduct any such interest...as (it)
was not interest on borrowed money used for the purposes
of earning income within the meaning of paragraph (c)
of subsection (1) of section 11 of the Income Taxr Act
(Reply to Notice of Appeal, para. 6).

Written briefs were filed by the litigants elaborating at
greater length their contending viewpoints.

Counsel for the appellant, in the closing lines of his
memorandum, submits this two fold conclusion:
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17 (a) . .. the evidence clearly indicates that the monies borrowed
by the Messrs Topper from their bank were relent by them to Forest Hill
Building Limited and 124 Richmond West Lamited in the hope and expec-

MINISTER OF tation of receiving interest on these loans when these companies were 1n a

NATIONAL
REVENUE

position to pay interest out of revenues, and,
(b) that, in any event, even if the monies which they borrowed from

Dumoulin J. the bank were relent to these companies without any hope or expectation

of receiving interest on these loans (which is not admitted but expressly
demed), the monies were nevertheless relent in the expectation that by
domng so the Messrs. Topper would be enabled to earn dividends on their
shares 1n these companies, and that, m either event, the Messrs Topper are
entitled to deduct the Bank interest which they paid as “interest on
borrowed money used for the purpose of earning mcome .. from property”,
under section 11(1)(¢) of the Income Tax Act.

The course of my review will be set along those lines,
whose factual and legal appropriateness I shall attempt to
probe.

The oral evidence indisputably established, in relation to
the purported interest incentive, a sequence of rather un-
toward incidents. To begin with, it must be pointed out that
Steven Pclon, former President of 124 Richmond West
Ltd., still is Secretary of Forest Hill Building. This execu-
cutive’s cross-examination on the interest topic is quite
revealing, as the undergoing excerpts may prove. Mr. S.
Silver, for respondent, is the examining counsel:

Q Mr DPolon, my question was: whether the company itself was a
party to these arrangements (ie. future payment of interest on
eventual loans) at the time they were made?

At the time they were made, there was no company

Forest Hill Building Limited wasn’t mn existence at the time?

No

So, n fact, the company didn’t agree to pay mterest on these loans”
That must follow, mustn’t it?

Yes, but the principals, of course, agreed and whatever the principals
agreed to do naturally would necessarily follow (transcript, pp 23,
29, hines 23 to 33 and 2 to 6).

Nonetheless, this asserted effect did not trigger so in-
stantancous a ‘“follow-up” on the part of the executive
boards, chosen after both incorporations, of which Harry
Topper was not a member.

Mr. Polon has this to say in the matter of 124 Richmond
West Ltd.:

Q Was mterest, i fact, ever paid by 124 Richmond West Limited?

A No, 1t wasn't (Transcript, p 25, lines 31 to 33 and repeated on

p 32, lines 7 to 9)

This omission is all the harder to explain when coupled
with a surplus bearing liquidation as told by Mr. Polon
in these words:

B OOk
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After the property (owned by 124 Richmond West Ltd ) was sold there
was somewhat of a profit which was distributed in accordance with our
arrangements and the company was wound up, actually, because 1t was
a smgle purpose thing. (Transcript, page 26, lines 24-29).

I would subscribe to the respondent’s apt comment re-
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corded on pages 7 and 8 of his brief, from which I quote: Dumoulin J.

It 1s submitted that nothing could be a clearer indication that the
parties to these loan transactions never contemplated the payment of
interest Had the purpose of these loans been to earn mcome in the form
of 1nterest, 1t is submutted that they would have insisted on the payment
of interest in priority to the distribution of profits. Their failure to do so
and their acceptance of the presumably tax free capital gains distributed
to them on the winding-up of the company confirm the Respondent’s
submission that the receipt of interest was not their purpose in making
the loans

The twin venture, Forest Hill Building Limited, offers
a somewhat different picture, but this could well be in
appearance only. Harry Topper does not dispute the sug-
gestion of respondent’s counsel “that Forest Hill Building
never set up an amount on its balance sheet or in its
financial statement for the relevant years to indicate that

it owed you interest.”

On May 26, 1961, (cf. ex. A-2) a directors’ meeting
passed a resolution enacting that . ..the Company (Forest
Hill Building Ltd.) do pay interest at the rate of 6% per
annum to those shareholders having made advances to the
Company on the amounts so advanced, such interest to be
calculated from the date the said advances were made.”

It should not be overlooked, however, that this rather
belated decision was arrived at nearly seven years after
the initial advance, of July 28, 1954, and more than six
years after the last loan, on February 23, 1955.

Did the departmental re-assessments, dated July 28, 1960,
spur a failing intention, or possibly suggest a previously
forgotten initiative? All such surmises may be entertained
without, I trust, denoting an unduly skeptical mind.

A last link in this circumstantial chain seems no less
intriguing. Exhibit A-2, the May 26, 1961, resolution
authorizing eventual interest payment at a rate of six per
cent, corresponds to a nicety with that due to the lending
bank as Harry Topper readily admits. I quote from page 52
of the evidence, lines 9 to 28; Mr. Silver is cross-examining:

Q. Now, Mr. Polon had said that the interest was to be at the bank
rate?
A Yes.
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1965 Q. Would it be fair to say, Mr. Topper, that . . . the reason you set
ToPPER the rate of 6% was because you were merely trying to recover or
v recoup the interest you had paid to the bank?

MINISTER OF A. This is about the case. I had paid around 6% to the bank.
NATIONAL

Revexue  And six lines below this witness agrees he was not particu-
Dumoutin J.larly trying to make a profit “on the interest”.

T No better justification than the appellant’s own acquie-
scence is required to waive aside the first of the appeal’s
two submissions, and hold that earning of interest on loans
was not a prompting motive.

But, had it been a proven incentive, the appellant’s claim
would not derive therefrom any firmer support.

The Supreme Court of Canada dealt with a problem of
this kind in re: Canade Safeway Ltd. v. M.N.R.. One of
the issues concerned the deductibility of interest accruing
from bonds issued by the appellant for the taking over from
the holding company of a subsidiary enterprise. Speaking
for the majority of the Court, Honourable Mr. Justice Rand
expressed himself as follows:

It is important to remember that in the absence of an express statutory
allowance, interest payable on capital indebtedness is not deductible as an
income expense. If a company has not the money capital to commence
business, why should it be allowed to deduct the interest on borrowed
money? The company setting up with its own contributed capital would, on
such a principle, be entitled to interest on its capital before taxable income
was reached, but the income statutes give no countenance to such a
deduction . . . What iz aimed at by the section is an employment of the
borrowed junds immediately within the company’s business and not one
that effects its purpose in such an indirect and remote manner. (emphasis
added).

The mere substitution of an individual, namely, Harry
Topper, to the company in the precedent above, renders it

fully applicable here.

Very few lines need be written to dispose of Harry
Toppers’ alternate submission (equally true in the case of
Vietor Topper) that the borrowed funds served the purpose
of earning income in the form of dividends, periodically
produced by company shares.

Once more, unrebutted facts run counter to this conten-
tion.

When the loans were extended to Forest Hill Building
Ltd., the ultimate date being February 23, 1955, Harry
Topper did not own one share of that company’s capital

1119571 S.C.R. 717 at 727.
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stock, and neither he nor his son, Victor, became share- 1%

holders until their allotment, of 33 shares each, on June 17, To::l’m
1956 (cf. ex. R-2, R-3, R-4). .
Next, none of the two enterprises, neither Forest Hill %ﬁ’ﬁ&‘

Building nor 124 Richmond West Ltd., had, as yet, paid Dumoddin 1
a dollar in dividend when Harry Topper gave evidence —
before this court, September 17, 1964, as appears in the
transeript (page 53, lines 27 to 33):

Q. (By Mr. Silver) You never received a dividend from either Forest
Hill Building Limited or 124 Richmond?

A. Not yet. The company isn’t in a position to do it yet.

If an urge for dividends really prompted this deal, the
taxpayer’s patience must have been sorely tried after close
to a decade of negative results. Such financial forebearance
might appear more consonant with an outright participa-
tion, through borrowed funds, in the furtherance of two
real estate projects.

At all events, a pertinent section, possibly more so than
11(1) (¢), is, I believe, section 12, s-s (1)(a) preseribing
that:

12. (1) In computing income, no deduction shall be made in respect of

(a) an outlay or expense except to the extent that it was made or
incurred by the taxpayer for the purpose of gaining or producing
income from property or a business of the taxpayer. (italics
not in text).

The enabling condition for availing oneself of the excep-
tion is that the “outlay or expense” be invested directly in
the taxpayer’s personal trade, business or calling, and not
fused with the funds or working capital of a distinet legal
body.

It is, I know, poor taste to presume quoting one’s
decisions; yet, since the parties at bar referred to a
pronouncement of mine, I venture to take the liberty of so
doing to emphasize the opinion just expressed.

In the matter of Meyer Shuchat v. M.N.R.* “the appel-
lant borrowed money from the bank and reloaned it, interest
free, to a company, S. & G. Furs, Inc., of which he was
the controlling shareholder. He sought to deduct the interest
paid to the bank in computing his personal income.” (ecf.
Respondent’s brief, page 14). The Court held that:

8. & G. Furs, Inc, is a company duly endowed with its own legal
entity, completely separate from that of the appellant, and, therefore, had

1119631 C.T.C. 481 at 483.
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no financial connection whatever in law with Shuchat’s personal income.
If this assumption is exact, the money appellant borrowed from Canada
Trust Company and subsequently passed on to S. & G. Furs, Inc, was not
used for the purposes of earning his own personal income.

I can perceive of no significant differences between these
two cases.

For these reasons, the appeal is dismissed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.

BeTwERN:
VICTOR TOPPER ...................... APPELLANT;
AND
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL
RESPONDENT.
REVENUE .............c.... ...

This is an appeal from a decision of the Tax Appeal
Board, dated June 28, 1963, respecting the income tax as-
sessments of the appellant for the taxation years 1955, 1956,
1957 and 1958.

At the outset of the hearing, both litigants requested
and were granted leave to have this appeal tried and decid-
ed on the same evidence and according to the same texts of
law and jurisprudence as the joint issue of Harry Topper
v. Minister of National Revenue, bearing number A-1921 of
the records of this Court for 1963, (ante p. 35).

Consequently, each of the findings of fact and law in the
latter case will form an integral part of, and apply, to,
mutatis mutandis, the instant one.

For parity of reasons this appeal is dismissed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN: . E‘f
RADIO IBERVILLE LIMITEE ............ AppELiANT; 28
Jan. 19

AND —
BOARD OF BROADCAST GOVERNORS . .RESPONDENT.

Broadcasting—Radwo Broadcasting—Appeal from order of Board of Broad-
cast Governors—Notice to hcensee of alleged infraction—Opportunity
to licensee of bewng heard re alleged infraction—Board’s power to order
suspension of heence—Waiver by lcensee of particular statutory
requirement—Conclusion reached by Board wn absence of admission or
other material to support it—Power of Court on appeal from order of
Board—Broadcasting Act, S of C. 1958, c. 22, ss. 12(6) and 15(1) and
(8)—Radivo (AM) Broadcasting Regulations, s. 4(1).

Section 15(1) of the Broadcasting Act reads.

15. (1) Whenever in the opinion of the Board any licensee has violated or
failed to comply with any condition to his licence as described in sub-
section (5) of section 12 or in subsection (1) of section 13, the Board
may, after notice has been given to the licensee of the alleged violation
or failure and an opportunity has been afforded to the licensee of being
heard, order that the licence be suspended for a period not exceeding
three months, but such order 18 not effective until the expiration of
ten days after the making thereof.

On September 30, 1964 the Board of Broadcast Governors issued a notice
to the appellant reciting that in 1ts opinion the appellant bad failed to
comply with a condition of its licence under the Radio Act by failing
to enter certain information in its program log of April 24, 1964,
appomting a time and place at which the appellant would be heard with
regard to the failures 1n question and notifymg the appellant that
the evidence of such failures might be examined at the offices of the
Board The president of the appellant company attended at the offices
of the Board and on October 24 he wrote to the Board setting out
his position with respect to the matters referred to in the notice In
the letter he admitted certamn maccuracies m the station’s program log
during the week of April 19 to April 24 but did not admut all of
the failures set out mn the notice

At the Board hearing the president of the appellant company made a
statement in which he referred to his letter but he was not questioned
by the members of the Board, and the Board never did consider the
evidence referred to m the notice as in its opinion the interested party
had acknowledged a violation of the Regulations

By an order which recited that the Board was of the opinion that conditions
of 1ts licence in the several respects set out i the notice the Board
suspended the appellant’s licence for one week.

On appesl from the order of the Board

Held. That under the provisions of s 15(1) of the Broadcasting Act the
licensee 18 entitled to notice of any alleged violation or failure m
respect to which the power of the Board 1s to be mnvoked and exercised
and to a reasonable opportunity to present his answer or defence on
the question of whether or not the alleged violation or failure has
fact occurred as well as to make representations as to the extent to
which suspension of the licence would be warranted or appropriate
n the particular circumstances
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2. That the notice, by reciting that the Board was of opinion that the
appellant had failed to comply with the terms of its licence, obscured
what ought to have been one of its prime objects, viz., to tell the
appellant that the matter of an alleged failure by it to comply with
the terms of its licence would be considered at the time and place
mentioned and that the appellant would have an opportunity to be
heard on the question whether it had so failed or not.

3. That s. 15(1) of the Broadcasting Act requires that an “opportunity . . .
of being heard” with reference to the question as to whether there has
been a violation or failure to comply with any condition of the licence
be “afforded” to the licensee and the “opportunity . . . of being
heard” offered to the appellant by the notice of the Board under
consideration was insufficient to comply with the statutory requirement.

4. That the power of the Board to order suspension arises only when the
statutory requirements are fulfilled and while there is no doubt that
it is open to the Board to exercise the power when the right of a
licensee to insist on a particular requirement has been waived, either
expressly or by necessary implication from his conduct, on the facts
there had been no such watver.

5. That the Board’s decision with respect to the appellant’s alleged failure
to properly log its commercial spots and flash announcements as set
out in the notice, which was not admitted by the appellant either in
the letter or at the hearing is not sustainable in point of law as it is a
conclusion reached in the absence of any admission or other material
to support it, and this alone would invalidate the order of the Board
under consideration since the suspension was presumably awarded in
respect of both this failure and the fallure with respect to logging

programs.
6. That the Court’s power under s. 15(3) of the Broadcasting Act to
“glter . . . the order” cannot be exercised to substitute its own

judgment of an appropriate suspension for the failure in respeet of
which the Board’s opinion is sustainable, nor is there any provision for
referring the matter back to the Board for the imposition of such
suspension as it may regard as appropriate for that failure.

7. That the appeal is allowed and the order of the Board rescinded.

APPEAL from an order of the Board of Broadcast
Governors.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Thurlow at Ottawa.

P. E. Fortin, Q.C. and Brian A. Crane for appellant.
D. 8. Mazxwell, Q.C. for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

TaUurLow J. now (January 19, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:
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This is an appeal pursuant to s. 15(3) of the Broadcasting
Act 8. of C. 1958, ¢. 22 from an order made by the Board of
Broadcast Governors suspending for one week the appel-
lant’s licence under the Radio Act R.S.C. 1952, ¢. 233 to
operate radio station CHRS. Such an appeal may be taken
only on a question of law and the power of the court on
such an appeal to “affirm, alter or rescind the order” is
exercisable only for the purpose of giving effect to the
court’s judgment on such question of law.

The authority of the Board of Broadecast Governors to
suspend a licence granted by the Minister of Transport
under the Radio Act is contained in s. 15(1) of the Broad-
cating Act which provides as follows:

15. (1) Whenever in the opinion of the Board any licensee has violated
or failed to comply with any condition to his licence as described in sub-
section (5) of section 12 or in subsection (1) of section 13, the Board may,
after notice has been given to the licensee of the alleged violation or
failure and an opportunity has been afforded to the licensee of being heard,
order that the licence be suspended for a period not exceeding three months,
but such order is not effective until the expiration of ten days after the
making thereof.

It will be -observed that the power conferred by this sub-
section is exercisable only when the Board is of the opinion
that the licensee has “violated” or “failed to comply with”
a condition of his licence “after notice has been given to the
licensee of the alleged violation or failure and an opportun-
ity has been afforded to the licensee of being heard.” In my
opinion this means that the licensee is entitled to notice of
any alleged violation or failure in respect to which the power
of the Board is to be invoked and exercised and to a reason-
able opportunity to present his answer or defence on the
question of whether or not the alleged violation or failure
has in fact occurred as well as to make representations as to
the extent to which suspension of the licence would be

warranted or appropriate in the particular circumstances.

The facts on which the appeal to this Court is to be
determined are set out in an agreed statement of facts filed
at the commencement of the hearing. This statement shows
that the proceedings leading to the order under appeal
began with a notice to the appellant issued by the Board
over the signature of its chairman on September 30, 1964
entitled

“In the Matter of Radio Iberville Limitée
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NOTICE OF HEARING”

and reading as follows:

TAKE NOTICE THAT the Board of Broadeast Governors is of the
opinion that Radio Iberville Limrtée, licensee of radio station CHRS, has
failed to comply with a condition of 1its licence as described in subsection
(5) of Section 12 of the Broadcasting Act (7 Elizabeth chap. 22) in that
the said heensee failed to enter in its program log of April 24, 1964, informa-
tion concerning programs, commercial spots and flash announcements
broadcast by station CHRS on that day, contrary to the provisions of
subsection (1) of Section 4 of the Radio (A M.) Broadcasting Regulations
(SOR/64-49, enacted 15 January 1964);

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said Board pursuant to the provi-
sions of Section 15 of the Broadecasting Act hereby sets Tuesday, the 3rd
day of November, 1964, at the hour of 10:00 o’clock in the forenoon at
Christ Church Cathedral Hall in the city of Ottawa in the Province of
Ontario as the time and place at which Radio Iberville Limitée shall be
heard pursuant to the provisions of subsection (1) of Section 15 of the
Broadcastmg Act with regard to the failure above stated;

AND FURTHER TAKE NOTICE THAT the evidence of such
fallure may be examined by the said heensee at the offices of the Board
upon appomtment made with the Secretary of the said Board.

Section 12(5) of the Broadcasting Act provides that:
Every hcence issued before or after the coming into forece of this Aect

18 subject to the condition that the licensee will comply with the provisions

of this Part and the regulations.

The relevent portions of the Regulation referred to in the

notice read as follows:

4 (1) Each station shall maintamm a program log, in a form acceptable
to the Board, and shall cause to be entered theremn each day the following
information -

(d) the title and brief description of each program broadcast, the name
of the sponsor or sponsors, if any, the time at which the program
began and ended and a notation whether the program was
reproduced or was a live origmation;

(e) the time and duration of each commercial spot or flash announce-
ment broadcast, the total commercial time in each sponsored
program and the name of the sponsor of each such announcement
and program;

It is agreed that prior to giving the notice the Board
had not considered any evidence or reached any opinion
with respect to the alleged failure of the appellant to comply
with the conditions of its licence and it is also admitted that
the Board intended to give the appellant an opportunity to
explain or contradict by evidence and argument any evi-
dence against it.

Following service of the notice on the appellant on
October 7, 1964, Mr. Bernard Turcot who was both the
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president of the appellant company and the general manager
of its radio station visited the Board’s office where certain
tape recordings and the program log of the appellant’s
station were shown to him and on October 24 he wrote a
five-page letter to the Board setting out his position with
respect to the matters referred to in the notice as well as
with respect to certain other matters which had also been
brought to his attention and which may have indicated
breaches by the appellant of the same and of some other
regulations during the week of April 19 to April 24. With
respect to the broadeasting of commercial spots and flash
announcements by CHRS the letter raised a question of
what was required to be entered in the appellant’s log but
contained no admission of any “failure” by the appellant
to comply with the applicable regulation in the logging of
such broadcasts for April 24, 1964. With respect to programs
the letter admitted that the log entries with respect to two
programs broadcast during the week of April 19 to 24 had
been incorrect in that a program which had lasted from 2.30
p-m. to 4.00 p.m. was by inadvertence entered in the log
as having lasted from 2.30 p.m. to 3.30 p.m. and a program
which lasted from 6.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m. was entered as
having lasted from 6.00 p.m. to 6.30 p.m. The latter was
algo referred to as a daily program. The letter concluded
with the following:

In resumé, the undersigned, in his actual official capacity of president
and still majority shareholder of Radio-Iberville Limitée, declares that:

I recognize that, during the week of April 19th to 24th, 1964, in its
logging and operation, radio station CHRS has violated, at least technically
and without any intent of disrespect or disregard for the Board, some of
the Board’s radio regulations;

These violations occurred without the consent and knowledge of the
undersigned, who took corrective measures as soon as learned of it;

Radio-Iberville Limitée and radio station CHRS, in as much as the
undersigned will have control and responsibility of its operations, will
abide by the decision that the Board will take concerning & possible sus-
pension, after considering the foregoing explanations.

Respectfully yours,
“B. Turcot”
Bernard Turcot. (CHRS)

P.S. I will be present at the November 3rd public hearing and will be
available for questioning, if the Board so desires.
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1965 When the matter came before the Board on November 3,
—— .

Ranro 1964, counsel for the Board stated that the item of business

IsERVILLE  was “for a hearing under Section 15 of the Broadcasting

Bo A:D o Act that the licence of Station CHRS be suspended for a

Broapcasr iailure to comply with a condition of its licence, to wit,

Governors Section 4(1) of the Radio (AM) Broadcasting Regula-

ThurlowJ. tions.” He then read section 15 of the Act, the notice and

— an affidavit of service thereof, and after suggesting to the

Board that both Mr. Turcot and a proposed purchaser of

the shares of the appellant company be heard he invited Mr.

Turcot to speak. Mr. Turcot thereupon stated that he was

not present when the summons was served, that he had

heard of the alleged violation through CBC newscasts, had

subsequently met counsel for the Board at the Board’s of-

fice and had later filed with the Board his letter of October

28 explaining “under what circumstances the alleged viola-

tion happened, and, right now, (would) limit (himself) to

reading for the record the last page of that statement.” He

then read the portion thereof quoted above and stated he

was available for questioning if the Board so desired. No

questions were asked. Counsel for the proposed purchaser

was then heard but made no admission beyond agreeing

with Mr. Turcot. Counsel for the Board thereupon sug-

gested that if the Board wished he would summarize what

the offence was but the Board appears to have regarded

that as unnecessary. That completed the hearing. On Nov-

ember 5 the Board convened in camera and decided that

the appellant’s licence should be suspended for one week

and that the Board’s order should issue on November 16.

Neither at this meeting nor at the previous meetings men-

tioned in the agreed statement of facts was there any con-

sideration by the Board of the tape recordings and station

log as in the opinion of the Board the interested parties had

acknowledged a violation of the regulations.

The order was issued on November 16 and reads as fol-

lows:

WHEREAS the Board of Broadcast Governors having reached the
opinion that Radio Iberville Limitée, licensee of radio station CHRS had
failed to comply with a condition of its licence, in that the said licensee
failed to enter in the station’s program log of April 24th, 1964, information
concerning programs, commercial spot and flash announcements, as required
by subsection (1) of Section 4 of the Radio (AM) Broadcasting Regulations
(SOR/64-49, dated 15 January 1964);
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AND WHEREAS the Board by Notice to the said licensee appointed
the hour of ten o’clock in the forenoon on Tuesday the 8rd of November
A.D. 1964 at Christ Church Cathedral Hall in the City of Ottawa, in the
Province of Ontario, as the time and place for the said licensee to be
heard;

AND WHEREAS the said licensee, by its representatives was heard
by the Board at the said time and place with regard to the said failure;

NOW THEREFORE the Board of Broadcast Governors, pursuant to
the provisions of Section 15 of the Broadcasting Act, orders that the licence
issued to Radio Iberville Limitée for the operation of radio station CHRS
be suspended for a period of one week.

On the appeal to this Court the first point taken on be-
half of the appellant was that the notice did not comply
with the statutory requirement that the appellant be given
notice of the “alleged violation or failure” since it recited
that the Board was of the opinion that a failure had oc-
curred and even though the Board had not in fact reached
such an opinion and in fact intended to hear the appellant
on the question the purport of the notice was that the
Board had already formed its opinion on the failure in ques-
tion and proposed to hear the appellant only on the ques-
tion of the suspension to be imposed therefor. The substance
of this submission is I think that while the notice states
that the appellant will be heard at the time and place men-
tioned therein the character of the “opportunity ... of
being heard” that was afforded to the appellant by the
notice of September 30, 1964, did not comply with the
statutory requirement inasmuch as it did not afford the
appellant an opportunity of being heard on the question
whether it had failed to comply with a condition of its
licence. In answer to this submission counsel for the Board
pointed to certain expressions in the notice itself and in
Mr. Turcot’s letter of October 24 as well as in a letter
written on October 20 by solicitors for the proposed pur-
chaser as indicating both that the notice was not open to
such a construction and that it was not so interpreted by
the recipient. It is, however, a curious and, I think, not un-
important fact that such matters in the nature of a defence
as were raised were put in a letter and sent to the Board
before the hearing rather than reserved, as one would ex-
pect them to be, until the case against the appellant had
been presented at the proposed hearing. In my opinion the
utmost that can be said for the notice is that by reciting
that the Board was of the opinion that the appellant had
failed to comply with the terms of its licence it obscured

91540—4

49

1965
——
Rabio
IBERVILLE
Lrée.

v.
Boarp or
BroApcasT
GOVERNORS

Thurlow J



50
1965

e
Rapio

IBERVILLE
Lz,

v.
Boarp or
Broancasr
GOVERNORS

Thurlow J.

2 R.C.delE. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

what ought to have been one of its prime objects, viz., to
tell the appellant that the matter of an alleged failure by
it to comply with the terms of its licence would be consi-
dered at the time and place mentioned and that the appel-
lant would have an opportunity to be heard on the question
whether it had so failed or not. While it did not clearly
state that the appellant would not be heard on the merits
as to the alleged failure neither did it clearly convey that
the appellant would be heard on that question Nor is it
shown either that the appellant was given notice at a later
stage that it would be heard on the merits of whether or
not the alleged failure had occurred or that it was given an
opportunity to be heard on that question. Moreover, while
there are expressions in the letters which I have mentioned
which are open to the interpretation that the writers con-
strued the notice as meaning that the appellant would be
heard on the merits of the alleged failure the expressions
in Mr. Turcot’s letter, which is the only letter that I regard
as being relevant, and his conduet throughout are in my
opinion equally consistent with the view that he was under
the impression that no such opportunity was being given.

In my opinion, section 15(1) requires that an “opportun-
ity ... of being heard” with reference to the question as to
whether there has been a violation or failure to comply
with any condition of the licence be “afforded” to the licen-
see and the “opportunity . .. of being heard”’ offered to the
appellant by the notice of September 30, 1964 was insuffi-
cient to comply with the statutory requirement.

It was, however, urged by counsel for the Board that
even if the notice was deficient in form any right of the
appellant to insist on a proper notice had been waived. The
appellant, it was said, had had notice that it would be heard
and it stood by without objecting that it had not been
given notice of a hearing on the merits of the alleged failure
while the Board proceeded to a conclusion, that the appel-
lant owed a duty to the Board to object if it considered that
the Board did not have the right to proceed to a conclusion
but that instead of raising any such objection the appellant
in the last paragraph of Mr. Turcot’s letter, which was
read at the hearing, expressed willingness to abide the deci-
sion which the Board might take.
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In my opinion there was no such duty on the appellant to
object on pain of losing its rights if it failed to do so. The
power of the Board to order suspension arises only when
the statutory requirements are fulfilled and while I do not
doubt that it is open to the Board to exercise the power
when the right of a licensee to insist on a particular require-
ment has been waived, either expressly or by necessary
implication from his conduct, mere failure to object by a
person not shown to have been aware of the true position
in eircumstances such as I have described wherein no oppor-
tunity to be heard on the merits with respect to the imputed
failure was ever offered to him, in my opinion constitutes
neither waiver nor conduect from which waiver should be
implied. Moreover, the expression of willingness to abide
the decision of the Board is plainly limited to what the
Board may properly decide and is also expressed as condi-
tional on the Board “considering the foregoing explanations”
and there is nothing in the case to suggest that the Board
did so. I am accordingly of the opinon that the appellant did
not waive its right to be afforded “an opportunity . . . of
being heard” with reference to its “alleged failure” to comply
with the condition to its licence and that the Board’s order
cannot be sustained.

There is, however, a further ground on which I propose
to rest this judgment. Despite the fact that the failure to
make entries in the log with respect to commerecial spots and
flash announcements broadcast on April 24, 1964, as set out
in the notice, was not admitted either in Mr. Turcot’s letter
or at the hearing, and that no other material was considered
by the Board, the order recites that the Board is of the opin-
ion that the appellant has failed in this respect to comply
with the econdition of its licence. The Board’s conclusion on
this particular subject, which, it may be noted, arises under
a different paragraph of the regulation from that relating to
the logging of programs and is therefore a separate subject-
matter, is therefore not sustainable in point of law as it is
a conclusion reached in the absence of any admission or
other material sufficient to support it. This in my opinion
invalidates the order since the suspension was presumably
awarded in respect of both this failure and the failure (if
what occurred can be so described) to comply with Regula-
tion 4(1) (d) with respect to the logging of programs.
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1965 It was submitted that the Court might alter the order by

——

Rapo  striking out the reference to commercial spot and flash
IBERVILLE .. .

Lrie. announcements but this, in my view, would not cure the
Bosss oF defect. Having concluded that there was no basis for the
Broancasr Opinion expressed in the first recital of the order that the
Governors o hellant had failed to enter in its log information concern-
ThurlowJ ing “commercial spot and flash announcements”, the Court

" could, I think, in the exercise of its power to “alter . . . the

order”, delete the recital of that opinion from the order.
However, the foundation for the Board’s order that the
appellant’s licence should be suspended for one week was
its opinion that the appellant had failed to comply with a
condition of its licence in that it had failed to enter in its
log for April 24, 1964, information concerning “programmes,
commercial spot and flash announcements”, and the order
for suspension of the appellant’s licence does not purport to
be the Board’s order or to represent its judgment with
respect to the supportable portion of its opinion alone. To
amend the opinion of the Board as expressed in its order
while leaving the suspension unaltered would thus in sub-
stance and in effect be to award a suspension for the sup-
portable portion of the Board’s opinion. In my opinion such
a course is not open to the Court on this appeal. The Court’s
power under s. 15(3) of the Broadcasting Act to “alter . . .
the order” ecannot, in my view, be exercised to substitute its
own judgment of an appropriate suspension for the failure in
respect of which the Board’s opinion is sustainable, nor is
there any provision for referring the matter back to the
Board for the imposition of such suspension as it may regard
as appropriate for that failure. Aecordingly, as the order for
suspension of the appellant’s licence for one week could be
regarded neither as the order of the Board in respect of the
sustainable portion of its opinion nor as the order of this
Court, if the suggested deletion from the recital of the
Board’s opinion were made the fourth paragraph of the order
would have to be deleted as well, leaving the order with no
operative clause. The effect would be to rescind the order.

The appeal will therefore be allowed and the order of the
Board suspending the appellant’s licence will be rescinded.
There will be no order as to costs.

Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN: 336;4
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL Sept. 14, 15
REVENUE ......ociviiiiiiieeennss APPELLANT; 196

Jan. 22
AND n. 2
WILLIAMJ. RYAN ... RESPONDENT.

Revenue—Income—Income tar—Profit-making scheme—Time when the
four year Limitation period for reassessment commences to run—Taz-
payer unable to specify nature of payments received—Income Tax Act,
RS8.C. 1952, c. 148, ss. 46(4)(b) and 139(1)(e).

The appellant, a hife msurance agent in Toronto, Ontario, has been engaged
congistently i mining stock ventures as far back as 1925 and down to
the years 1955 and 1956, the years for which the respondent’s income
tax has been reassessed by the appellant, by adding to his taxable
mcome for the two years a total of $50,017.16 received by the
respondent, from one Bernard E. Smith in one payment on May 5, 1955
and two payments in February 1956.

The respondent was 1 1953 a dwrector of Chimo Gold Mines Limited, from
the treasury of which he was allotted 90,000 vendors’ shares, as a mem-
ber of the promoters’ group In 1954 the respondent was authorized to
negotiate the disposal of 1,000,000 shares of Black Bay Uranium Mines
Limited, a subsidiary of Chimo Gold Mines Limited, which he did by
selling them at $1.00 per share to Bernard E. Smith, a wealthy New
York investor, alleging that as a part of the transaction he was
required to agree to purchase 10,000 of the shares at $100 per share.
The respondent was not a member of the syndicate that managed the
affairs of Black Bay Uranium Mies Limited and there was ao
evidence that the respondent ever paid for any shares in that company.

In his Reply to the Notice of Appeal the respondent alleged that the pay-
ments he received from Bernard E. Smith constituted “a capital gain
being the difference between the agreed purchase price and the price
for which the 10,000 shares must have been resold or otherwise disposed
of by the said Bernard E. Smith and associates.”. On his examination
for discovery the respondent said that he assumed the sums were
payment for many favours he had dene for Smith in the past When
the cheques were produced at trial, the respondent said he never
was given any reason for obtamning them. Bernard E. Smith died n
May 1961, more than three years after the respondent had notice
of reassessment, yet he made no effort to determine from Smith before
his death why the payments were made.

Held' That the payments were manifestly something else than gifts a
permissible deduction enhanced by the fact that each of the three
payments 1s for an odd amount.

2 That there is little doubt that the amount of $50,017 16 received by the
respondent 1n 1955 and 1956 resulted from a profit-making scheme of a
promotional kind.

3. That the time limit of four years for reassessing the respondent’s mncome
tax did not start to run in this case until the day of receipt of each
of the three cheques 1 question.

4. That the appeal 1s allowed.
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APPEAL from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Dumoulin at Toronto.

W. Z. Estey, Q.C. and M. A. Mogan for appellant.
J.J.Urte, Q.C. for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

DumouLin J. now (January 22, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

This is an appeal from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board,
dated February 20, 1961, with respect to income tax assess-
ments for the respondent’s taxation years 1955 and 1956*.

What would seem, at first reading, an involved affair, can
be greatly simplified when subjected to careful consideration.

William J. Ryan, the respondent and cross-appellant,
although pursuing the business of a life insurance agent in
the city of Toronto, consistently engaged in mining stock
ventures so far back as 1925 and down to the material years,
1955-1956.

He was, in 1953, a director of a local mining company,
Chimo Gold Mines Limited, from whose treasury he
received 90,000 “vendors’ shares”, according to his own
expression, as a member of the promoters’ group. (cf.
exhibits A-3 and A-6, pp. 1 and 2).

Those shares, allotted to Ryan on April 14, 1953, were
immediately put in escrow, and thereafter gradually released
in blocks of varying quantities, from February 18, 1954, to
December 29, 1955, when a balance of 24,660 was discharged.

Chimo Gold Mines Ltd., sometime in 1954, floated on
the mining market a subsidiary under the name and style
of Black Bay Uranium Mines Limited, the parent body
retaining 2,000,000 shares.

Ryan was authorized to negotiate the disposal of one mil-
lion shares of this issue, a task he successfully achieved, in
the fall of 1954, when, pursuant to his endeavours, a wealthy
New York investor, one Bernard E. Smith, acquired that
large lot of stock at a price of $1.00 a unit.

1(1956) 26 Tax AB.C. 373.
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In his evidence, W. J. Ryan said that Smith’s son, then
present, insisted he should, as a token of good faith, buy
a ten thousand slice of this million shares at the stipulated
price of one dollar apiece, a request to which the respondent
assented.

An underwriters’ syndicate, comprising the brokerage firm
of Draper-Dobie, Harry William Knight, Frederick Joseph
Crawford, these two Toronto brokers, and the New York
financier, Bernard E. Smith, attended to the management
and speculative destinies of Black Bay Uranium; Smith
holding, personally, a 50% overall interest.

Sufficient evidence, that of Ryan himself, unhesitatingly
corroborated by Messrs. H. W. Knight and F. J. Crawford,
eliminates the respondent from any membership in that
syndicate.

We now reach the start of the several complexities requir-
ing solutions.

To begin with, the 10,000 shares of Black Bay Uranium,
above mentioned, supposedly bought by W. J. Ryan at
Smith Junior’s urging, were not paid for by the former, who
never had to comply with this obligation.

Under such circumstances, it does seem odd that the
respondent became the recipient of a cheque, dated May 5,
1955, in a sum of $11,581.12 (ef. ex. R-5, p. 2, distribution
of March 15, 1955), and of two others on February 8 and 9,
1956, respectively for amounts of $25,377.70 (viz. R-5, p. 6)
and $13,058.34, this last also admitted by Ryan but untraced.

The sum total of what, so far, bears all the characteristics
of a triple windfall, is $50,017.16.

Needless to say, the income tax people fervently hoped
that the fortunate beneficiary of such amounts would oblige
with the requisite explanations, the more so since his tax
returns for the pertinent years omitted all allusion to this
sudden flow of wealth.

As that hope went unsatisfied, the Minister of National
Revenue, on February 12, 1958, re-assessed the respondent’s
income for the 1955 taxation year, adding thereto “. . . the
sum of $11,581.12 as the Respondent’s share of the profits
made during the 1955 taxation year on the underwriting of
one million shares of Black Bay Uranium Limited”.

The same day of 1958, Ryan was re-assessed by the addi-
tion of $25,377.70 to his 1956 reported income, and, on
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26_5‘ January 26, 1960, by the inclusion of $13,058.34 again for
Mivister of the 1956 taxation year, . . . on the underwriting of the same

NATIONAL one million shares of Black Bay Uranium Limited”.

Roaxe Customary objections filed by the taxpayer were as cus-
—— _ tomarily rejected under the assumptions that (cf. Notice of
Dumoulin J. A hneal, para. 3 (a)):
3. (a) The Respondent had a 5% interest in a partnership or syndicate
which underwrote one million shares of Black Bay Uranium Limited;
and because, as stated in para. 8:

8. The Appellant says that the Respondent’s share of the income or
profit of the partnership or syndicate which underwrote the one million
shares of Black Bay Uranium Limited is income from a business.

Alternatively, if respondent was not a member of a part-
nership or syndicate then, the appellant argues those
amounts were received “. . . by the Respondent for services
rendered to the partnership or syndicate, and hence, are
income . . . within the provisions of Section 3 and 4 of the
Income Tax Act.” (cf. Notice of Appeal, para. 10).

At this point it is imperative to inquire into Ryan’s own
view or rather views of the matter, since these were manifold
and conflicting.

In para. 9 of his Reply to the Notice of Appeal, filed on
November 14, 1961, he declares accepting:

. . . the sums hereinbefore set out which he received from or through
the said Bernard E. Smith as a capital gain being the difference between
the agreed purchase price and the price for which the said shares must
have been resold or otherwise disposed by the said Bernard E. Smith
and associates.

On June 26, 1964, Ryan, examined on Discovery,
struck a different note. Asked by appellant’s counsel, Mr.
W. Z. Estey, Q.C., to motivate the payment of those con-
siderable amounts, Ryan replied:

A. I have just told you: over the years I did Mr. Smith a number
of favours by putting him in touch with mining deals where I
know he made a lot of money.

Q. And you assume that is the reason you received this payment?

A. T assume that, because I don’t know. I haven’t had a chance to
talk to him. As I say, if this thing had been brought up when
I could have had him here as a witness, the thing could be cleared
up, but the Government has been delaying it and delaying it.
(cf. transcript, pp. 80-31)

At page 32, Mr. Estey’s question to the witness reads:

Q. I can’t cross-examine you and I don’t intend to do so indirectly,
but I would like you to tell me, or perhaps to make clear to me,
just what your allegation is with regard to the $50,000. To be
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specific, I want to know if you recerved the $50,000 as a result of 1965
the prior association with Bernard Smith that you have described, MINISTER OF
or did you receive it as a result of the agreement with Smith = N,monar

to buy the 10,000 shares? Revenue
. I don’t know; all I can do is presume. Rlx)’.AN
. What do you presume? S
. I presume he may have wanted to do something for me for past Dumﬂin J.
favours, as well as this one. This was a favour to him as well

And the fact that he isn’t here, there never was a chance to discuss

this with him. That is the best I can do.

These answers were read to the witness during his cross-

examination at trial and he agreed “that his replies then

were and still are true”, with the comment that he con-

sidered those $50,017.16 “as capital payments and therefore
exempted from income tax and from mention in his an-

nual income returns”. Yet, as the cheques aforementioned

were produced, Ryan told the Court he never was given

any reason for obtaining them nor could he find any, save

the conjecture that Bernard E. Smith “intended reward-
ing him for his agreement to purchase a block of 10,000

Black Bay Uranium shares”.

O

It does appear difficult to reconcile the alternating sug-
gestions of a reward for services rendered, or the payment
" of capital profit on resale by Bernard E. Smith of the Black
Bay Uranium shares for which Ryan did not pay a dollar,
or with Ryan’s initial declaration that he could think of
no motivation whatever for Smith’s astonishingly generous
gestures. But, more peculiar still was Ryan’s complete and
persisting aloofness in the matter, he not taking the ele-
mentary steps of inquiring from Smith or from Draper-
Dobie and Frederick J. Crawford, under what pretence the
cheques were issued to him. Moreover, Ryan waived aside
the timeless prejudice that a gift calls for a few words of
appreciation; and the receipt of cheques for large amounts,
even though normally due, for some form of acknowledge-
ment. The respondent never wrote a word to Smith, never
called him over the phone and, as already noted, did not
seek from him or anyone else an explanatory word; he kept
both his peace and the money.
On September 25, 1964, the appeal having been argued
on the 14th, the respondent’s counsel filed a written argu-
ment which, at last, appears to suggest a more plausible
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consideration. On pages 4 and 5 of respondent’s memoran-

Mivsree of dum, we read this long but, I believe, all-inclusive state-

NATIONAL
REVENUE

v

Ryan

ment:

The explanation as to why he received the money arises, it is sub-
mitted, by virtue of the fact that he agreed to purchase 10,000 shares of

Dumoulin J. Black Bay Uranium Mines Limited at a price of $1.00 a share. In view

of the quick turn-over of shares, he was never called upon to complete the
purchase and, further, in view of the Immense profits made by members
of the syndicate so quickly and by Mr. Smith in particular, as well as for
past favours rendered to Mr. Smith, he was given a share of the profits
of Smith out of the syndicate. It was not an “mntroduction fee” as described
by Knight nor did 1t arise as a result of a contractual obligation between
Smith and Ryan. Substantiation of this fact 1s found in that Smith at no
time apparently claimed as an expense the payment to Ryan, and Ryan
recerved no T4 shp indicating payment of the fee or salary from Smith.
Apparently the payments were made on the instructions of Smith by
Draper, Dobie & Co Ltd. which was the firm representing the syndicate.
There 15 no question that the first two payments, at least, were out of
Black Bay Uranmum Mines Limited profits, and 1n particular Smith’s share
thereof. It would appear equally clear, in view of the evidence submitted
above, that the third cheque also came from those profits.

In a more practical vein, though, it would have been of
some use to the respondent to get in touch with Bernard
E. Smith in New York and elicit from him either in the
form of an affidavit or otherwise, the purport of those pay-
ments, especially after February 12, 1958, when respondent
had been the object of departmental re-assessments which he
meant to contest.

Bernard E. Smith, who died only in May of 1961, was,
in February 1958 and after, within easy reach of Toronto.
Subsequent to the Black Bay Uranium deal, Ryan and
Smith had just a casual few minutes’ interview in Toronto,
during the spring of 1955, and, strangely enough, no men-
tion was made of the fortune paid to the former by the
latter.

An immediate appreciation of the Black Bay mining
stock, triggered, in the fall of 1954, by a rumor of uranium
deposits on the company’s property, boosting its shares to
a “high” of $3.80 by June 20, 1955 (cf. ex. A-8), might sug-
gest the plausible surmise that Smith’s threefold instal-
ments to the respondent simply acknowledged some priv-
ate, unwritten agreement, whereby he undertook to let Ryan
have a percentage of the eventual profits. This assumption
is enhanced by the equivalence of a 5% ratio to the
amounts distributed on March 15, 1955, viz. $231,662.51,
paid to Ryan: $11,581.12 (cf. ex. R-5, p. 2), and a 7.3%
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one on February 8, 1956, $348,943.70, paid to Ryan: $25,-
377.70 (cf. ex. R-5, p. 6). The third cheque of February 9,
1956, is unaccounted for and most likely came from Smith’s
profits on the sale of the selfsame shares.

A grateful and exceptionally generous speculator could,
possibly, have materialized, in donations of lump sums, his
gratitude for valuable so-called “tips”. But, then, how can
one reasonably account for some hundred dollars and, more
so, for those few cents conjoined with such figures as eleven
thousand ($11,381.12), thirteen thousand ($13,058.34) and
twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,377.70). Manifestly,
these distributions are something else than gifts.

Nemo prasumitur donare, observed the Roman Jurists
many centuries ago, a psychological dictum no less accurate
today than in the distant past. There is little doubt that
the amount of $50,017.16 received by the respondent in
1955 and 1956 resulted from a profit-seeking scheme of a
promotional kind, therefore statutorily assessable, in ac-
cordance with s. 139 (1) (e) of the Act.

Conversely, of course, in transactions such as these, taxa-
bility of income usually entails deductibility of losses per-
tinent thereto, and this is where another hitch develops,
the appellant challenging the qualification attached to the
deficits by the respondent.

The ministerial contention is concisely related at page 17
of a brief, dated October 13, 1964; I quote those few lines:

The position of the Appellant is, however, simply that in each of the
taxation years 1955 and 1956, the Taxpayer must include in his taxable
mcome the payments received from Ben Smith by way of the three
cheques amounting to $50,017 16, for both years, and may not set off
agamst this mcome losses on investments.

We shall see, shortly, that this prohibition is aimed at the
large holdings of Chimo Gold Mines shares standing in the
taxpayer’s name, at the material time and issued to him
April 14, 1953, in the guise of “vendor’s shares”.

Exhibit R-1, signed March 18, 1964, some five years
after ex. A-2 of July 29, 1959, the taxpayer’s first report of
his transactions, should not, I believe, for that reason alone,
be declared totally unreliable. On its first page, the recapitu-
lation of losses for the 1956-1957 period amounts to
$114,434.03. Nowhere have I found any claim against the
respondent for 1957 and, accordingly, the loss of $31,531.96

59

1965
——
MINISTER OF
NATIONAL
ReveENUE
V.
Ryan

Dumoulin J.



60 2 R.C.de’E. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651]

E’ff attributed to that year should be deleted, leaving an out-
Mmnster of standing deficit of $82,902.07 for 1956.

ﬁ‘;ﬁ;‘m‘ The first item of this collective deficit would consist of a
Reay 742,725 loss incurred in shares of Chimo Gold Mines Ltd.
— _ On page 9 of ex. R-1, listing allegedly the security trans-

Dumoulin J. o otions of William J. Ryan for the year ended December 31,
1956, he is reported as having sold 10,000 Chimo shares for
$11,275 as against a market price (“M.V.”), at December 31,
1955, of $18,400, a loss of $7,125.

A diligent survey of that belatedly drawn-up document
reveals more wishful thinking than worthwhile information
and requires a good deal of pruning down. We must revert
to the 90,000 Chimo Gold Mines vendor’s shares granted on
April 14, 1953, to W. J. Ryan (ef. ex. A-3). No evidence,
oral or written, shows the price, if any, at which this allot-
ment was consented to the respondent, so that I am unable
to ascertain whether or not a market value of $18,400 for
10,000 shares as of December 31, 1955, and a selling rate,
at unspecified dates in 1956, of $11,275 for an equal quantity
of stock really represents a loss (cf. R-1, p. 9), more especi-
ally as Ryan’s auditor and brother, Lawrence Ryan, in his
“Replies to particulars by M.N.R.”, ex. A-3, filed at the
hearing of the case, writes that:

3. It would appear to me that this 10,000 shares was part of the 90,000
shares acquired by the Respondent Ryan on April 14, 1953.

As for the ensuing entry, listing 40,000 Chimo Gold Mines
shares, it is interesting to note that not one of these was
sold in that year, 1956. The loss of $35,600, appearing on
the financial report, ex. R-1, is simply arrived at by deduct-
ing from the market value obtaining on December 31, 1955,
$73,600, the December 31, 1956 market value of $38,000, in
relation to a block of 40,000 shares.

An accountancy practice of this nature is altogether too
easy and cannot be seriously entertained. The proper time
to determine the result of transactions in these shares will
come up if and when they are disposed of.

I possess no better evidence regarding Trojan Explora-
tions Ltd., in which the taxpayer may presumably have
made a regular investment, and, so far, investment gains
are free of income tax and losses from identical sources
may not be set off against income. Therefore, the alleged
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loss of $39,726.08, appearing on pages 9 and 10 of ex. R-1, Eﬁ_ﬁ

should not be considered. MINISTER OF
. NaTroNaL
The respondent contended in Court, and renews these Ravexur

objections in his written memorandums, that appellant was >
estopped from re-assessing the income for the material —
years by s. 46(4)(b) of the Income Taz Act, restricting to Dv=owin J.
“, . .4 years from the day of an original assessment in any

other case” (when no misrepresentation or fraud is alleged)

the Minister’s power to do so. His submission that the
amounts paid to him, May 5, 1955, and February 8 and

9, 1956, represent profits earned during the 1954 and 1955
taxation years might deserve consideration if those monetary
distributions consisted in regular dividends or stock trans-

actions by the taxpayer himself, instead of some undivulged

but discernible scheme for profit-sharing of a venture in the

nature of trade. Unable or unwilling to give a satisfactory
account of his dealings with Bernard E. Smith, and most

likely without legal recourse against the man, the time limit
foreseen in the Act should run, in Ryan’s case, from the day

each cheque was received.

Even so, were his argument approved in principle, it
would be pointless in fact, since the ultimate deadline
applying to the $13,058.34 instalment of February 9, 1956,
for which a re-assessment notice issued January 26, 1960,
would be February 8 of the latter year.

The respondent’s cross-appeal, directed against the Tax
Appeal Board’s finding that he was a trader, seems sub-
stantiated by evidence before this Court, but was of slight
importance and went uncontested. It will be allowed with-
out costs.

For all reasons above, the present appeal is allowed with
costs in favour of the appellant.

Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN:
FREDERIC D. BARTON .................. PrLAINTIFF;
AND
RADIATOR SPECIALTY COMPANY
DEFENDANT.
OF CANADA, LIMITED ..........

Patents—Infringement—Validity—Commercial success of patented prod-
uct—Product merely a collocation by blending inlo one product two
known substances—Two known substances combined into one product
which is not a new substance and result of use of which is no betier
than result of separate use of each substance—Lack of inventiveness—
Obuviousness.

In this action the plaintiff alleged infringement by the defendant of Cana-
dian Patent No. 501,547 dated April 20, 1954, for an invention entitled
“Stop-Leak Preparation”, and the defendant counterclaims for a
declaration that the patent is invalid, on the grounds of lack of
inventiveness, anticipation or lack of novelty, obviousness, inutility,
false suggestion and insufficient disclosure, ambiguity in the specifica~
tion and that the claims are too broad.

The stop-leak preparation described in the plaintiff’s patent consists essen-
tially of ginger root flour and soluble oil or a mixture of rhizone flour
and soluble oil.

The evidence established that for many years prior to the date of issue of
the plaintiff’s patent, soluble oil had been widely used commercially
to prevent the formation of iron oxide rust in engine cooling systems
and to inhibit radiator core corrosion, ginger flour had been used as
a stop-leak in internal combustion engine cooling systems, and there
had been widespread knowledge and use of an o1l carrier for various
stop-leak products included in which was the ingredient powdered
ginger or ginger flour.

Held: That the considerable commereial success achieved by the plaintiff
in marketing his product to which the patent in suit relates has
resulted from the considerable ingenuity and skill with which he has
marketed the product and the technique of selling his products as a
three-way application for firstly, stopping leaks in radiators and cool-
ing systems of internal combustion engines, secondly, as a water pump
lubricant for such engines and thirdly, as a rust mhibitor, but this has
nothing to do with the subject of a valid patent.

2. That there is no invention in the plaintiff’s product, which is a mere
collocation by blending into one produet two known substances,
namely, ginger root flour and soluble oil, and that the two substances
combined into one product, which is not a new substance, do not
produce a better result than 1f each substance is used separately.

3. That all the claims in the plaintiff’s patent are not inventive and that
they and the whole patent are invalid.

4. That the action is dismissed.

ACTION for infringement of a patent.
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The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice Eﬁj

Gibson at Ottawa. BarTON
v.
Samuel Weir, Q.C., W. R. Meredith, Q.C. and D. F. S. Rabnror
.. SpECIALTY
Coate for plaintiff. Co. or
Canapa Lp.

A. 8. Pattillo, Q.C., W. L. Hayhurst and D. J. Wright —
for defendant.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Giesox J. now (February 17, 1965) delivered the follow-
ing judgment:

This is an action in which the plaintiff claims an injunc-
tion and other relief in respect of alleged infringement of
Canadian Patent No. 501,547 dated April 20, 1954, for an
invention entitled “Stop-Leak Preparation”; and in which
the defendant counterclaims for a declaration that the said
patent is invalid, and other relief.

This action came on for trial and was argued before
Cameron, J., before his retirement. Thorson, P., as he then
was, made an order on February 13, 1964, for a new trial
on the existing evidence and argument. I have retried this
action on that evidence and argument pursuant to that
order and I now deliver judgment accordingly.

The product of the plaintiff which is the subjeet of the
patent in issue in this action is a stop-leak preparation used
primarily for the purpose of putting in the cooling system of
internal combustion engines, in motor cars and ftrucks, to
stop leaks.

It is the claim of the plaintiff that this product will stop
not only external leaks in such cooling systems which occur
in radiators, but also internal leaks in such cooling systems
that is in cars in which liquid from such cooling systems
seeps through the walls of the eylinders into the combustion
chambers, or seeps into the oiling system of such engines.

The modern motor car and truck engine now runs much
better and therefore more efficiently because of the dis-
covery that the boiling point of the liquid in the cooling
system of such could be raised by pressurizing the cooling
system. But this had the disability of increasing the pro-
pensity of such cooling systems to leak, primarily through
so-called pin-hole leaks in the radiators of such, but also
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though the water pumps and cylinder walls, etc., in the
manner above mentioned.

The water pump leaking problem was solved by the de-
velopment and use of sealed water pumps. And it is the al-
legation of the plaintiff that these other small, and difficult
to eliminate leaks in such cooling systems were stopped by
the use of his product which he developed, marketed and
patented after World War II. Such marketing and patent-
ing was done in the United States and Canada.

The product of the plaintiff is known as “Bar’s Leaks”.

The defendant made and put on the market a product
which it calls “M. P. cooling system conditioner”.

It is the allegation of the plaintiff that this product of
the defendant is practically identical to his product and
that as a consequence its manufacture and sale infringes
the said patent of the plaintiff.

The specifications and claims of the plaintiff’s patent are
quite brief, viz.:

SPECIFICATIONS

My invention relates to stop-leak preparations, and more particularly
to that type of stop-leak preparation employed in the cooling system of
engines and has particular reference to the cooling system of automotive
vehicles though not necessarily limited thereto.

Those prior art stop-leak preparations, of which I am aware, function
on the theory of forming a film or coating over the leak while in the process
of being circulated around the cooling system, and while such preparations
can be relied on to produce quick results in the desired direction, the film
or coating thus formed, remains directly exposed to the wearing action of
the circulating water in the system and the abrasive action of any rust
or grit which may be circulating around with the water.

Among the objects of my invention are:

(1) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation;

(2) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which
shall produce a more durable geal;

(3) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation having
lubricating qualities beneficial to the water pump in a cooling system;

(4) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation capable of
sealing eracks in radiator and engine blocks and seal leaks around those
connections;

(5) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which
possesses the additional factor of inhibiting the formation of rust, thus
maintaining a clean cooling system;

(6) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which will
not congeal on exposure to the atmosphere;

(7) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which
blends well with known anti-freeze solutions;
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(8) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation having no 1965

deteriorating action on the rubber or metal; B;;;N
(9) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which will v.

not deteriorate with time; slf;ggﬁlll‘gg
(10) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which ~ 5 op

may be readily prepared from cheap and well-known ingredients; Caxana L.
(11) To provide a novel and improved stop-leak preparation which Gi@ 5.

will not form sludgy deposits.

Additional objects of my invention will be brought out in the following
description of a preferred embodiment of the same,

My invention is based upon the discovery that plant roots, including
rhizomes, when suitably prepared, have properties rendering them exceed-
ingly effective in the stopping of leaks. In the preparation of my stop-leak
preparation, the root is ground to the consistency of flour, preferably one
which will pass through a 50 mesh screen, that is a sereen presenting 2,500
openings per square inch of surface, following which, the root flour is
mixed with oil and preferably an oil of the type known as soluble cutting
oil.

A soluble oil, as defined in the Chemical and Engineering Dictionary
(P 114), published by the Chemical Publishing Co. of New York, Inc., of
New York City, is an oil having an emulsifier, with or without an auxiliary
solvent dissolved in it, to make it dispersible in water. Soluble oil is con-
ventionally employed in machine shop practice where it is known as
cutting oil.

The relative proportions of the root flour to oil is not critical, though
I prefer to employ approximately 2 pounds of the flour to each gallon of
oil, and in using the same as a stop-leak preparation, it is added to the
cooling system of an engine in the approximate ratio of 1} ounces of the
preparation for each gallon of water in the system.

From the view-point of cost, I have found ginger root flour to be
preferred, though from the view-point of effectiveness as a stop-leak
ingredient, other roots such as Orris, Tumeric, Blood root, Licorice, Poke
and Sarsaparilla have comparable qualities,

As a suitable cutting oil for use with the root flour, I prefer to
employ an oil marketed by the Texas Oil Co. under the designation “810
Soluble Oil C” and said by such company to contain 9% oil soluble sodium

sulphonates, the sulphonic acids being derived from petroleum, and I prefer
such oil because of its non-drying character.

‘What the action is, is not apparent to me at this time, but I have
noticed that the ginger root flour when mixed with the soluble oil, settled
down into a more compact and dense mass than when mixed directly with
water. In comparative tests on this basis, employing equal amounts by
weight of the ginger root flour, the flour in the oil, settled out into a com-
pact mass which measured approximately 80% of the volume oceupied by
the material settling out of the water mixture.

It is conceivable, therefore, that what actually happens, is that the
ginger root flour, by reason of its small particle size, is carried into the
leaks however small, by the water, and gradually packs itself in, forming a
dense and compact seal. Further evidence in support of this resides in the
fact that complete stoppage of a leak is not instantaneous nor is such result
realized within the brief period of time in which prior art film forming type
of stop-leak preparations function. Once the leak is stopped however, its
durability is much more permanent.

91540—5
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1965 Inasmuch as my stop-leak preparation does not rely on exposure to
" air for its effectiveness in plugging leaks, the preparation will not only

Barton . .
v stop seepage and leaks in the radiator and hose connections of an auto-

RapiaTor motive cooling system which are exposed to the atmosphere, but also such
SPECIALTY leaks as may exist around the combustion chambers of an engine, such as
Co. OF  cracked engime blocks, deficient head gaskets, ete., and 1s particularly effec-
CANALA_LTD' tive 1n such situations m that the intense heat of combustion seems to
Gibson J. convert the preparation of components thereof at the point of leak, into
_— insoluble carbides to form a permanent seal.

Aside from the sealing properties of my stop-leak preparation, the
mixture aids in lubrication of the water pump usually incorporated in a
cooling system, and further functions as a rust inhibiter, thus maintaining
the cooling system clean and free of rust, sediment and sludge.

While the root flour and soluble cutting oil constitute the essential
mgredients of my stop-leak preparation, 1t 1s contemplated that other
ingredients capable of effecting a beneficial function in conjunction there-
with, may be incorporated in the preparation. Thus, I have found, for
example, that erushed or ground nut shells such as almond shells, when
circulated through the cooling system of an engine, have the ability to
exert g mild scouring action on the walls of the cooling system, sufficient
to maintain said walls clean and without deleterious effect on the cooling
system.

Claims

1. A non-aqueous stop-leak preparation for the cooling system of an
engine consisting essentially of ginger root flour and soluble oil.

2. A non-aqueous stop-leak preparation for the cooling system of an
engine, consisting essentially of ginger root flour and soluble oil in propor-
tions roughly of two pounds of ginger root flour to a gallon of soluble oil.

3. A non-aqueous stop-leak preparation for the cooling system of an
engine, comprising a mixture of a rhizome flour and soluble oil.

The essential issues in this action are those of validity
and infringement and the defendant firstly alleged that
there was no infringement and secondly, in its plea of in-
validity and counterclaim for revocation of the patent, re-
lies on the following objections, namely, that no inventive
step was involved, that there had been anticipation or lack
of novelty, obviousness, inutility, false suggestion and in-
sufficient disclosure, ambiguity in the specification, and
that the claims were too broad.

The plaintiff’s product is sold both in bottle form and
also in pellet or pill form and is made by mixing ginger root
flour with soluble oil. The matter of whether it is com-
mercial ginger or spent ginger is a matter of indifference
because it is the starch and the fiber roots in the ginger
which are the two ingredients which are of value for the
purpose of this product and according to the evidence there
is not much difference between commercial ginger and
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spent ginger ‘because in spent ginger the starch and fiber Eﬁf

roots have not been removed. BarTON
When mixed, the soluble oil is absorbed into the ginger Rapraror

and what happens is a physical reaction and not a chemica] SeEcIALTY

. 1. Co. oF
reaction in that no new material is formed. Canaba L.

The soluble oil referred to is in essence a petroleum oil Gibson J.
which has had added to it an emulsifying agent either by ——
having it dissolved in it or by adding such to it separately
and mixed in it so that it becomes dissolved in the oil.

A soluble oil is dispersable in water because it contains
such an emulsifier. Ordinary, or what might be referred to
ag straight oil, without an emulsifier when mixed with water
will not disperse. Instead, there will be two separate layers,
a layer of oil and a layer of water.

A soluble oil which contains an emulsifier when mixed
with water forms an emulsion, but the soluble oil is not
dissolved in water, but instead is dispersed in it only and
when dispersed in i, it appears to be dissolved.

Both plaintiff and defendant adduced evidence in
support of their respective contentions and as usual there
was a dispute as between the experts as to a number of
matters. But on reading the whole of the evidence, I have
come to the conclusion that it is only necessary to consider
one ground of the defence raised by the defendant in this
action.

I am of opinion that the evidence clearly establishes
that soluble oil has been used widely by many people com-
mercially for many years prior to the date of issue of the
plaintiff’s patent to prevent the formation of iron oxide
rust from the iron parts of radiators in cooling systems in
internal combustion engines and also for the purpose of
retarding the corrosion of radiator cores. At all material
times this was well known, and indeed the plaintiff has used
soluble oil for such purpose for many years.

I am also of opinion that the evidence establishes that
ginger flour for many years prior to the date of the plaintiff’s
patent had been used as a stop-leak in the cooling system of
internal combustion engines used in motor cars and trucks.
Indeed a number of other persons had successfully obtained
patents in respect to such stop-leak products using ginger

flour.
91540—53
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E‘j’f . There was also for many years prior to the date of issue
Barron  Of the plaintiff’s patent wide-spread knowledge and use of a
Ravuror Liquid carrier, very commonly an oil, for various stop-leak
SPECIA::Y products included in which was the ingredient powdered

Canana Lo, ginger or ginger flour.
Gibson J.  Lhe evidence also establishes that there is no property in

—  soluble oil which by itself would assist in stopping leaks in

the cooling systems of internal combustion engines.

There is also no question that the plaintiff has enjoyed a
considerable measure of economiec success in the marketing
of his product. But this I find on the evidence is due to the
very considerable ingenuity and skill he employed in selling
and merchandising his products. At one point in the evi-
dence, he aptly describes the secret of his success when he
says, and I quote, “So my progress continued, only by this
time we had added to our sales story or medicine show, the
practice of stating that we have stopped and can stop
internal leaks against compression because the compression
was not released from these eylinders.”

The plaintiff by his skilful selling and merchandising
techniques has been suceessful in selling his product to every
major car manufacturer except Chrysler Corporation, to
various oil companies for distribution through their service
stations, and to many wholesale auto parts distributors
throughout Canada and also the United States.

The secret of his suceess it is correct to infer was probably
due to his merchandising technique of selling his product
as a three-way application for firstly, stopping leaks in
radiators and cooling systems of internal combustion
engines, and secondly, as a water pump lubricant for such
engines, and thirdly, as a rust inhibitor.

In that way he led the field in sales of products in this
line and outstripped his competitors so much so that the
defendant among others sought to emulate this merchandis-
ing idea of the plaintiff and did by combining its separate
products into one produet in the same manner as the
plaintiff had done. Prior to that the defendant had sold
separate products for each of the applications referred to
above.

But this merchandising genius and the company’s sales
promotion, I find, has nothing whatever to do with the
subject of a valid patent.
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It is, therefore, clear that in this case there is no invention lisf ’
in the plaintiff’s product, but that, on the contrary, it is a Bagrow
mere collocation by blending into one product two known g, 7o o
substances, namely, ginger root flour and soluble oil, which SeecraLry
are used for overcoming different difficulties, and that both CANA(:;A‘OLD.
combined in the one product (which is not a new substance) o~
do not produce a better result than if each substance was —
used separately. The combining in one product makes it
more convenient for the public, and, therefore, more
desirable.

I therefore find that all the claims in the plaintiff’s patent
numbered 501,547 are not inventive and that they and the
whole patent are invalid.

The action, accordingly, is dismissed with costs, and the
counterclaim is allowed without costs, and in part only, in
that it is declared that the said patent and claims are
cancelled and set aside.

Judgment accordingly.

BETwWEEN: 1964
Jan. 30,31
GUARANTY TRUST COMPANY OF Feb. 4.6
CANADA in the capacity of Execu- A T
tor of the Will of DOROTHY ELGIN PPELLANT; s
TOWLE, deceased ........ o il
AND
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL

RESPONDENT.
REVENUE .. ... ..............

Revenue—Estate Tax—Ezemption from estate tax—Testamentary gift to
medical alumni association—Absolute and indefeasible gift—Charitable
gift and charitable trust—Requirement that donee’s property be used
ezclusively for charitable purposes—Purposes and objects of donee—
Effect of object of donee being other than charitable—Association for
advancement of education—Estate Tax Act, S. of C. 1958, c. 29,
8. 7(1)(d).

Dorothy Elgin Towle died testate on July 11, 1961. Article III(g) of her
will required the Trustee to pay the residue of the estate “to the
Medical Alumnae Association of the University of Toronto to establish
a student loan fund to be known as the ‘Robert Elgin Towle Loan
Fund’ to be supervised and managed by the said Medical Alumnae



70 2 RC del’E. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651

1965 Association for the purpose of loaning funds to women medical students
GU;‘;;TY of the University of Toronto who are in need of financial assistance
Trusr Co. OF during their course 1n medicme . . .”. The question to be determined
CaNADA 18 whether or not the gift of the residue of the estate was exempt from
E(]’g;:;g): estate tax by virtue of s 7(1)(d) of the Estate Taz Act, as being an

absolute gift to a charitable organization.

MINISTER OF On the appeal from the assessment of the respondent in which he included
11\{:%?&1‘ the amount of the gift in the taxable value of the estate it was
_ common ground that the appellant had the burden of showing (a) that
the gift was absolute; (b) that the Medical Alumni Association was,
at the time of the deceased’s death, a charitable organization; (¢) that,
at the time of the deceased’s death the Medical Alumni Association
- was an organization all or substantially all of the resources of which
were devoted to charitable activities; and (d) that no part of the
resources of the Medical Alumni Association was payable to or other-
wise available for the benefit of any member.

The evidence established that by far the greatest part of the Association’s
effort, during recent years at least, was the operation of scholarship,
bursary and loan funds for medical students at the University of
Toronto, making of gifts to be spent by the Dean of Medicine and the
President of the University and other activities designed to supple-
ment the work of the Faculty of Medicine. However, it was also estab-
Lished that the Association engaged in activities designed to encourage
and cultivate good-fellowship among the members of the Association.

Held: That since the parties have agreed that the monies in question are
recetved by the Medical Alumni Association m trust for charitable
purposes, there was no “absolute” gift to the Association, and certainly

therefore no “absolute” gift to the Association within the meaning of
8. 7(1)(d) of the Estate Tax Act.

2 That the purpose of s 7(1)(d) of the Estate Tax Act is to provide a
means whereby gifts for charitable purposes can be made so as not to
attract estate tax but Parliament has not seen fit, in the Estate Taz
Act, to provide an exemption for charitable trusts.

3 That the first requirement is that the organization to which the gift is
made be so constituted that 1ts property must be used “exclusively”
for charitable purposes and the second requirement is that the gift
must be made to that organization absolutely and indefeasibly so that
the subject matter of the gift will become its property.

4 That it 1s clear from the purposes and objects as set out in its Letters
Patent that the Medical Alumni Association was not “constituted”
exclusively for charitable purposes.

5 That one of the principal objects of the Medical Alumni Association
1s “to encourage and cultivate good-fellowship among the members
of the Association” and this is a “distinet object” and not merely a
reference to an “extraneous activity” that is only a means to some
other end. This object is clearly not a charitable objeet and the
organization is not, therefore, an organization “constituted” exclusively
for charitable purposes.

6. That 1t 1s questionable whether an assoclation carrying on activities that
support and promote the well-being of an educational institution can
itself be said to be an association for the advancement of education.

7. That the appellant has failed to show that all or substantially all of the
resources of the Medical Alumni Association were devoted to charitable
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activities carried on by 1t or to the making of gifts to other organiza- 1965
tions constituted for charitable purposes and this follows almost G’U;l:l:ITY
automatically from the finding that the Association’s purposes are not Tgusrt Co. oF
exclusively charitable. CANADA

8 That the appeal is dismissed. éE,gXEU;

APPEAL under the Estate Tax Act. o

MiNISTER OF
NATIONAL

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice REVENUR
Cattanach at Toronto.

J. T. DesBrisay and W. P. Butler for appellant.
G. W. Ainslie and D. G. H. Bowman for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Carranace J. now (February 18, 1965) delivered the
following judgment:

This is an appeal under the Estate Tar Act from the
assessment in respect of the estate of Dorothy Elgin Towle
who died testate on July 11, 1961.

The only question to be determined is whether or not a
gift made by the deceased’s will was, in effect, exempt from
estate tax by virtue of paragraph (d) of subsection (1) of
section 7 of the Estate Tax Act, chapter 29 of the Statutes
of 1958 as amended by chapter 29 of the Statutes of 1960.

The gift in question was provided for by paragraph (g)
of article III of the deceased’s will which required the
Trustee under the deceased’s will to pay the residue of the
estate “to the Medical Alumnae Association of the Univer-
sity of Toronto to establish a student loan fund to be known
as the ‘Robert Elgin Towle Loan Fund’ to be supervised
and managed by the said Medical Alumnae Association for
the purpose of loaning funds to women medical students of
the University of Toronto who are in need of financial
assistance during their course in medicine. ..”. The parties
are in agreement that the reference in the will to the “Medi-
cal Alumnae Association” should be read as a reference to
the “Medical Alumni Association”.

The question is whether this gift is such that the value
thereof is deductible in computing ‘“the aggregate taxable
value of the property passing on the death” of the deceased
by virtue of subsection (1) of section 7 of the Estate Tax
Act, the relevant part of which, as amended by chapter 29
of the Statutes of 1960, reads as follows:
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1965 7. (1) For the purpose of computing the aggregate taxable value of the

GUEAXITY property passing on the death of a person, there may be deducted from

Trust Co. or the aggregate net value of that property computed in accordance with
Canapa  Division B such of the following amounts as are applicable:

(TowLE * %
Esrarr) . . .
V. (d) the value of any gift made by the deceased whether during his
MIETN ISTER OF lifetime or by his will, where such gift can be established to have
ATIONAL

REVENUE been absolute and indefeasible, to

—_ (i) any organization in Canada that, at the time of the making of
Cattanach J. the gift and of the death of the deceased, was an organization
- constituted exclusively for charitable purposes, all or substan-
tially all of the resources of which, if any, were devoted to
charitable activities carried on or to be carried on by it or to
the making of gifts to other such organizations in Canada all
or substantially all of the resources of which were so devoted,
and no part of the resources of which was payable to or other-
wise available for the benefit of any proprietor, member or

shareholder thereof, or

£ % %
According to an allegation in the respondent’s Reply
to the Notice of Appeal, which was not questioned by the
appellant, the respondent, in assessing the amount of the
tax payable, made the following assumptions:
(a) that the gift of the balance of the residue of the Estate of Dorothy
Elgin Towle to the Medical Alumni Association of the University
of Toronto, was not an absolute gift but was a gift to that organiza-
tion subject to eertain trusts declared in paragraph (g) of the Third
Clause of the Last Will and Testament of Dorothy Elgin Towle;

(b) that at the time of the making of the gift and at the time of the
death of Dorothy Elgin Towle, the Medical Alumni Association of
the University of Toronto was not an organization constituted
exclusively for charitable purposes;

(c) that at the time of the making of the gift and at the time of the
death of Dorothy Elgin Towle, all of the resources of the Medical
Alumni Association of the University of Toronto were not devoted
to charitable activities carried on or to be carried on by it, or to
the making of gifts to such other organizations in Canada, all or
substantially all of the resources of which were so devoted or to
any donee described in subparagraph (ii) of paragraph (d) of sub-
section (1) of Section 7 of the Estate Tax Act, and;
that the Medical Alumni Association of the University of Toronto,
at the time of the death of Dorothy Elgin Towle, had not passed
any by-law pursuant to subsection (1) of Section 115 of The Corpo-
rations Act, R 8 O. 1950, c. 71, and that the resources of the Medical
Alumni Association of the University of Toronto were otherwise
available for the benefit of the Members of that Association.

It was common ground on the argument of the appeal
that the appellant had the burden of showing
(a) that the gift in question was an absolute gift to the
Medical Alumni Association within the meaning of
paragraph (d) of subsection (1) of section 7;

d

~
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(b) that the Medical Alumni Association, at the time of 8'6_5:
the deceased’s death, was an organization constituted Guaranry

exclusively for charitable purposes within the meaning ~ goraoy ™
of sub-paragraph (i) of the said paragraph (d); Igms

(c¢) that, at the time of the deceased’s death, the Medical M
. o . . . INISTER OF
Alumni Association was an organization all or sub- Narmona.
stantially all of the resources of which were devoted REVENUE
to charitable activities within the meaning of sub- CattanachJ.
paragraph (i) of the said paragraph (d); and T
(d) that no part of the resources of the Medical Alumni
Association was payable to or otherwise available for
the benefit of any member.
If the appellant is unsuccessful in respect of any one of
these four requirements, the appeal necessarily fails.

The Medical Alumni Association was incorporated pur-
suant to the laws of the Province of Ontario by Letters
Patent dated April 28, 1947 for the following purposes and
objects:

(a) TO maintain and promote the interest of the graduates in medi-
cine of the University of Toronto in their Alma Mater;

(b) TO encourage and cullivate good-fellowship among the members
of the Association;

(¢) TO promote and enlarge the usefulness and influence of the Pro-
vincial University;

(d) TO consider and make recommendations on matters pertaining to
the welfare of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of
Toronto;

(e) Generally to promote the science and art of medicine;

(f) TO administer and invest funds received from life members of the
Association and any other funds and bequests of which the Associa-
tion may from time to time have custody and to apply and dis-
burse the moneys so administered in accordance with the provisions
and conditions relating to the same; and

(g) TO do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the
attainment of the above objects;”
The by-laws of the Association provide that
Membership of the Association shall consist of all graduates in the
Faculty of Medicine of the University of Toronto—including graduates
admitted by reason of graduation from Trinity University, Victoria Uni-
versity and the Toronto School of Medicine,
A great deal of evidence was adduced at the trial con-
cerning the actual operation of the Medical Alumni
Association during recent years.

It is sufficient to summarize such evidence in general
terms. The Association had a small salaried staff which
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1965 worked in premises put at the disposal of the Association

Guanany by the University of Toronto without charge. The Associa-
TRESATN%’,;OF tion held its annual meeting in conjunction with an annual
éﬁ’ﬁé‘? dinner. The staff published a magazine for the members and
v. supplied services to the members of the various graduating
MINISTER OF years to encourage them to have reunion meetings. The
Revenve  gtaff carried on the usual activities designed to induce mem-
Cattanach J, bers to pay their annual fees and to subseribe to the funds
—  administered by the Association. It was manifest, however,
that by far the greatest part of the Association’s effort,
during recent years in any event, was the operation of
scholarship, bursary and loan funds for medical students at
the University of Toronto, making of gifts to be spent by
the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine and the President of
the University to be expended in their official capacities
and other activities designed to supplement the work of
the Faculty of Medicine at the University of Toronto.
However, there is no evidence upon which I can make a
finding that the carrying on of activities such as those
referred to in the immediately preceding sentence consti-
tutes the exclusive object of the Association and that the
other activities of the Association are merely subsidiary
and incidental thereto. While such activities may have
tended to overshadow, at times, in the minds of the officers
of the Association, the activities that were designed, for
example, “to encourage and cultivate good-fellowship
among the members of the Association”, these latter
activities, and probably others, in my view, never ceased to
have their place as principal reasons for the existence of

the Association.

I have come to the conclusion that the appeal must be
rejected because the appellant has failed to satisfy the
burden imposed upon it in respect of at least three of the
four headings referred to above.

Dealing first with the question whether the direction in
the testatrix’s will to pay the residue of her estate to the
Medical Alumni Association to establish a student loan
fund for the purpose of loaning funds to women medical
students, created an absolute gift to the Association within
the introductory portion of paragraph (d) of subsection (1)
of section 7 of the Estate Tax Act, I am relieved of the
necessity of deciding the character of the monies in the
hands of the Association by agreement between the parties.
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in effect, that the monies are received by the Association gﬁf

in trust for charitable purposes. That being so, I am of Guaranty
the opinion that there was no “gift” to the Association, and T*grGo;°"
certainly therefore no “absolute” gift to the Association (Towie

within the meaning of paragraph (d). The purpose of the ESS:TE)
said paragraph (d) is to provide a means whereby gifts for Mﬁﬁgﬁf"
charitable purposes can be made so as not to attract estate ReveNve
tax but Parliament has not seen fit, in the Estate Tax Act, Cattanach J.
to provide an exemption for charitable trusts. (Compare —
Minister of National Revenue v. Trusts and Guarantee
Company, Limited" at page 149 and 150). What Parliament
has done by paragraph (d) of subsection (1) of section 7 is to
provide an exemption for an absolute and indefeasible gift
made to an organization constituted exclusively for charita-
ble purposes. The first requirement is, therefore, that the
organization to which the gift is made be so constituted that
its property must be used “exclusively’”’ for charitable
purposes and the second requirement is that the gift must
be made to that organization absolutely and indefeasibly
so that the subject matter of the gift will become its
property. In this context, it appears clear to me that Parlia-
ment must have intended to exclude gifts made to such an
organization in trust for some other person or class of
persons. If the exemption extends to charitable trusts, it
extends to trusts for private purposes. Parliament could
not have possibly intended that a gift for private purposes
such, for example, as a gift to an educational institution to
be held in trust for the education of its president’s children
would fall within the exempting provisions. (Compare
Oppenheim v. Tobacco Securities Trust Co. Ltd.* per Lord
Simonds at page 306).

In the second place, I am of the opinion that the Medical
Alumni Association was not, at the relevant time, “an
organization constituted exclusively for charitable pur-
poses” within the meaning of those words in paragraph
(d) of subsection (1) of section 7 of the Estate Tax Act. 1
am of the opinion that this question must be determined
by reference to the constating instruments of the Associa-
tion which in this case, is primarily its Letters Patent.
(Compare Tennant Plays, Ltd. v. Inland Revenue Com-
missioners®; Institution of Mechanical Engineers v. Cane*

1119401 A.C. 138. 3119481 1 All E.R. 506.
2 [1951] A.C. 297. 4119601 3 All E.R. 715.
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aﬁf per Viscount Simonds at page 718, Lord Radcliffe at page

Guaranty 725 and Lord Tucker at page 727). In my view it is clear

TrOSt C0-OF £rom the purposes and objects as set out in its Letters

I(ETOWLE Patent that this Association was not “constituted” ex-

STATE) . .

v. clusively for charitable purposes. For example, one of the

MINISTER OF 1,1y cipal objects of this Alumni Association, in my view, is

Revenve  “to encourage and cultivate good-fellowship among the

Cattanach J. members of the Association”. This is a “distinct object” and

—  is not merely a reference to an “extraneous activity” that

is only a means to some other end. (Compare Metropolitan

Borough of Battersea v. The British Iron and Steel Research

Association* per Jenkins J., at page 453). This object is

clearly not a charitable object. The organization is not,

therefore, an organization “constituted” exclusively for
charitable purposes.

Alternatively, I reach the same conclusion if I determine

the purposes of the organization by considering the Letters

Patent in the light of the evidence concerning the manner

in which the activities of the organization have actually

been carried on. Notwithstanding, the great emphasis that

is placed by the Alumni Association on activities which are

designed to support and promote the well-being of the Uni-

versity of Toronto and particularly its Faculty of Medicine,

I cannot conclude that this Alumni Association is consti-

tuted for such purposes to the exclusion of encouraging and

cultivating good-fellowship among its members and prob-

ably other non-charitable purposes. I cannot, therefore,

conclude that the Association is constituted exclusively for

charitable purposes. In any event, there is a question in

my mind as to whether an association carrying on activities

that, in its view, support and promote the well-being of

an educational institution, can itself be said to be an associ-

ation for the advancement of education. (Compare Inland

Revenue Commissioners v. City of Glasgow Police Athletic

Association?.) However this is a question concerning which

I do not think there is any need for me to form an opinion.

The third ground upon which I find that the appellant

has failed to establish its right to the exemption under para-

graph (d) of subsection (1) of section 7 is that it has failed

to show that all or substantially all of resources of the

association were devoted to charitable activities carried on

by it or to the making of gifts to other organizations consti-

119491 1 K.B. 434. 2119531 A.C. 380.
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tuted for charitable purposes. This finding follows almost Bﬁf
automatically from the finding that the Association’s pur- Guaranty
poses are not exclusively charitable. A substantial part of T*grns:
the Association’s revenues are devoted to paying its em- ggggﬁ
ployees, operating its offices and publishing its magazine. In v.

my view, a substantial part of the functions of the employ- MINISIER or
ees and of the magazine are in relation to purposes that are Revexus
not charitable. Cattanach J.

I make no finding with reference to the fourth ground
urged against the exemption claimed by the appellant.

The appeal is dismissed with costs.

BETWEEN: ’ Lgfii
FALCONBRIDGE NICKEL MINES Nov.25-28
APPELLANT; 1965
LIMITED ......ciiiiiiiiinnn. F;l;.ﬂls
AND T
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL
RESPONDENT.
REVENUE ............ ..o,

Revenue—Income—Income tax—Expenses incurred for prospecting,
ezploration and development in searching for minerals—Deductibility
of exploration expenses incurred by corporation whose chief business
s that of mining or exploring for minerals—Deductibility of exzpenses
incurred for exploration on property not owned by tazpayer—Deduc-
tibility of exploration erpenses where taxpayer has benefitted from
such expenditures—Deductibility of exploration expenses incurred by
taczpayer as principal and as agent—“Shares of capital stock” and
“right to purchase shares of capital stock”—Meaning of “undertake”—
Income Taz Act, R 8.C. 1952, c. 148, s. 68(8) and s. 83A(7) as enacted
by S. of C. 1955, ¢. 64, s. 22(1); 8. of C. 1949 (2nd Session) c. 26,
8. 53(4); S. of C. 1952, c. 29, s. 84.

This 18 an appeal from the assessments of the appellant under the Income
Tax Act for its 1950, 1951 and 1952 taxation years. The appellant is
a corporation incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Province of
Ontario and during the taxation years in question its chief business
was that of mining or exploring for minerals, and it was actively
engaged in prospecting and exploring for minerals by means of qualified
persons and incurred expenses for such purposes.

In assessing the appellant’s income for the taxation years in question,
the respondent disallowed the deduction of twelve amounts totalling
$413,641 11 expended by the appellant on prospecting, exploration
and development in searching for minerals pursuant to seven agree-
ments entered into with different companies and individuals with
respect to land owned by those companies and individuals.
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1965 Held: That where a statutory provision speaks of an agreement under
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Favcon-
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MINISTER OF
NATIONAL
REVENUE

which a corporation ‘“undertook” to mcur expenses, there is no
doubt that the statute 1s speaking of a legally enforceable agreement
to incur those expenses.

That the expenses referred to mn s. 53(4) of ¢. 25, 8. of C. 1949 (2nd
Session) are what might be referred to as “pre-production” expenses
and are therefore expenses of a capital nature which would not
ordmarily be deductible 1n the computation of income.

That there is no requirement that the expenses referred to in s. 53(4)
of ¢. 25, 8. of C. 1949 (2nd Session) must have been mncurred by the
taxpayer for exploration on his own property.

That there 1s no requirement that the taxpayer claiming deduction of
expenses under s 53(4) shall not have benefitted directly or indirectly
from 1ncurring the expenses. They are deductible if expended on the
taxpayer’s own property, even 1f his property appreciates in value
as a result, and they are likewise deductible if expended on another’s
property under an agreement whereby the taxpayer is to have cer-
tain rights m the future n respect of the property, should the results
of such expenditures be beneficial.

That s. 53(4) requires that the expenditures be incurred by the tax-
payer on his own account—that 1s, as a principal and not merely as
an agent or coniractor for somebody else.

That an exploration company cannot be said to be carrying on an
exploration programme on its own behalf when it is carrying 1t on
under a contract under which 1t 1s to be reimbursed for the total
expenses of the programme as such or under which it carries on the
programme as a means of obtainmg a credit for the amount of the
expenses against an amount which it would otherwise have to pay
in cash.

. That an obligation in an agreement is not any the less a legal obliga-

tion because, by virtue of a provision m the agreement, the obliga-
tions of one of the parties thereto may be terminaled by giving thirty
days’ notice.

. That a comparison of the words in paras. (@) and (¢) of s. 83A(7) of

the Income Tax Act shows that the statute makes a contrast between
(@) a corporation that owned or controlled the mineral rights, and (b)
a corporation that was to be formed for the purpose of acquiring or
controlling the mineral rights, and between (¢) the shares of capital
stock of a corporation and (d) a right to purchase shares of the
capital stock of a corporation.

. That the appeals are allowed in part.

APPEALS under the Income Tax Act.
The appeals were heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice

Cattanach at Toronto.

Allan Findlay and A. S. Kingsmill for appellant.
G. W. Ainslie and T. Z. Boles for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the

reasons for judgment.
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Carranac J. now (February 18, 1965) delivered the fol- 1968

lowing judgment: F;];%%l;
These are appeals from the assessments of the appellant Nicxee

under the Income Tax Act for its 1950, 1951 and 1952 Mmes L.

taxation years. MINISTER OF
. NarroNaL
At the outset of the hearing of these appeals, counsel for Revexuve

the respondent requested that paragraph 8 of the respon- —
dent’s reply to the Notice of Appeal respecting the assess-

ment for the appellant’s 1950 taxation year be deleted since

he did not propose to argue or rely on the defence raised
thereby. Accordingly I ordered that the said paragraph 8

be stricken from the reply.

By agreement between the parties the appellant with-
drew its claim for depletion allowances in respect of a
mine under s. 11(1)(b) of the Income Tax Act, and s.
1202 of the Regulations thereunder, for its 1951 and 1952
taxation years. The appellant’s Notices of Appeal for the
1951 and 1952 taxation years and the respondent’s Replies
thereto were amended accordingly.

The Minister conceded at the hearing that he had been
in error in deducting certain amounts of interest paid on
borrowed capital for the purpose of computing profit as a
base for determining depletion allowance and consented to
judgment that the appeal from the assessment of the
respondent for its 1952 taxation year be allowed and that
the matter be referred back to the Minister in order that the
profit be re-calcaulated and the amount of the depletion
allowance to which the appellant is entitled be redeter-
mined.

The remaining issues in the three appeals are of the same
general character, although the amounts differ and there are
differences in circumstances. Each issue involves a con-
sideration of s-s. (4) of s. 53 of ¢. 25 of the Statutes of 1949
(Second Session), which reads as follows:

(4) A corporation whose chief business is that of mining or exploring
for minerals may deduct, in computing its income for the purpose of the
said Act for the year of expenditure, an amount equal to all prospecting,
exploration and development expenses incurred by it, directly or indirectly,
in searching for minerals during the calendar years 1950 to 1952 inclusive,
if the corporation files certified statement of such expenditures and satisfies
the Minister that it has been actively engaged in prospecting and exploring
for mmerals by means of qualified persons and has incurred the expenditure
for such purposes.
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(This subsection was replaced for 1952 by a new subsection,
which is not materially different for present purposes and
need not be reproduced at this point. See s. 34 of ¢. 20 of
1952).

The remaining issues also involve consideration of s-s.(7)
of s. 83A of the Income Tax Act as enacted by s. 22(1) of
c. 54, Statutes of Canada 1955, reading as follows:

83A. (7) For the purposes of this section and section 53 of chapter 25
of the statutes of 1949 (Second Session), it is hereby declared that expenses
incurred by a corporation, association, partnership or syndicate on or in
respect of exploring or drilling for petroleum or natural gas in Canada
or in searching for minerals in Canada do not and never did include
expenses so incurred by that corporation, association, partnership or
syndicate pursuant to an agreement under which it undertook to incur
those expenses in consideration for

(a) shares of the capital stock of a corporation that owned or controlled

the mineral rights,

(b) an option to purchase shares of the capital stock of a corporation

that owned or controlled the mineral rights,

(c) a right to purchase shares of the capital stock of a corporation
that was to be formed for the purpose of acquiring or controlling
the mineral rights.

The appellant is a corporation incorporated pursuant to
the laws of the Province of Ontario with its head office in
the City of Toronto in that province and during the taxa-
tion years in question the chief business of the appellant
was that of mining or exploring for minerals. During those
years, it was actively engaged in prospecting and exploring
for minerals by means of qualified persons and incurred
expenses for such purposes.

With reference to only two of the amounts in dispute, of
which there are twelve, did the respondent argue that the
expenditures did not satisfy all the requirements contained
in s-s. (4) of s. 563. The two items in respect of which the
respondent contends that the requirements of s-s. (4) of s.
53, read by itself, have not been satisfied, are the items
covering expenses amounting to $247,243.88 in 1951 and to
$56,047.26 in 1952. The respondent’s submission in this
connection is based upon a plea that the expenses were in-
curred by the appellant “for and on behalf of Gullbridge
Mines Limited and not on its own behalf and that the ap-
pellant was reimbursed therefor.” Reliance was placed on
the decision of Cameron J. in Okalta QOils Limited v. Min-
ister of National Revenue®.

1119591 Ex. C.R. 66.
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Before considering the first of these twelve amounts, it 195

should be noted that s-s. (7) of s. 83A declares, in effect, Faucox-
inter alia, that expenses of the kind described in s-s. (4) of Nogm.
s. 53 that have been incurred by a corporation “do not and MIN‘:JS L1o.
never did” fall within the beneficial provisions of s-s (4) of Mmes:i'ms oF
s. 53 if they are expenses incurred by the corporation pur- Iﬁﬁ?&‘;‘

suant to an agreement Cattanach J.

(a) under which the corporation “undertook to incur those =~ —
expenses”’, and

(b) under which the consideration for such undertaking
belongs to one of the classes of things described in para-
graphs (a), (b) and (c) of s-s. (7) of s. 83A.

It follows that the respondent could only have validly dis-

allowed an expense which otherwise was entitled to the

beneficial provisions of s-s. (4) of s. 53

(a) if that expense was incurred by the corporation pur-
suant to an undertaking in an agreement, and

(b) if the consideration for the undertaking fell within
one of the classes described in s-s. (7) of s. 83A.

If it appears, in connection with any one of the amounts in

issue, that one of these two requirements is not met, the

respondent erred in ruling that the amount did not fall

within the provisions of s-s. (4) of s. 53 by virtue of s-s.

(7) of s. 83A.

The first amount in issue is an amount of $10,512.05 that
was expended by the appellant in respect of properties
which are the subject matter of an agreement entered into
by the appellant with Newfoundland Gull Lake Mines
Limited on August 17, 1950. (That company is herein-
after referred to as “Gull Lake” and that agreement is here-
inafter referred to as the “Gull Lake agreement”.) The
principal features of that agreement are as follows:

(a) the appellant agreed to pay to Gull Lake $2,500 in
consideration for which Gull Lake granted to the
appellant an exclusive right or option to purchase
certain mining claims;

(b) the parties agreed that the appellant should have a
right for a period of sixty days to make an examination
of such mining claims;

(e¢) it was agreed that as long as the option granted to
the appellant remained in force the appellant would

be entitled to exclusive possession of the mining claim;
91540—6
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(d) it was agreed that, “if on or before the sixty day
period”, the appellant should notify Gull Lake that it
wished to proceed with the agreement, the appellant
would cause a new company to be incorporated;

V.
MinistEr oF (e) it was agreed that, upon the incorporation of the new

NATIONAL
RevenUE

Cattanach J.

company, Gull Lake and the appellant would transfer
the mining claims to the new company and, as
consideration for the transfer, the new company would
allot to Gull Lake 500,000 of its Class “A” shares and
would allot to the appellant such number of its Class
“B” shares as could be purchased, at five cents per
share, by a payment equal to $2,500 plus the amount
that the appellant had expended in connection with
the examination of the mining claims; and

(f) it was agreed that, forthwith after the incorporation of
the new company, the parties would cause the new
company to enter into an agreement with the appellant
under which the appellant would subseribe for shares
in the new company on a specified basis and the new
company would grant to the appellant an exclusive
right or option to purchase a specified number of its
Class “B” shares.

The sum of $10,512.05, being the first of the amounts in
issue, is the amount of expenses incurred by the appellant
in exploration work on the claims which are the subject
matter of the Gull Lake agreement after the agreement came
into force and before the incorporation of the new company
contemplated by the agreement.

The first question is whether these expenses in the amount
of $10,512.05 were incurred by the appellant “pursuant to
an agreement under which it undertook to incur those ex-
penses” within the meaning of those words in s-s. (7) of s.

83A.

The only agreement which was in force at the time the
expenditures in question were made and which has any
relevance to the expenditures is the Gull Lake agreement of
August 17, 1950 and the only provisions in that agreement
relating to the expenditures are paragraphs 2, 3 and 5 there-
of, which read as follows:

2. Forthwith upon this agreement being approved by the shareholders
of Gull Lake as hereinafter provided, Falconbridge shall have the right
for a period of sixty (60) days thereafter to make an examination of the
said minmng claims by its engineers in the usual manner in which mining
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properties are examined, with the right to take and remove such quantities 1965

of ore as may be required for assay and sampling purposes. FALCV N~
3. It is understood and agreed that this is an option only and nothing  pripgr

herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or bind Falconbridge to = NICKEL
cause such examination to be made, to expend any moneys or to perform MIN‘:)S Lrp.
any other act other than the payment of any moneys required to be paid \fyyistER OF
by Falconbridge under the provisions of Clause 1 hereof. NATIONAL
5 Gull Lake covenants and agrees that so long as the option hereby REVENUE

granted remalns in force Falconbridge shall be entitled to exclusive pos- c\gitanach J.
session of the said mining claaims as and from the date of the approval J—
of this agreement by the shareholders of Gull Lake as hereinafter provided.

In my view, this was not an agreement by which the
appellant “undertook” to incur the expenses in question if
the word “undertook”, as used in s-s. (7) of s. 83A, implies,
as I think it does, a legal liability enforceable by legal
action. The word “undertook” or ‘“undertake” has various
senses depending upon the context in which it is used. If it
be said that a businessman “undertook” a particular busi-
ness operation, the word ‘“undertook” indicates only that he
embarked upon that operation. If it be said that a solicitor
gave an ‘“‘undertaking” to another solicitor, one does not
think primarily in terms of an obligation enforceable by
action in the Court. Where, however, a statutory provision
speaks, as s-8. (7) of s. 83A does, of an agreement under
which a corporation “undertook” to incur expenses, there
is no doubt in my mind that the statute is speaking of a
legally enforceable agreement to incur those expenses. Such
conclusion is reinforced by the presence of the words “in
consideration for...” It seems clear to me that the re-
spondent’s argument is in effect that the Court should read
the words “pursuant to an agreement under which it under-
took to incur those expenses”, where those words appear in
s-s. (7), as though they read “as authorized by an agree-
ment under which it was authorized to incur those expenses”
or “as contemplated by an agreement which contemplated
that it would incur those expenses”.

For the above reasons, I am of the view that s-s. (7) of
s. 83A does not apply to the amount of $10,512.05, which
is the first of the twelve amounts in dispute. It is unneces-
sary, therefore, to deal with the appellant’s further argu-
ment that, in any event, the expenditures were not incurred
in consideration of one of the classes of matters described
in paras. (@), (b) and (¢) of s-s. (7) of s. 83A.

The second of the amounts in dispute is an amount of
$4,953.73 being the amount of expenditures incurred by the

91540—63%
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appellant in the 1950 taxation year after the incorporation
of the new company contemplated by the Gull Lake agree-
ment of August 17, 1950. This new company was incorpor-
ated with the name of Gullbridge Mines Limited on Novem-

Muwstzr oF ber 14, 1960 and the expenditures in question were incurred

NATIONAL
RevENUE

Cattanach J

between that date and the end of that year. It would ap-
pear that these expenditures were not made pursuant to, or
contemplated by, any agreement. What I have said with
reference to the first item therefore applies with even
greater force to the second item?.

The third amount in dispute is an amount of $247,243.88
which is an amount of expenditures incurred by the appel-
lant in respect of the properties which were the subject
matter of the Gull Lake agreement of August 17, 1950 after
those properties had been transferred to Gullbridge Mines
Limited, the new company contemplated by the August 17,
1950 agreement, and after the appellant had entered into
an agreement with that new company as contemplated by
the original agreement. The appellant entered into the
agreement with the new company on December 27, 1950.
(That agreement is hereinafter referred to as the “Gull-
bridge agreement” and the new company is hereinafter re-
ferred to as “Gullbridge”.)

The principal features of the Gullbridge agreement are
as follows:

(a) the appellant subseribed for shares in the new com-
pany in the total amount of $15,000.05;

(b) Gullbridge granted to the appellant an option to
purchase all or any part of 2,059,638 of its Class “B”
shares in accordance with a schedule under which a
specified number of shares could be purchased at a
specified price on or before a specified date and, if
that option were exercised, a further number of
shares could be purchased before a specified date at
a specified price and, if that option were exercised,

1The evidence is that the appellant was permitted to apply this ex-
penditure in the sum of $4,953 73 against the purchase price of shares of
Gullbridge purchased under the agreement which it made with that com-
pany after these expenditures were incurred. However, not only did the
respondent not argue that the expenditures in question were not made by
the appellant on its own behalf but it is probable that they were so made
although Gullbridge did, for some unexplained reason, give the appellant
credit for this amount as though the expenditures had been made on
behalf of Gullbridge. This is not an amount, such as are the ninth and tenth
amounts where, in my view, the facts established to bring the amounts
under s-s. (7) of 8. 83A operate to take them out from under s-s. (4) of s. 53.
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a further number of shares could be purchased before E‘f

a specified date at a specified price, and so on. There FaLcox-
were, in effect, seven separate options totalling 2,059,  Nycxme
638 shares, each option being conditional upon the Mle‘f L.

appellant having exercised all previous options. 1\11{11:;513)? : oF
Against the background of this scheme of options, is to Revenuve

be read para. 4 of the Gullbridge agreement, the paragraph ;. ¢
of that agreement under which the appellant incurred these =~ —
expenses in the amount of $247,243.88. Para. 4 reads as

follows:

4. The parties hereto agree that instead of the Optionee taking up
and paying for shares the Optionee may expend the moneys required to
keep this option in force on diamond drilling and on other exploration,
development and mining work on the said mining claims and the Optionor
hereby grants to the Optionee the exclusive right to take immediate pos-
session of the said mining claims and as long as this agreement remains
in force, the exclusive right by its servants, agents and workmen to
carry on thereon and thereunder such exploration, development and mining
work as the Optionee shall think fit and to take and remove therefrom
such quantity of ore and minerals as it may deem necessary or advisable
for assay and test purposes and the Optionee shall be reimbursed for all
expenditures made by it on behalf of the Optionor, such reimbursement
being in the form of shares of the Optionor issued in accordance with the
terms of this agreement.

This item of $247,243.88 represents expenditures that the
respondent contends were not incurred by the appellant on
its own behalf. The respondent contends therefore that this

amount does not qualify under s-s. (4) of s. 53.

In considering whether or not s-s. (4) of s. 53 has applica-
tion to expenditures of the kind that are represented by this
third item in the sum of $247,243.88, it is important to con-
sider the ambit of s-s. (4) of s. 53. In the first place, it is
to be noted that the expenses referred to in s-s. (4) are what
might be referred to as “pre-production” expenses and are
therefore expenses of a capital nature which would not ordi-
narily be deductible in the computation of income. In the
second place, it is to be noted that there is no requirement
in s-s. (4) that the taxpayer by whom the expenses are in-
curred shall have incurred them for exploration on his own
property. Having regard to the obvious objective of the
legislation to induce companies to extend their exploration
programmes, there would appear to be no reason for im-
posing such a limitation. In the third place, it is to be noted
that there is no requirement that the taxpayer claiming
the deduction shall not have benefitted directly or indirectly
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\126_51 from incurring the expenses. Presumably, if the exploration
Farcon- expenses were incurred in relation to the taxpayer’s own
ﬁféﬁ property, and if the results have been fruitful, the capital
MIN‘;S L. yalue of his property will have gone up substantially as a
Minister or result of the expenditures, but, nevertheless, s-s. (4) appears
NATIONAL 4, authorize their deduction. By the same token, if an ex-
Cattanms ploration company carries on (in) an exploration pro-
attanach J. .
—— gramme on property belonging to somebody else under an
agreement whereby, in the event of the programme having
proved to be fruitful, the exploration company is to have
certain rights in the future in respect of the property—
e.g., the right to be a partner in the operation of the prop-
erty or the right to purchase the property on specified terms
—he would nevertheless appear to be entitled to make the
deductions contemplated by s-s. (4). That this is the effect
of s-s. (4), when read by itself, appears to be confirmed
by the declaratory provision contained in s-s. (7) of s. 83A
which expressly removes from the operation of s-s. (4) of
8. 53 expenses incurred under an agreement pursuant to an
undertaking in consideration for certain types of rights
specified therein.
On the other hand, s-s. (4) of s. 53 does require that the
expenditures must have been “incurred” by the taxpayer
before the taxpayer can deduct them under that subsection.
I think it must follow from this that the expenditures must
have been incurred by the taxpayer on its own account—
that is, as a principal and not merely as an agent or a con-
tractor for somebody else. Compare Okalta Oils Limited v.
Minister of National Revenue, supra.
Superficially, it might seem that there is little, if any, dif-
ference between
(a) an arrangement under which an exploration company
agrees to carry on an exploration programme on prop-
erty belonging to somebody else as agent or contractor
on behalf of the owner, and

(b) an arrangement under which an exploration company
agrees with the owner of property, for a consideration,
to carry on an exploration programme on its own behalf
on property belonging to somebody else.

Practically, there might, depending on the terms of the agree-
ments, be little or no difference. Legally, however, there are
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two quite different arrangements. In the first, the explora- 1968

tion company does what it does as agent of the owner of Farcon-
the property. Compare Montreal v. Montreal Locomotive Noxm.
Works,* per Lord Wright at pp. 162-3 and pages 167-8. In MINES L.
the second, the exploration programme is its own, and, in Mixtsia or
relation to third parties, it alone is responsible. Expenses NamioNAL
incurred in carrying out the programme under the first kind Cotianach J
of arrangement would be incurred by the owner of the =~ _—
property for the purposes of s-s. (4) of s. 53 while expenses

incurred in carrying out the programme under the second

kind of arrangement would be incurred by the exploration

company for the purposes of that subsection.

Without reviewing the various tests as to when a pro-
gramme is being carried on as a contractor on behalf
of a principal and when it is being carried on as a prineipal
on his own behalf—compare Monireal v. Montreal Loco-
motive, supra, at p. 169—for the purposes of this case, it
is sufficient to say that in my view an exploration com-
pany cannot be said to be carrying on such a programme
on its own behalf when it is carrying it on under 2 contract
under which it is to be reimbursed for the total expenses
of the programme as such or under which it carries on
the programme as a means of obtaining a credit for the
amount of the expenses against an amount which it would
otherwise have to pay in cash.

One view of paragraph 4 of the Gullbridge agreement
might be that the appellant had, as an alternative to
exercising its option to take up shares in Gullbridge at
any of the various stages of the option schedule, the
right, on its own behalf, to carry on diamond drilling
and other operations on the Gullbridge property, and
that, to the extent that it so expended money, it would
not have to take up shares in order to keep the balance
of the option schedule in force. On this view of the
matter, para. 4 of the Gullbridge agreement would appear
to contemplate the possibility that the appellant would
prefer to carry on the exploration on its own behalf and
at its own expense rather than subseribe to Gullbridge’s
capital so that the exploration could be carried on on
behalf of Gullbridge and at Gullbridge’s expense. On this
view of the matter, also, the concluding words of para. 4,
of the Gullbridge agreement whereby it was provided that

1719471 1 DL R. 161.
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1965 the appellant should be reimbursed “for all expenditures
Fatcon- made by it on behalf of the optionor”, could not con-
ngxﬁ, ceivably have any application to amounts that would be

MIle)S L. expended by the appellant on its own behalf.

Mﬁﬁgﬁfi‘ As T understood the appellant’s argument, however,
Revenus the appellant took the position that the concluding words
Catta.nach j, of para. 4 of the Gullbridge agreement, did not apply in
respect of the exploration work carried on by the appellant
under the first part of that paragraph but that the expenses
so incurred were nevertheless to be credited against the
purchase price of shares that the appellant was to receive
under para. 2 of the Gullbridge agreement as though it
had exercised the option in the ordinary way. I further
understood that the appellant did receive shares in respect
of all the work carried on by the appellant under para. 4
of the Gullbridge Agreement®. That being so, the appellant
appears to have taken the position, at the time that it took
the shares and during the course of the argument of this
appeal, that the work done by it under para. 4 was done
as a mode of paying for shares that it was acquiring from
Gullbridge. If the work was done by the appellant for
Gullbridge in lieu of making a cash payment to Gullbridge,
I am of the opinion that the expenses of doing the work
cannot be regarded as having been “incurred” by the
appellant so as to come within the words “incurred by it”
in s-s (4) of s. 53. For this reason, I am of the opinion
that this third item of $247,243.88 was properly dis-
allowed by the Minister as not falling within s-s (4) of

s. 3.

The fourth item in dispute is the sum of $56,047.26
incurred in the 1952 taxation year in respect of the prop-
erties that had been transferred to Gullbridge. What has
been said with reference to the third item of $247,243.88

applies equally with respect to this item of $56,047.26.
The fifth item is an amount of $20,435.41 incurred by
the appellant in respect of exploration expenses on proper-
ties which were the subject matter of an agreement between
the appellant and Rambler Mines Limited dated October

1To be absolutely accurate, it is to be noted that a small part of the
amount of $247243 88 expended by the appellant was credited against the
purchase price of shares that the appellant was bound to purchase under
another clause of the Gullbridge agreement. As far as this aspect of the
case is concerned, the result is the same and there is no point in complicat-
ing these reasons further by dealing specially with such amount.
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21, 1950. (That company is hereinafter referred to as 1%

“Rambler” and the agreement is hereinafter referred to Faucon-
as the “Rambler agreement”.) This agreement is, for all {’r’l?]f;
practical purposes, of the same general character as the Mmvs L.
Gull Lake agreement of August 17, 1950 and no useful Mxister or
purpose would be served by making the same examination NATONAL
of it as has been made of the Gull Lake agreement. Certain Cattonmeh g
special features of the Rambler agreement will be referred =~ —
to as they become relevant. The amount of $20,435.41
represents exploration expenses incurred in 1950 on mining
properties which are the subject matter of the Rambler
agreement before a new company contemplated by the
Rambler agreement had been incorporated. What I have
said with reference to the first item in dispute applies,
with necessary changes concerning details, to this fifth item
of $20,435.41.

The sixth item is an amount of $15,125.57 being the ex-
ploration expenses incurred on the Rambler properties in
1951 before any agreement was made with the new company
contemplated by the Rambler agreement. What has been
said with reference to the second items in dispute applies
equally to this sixth item of $15,125.57.

The seventh item is an amount of $13,765.73 being an
amount expended during the year 1951 by the appellant
under an agreement entered into on February 16, 1951
between the appellant and Rambridge Mines Limited, the
new company contemplated by the Rambler agreement.
(The new company is hereinafter referred to as “Ram-
bridge” and the agreement with it is hereinafter referred
to as the “Rambridge agreement”.) By para. 2 of the
Rambridge agreement, the appellant undertook to make
expenditures in respect of exploration in certain defined
amounts or, alternatively, to advance such amounts to
Rambridge for its corporate purposes.

While the appellant could have satisfied this obligation
by making advances to Rambridge instead of expending
the money on exploration work, nevertheless, I have
difficulty escaping the view that these expenditures were
made pursuant to an agreement under which the appellant
undertook to incur those expenses within the meaning of
the corresponding words in s-s. (7) of s. 83A. I doubt that
it was any the less an undertaking because the liability
could be avoided under the terms of the agreement by



90
1965
——

Favcon-
BRIDGE
NIcKEL

2 RC delE. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

electing to do something else. Clearly, it is not any the less
a legal obligation because, by virtue of a provision in the
agreement, the appellant was entitled to bring its obliga-

MIN%S Lm. tions to an end by giving thirty days’ notice.

MiNISTER OF
NarioNaL

I need come to no firm conclusion on the question

Revexve discussed in the immediately preceding paragraph as I have
Cattanach 7. DOt been able to satisfy myself that the consideration for

such undertaking to incur expenses, if it was an undertaking,
was something that falls within one of the classes described
in paras. (a), (b) and (¢) of s-s. (7). An examination of
the Rambridge agreement itself does not disclose that the
appellant was to receive any consideration in the form of
“shares” or “an option” to purchase shares or “a right” to
purchase shares. (Compare the wording of paras. (a), (b)
and (c¢) of s-s. (7) of s. 83A.) However, it must be
recognized that the real bargain was made at the time that
the Rambler agreement was entered into. It was provided
by the Rambler agreement that, if the appellant gave notice
of its desire to proceed with that agreement, a new company
would be formed which new company would acquire the
mining claims that were the subject matter of the Rambler
agreement and, in consideration therefor, the new company
would issue its shares, 40 percent to Rambler and 60
percent to the appellant. The Rambler agreement provided,
however, that such shares would not be available to the
appellant unless and until it performed what it was to
agree to do by an agreement which it was to enter into
with the new company. The net effect was that the
appellant would, by such agreement with the new company,
agree to carry out the exploration work in question. Un-
doubtedly, therefore, the real consideration for its agreeing
to incur the exploration expenses on the mining claims that
were to be placed in the hands of the new company was the
agreement that it would receive 60 percent of the shares of
the new company. The consideration was therefore “shares
of the capital stock of a corporation that was to be formed
for the purpose of acquiring or controlling the mineral
rights” and was not “a right to purchase” such shares within
para. (c) of s-s. (7) or ‘“shares of the capital stock of a
corporation that owned or controlled the mineral rights”
within para. (a). A comparison of the words of para. (a)
and the words of para. (¢) in s-s. (7) shows, in my view,
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that the statute makes a contrast, which cannot be ignored, 196
between 1‘",;‘;;;‘;;"

(a) a corporation that owned or controlled the mineral Nicxmr

rights, and MIN];])S: Irp.
(b) a corporation that was to be formed f01j the purpose of Mﬁﬁg‘iﬁ

acquiring or controlling the mineral rights, and ReveNus
between Cattanach J.

(c) shares of the capital stock of a corporation, and

(d) a right to purchase shares of the capital stock of a
corporation.

For the purposes of the Rambler agreement, Rambler
was the corporation that owned the mineral rights within
para. (a) and the company to be incorporated, which
turned out to be Rambridge, was the corporation that was
to be formed for the purpose of acquiring the mineral
rights. The consideration was “shares” in Rambridge not
“shares” in Rambler and not a “right to purchase shares”
in Rambridge. Where under an agreement shares are the
consideration, the person who makes the expenditure is
entitled to the shares by virtue of the agreement. When the
consideration, under an agreement, is a “right” to purchase,
he acquires the “right” by virtue of the agreement and he
must exercise his right to purchase by some form of notice
or election and must pay a purchase price. The difference
between a “share” and a “right” to purchase a share is
fundamental and is one that is made by every person in-
volved in company finance. Here the appellant was entitled
to “shares” in Rambridge and that is a consideration that
did not fall under para. (a) or (c) of s-s. (7) of s. 83A.

I therefore conclude that this seventh item of $13,765.73
does not fall within s-s. (7) of s. 83A and that the appellant
should have been allowed to deduct it under s-s. (4) of s.
53.

The eighth item in dispute is the sum of $13,677.68 being
an amount expended by the appellant in 1952 on the Ram-
bler property. This amount is in exactly the same position
as the seventh item and what I have said with reference to
the seventh item therefore applies equally to this eighth
item.

The ninth item in dispute is an amount of $6,991.89
expended in respect of certain mining properties that were
the subject matter of an agreement between the appellant
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and Jawtam Key Gold Zones (Rambler) Limited dated
June 16, 1952, which amount is, for practical purposes, in
the same position from the point of view of s-s. (7) of s.
83A as the first item in dispute, and the remarks that I

Mmvsmer of have made with reference to the first item may be taken

NATIONAL
Revenue

Cattanach J.

as applicable thereto mutatis mutandis.

The tenth item is an amount of $6,221 and is also an
amount expended on the properties referred to in the
Jawtam agreement. This amount differs only from the ninth
amount in that the appellant’s “option to purchase” the
properties in question was, under the agreement, conditioned
upon its making the expenditures in question. The appel-
lant was, however, under no legal obligation to make the
expenditures and the remarks that I made with reference
to the first item may be taken as applicable also to the
tenth item mutatis mutandsis.

The eleventh item in dispute is an amount of $15,063.77
expended pursuant to an agreement entered into on March
27, 1951 by the appellant with Stanmore Mining and Smelt-
ing Limited and a number of other persons each of whom
owned mineral claims in the same area. Under this agree-
ment, each of the persons owning mineral claims agreed to
transfer those claims to a company to be formed for the
specified amounts of shares in that company.

Paragraph 5 of the agreement reads as follows:

5. Falconbridge shall be entitled to act as sole managers of the Com-~
pany’s property for a minimum period of three years to decide the policy
of exploration and development and be entitled to receive shares for the
first Ten Thousand ($10,000 00) Dollars advanced to the new Company at
ten (10¢) cents per share and to receive for the next Forty Thousand
($40,000.00) Dollars shares at twenty-five (25¢) cents per share and there-
after to receive for further advances shares at such price or prices as may
from time to time be decided by the directors and Falconbridge agrees to
expend the aforesaid total of Fifty Thousand ($50,000.00) Dollars for the
purposes of the Company and on exploration work to be commenced as
soon as weather conditions permit and to continue the same until the whole
of the said sum of $50,00000 is expended, and thereafter to expend such
further sums as in its judgment is considered justified. As for such moneys
as are expended in addition to the said Fifty Thousand ($50,000.00) Dollars,
the same shall be offered pro rata to the shareholders in the proposed
company, provided, however, that in the event of any of such shareholders
not purchasing and paying for such shares then the same shall be offered
to Falconbridge its nominee or nominees, for the same price and on the
same terms, prior to seeking sale to any other person or persons, firm or

corporation.
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The appellant and the respondent each put its case in

respect of this item on the basis that, if it were not for s-s. F;ﬁhgzlg-

(7) of s. 83A, amounts expended by the appellant pursuant Nicger
to para. (5) would have been entitled to the benefit of s-s. Mm’ff L.
(4) of s. 53 as enacted by s. 34 of ¢. 29 of the Statutes of MIEINISTER oF
. . . . A’ Al
1952, which subsection is applicable to the year 1952. That Raymeos
subsection reads as follows: Cattanach .
(4) A corporation whose principal business is mining or exploring for —
minerals may deduct, in computing its income for the purpose of The
Income Tax Act for a taxation year, the lesser of

1965
e

(a) the aggregate of the prospecting, exploration and development
expenses incurred by it, directly or indirectly, in seaching for
minerals in ‘Canada,

(1) during the taxation year, and
(1i) during previous taxation years, to the extent that they were
not deductible in computing income for a previous taxation
year, or
(b) of that aggregate an amount equal to its income for the taxation
year

(i) if no deduction were allowed under paragraph (b) of sub-
section (1) of section 11 of the said Act, and

(1) f no deduction were allowed under this subsection, minus
the deduction allowed by section 27 of the said Act,

if the corporation has filed certified statements of such expenditures and
has satisfied the Minister that it has been actively engaged in prospecting
and exploring for minerals in Canada by means of qualified persons and
has incurred the expenditures for such purposes.

The appellant conceded that the first $50,000 expended
under para. 5 of the Stanmore agreement fell within the
declaratory provision contained in s-s. (7) of s. 83A but
contended that the remaining $15,063.77, the eleventh item
in dispute, did not fall within the said s-s. (7). The re-
spondent took the position that the $15,063.77 item also
fell within the declaratory provision in s-s. (7).

To determine the issue so raised requires a careful con-
sideration of para. 5 of the Stanmore agreement, which
paragraph appears to leave some things to the imagination.
As a result of the best consideration that I have been able
to give to para. 5, I have been constrained to the view that
amounts expended by the appellant under that paragraph
cannot be regarded as amounts expended by it on its own
behalf and cannot, therefore, be regarded as “expenses in-
curred by it” within s-s. (4) of s. 53. This brings me to the
result contended for by the respondent by different reason-
ing than that upon which the respondent relied.
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The following are the various stages by which I came to
Fawcon- the view that I hold as to the effect of para. 5 of the
Stanmore agreement:

M Lp. : « :
NS LID- (1) Paragraph 5 first provides that “Falconbridge shall

(2)

(3)

be entitled to act as sole managers of the Company’s
property ... to decide the policy of exploration and
development...” It follows that whatever Falcon-
bridge, i.e., the appellant, did in its role of “managers
of the Company’s property” it did as agent of the
company—i.e., the new company contemplated by the
agreement—and not on its own behalf.

The next provision in the agreement is that “Falcon-
bridge shall... be entitled to receive shares for the
first Ten Thousand ... Dollars advanced to the new
Company at ten ... cents per share and to receive for
the next Forty Thousand ... Dollars shares at twenty-
five... cents per share and thereafter to receive for
further advances shares at such price or prices as may
from time to time be decided...” It is a necessary
implication of this part of the paragraph that Faleon-
bridge is to make “advances” to the new company
and is entitled to receive shares for those advances.
It may be that what was contemplated was “advances”
in the ordinary sense of loaning money or it may
have been contemplated that the “advances” would
be monies expended by the appellant on behalf of
the new company. I cannot escape the conclusion,
however, that paragraph 5 contemplated the appellant
putting up money to be used by the new company
and that Falconbridge was to be entitled to receive
shares in consideration for such money.

The next relevant part of paragraph 5 reads: “Falcon-
bridge agrees to expend the aforesaid total of Fifty
Thousand ... Dollars for the purposes of the Com-
pany and on exploration work... and thereafter to
expend such further sums as in its judgment is con-
sidered justified”. When the appellant agreed to expend
money which it was to put into the company’s coffers
or at the company’s disposal and for which it was
to receive shares, and when the appellant had already
been authorized to act as ‘“sole managers of the
Company’s property”, to me, the result is inescapable
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that the appellant was agreeing to make such expendi- 1%

tures of the company’s money in its capacity as man- Farcon-
ager of the company’s property and that any expendi- Nioxm,
ture made pursuant to such agreement was an MINES Lip.
expenditure of the new company and cannot therefore Mrwister oF
be regarded as an expenditure incurred by the appel- NATIONAL

. . REVENUE
lant for the purposes of subsection (4) of section 53.
Cattanach J.

In the result, therefore, I am of the opinion that the —
Minister did not err in disallowing the appellant’s claim
in respect of this eleventh item of $15,063.77.

The twelfth item in dispute is the sum of $3,603.14
being an amount expended on mining claims which are
the subject matter of an agreement entered into on July 29,
1952 between the appellant and John Stanley Brodie and
Trevor Wyman Page. I see no relevant difference between
the factors determining the character of these expendi-
tures for present purposes and those determining the
character of the expenditures making up the first item
in dispute, and what I have said with reference to the
first item may therefore be taken as applying mutatis
mutandis to the twelfth item.

At the conclusion of the trial T allowed certain amend-
ments to the pleadings, the effect of which was to allow
the Minister to contend that the deductibility of three
items should be dealt with by the judgment of this Court
notwithstanding the fact that the Minister had, by notifica-
tion under s-s. (3) of s. 58 of the Income Tax Act, agreed
to allow their deduction. It was understood at the time
that I allowed these amendments to the pleadings that
the question as to whether the Court has jurisdiction on an
appeal by the taxpayer to disallow deductions that the
Minister had previously allowed, would have to be deter-
mined before the Minister could succeed in respect of
these items. As, in the result, I have come to the conclu-
sion that the three items in question are deductible, it is
not necessary for me to deal with this question of
jurisdietion.

The result is therefore that the appellant succeeds in
respect of the first amount in dispute in the sum of
$10,512.05; the second amount in dispute in the sum of
$4,953.73; the fifth amount in dispute in the sum of
$20,435.41; the sixth amount in dispute in the sum of
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l_gff $15,125.57; the seventh amount in dispute in the sum of
Faucon-  $13,765.73; the eighth amount in dispute in the sum of
Noowm, $13,677.68; the ninth amount in dispute in the sum of
Miwes L. $6 991.80; the tenth amount in dispute in the sum of
Mxsrer or $6,221.00; and the twelfth amount in dispute in the sum of
RATIONAL  $3,603.14. The appeals will therefore be allowed with costs
Cattammch . and the assessments will be referred back to the Minister
——  for an adjustment of the figures in accordance with the
conclusions set out in this paragraph and in the fourth

paragraph of this judgment.

1964 BETWEEN:
—

D‘f& 1’1 9, THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL
- APPELLANT;
1965 REVENUE .............cco....
Jan. 15 AND
ALDERSHOT SHOPPING PLAZA
RESPONDENT.

LIMITED .......cooviiviiian..

Revenue—Income—Income tax—Land purchased for shopping centre
and subsequently sold at profit—Land purchased for shopping centre
to be retained and rented—=Sole purpose of tarpayer when land pur-
chased—Conditions in agreement to purchase land inconsistent with
speculative intention—Short eristence of taxpayer tnsufficient to put
it into business of dealing in shopping centres—Agreement of pur-
chase and sale a capital asset, as was the land which was the
subject of the agreement—Income Tax Act, RS.C. 1952, c. 148, ss. 3,
4 and 139(1)(e).

The Minister of National Revenue appeals from the decision of the
Tax Appeal Board allowing the appeal of the respondent from the
assessment as income of the respondent for the taxation year 1961
of the sum of $55,01808 realized as profit on the sale of land as
being income from an adventure or concern in the nature of trade.

The evidence established that one Facey, who had acquired con-
siderable experience in the construction industry and in the develop-
ment of shopping centres, became aware that Dominion Stores
Limited was anxious to have a shopping centre erected on land
owned by it contiguous to one of its supermarkets located in the
Village of Aldershot near Hamilton, Ontario. Facey was convinced
that the site was suitable for such a development and lacking suf-
ficient capital himself, he enlisted the participation of several other
individuals to help finance the project and, with them, procured the
incorporation of the respondent company. On August 12, 1960 an agree-
ment for sale was executed by Dominion Stores Limited and a
trustee for the respondent company which had not yet been formed
and it was a term of the agreement that should the purchaser be
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unable to obtain the necessary permits for the erection of the proposed 1965
shopping centre and the approval of the vendor of the site plam, MIN;’I’;B op
before the closing date, it might, at its option, either complete the N monaL
purchase or terminate the agreement, in which latter event it would RevenuE
lose its deposit of $1,000. After considerable preliminary work had been v.
done, and expense incurred for printing and distribution of brochures, %’I‘i"g::g?
for engineers’, architects’, surveyors’, and solicitors’ fee, for office p;,,. T/,
rent and for secretarial help, and some progress had been made —_
in leasing space in the proposed shopping centre, Dominion Stores
Limited informed Facey that Tower Marts of Canada Limited had
decided to establish a large departmental discount store in the area
and was particularly anxious to have the respondent’s site. There
was evidence that Tower Marts of Canada Limited was, in fact,
negotiating for available property just across the highway from the
respondent’s site. Faced with this dilemma the respondent agreed to
sell part of its site to Tower Marts of Canada Limited and in so
doing realized as profit the sum of $55,018.08, which is in issue.

Held: That the respondent, when it entered into the agreement of pur-
chase and sale with Dominion Stores Limited had for its sole purpose
the erection of a shopping centre on the land to be acquired and
to derive rental in_come therefrom.

2. That the fact that the respondent had not completed the mortgage
financing and other arrangements for its shopping centre at the time
it sold to Tower Marts of Canada Limited does not warrant an
inference that it had, from the beginning, contemplated resale
of the property, inasmuch as such sale occurred before, in the
ordinary course of events, such arrangements would have been
made.

3. That although the proposed first mortgage on the property was to
contain a provision for partial discharge, such provision is consistent
with the erection of the shopping centre in stages and allowed the
respondent to dispose of such part of the land as might be unneces-
sary for its shopping centre. If the land was capital in the hands of
the respondent then the surplus over its requirements would also be
capital.

4. That the conditions imposed by the provisions in the agreement
with Dominion Stores Limited were designed to ensure that a shopping
centre would be built and are inconsistent with speculation in the
lands for any other purpose.

5. That the short existence of the respondent was not sufficient to
put it into the business of dealing in shopping centres.

6. That the provision in the agreement of purchase and sale giving
the purchaser the option of completing the purchase or terminating
the agreement in the event it did not obtain the necessary permits and
approvals, 1s not a condition precedent to the respondent’s obliga-
tion to buy the property.

7. That the agreement for sale between Dominion Stores Limited and
the respondent constituted a capital asset rather than a revenue asset
and there is no valid reason for not considering the land which was
the subject of the agreement for sale to be in the same category.

8. That the appeal is dismissed.

APPEAL from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board.

91540—7
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The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice

——
Mimsree or Cattanach at Toronto.

Narionan
REVENUE
v.
ALDERSHOT

SzorPING
Praza L.

D. J. Wright and J. E. Shéppard for appellant.
David Vanek, Q.C. and Irving Goodman for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

CarranacH J. now (January 15, 1965) delivered the
following judgment: ‘

This is an appeal from a judgment of the Tax Appeal
Board' dated January 31, 1964, whereby an appeal, by the
respondent against its income tax assessment for its taxa-
tion year 1961 was allowed and the pertinent assessment
was ordered vacated.,

The respondent, in assessing the appellant for its 1961
taxation year, added to the appellant’s income for that
year an amount of $55,018.08 realized as profit on the sale
of land as being income from an adventure or concern in
the nature of trade. The respondent, on whom the onus lies,
does not dispute the accuracy of the amount of profit so
realized, but does contend that such gain does not constitute
taxable income, but was rather a “capital gain”. The re-
spondent says that it had been incorporated for the sole
purpose of erecting and carrying on the business of a
shopping centre to obtain rental income therefrom; that
real property was acquired for the sole purpose of securing
an advantageous site for the proposed shopping centre; that
definite and unequivocal steps were taken towards that end;
that a well established competitor had subsequently
decided to locate in the identical area and subjected the
respondent to irresistible pressure to sell the site to it.
Accordingly the respondent says that it was frustrated in
its project of developing a shopping centre and had no
alternative but to sell to its competitor and that the
transaction was, therefore, not an adventure or concern in
the nature of trade.

The question for determination is, therefore, whether, in
the light of all the surrounding circumstances, the trans-
action in question is “an adventure in the nature of trade”
and the profit therefrom is income from a business for the
purposes of the Income Tax Act under ss. 3,4 and 139(1) (e)

134 Tax AB.C. 429.
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thereof, or whether the sale of the real property was the 198
realization of a capital asset and the proceeds of such Mmisrer or

realization were, therefore, capital and not income within JAToNAY
the meaning of the Income Tax Act. v

’ . . . ALDERSHOT
The prime motivation of the proposal to erect a shopping Smorrva

centre was Allan E. Facey who was also the principal wit- **% Lao.
ness for the respondent. Mr. Facey had considerable ex- CattanachJ.
perience in the construction trade, having been 14 years
with a well known construction company, his function being
to estimate building costs. Latterly he spent 7 years as
general manager of a company engaged in the development
of properties such as office buildings and shopping centres.
In the course of his employment he was responsible for the
supervision of the construction of three neighbourhood
shopping centres which entailed engaging architects and
consulting engineers, arranging for sanitary sewers, lighting
of parking lots and the like. From his association with the
trade he became aware that Dominion Stores Limited,
which operated a number of grocery supermarkets, (herein-
after referred to as Dominion) was particularly anxious
to have a shopping centre erected contiguous to one of its
existing supermarkets located in the Village of Aldershot,
which was on a main highway in close proximity to the
metropolitan area of Hamilton, Ontario. A brief and super-
ficial investigation of the site convinced Mr. Facey that it
offered eminently suitable prospects for the construction
of a successful shopping centre. He, therefore, saw an
opportunity for setting out a potentially prosperous pro-
ject on his own behalf in a field for which his experience
best suited him.

While Mr. Facey had little capital of his own, which
included a possible loan of about $25,000 to $30,000 from
his late father’s estate which he valued at $300,000, never-
theless he could not carry the project on his own. Accord-
ingly, he enlisted the participation of James Bitove, a
former schoolmate who operated a number of coffee shops,
John Bitove, brother of James, Bruce Kinsella, (John
Bitove and Kinsella were shareholders of a company known
as Kinsella Design Associates Limited, which company was {
engaged in the design and manufacture of store fronts and
fixtures) and David Fine a chartered accountant. Later

Nicholas Bitove, the father of James and John, who was
91540—17%
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1985 retired but possessed some means, was induced to join the

Mi~isTER oF Project.
NATIONAL

Revexuve  1hese persons were instrumental in obtaining the incor-
Am;;-s}m poration of the respondent company under the name of

Smoreine  Aldershot Shopping Plaza Limited, pursuant to the laws of
Puaza L. the Provinee of Ontario by letters patent dated September
Cattanach J. 28, 1960 for the following objects:

TO purchase, lease, take in exchange or otherwise acquire lands or
interests therein together with any buildings or structures that may be
on the said lands or any of them and to hold, enjoy, manage, improve
and assist in improving such lands and to construct, develop and operate
shopping centres in all their aspects;

Prior to the incorporation of the respondent, the par-
ticipants, with the exception of Nicholas Bitove who joined
the project at a later time, met to consider the project in
July or August of 1960. They had before them an analysis
of the site, prepared for another party, and the benefit of
Mr. Facey’s examination of the site and his experience. They
decided that the site was a promising one. It is true there
was a sewer problem but it seemed capable of solution. It
was estimated that the cost of the project would be
$1,200,000 inclusive of the cost of the land which was
$240,000. The construction of the building and other im-
provements would be approximately $1,000,000. The build-
ing would contain 35 stores, the rental of which would yield
an estimated 15 percent return on the monies expended. It
was anticipated that financing of construction would be by
means of a first mortgage in the amount of $750,000. Sec-’
ondary financing was also contemplated as necessary and any
balance remaining, when the amount of the secondary
financing available was known, would be put up propor-
tionately by the participants. The participation in the
project was to be one-sixth each by James Bitove, John
Bitove, David Fine and Allan Facey and two-sixths by
Bruce Kinsella. A mortgage broker was consulted who was
optimistic about obtaining a first mortgage in the required
amount predicated upon the successful negotiation of leases
for the premises before construction began. However, no
steps appear to have been taken to obtain secondary financ-
ing although several possible sources were mentioned by
Mr. Facey with whom he had had previous dealings.

The preliminary financing was in the amount of $15,000.
James Bitove, John Bitove, Fine and Facey each put up
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$1,000 and Kinsella put up $2,000, making a total of $6,000. 195
The remaining $9,000 was put up by Kinsella Design Asso- Mi~stes or

ciates Ltd., and was advanced as required. mg,,‘;
. .. . v.
An offer to purchase was submitted to Dominion, (which , *

incidentally had been attempting to dispose of the land for lg,noppmc
between five and seven years, to someone who would build * ™%~
a shopping centre on it) by Kinsella Design Associates Lim- Cattga_ch J.

ited which was acceptable to Dominion.

Accordingly, on August 12, 1960 Dominion entered into
an agreement for sale with Kinsella Design Associates Lim-
ited as trustee for a company to be formed, being the
respondent herein. This agreement provided for the sale of
the land owned by Dominion contiguous to its existing
supermarket building, consisting of approximately 17.96
acres, with a frontage of 1200 feet and an arterial highway,
at a price of $240,000 to be paid by (1) a deposit of $1,000
on the signing of the agreement, (2) $49,000 by certified
cheque on closing, the closing date being fixed in the agree-
ment as November 1, 1960, and (3) the balance of $190,000
by giving back to the vendor a first mortgage covering the
entire property to mature two years after the date of com-
pletion. The mortgage was to contain a provision whereby
the mortgagor was entitled to obtain partial discharges at
any time before maturity. It was also provided that if, on
or before the closing date, the respondent should not have
obtained (a) all necessary permits from governmental and
administrative bodies allowing the erection and operation of
a retail shopping centre (b) all necessary permits from the
Department of Highways allowing access from the adjacent
public highway, or (¢) approval of Dominion’s engineers to
a site plan, then the respondent may either complete or
terminate the agreement at its discretion. In the event of
the agreement being terminated for any of the foregoing
reasons, the deposit was to be retained by the vendor. It
was further provided that should the respondent not be
able to obtain permission to connect to storm sewers or water
mains or should it be unable to arrange for sanitary sewer
facilities to be brought to the perimeter of the property to
service the shopping centre in due time for the completion
thereof, the respondent-at its option might also terminate
the agreement. By a schedule to the agreement Dominion
was granted certain easements permitting of accéss and
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maintenance and by a further schedule Dominion reserved

Mivismee or the right to exercise control over the construction of all

NATIONAL
REVENVE
v
ALDERSHOT
SHOPPING
Praza Lrp.

Cattanach J.

buildings within 600 feet of its existing building, the
respondent undertook to maintain an access road until dedi-
cated and accepted as a public highway and the respondent
also undertook not to permit the erection of any building on
the land which would be used to compete with Dominion for
30 years.

The respondent thereupon began its efforts to bring the
proposed shopping centre into existence. Brochures were
prepared, printed and circulated to prospective tenants at
a cost of $1,227.50, engineers’ fees were incurred to the extent
of $1,082, architects’ fees in the amount of $1,756, and
survey fees amounting to $212. The respondent arranged
to share office space with David Fine at a monthly rental
of $175, employed secretarial assistance and undertook to
pay Facey a salary. Mr. Facey was willing to accept only
one-half of the agreed salary and to wait for the balance
and the respondent’s solicitor also agreed to defer payment
of his fees until the affairs of the respondent prospered.

It was a condition precedent to obtaining a mortgage
commitment that firm lease commitments be obtained from
reliable tenants for the shopping ecentre when erected. Vol-
uminous correspondence was therefore entered into with
various prospective lessees, but only one signed lease was
obtained although optimistic negotiations were being con-
ducted with other tenants who expressed definite interest.
F. W. Woolworth, a variety store, was willing to sign a lease,
in a form approved by it, which contained a clause that,
should Dominion sell or abandon its grocery market, then
Woolworth could terminate its proposed lease. The respond-
ent unsuccessfully tried to have this provision removed
because it was informed and foresaw that the amount of
first mortgage monies that could be obtained might be
reduced as a consequence.

The respondent was unable to close on the agreed date
and Dominion readily agreed to an extension.
In January 1961 Dominion also gave its approval to a

site plan as contemplated by the agreement for sale dated
August 12, 1960, but the respondent never did obtain the
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permits necessary to begin construction as were also con- 195
templated in the above agreement, nor was construction bermsmn oF
of the proposed shopping centre ever begun. R

Towards the end of January 1961, Mr. Facey was , *
informed by the property manager of Dominion that Towers Szorrive
Marts of Canada Limited (hereinafter called Towers) had F™™ 1™
decided to establish a large discount departmental store in CattanachJ.
this area and was particularly anxious to have the re-
spondent’s site which, because of its prior agreement with
the respondent, Dominion could not sell to Towers. This was
no idle threat as one, H. B. Sussman, acting as agent for
Towers, was also negotiating for available property just
across the highway. In addition there is no doubt that the
advent of a Towers discount store in such close proximity
to the respondent’s site effectively destroyed the prospect
of a successful shopping centre being established on the
gite. Towers was introducing a new form of merchandising,
and had unlimited resources to do so. It had completed its
first store in Metropolitan Toronto and it had enjoyed a
phenomenal success and caused concern among retail
merchants, particularly operators and tenants of traditional
shopping centres. Further, Towers was negotiating with
Dominion for the acquisition of a number of other locations
adjacent to Dominion’s other supermarkets.

The directors of the respondent, being the persons already

mentioned, met and decided to negotiate a sale to Towers.
After some negotiation, directed mainly to price, during
which the realities of the situation were forcefully brought
to the respondent’s attention, the sale of 12} acres was
agreed upon at a price of $305,000.

Towers, having achieved its purpose in acquiring the site

it wished, eould afford to be magnanimous. It permitted the
respondent to continue negotiations already begun with
prospective tenants for which it agreed to pay a eommission.
Towers paid the real estate agent’s commission which by
custom in the area was normally paid by a vendor and
Towers was also agreeable to some compensation being paid
to the respondent for its efforts which was, of course,
reflected in the sale price.

The respondent forthwith closed the agreement with

Dominion and on the same day transferred title to Towers,
/
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1965  the purchase price to Dominion being paid by the respond-

M}lrmsm orent from the proceeds of the sale to Towers.
Ruvewor ~ Towers purchased only 124 acres of the 17 acres which

Arpeasmor UD€ respondent had agreed to purchase from Dominion,
Smorrina since these 12} acres constituted the area which Towers
" desired for the erection of its discount store. The remaining
Cattanach J. acreage which did not front on the public highway but was
T situated in a ravine so that it was of doubtful utility, was
retained by the respondent which disposed of it subse-

quently.

It was from the sale to Towers that the respondent
realized its gain of $55,018.08 which the appellant added
to its declared income for the 1961 taxation year.

On the evidence adduced, I am of the opinion that the
respondent, when it entered into the agreement of purchase
and sale with Dominion had for its sole purpose the erection
of a shopping centre on the land to be acquired and to
derive rental income therefrom. In so concluding I have
not overlooked the fact that the respondent was faced with
a hard and tortuous path to bring its project to completion,
primarily because of the limitation of its financial resources.
However there was a real possibility of all obstacles being
overcome and of the objective being achieved. The fact that
the respondent had not completed the mortgage financing
and other arrangements for its shopping centre at the time it
sold to Towers does not warrant an inference that it had,
from the beginning, contemplated resale of the property,
inasmuch as such sale occurred before, in the ordinary
course of events, such arrangements would have been made.

The amount of the deposit, which the respondent stood to
lose if it terminated the agreement for purchase was $1,000
which is negligible in relation to a project of this magnitude.
However the respondent did expend approximately $5,000
for architects and engineers fees, surveys and the like, which
were directed exclusively to the construction of a shopping
centre on the site. Further the agreement for sale with
Dominion was subject to such conditions as Dominion
considered necessary to ensure the erection of a shopping
centre adjacent to its supermarket in which Dominion’s
advantage laid most. Although the mortgage was to contain
a provision for partial discharge, such provision is consistent
with the erection of the shopping centre in stages and

!
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allowed the respondent to dispose of such part of the land 1965

——
as might be unnecessary for its shopping centre. If the Mmisrer or

land was capital in the hands of the respondent then the iroNAL
surplus over its requirements would also be capital (see A

. . LDERSHOT
Sterling Paper Mills Inc. v. M.N.R.)* SHOPPING

The conditions imposed by the provisions in the agree- mef_{‘m

ment with Dominion were designed to ensure that a shop- CattanachJ.
ping centre would be built and are inconsistent with
speculation in the lands for any other purpose.

In addition to direct costs, as above mentioned, other
obligations were incurred incidental to the completion of a
shopping centre. I have in mind legal fees, the establish-
ment of an office with secretarial assistance, although on a
modest scale, and the preparation and circulation of pro-
motional literature, all designed to secure tenants upon
which the availability of first mortgage money depended
and which could have no possible effect on a subsequent
sale. The short existence of the respondent was not suffi-
cient to put it into the business of dealing in shopping
centres.

In my view, therefore, the agreement for sale between
Dominion and the respondent constituted a capital asset
rather than a revenue asset and I can see no valid reason
for not considering the land which was the subject of the
agreement for sale to be in the same category.

Counsel for the appellant in argument, pointed out that
the respondent resold the land before it was under any
obligation to buy the same because permits contemplated
by the agreement for sale had not been obtained. The pro-
vision in question reads:

It is understood and agreed that if on or before the date provided
heremm for completion of the sale and purchase the Purchaser shall not

(a) have obtained all necessary permits from all governmental or
administrative bodies having jurisdiction in the premises allowing
the erection and operation on the lands which are the subject
of this agreement of a retail shopping centre, the buildings of
which shall have a minimum ground floor area of 25% of the
lands covered by this agreement and a maximum height of 35 feet,
and

(b) have obtained from the Department of Highways all permits
required for such a shopping centre allowing access to the same
directly from the adjacent public highway,

(¢) have obtained the approval of the Grantor’s engineers to a site

1719601 Ex. C.R. 401.
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1965 plan as described in Schedule “C” herein hereto annexed, which

MINIS'TER oF approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

NationaL the Purchaser may either complete the purchase, in which case it shall
REVENUE have no claim against the Vendor for the fulfilment of the above con-
A ditions (@) and (b) and (c) or otherwise, or the Purchaser may by notice
annsno'r

Smopping Siven on or before the said date of completion terminate this agree-
Praza Lrp., ment...

Cattanach J. The effect of such provision, as I see it, is to permit the
—  purchaser to avoid the agreement if permits essential to
the construction and operation of a shopping centre were
not forthcoming after reasonable and conscientious efforts
to obtain then, so that the purchaser’s enterprise was
frustrated. However, the provision leaves a discretion in
the purchaser either to terminate the agreement in the
eventuality contemplated or to complete the agreement. It
is not, in my opinion, a condition precedent to the respond-

ent’s obligation to buy the property.

Counsel for the appellant, having assumed that there was
no binding obligation between the parties, then submitted
that even if the agreement between Dominion and the re-
spondent of August 12, 1960, which he construed as anal-
ogous to an option, was entered into for capital purposes, if
the subject matter of the option, or in this case the
subject matter of the agreement, were sold before the exer-
cise of the option or the completion of the agreement, then
that transaction is a concern or adventure in the nature of
trade. As authority for such proposition he cites the decision
of Thurlow J. in Hill-Clark-Francis Ltd. v. M.N.R.}

During the course of the argument I was impressed with
what appeared, superficially, to be an analogy between the
facts of the present case and these under review by Mr.
Justice Thurlow in the Hill-Clark-Francis case. However
upon subsequent consideration I do not think the facts are
actually analogous, nor do I believe that the decision of
Mr. Justice Thurlow is authority for the submission ad-
vanced on behalf of the appellant. In the Hill-Clark-Francis
case the appellant acquired an option to purchase shares
of a company which was the source of lumber supply to
make it a subsidiary company. It was found as a fact that
the option had been acquired as a capital asset, but the
shares represented by the option, which were bought and

1[1961] Ex. C.R. 110.
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sold, were regarded differently because in the meantime dif- E‘ff
ferent circumstances intervened, so that the shares in ques- Mivister or
tion became a revenue asset. Thurlow J. had this to say: mﬁf

It should not, I think, be overlooked that what the appellant v.
acquired for a capital purpose was not shares at all but an option %ngggf
for which it paid $100. Had the appellant gone on and acquired the Ppy,z4 Ip.
shares with the same purpose in mind and carried out its plan to make
Poitras Fréres Inc. a subsidiary, the shares might well have constituted Cattanach J.
in the appellant’s hands assets of a capital, as opposed to a revenue
nature. What happened in fact was, however quite different, and I do not
regard it as in any real or practical sense the equivalent of a mere
realization of the capital asset represented by the option.

Much more than the option and its value was involved.
The sale of the shares also involved the appellant giving

up its right to a lumber supply.

In the present case the circumstances are not similar to
those in the Hill-Clark-Francis case. I do not regard the
sale of the lands that were the subject of the respondent’s’
agreement with Dominion as being in any real or practical
sense other than the realization of a capital asset.

The appeal is, therefore, dismissed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.

QUEBEC ADMIRALTY DISTRICT 1964
. Deec. 21
BETWEEN: f965
MANNIX LIMITED ...........c.coiunen. PLAINTIFF; 3.,75 10,
AND Feb. 8
N. M. PATERSON & SONS LIMITED ...... DEFENDANT.

Shipping—Charter agreemeni—Carriage of cargo—Stowage and securing
of cargo—Loss of cargo lashed on deck and breaking loose in heavy
weather—Duty of shipowner regarding stowage of cargo—Burden of
proving lack of negligence on part of shipowner—Effect of participa-
tion by shipper in stowage of cargo on shipouner’s lability for stow-
age—Quebec Code of Civil Procedure, Articles 1675, 2388, 2424, and
2427.

In this action the plaintiff claims damages for the loss of an 87 ton
mechanical shovel which was being carried on the 8.8. Wellandoc, a
ship owned by the defendant, from Baie Comeau to Bagotville,
Quebec. On November 80, 19564 the plaintiffi entered into a time
charter agreement with the defendant for the hire of the 8.8. Wellandoc
to carry steel outbound from Montreal and contractor’s equipment
inbound to Montreal and to and from St. Lawrence River ports. The
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defendant provided the vessel fully manned and the plaintiffi was
to be responsible for any damage caused through cargo handling at
any or all ports.

On December 9, 1954 the ship left Baie Comeau for Bagotville after

having loaded the shovel in question and other contractor’s
equipment. During the loading at Baie Comeau forty to fifty miles per
hour winds caused heavy swells in the harbour and the ship was
damaged by being banged against the wharf. The ship left Baie
Comeau in heavy seas and high winds with the shovel lashed
down on number two hatch forward. Three hours after the S8.
Wellandoc left Baie Comeau the shovel began to move and ten
minutes later it broke loose and was lost overboard.

Held: That the stowage and method of securing the plaintiff’s shovel were

inadequate, improper and contrary to good practice and the dictates of
ordinary prudence, having regard to the weight and dimensions of the
shovel and the weather conditions which might reasonably have been
anticipated at that time of the year in that area.

. That Articles 2424, 2427 and 1675 of the Quebec Civil Code as well as

the Quebec jurisprudence relating to such articles and English doctrine
and jurisprudence may be considered and applied in the determination
of this case.

. That it is not necessary, having regard to Article 1675 of the Quebec

Civil Code, and also generally according to English Law, for the shipper
to show negligence on the part of the ship’s owner, who, to escape
liability for loss or damage to cargo, must prove that such loss or
damage was caused by a fortuitous event or irresistible force or has
arisen from a defect in the thing itself.

. ’_I‘ha.t if the shipowner in this case was released from its obligation to

safely and properly secure and stow the plaintiff’s shovel it could only
have been because it was discharged of this obligation by agreement
either express or implied, and no such agreement or release was
alleged or proved. No such agreement is implied in the fact that the
plaintiff’s men participated in the loading and stowing of the shovel.

. That in order that the participation of the plaintiff’s men in the loading

and stowing of the shovel might imply an agreement the effect of
which would be to release the shipowner from its obligation to properly
and safely stow the cargo it would have to be established that the
plaintiff, or its representatives, knew and appreciated the risk to which
the cargo was exposed by reason of the manner in which it was stowed
and, with this knowledge, agreed to release the defendant and accept
the risk.

. That if the stowage of cargo were such that it might afiect the stability

of the ship or certain special methods of stowage were required to meét
conditions well known to the shipowner, but of which the shipper had
no knowledge, one cannot presume any intention on the part of the
shipper, who assisted in the stowing of the cargo, to relieve the owner
from its obligation to stow, secure and carry the cargo safely. -

. That the plaintifi’s claim is allowed.

ACTION to recover value of mechanical shovel lost over-

board from the deck of defendant’s vessel.
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The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice 195
Smith, District Judge in Admiralty for the Quebee Admiralty Mmmx
District at Montreal.

e N. M.
Léon Lalande, Q.C. for plaintiff, PATERSON

& Sons Lip.
J. Brisset, Q.C. for defendant. —

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Smrra D.J.A. now (February 8, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

By its action the plaintiff claims the value of a mechani-
cal shovel, lost overboard from the deck of the defendant’s
vessel, the S.S. Wellandoc, on the 9th day of December 1954.

On the 30th day of November 1954 the plaintiff entered
into a time charter agreement with the defendant for the
hire of the S.8. Wellandoc to carry steel outbound from
Montreal, and contractor’s equipment inbound to Montreal,
to and from St. Lawrence River ports, the said charter
agreement being in the following terms:

November 30th 1954
Mannix Limited,
660 St. Catherine St. W,
Montreal, P.Q.
Attention Mr. G. J. Pollock

Dear Sirs:

As per our agreement the S§ Wellandoc will be provided to carry out
a voyage on your behalf from Montreal 1, P.Q. to Mont Louis, P.Q., Baie
Comeau, P.Q. and Bagotville, P.Q.,, and return to Montreal, P.Q. or
Cornwall, Ont, if possmble, under the following terms and conditions.

1. Cargoes to consist of steel outbound and contractors’ equipment
inbound with no dangerous cargo permitted unless arranged for.

2. Charterers to have full use of ship’s gear as on board.

3. Charterers to pay for all extra insurances on the vessel during the
term of this charter. Extra meaning everything additional to insurances
normally carried on this vessel prior to November 30th 1954,

4. Owners to provide this vessel fully manned, victualled and fueled at a
daily rate of hire of $900.00 or pro rata thereof. Hire payable in advance
on the estimated term of the charter and to be adjusted in full immediately
upon redelivery.

5. Delivery of the vessel to date from the hour the vessel clears
Elevator 2 Montreal today with redelivery on the date and time when
the vessel is safely returned to Montreal, cleaned and free of cargo.
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6. Charterers to be responsible for any and all damage caused through
cargo handling at any or all ports and to make good said damage before
the vessel is accepted at redelivery.

Yours very truly,

N. M. PATERSON & SONS LIMITED
(sgd) 1. C. McEwen

Traffic Manager
Accepted:

Mannix Limited

The Wellandoc left Montreal on November 30th with 400
tons of steel-piling, one-half of which was stowed on deck.
She called at Baie Comeau on December 3rd, and loaded
cement and machinery which were to be unloaded at Mont
Louis. The Wellandoc left Baie Comeau at 1150 hours on
December 3rd, arrived at Moent Louis at 2300 hours on the
same day and discharged most of her cargo. Up to that time
the voyage had been uneventful.

The vessel left Mont Louis at 0355 hours E.S.T., Decem-
ber 6th, for Baie Comeau to load machinery belonging to
the plaintiff. She arrived at Baie Comeau at 1930 hours on
the same day and started loading at 2100 hours. Around
midnight there was light snow and a moderate southeast
wind. Loading was stopped at 0700 hours on December 7th
when there was rain and snow with a strong east wind.
The ship was tied up, starboard side to, on the east side
of the inside spur dock, heading south and parallel to the
shore. She started to roll and surge and fenders were placed
over the side. The crew stood by continuously from the time
the ship started to heave until 2 a.m., December S8th,
during which time the wind attained a velocity of from
forty to fifty m.p.h., and possibly more in gusts. The sea,
coming from the northeast direction, was breaking over the
outside pier, the ship getting the swell.

Although those in charge of the vessel had had warning
of westerly winds of from twenty-five to thirty-five m.p.h.
they actually experienced strong northeasterly wind of
which there had been no indication. The Master considered
that the ship could not leave her berth light, as she would
have been in danger of being blown ashore. As a result of
the heaving and banging of the vessel against the wharf
she was damaged on her starboard side, both foreward and
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aft. Two cracks were noticed in plates on the starboard bow 1;953
and plates were also shoved-in considerably from the deck- Mannx
line down to the bilge-line for a distance of about twenty L™

v.
feet. Aft, one seam was opened in the oil bunker. N. M.
PaTersoN

The Wellandoc completed loading at about 0005 hours on & Soxs L.
December 9th by which time she had loaded about 360 tons, g,
mostly heavy machinery, including one shovel and one DJA.
crane weighing about 87 tons each. These were loaded on =~
deck, on number two and three hatches, the shovel forward
and the crane aft. The shovel, on number two hatch, was a
Bucyrus Model 54B which covered practically the whole
of the hatch. Two thicknesses of 127 x 12” timbers were
laid over the hatch and were secured by spikes. The shovel
was placed on the floor so constructed, sitting on caterpillar
tracks, heading athwartship, the tracks being blocked by
6” x 4” pieces of timber. Wires were used on both sides to
lash the shovel. These wires which were tightened with
turnbuckles led from the frame of the shovel to eye-bolts
on the deck. The boom was raised to a perpendicular posi-
tion and the wire cable normally used to operate the shovel
was used to lash the boom to the bulwark on the port side.

The Wellandoc left Baie Comeau for Bagotville at 0120
hours on December 9th. From 0133 hours, strong south-
westerly wind was encountered and the sky was overcast
with occasional light snow. From 0230 hours the vessel was
rolling and plunging heavily and at 0420 hours, conditions
having worsened and it being noticed that the shovel was
begining to move, the vessel was turned about, it being the
intention to return to Baie Comeau. At 0430 hours the
shovel broke loose from its lashings, went overboard and
was lost. The Wellandoc returned to Baie Comeau where
she tied up at 0740 hours.

The preponderance of the proof is that the stowage and
method of securing the plaintiff’s shovel were inadequate
and bad, having regard to the weight and dimensions of
the machine and the weather conditions which might
reasonably have been anticipated at that time of the year
in that area. That such was the case would appear moreover,
from the fact that in a little over three hours after leaving
Baie Comeau, the shovel began to move and the lashings,
which were intended to secure it, parted and the plaintiff’s
shovel went overboard.



112 2 R.C.del’E. COUR DE L'’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

E‘iﬁ * Messrs. Crocker and Bagger, marine surveyors, both of
Manyix Whom have had long experience in such matters, testified
». &bt some length as to the inadequate and inept means
N. M. adopted to secure the shovel and indicated what pre-
Paterson . .
& Sons L. cautions should, as a matter of ordinary prudence, have
Sonth been taken in the circumstances to adequately secure and
mith, . . .
DJA. prevent the movement of the equipment. This evidence was
—  not contradicted and the Court is satisfied that the stow-
age and securing of the plaintiff’s shovel was inadequate,
improper, and contrary to good practice and the dictates

of ordinary prudence.

At the hearing the defendant relied, not so much on the
contention that the stowage and securing of the said cargo
was proper and adequate, but rather on the submission
that the stowage and securing of the shovel had been
executed entirely by the plaintiff’s own employees, who
had declared themselves entirely satisfied with it.

The evidence is contradictory as to the part played by
the plaintiff’s employees in the stowing and securing of the
cargo. Although Captain McCurdy testified that the crew
of the vessel had nothing to do with the stowage, he stated
that he himself had checked the same and found it to be
satisfactory. This testimony, would seem to be in contra-
diction to the allegation of the statement of defence,
to the effect that the accident was due “to defects in the
stowage by plaintiff’s men.” Moreover, the testimony of
Bellefontaine, Master Mechanic, employed by the plain-
tiff, who apparently was superintending the plaintiff’s em-
ployees, was that although the plaintiff supplied the cables
and timbers used in connection with the stowage as well
as the assistance of its men, the actual control of the
stowage was left in the hands of the ship’s crew.

The defence contains no allegation that, because of the
plaintiff’s participation in the stowage and securing of the
cargo it is precluded from complaining of poor stowage or
that the effect of this participation was to release the
defendant from its obligation to safely and properly stow
and secure the cargo. In any event (even if this had been
alleged) “the mere fact that the charterer or shipper knew
how the goods were being shipped and assented to what
was done, will not generally excuse the shipowner”. Carver,
Carriage of Goods by Sea 10th Edition, page 462.
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It may well be that there are cases in which the shipper, Bfé
who has participated in or approved the stowage and Mannxx
securing of the cargo, is precluded from later complaining of LE? :
such stowage. For example, when the shipper is fully Pﬂﬁal\sddn
aware, or it is patent, that stowage of a particular type of & Soxs Luo.
cargo in a particular manner or place will expose that cargo Soth,
to damage, e.g. contamination, and nevertheless participates DJA
in and approves stowage in that manner, such shipper may
be precluded from claiming in respect of damage to cargo
due to said stowage.

Examples of such cases are those of Bozzo v. Moffatt et
all, and The Santamana?® cited on behalf of the defendant.

159 cited on behalf of the defendant.

In the Bozzo case stowage had been entrusted by the
shippers to stevedores. Cargo was damaged due to failure
of the stowers to use sufficient dunnage to protect the cargo
of the type shipped. The Court apparently considered that
the shippers (or their agents, stevedores) had better
knowledge concerning the dunnage required for the pro-
tection of the cargo, than had the Master of the ship, and
therefore relieved the Master of the responsibility.

Article 2388 Civil Code was cited on behalf of the
defendant in support of the argument that articles 2424,
2427 and 1675 CC do not apply because it is the Law of
England, rather than the Law of this Province, which is
applicable. This proposition appears to be unfounded since
article 2388 Civil Code provides clearly that it is the
provisions contained in Chapter Four (relating to the
Privilege and Maritime Lien upon vessels) which do not
apply in cases before the Court of Viece-Admiralty. There is
no such provision applicable to articles of the Civil Code
other than those contained in Chapter Fourth. In any event
the point would appear to be academic in so far as the
present case is concerned, since it is conceded in the
defendant’s Memorandum of Authorities that “the rules
under both systems of law, in admiralty matters, are
generally the same and that our Courts have consistently
and rightly sought guidance in such matters from British
jurisprudence and doctrine.”

The contract of affreightment under which the defendant
contracted to carry plaintiff’s property was entered into in

1 (1881) XI Revue Legale 41. 2(1923) 14 L1 L.R. 159
91540—8
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the Province of Quebec and related to a voyage within the
limits of that province. In the opinion of the Court, articles
2424, 2427 and 1675 CC cited on behalf of the plaintiff, as
well as the Quebec jurisprudence relating to such articles,
and English doctrine and jurisprudence may be considered
and applied in the determination of this case.

Articles 2424, 2427 and 1675 CC provide that:

2424. The master is obliged to receive the goods, and carefully arrange
and stow them in the ship, and to sign such bills of lading as may be
required by the freighter or lessee, according to article 2420, upon receiving
from him the receipts given for the goods.

2427, The master is obliged to exercise all needfull care of the cargo,
and in case of wreck, or other obstruction to the voyage, by a fortuitous
event or irresistible force, he is obliged to use the diligence and care of
a prudent administrator for the preservation of the goods, and for their
conveyance to the place of destination, and for that purpose to engage
another ship, if it be necessary.

1675. They (carriers by land and by water) are liable for the loss or
damage of things entrusted to them, unless they can prove that such
loss or damage was caused by a fortuitous event or irresistible force, or has
arisen from a defect in the thing itself.

Carver’s Carriage of Goods by Sea 10th Edition, at page
459:

The master is by law required to be a competent stevedore. (per
Willes, J. in Anglo-African Co. v. Lamzed (1865) LR.K.P. p. 229.)

It is, apart from special provisions or circumstances, part of the ship’s
duty to stow the goods properly not only in the interests of the sea~
worthiness of the vessel, but in order to avoid damage to the goods, . . .
(per Lord Wright in Canadian Transport Co. v. Court Line [1940] A.C.
934, 943).

It is noteworthy that it is not necessary, having regard
to article 1675 CC, (and also generally according to English
Law) for the shipper to show negligence on the part of the
ship’s owner, who, to escape liability for loss or damage to
cargo, must prove that such loss or damage was caused by
a fortuitous event or irresistible force or has arisen from a
defect in the thing itself.

Carver, Carriage of Goods by Sea 10th Edition at page
459:

We have seen that it is not generally necessary to show negligence in
order to make a ship’s owner responsible for the safety and good condi-
tion of the goods. Subject to the exceptions stipulated for in the contract,
and those prescribed by the law, he is absolutely liable for their safety . ..

Also at page 459:

The duty of stowing the cargo in the ship lies on the owner and on the
master as his representative unless there is an agreement to the contrary.
The Master ought to be a competent stevedore, and he must see that the
stowage is done with skill and care.
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If therefore, the shipowner in the present case was released Ef’f
from its obligation to safely and properly secure and stow Mawnx
the plaintiff’s shovel it could only have been because it was L:”
discharged of this obligation by agreement either express _N. M.

. . . PATERSON
or implied. No such agreement or release was alleged and in & Soxs L.
the opinion of the Court none was proved. Certainly there Smith,
is no evidence of any express agreement to this effect and in  DJA.
my opinion there is no evidence to justify the conclusion —
that such an agreement is implied in the fact that the
plaintiff’s men participated in the loading and stowing of
the shovel. In order that this participation might imply an
agreement the effect of which would be to release the ship-
owner from its obligation to properly and safely stow the
cargo it would have to be established that the plaintiff, or its
representatives, knew and appreciated the risk to which the
cargo was exposed by reason of the manner in which it was
stowed and with this knowledge agreed to release the
defendant and accept the risk. There is neither allegation

nor proof to support such a proposition.

The Master and crew of the Wellandoc were presumably
aware, or should have been aware, that heavy seas and
inclement weather were frequently encountered in that area
and at that time of the year. They, moreover, knew or may
be presumed to have known the effect heavy seas might have
upon their vessel laden with a deck cargo of the nature,
weight and dimensions of that loaded on their ship and of
what constituted safe and adequate measures to secure such
cargo against such conditions.

On the other hand the plaintiff’s master-mechanic, Belle-
fontaine, who was in charge of the plaintiff’s men, who
assisted in the loading and stowing of the cargo, was a lands-
man with no knowledge of ships or experience at sea. In
such circumstances it is improbable that he had any knowl-
edge of what constituted proper and adequate measures to
safely secure the plaintiff’s cargo, in order to meet the con-
ditions which the vessel was likely to encounter and there
is in the Court’s opinion no proof to justify the conclusion
that either Bellefontaine or any other authorized represen-
tative of the plaintiff ever agreed to release the defendant
from its obligation as shipowner to safely stow and carry

the said cargo.
91540—83%
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As above indicated, it might well happen that stowage
of below-deck cargo which did not have any bearing upon
the stability or safety of the ship, but related solely to the
safety of the cargo, (e.g. its protection against contamina-
tion by other cargo) might if undertaken by a shipper who
was in a position to know and appreciate that damage
might result to the cargo if stowed in a certain manner and
nevertheless participated in or approved of stowage in this
manner, preclude the shipper from claiming against the
owner for cargo damage due to poor stowage.

On the other hand if the stowage were such that it might
affect the stability of the ship or certain special methods of
stowage were required to meet conditions well-known to
the shipowner, but of which the shipper had no knowledge,
one cannot presume any intention on the part of the ship-
per, who assisted in the stowing of the cargo, to relieve the
owner from its obligation to stow, secure and carry the
cargo safely.

The Court is unable to accept the proposition that there
was an agreement, either express or implied, the effect of
which was to relieve the defendant, shipowner, from its
legal obligation to safely and properly stow and secure the
said cargo.

Although Counsel for both parties made reference to the
matter of seaworthiness, in their notes, and although there
is at least some evidence bearing upon this aspect of the
case, the Court considers it unnecessary to do more than
state that even if there is evidence of unseaworthiness (and
on this point no opinion is expressed) there is a complete
lack of proof that the loss of plaintiff’s shovel was caused

by or in any way related to any unseaworthiness which may
have existed.

Reference also was made to loss due to the perils of the
sea. This defence however, was not pleaded expressly and,
in the opinion of the Court, was not established by the
proof.

The Court finds on the whole that the defendant was
unsuceessful in proving that the loss of the plaintiff’s shovel
was caused by irresistible force, a fortuitous event or arose
from a defect in the shovel itself. On the contrary it con-
cludes that the shovel was improperly and negligently
stowed and secured and that its loss was attributable to the
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fault and negligence of the defendant’s representatives and \1_9?_5‘
their failure to discharge their obligations under the said Mawnwmx

Contract of Carriage. L.,ff"
The value of the plaintiff’s shovel was admitted to be N- M.

. PATERSON
$60,925.00. To the payment of this sum the defendant & Sons L.
must be condemned. Smith,

Plaintiff’s action is maintained and the defendant is con- lf'_A'
demned to pay to the plaintiff the said sum of $60,925.00
with interest dated from the service of the action; and
costs.

BETWEEN: lis_a;
ROGER L. VINCENT ..., AppELrANT; Sept-19-21
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Revenue—Income—Income tax—Computation of tax on income derived
from several sources—Farming losses—Source of income other than
farming—What expenses deductible jrom income from a varticular
source—Income Tax Act, R8.C. 1962, c. 148, ss. 8, 11(1)(¢c), 12(1)(b),
138 and 139(1)(aa)—Income Tax Regulation 1700.

These are appeals from the assessments of the appellant for income tax for
the taxation years 1957-1960 inclusive.

The appellant was, at all material times, the president and director of a
legal publishing company and he also owned and operated a 300 acre
farm near Georgetown, Ontario. He had owned a farm near Streets-
ville, Ontario, but sold it for $50,000 cash and a mortgage of $100,000
immediately before purchasing the Georgetown farm. To effect repairs
on and purchase machinery for his farm the appellant borrowed money
from the bank on which he paid interest in his 1959 and 1960 taxation
years In all four taxation years under review the appellant suffered
farming losses exceeding $5,000 in each year, and he claimed part of
such losses in each year as deductions 1n computing his taxable income.

The respondent added to the appellant’s income the interest payments he
had recerved in each of the taxation years under review on the mort-
gage he held on the Streetsville farm, and in computing the appellant’s
farming losses for these years he added thereto the amounts of in-
terest paid by the appellant on the mortgage on his Georgetown farm
and refused to allow these amounts as deductions in computing the
appellant’s incomes from sources other than farming. The respondent
also added the interest paid by the appellant on his bank loan when
computing appellant’s farming losses for 1959 and 1966.

After the trial and before judgment the appellant in effect conceded that
his chief source of income during the relevant taxation years was nerther
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farming nor a combination of farming and some other source of
income.

Held: That in the the application of s. 13 of the Income Taz Act the

appellant must aseertain, firstly his income from all sources other than
farming, secondly, the farming loss, and thirdly, the amount of the
farming loss, which the appellant is permitted thereby to deduct from
his income from all other sources. Section 13 of the Act provides that
the taxpayer’s income for a year shall not be deemed to be less than
his income for the year from all sources other than farming minus his
farming loss for the year or an amount determined in accordance with
the formula in the section, which cannot exceed $§5,000.

2 That the interest the appellant received on the mortgage he held on

the Streetsville farm should be included in his income from sources
other than farming. The source of this income was not farming but
property, viz. the mortgage under which the appellant was entitled to
interest. The mortgage was not property used for the purpose of
producing income from the farming business but was itself a separate
source of income, and is therefore a source of income other than
farming.

3. That s. 3 of the Income Tax Act contemplates as sources of income

such things as businesses, of which the taxpayer may have more than
one, property and offices of which he may also have more than one.
Each business, property and office may be a source of income, and
income from a source is to be computed by following the provisions
of the Act applicable to the computation of income from each source
on the assumption that the taxpayer had no income except from that
particular source. In so computing income from a source the tax-
payer is entitled to no deductions except those relating to that
source.

4, That the capital cost allowances in respect of property used to earn

income from the farming business bear no relationship to the earning
of income from the appellant’s office or employment, or partnership or
the acquisition of the interest from the mortgage on the Streetsville
farm. The interest paid on the mortgage on the Georgetown farm
and on the appellant’s bank loan bears no relationship to the earning
of income from his office or employment or partnership or the acquisi-
tion of the interest from the mortgage on the Streetsville farm and
that both such items are directly and exclusively related to his
Georgetown farming activities. The foregoing items are not properly
deductible in computing the income from the appellant’s sources of
income other than farming from which it follows that the respondent
was right in assessing the appellant as he did.

5. That the appeal is allowed.

APPEAL under the Income Tax Act.
The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice

Cattanach at Hamilton.

F. E. LaBrie for appellant
G. W. Ainslie and D. G. H. Bowman for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the

reasons for judgment.
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CarranacH J. now (February 18, 1965) delivered the
following judgment:

These are appeals from the assessments of the appellant
under the Income Tax Act, R.S.C. 1952, chapter 148 for the
taxation years 1957, 1958, 1959 and 1960.

The appellant was, throughout the taxation years in
question, the president and member of the board of directors
of a corporation carrying on a legal publishing business in
Canada, from which he received income by way of salary,
bonuses and director’s fees and he was simultaneously en-
gaged in the business of farming on a 300 acre farm owned
and operated by him in the vicinity of the Town of George-
town, in the County of Halton, Province of Ontario (here-
inafter referred to as the “Georgetown farm’’). Immediately
prior to the appellant’s purchase of the Georgetown farm,
he had owned and operated a farm near Streetsville, Ontario
(hereinafter referred to as the “Streetsville farm”), which
he sold for $150,000 receiving $50,000 in cash and a first
mortgage back for the balance with interest.

The appellant, in the course of operating the Georgetown
farm, was obliged to make extensive repairs and additions
to farm buildings and to purchase farm machinery. At the
trial Counsel for the Minister conceded that these expendi-
tures were capital outlays. However to effect such repairs
and to purchase the required farm machinery, the appellant
borrowed money from his bank on which loan he paid in-
terest in the amounts of $487.86 and $768.65 in his 1959
and 1960 taxation years respectively.

As shown by his income tax returns, the appellant suf-
fered farming losses as follows, in the 1957 taxation year,
$14,040.06, in the 1958 taxation year, $5,806.67, in the 1959
taxation year $14,229.08 and in the 1960 taxation year,
$8,408.57, and in those respective taxation years the appel-
lant claimed, in respect of such losses, as deductions in
computing his income, the following amounts, $4,585.27;
$4,153.33; $5,000; and $5,000.

In assessing the appellant the Minister added to his
income the following amounts, for 1957, $142.11; for 1958,
$588.90; for 1959, $499.56 and for 1960, $840.75; being
income from two partnerships in which the appellant partic-
ipated and with respect to which there is no dispute, either
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as to the amounts or the taxability thereof, except as in-
cidental to submissions on behalf of the appellant which
will be outlined later.

The Minister also added to the appellant’s income the
following amounts, for 1957, $5,000; for 1958, $4,500; for
1959, $3,213.69 and for 1960, $3,000. These four amounts
are payments of interest which the appellant received on
the first mortgage which he held on the Streetsville farm
as security for payment of the balance of the purchase
price therefor and which farm had been sold almost
simultaneously with his purchase of the Georgetown farm.
The accuracy of these amounts is not in dispute and they
come into question by reason of an alternative submis-
sion on behalf of the appellant that if it should be held
that the payments of mortgage interest made by the
appellant on the purchase of the Georgetown farm are
properly included in computing the farming losses, then
the mortgage interest payments received by him should
be considered as income from the appellant’s farming
business.

The Minister, in computing the appellant’s farming
losses for 1957, 1958, 1959 and 1960 added thereto the
respective amounts of $5,580; $3,600; $3,213.69 and $2,850,
being the mortgage interest paid by the appellant on his
purchase of the Georgetown farm and he refused to allow
those amounts as deductions in computing the appellant’s
incomes from sources other than farming for those years.
In addition the Minister also added, in his computation
of the appellant’s farming losses for the years 1959 and
1960, the respective amounts of $487.86 and $768.65 being
interest paid by the appellant to his bank on the loan he
had obtained to effect repairs to the farm buildings and
to purchase farm machinery. The effect of such additions
by the Minister to the appellant’s farming losses is to
increase the farm losses as computed by the appellant.

In 1957 the appellant had claimed a farming loss of
$4,585.27 which the Minister increased to $5,000. In 1958
the farming loss of $4,153.33 claimed by the appellant was
increased by the Minister to $5,000. In 1959 and 1960 the
appellant had claimed farming losses of $5,000 in each
such year which the Minister did not alter.

By Notices of Objection dated May 7, 1962, the appellant
objected to the assessments for each taxation year and
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claimed, inter alia, that he should be allowed to deduct 196
his full farming loss for each year, but the Minister con- Vincenr
firmed the assessments as having been made in accordance ppisres or

with the provisions of the Income Tax Act. %}AE&%“T‘;‘;
The Minister did not make a determination that the . —
Cattanach J.

appellant’s chief source of income for the taxation years  ——
under review was neither farming nor a combination of
farming and some other source of income, as he might

have done, in his discretion, under subsection (2) of
section 13 of the Income Tax Act.

The appellant objected to the Minister’s denial of his
contention that he should be allowed to deduct his total
farming losses for the 1957, 1958, 1959 and 1960 taxation
years in computing his income from all sources for each
of those taxation years.

He contended, first, that section 13(1) of the Income
Tax Act, upon which the Minister relied in assessing the
appellant as he did, does not apply.

Section 13(1), as applicable to the years 1958 to 1960,
reads as follows:

13 (1) Where a taxpayer’s chief source of income for a taxation year is
nerther farming nor a combination of farming and some other source
of income, his income for the year shall be deemed to be not less than
his income from all sources other than farming minus the lesser of

(a) his farming loss for the year, or
(b) $2,500 plus the lesser of

(i) one-half of the amount by which his farming loss for the year
exceeds $2,500, or

(i) $2,500.

As applicable to the year 1957, section 13(1) was some-
what different, but the differences are of no significance
to the points involved in these appeals.

The appellant’s contention at the trial was that section
13(1) does not apply because the appellant’s chief source
of income in each of the taxation years was, in fact, a
combination of farming and his employment. However,
subsequent to the conclusion of the trial the appellant
withdrew this contention, which withdrawal is tantamount
to an admission that the appellant’s chief source of income
during the relevant taxation years was neither farming,
nor a combination of farming and some other source of
income.
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However, the appellant objects to the Minister having
deducted, in ecomputing his income from farming, the
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Georgetown farm in all taxation years in question as well
as the interest paid on his bank loan in the years 1959
and 1960 because such payments were expenditures on
capital account and as such are expressly disallowed by
section 12(1) (b) of the Income Tax Act. Such deductions
of mortgage and bank interest were made by virtue of
section 11(1) (¢) reading as follows:

11. (1) Notwithstanding paragraphs (a), (b) and (k) of subsection (1) of
section 12, the following amounts may be deducted in computing the
income of a taxpayer for a taxation year:

(¢) an amount paid in the year or payable in respect of the year
(depending upon the method regularly followed by the taxpayer
in computing his income), pursuant to a legal obligation to pay
interest on
(i) borrowed money used for the purpose of earning income from

a business or property (other than borrowed money used to
acquire property the income from which would be exempt), or

(ii) an amount payable for property acquired for the purpose of
gaining or producing income therefrom or for the purpose of
gaining or producing income from a business (other than
property the income from which would be exempt),

or a reasonable amount in respect thereof, whichever is the lesser;

The appellant, therefore, contends that such interest pay-

ments were not properly deductible in computing the appel-

lant’s farming income, but rather that they are proper

statutory deductions in computing the appellant’s income
from all other sources for each appropriate taxation year.

As T mentioned before, the appellant contends alter-
natively, that if such interest payments are properly in-
cluded in determining his farming loss, then the interest
payments received by him on the sale of his Streetsville
farm should be included in computing his income from the
business of farming,.

For reasons similar to those advanced in objecting to the
Minister’s deduction of mortgage and bank loan interest
in computing the appellant’s farming income and not in
computing his income from sources other than farming the
appellant contends that capital cost allowances should not
be deducted in computing the appellant’s income from farm-
ing for the 1958, 1959 and 1960 taxation years and that such
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allowances should be deducted in computing his income 195
from sources other than farming for those years. VINCENT

In Part B, paragraph 4(a)(b)(c) and (d) of the Notice Mivstes o
of Appeal it was objected that the computation of the MitoNAL
appellant’s income for the four taxation years were subject Cattanach J
to the adjustments therein outlined which had not been =~ ——
made by the Minister. At the trial Counsel for the Min-
ister agreed that the items therein set forth should be
deducted, as alleged, subject to Counsel agreeing to the
accuracy of the amounts. An exception was made by Coun-
sel for the Minister with respect to subparagraph (v) of
paragraph 4(d) wherein a claim was made by the appellant
for deduction of a capital cost allowance for the year 1960,

(which had not been previously claimed by him), from
sources other than farming,

Accordingly three issues remain for determination.

First, whether the interest paid by the appellant on the
mortgage given by him back to the vendor on the purchase
of the Georgetown farm and on the money borrowed from
the bank for capital outlays on the farm was properly de-
ducted by the Minister in computing the appellant’s income
from the business of farming, as contended by the Minister,
or whether those payments should be deducted in the com-
putation of the appellant’s income from sources other than
farming, as contended by the appellant.

Second, whether the interest received by the appellant on
the mortgage held by him on the Streetsville farm which
he had sold, should be brought into the computation of his
income from the business of farming and not into the com-
putation of his income from other sources, as contended by
the appellant should the first issue be resolved against
him.

Third, whether capital cost allowance, for the years 1958,
1959 and 1960 should be deducted in the computation of
the appellant’s incomes from the business of farming, as
the Minister contends, or in the computation of the appel-
lant’s incomes from other sources, as contended by the
appellant.

The appellant, by his abandonment of his contention that
his chief source of income was farming or a combination of
farming and some other source of income has relieved me from
the necessity of making a finding in this respect.
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Section 13 of the Aect is, therefore, applicable.
It follows from the provisions of section 13 that, for each

Mixister or taxation year, it is obligatory to ascertain, first, the appel-
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lant’s income from all sources other than farming, second,
the farming loss and third, the amount of the farming loss
which the appellant is permitted thereby to deduet from
his income from all other sources. When such amounts have
been ascertained and the computation contemplated made,
the resultant figure is to be deemed to be the income of the
taxpayer. Section 13 provides that the taxpayer’s income
for a year shall not de deemed to be less than his income
for the year from all sources other than farming minus his
farming loss for the year or an amount determined in ac-
cordance with the formula in the section, which incidentally
cannot exceed $5,000.

The first problem, therefore, is to ascertain the appellant’s
income from sources other than farming. It is clear from
the evidence that these sources are his office and employ-
ment in the publishing company, two partnerships in which
he was a partner and the mortgage on the Streetsville farm.

It is clear, in my opinion, that there should be included
in the appellant’s income from other sources, the interest
which he received from the mortgage on the Streetsville
farm. Such income has no relationship to the farming activ-
ities of the appellant at the Georgetown farm. The source
of this income was not farming but “property” (compare
section 3 of the Income Tax Act) namely, the mortgage
under which the appellant was entitled to interest. This
mortgage was not property used for the purpose of produe-
ing income from the farming business but was itself a
separate source of income. Such property is, therefore, a
source of income other than farming.

The next problem is what deductions should be made in
the computation of income from the sources other than
farming and whether there should be deducted the capital
cost allowances in respect of the property used in the
farming business and the interest paid by the appellant
on the mortgage for the unpaid purchase price of the
Georgetown farm and on the bank loan used for capital
expenditures on that farm.

Section 139(1) (az), (which is applicable to all taxation
years in question except 1960) provides:
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a taxpayer’s income from a business, employment, property or other 1965
source of income or from sources in a particular place means the tax- VINCENT
payer’s income computed in accordance with this Act on the assumption v

that he had durmg the taxation year no income except from that source MINISTER OF
or those sources of income and was entitled to no deductions except those IEATIONAL

EVENUE
related to that source or those sources; and.l

Section 3 of the Act declares that a taxpayer’s income Cattan_a_ch J.

for the purposes of Part I is his income from all (a)
businesses, (b) property, (c) offices and employments.
From this it is clear that what is contemplated as sources
of income are things such as businesses, of which the tax-
payer may have more than one, property, and offices of
which he may also have more than one. Each business may
be a source and each property and office may be a source.
The word “source” has the same meaning in section 139(1)
(@z). The section directs that income from a source is to
be computed in accordance with the Act, that is to say,
by following the provisions of the Aect applicable to the
computation of income from each source on the assumption
that the taxpayer had no income except from that particular
source. In so computing income from a source, the taxpayer
is entitled to no deductions except those relating to that
source.

It is obvious that the capital cost allowances in respect
of property used to earn income from the farming business,
bear no relationship whatsoever to the earning of income
from the appellant’s office or employment, or partnerships
or the acquisition of the interest from the mortgage on
the Streetsville farm. It is equally obvious that the interest
paid on the mortgage on the Georgetown farm and on the
appellant’s bank loan bears no relationship to the earning
of income from his office or employment or partnership or
the acquisition of the interest from the mortgage on the
Streetsville farm and that both such items are directly and
exclusively related to his Georgetown farming activities.

Therefore, in my view, the foregoing items are not prop-
erly deductible in computing the income from the appel-
lant’s sources of income other than farming from which it
follows that the Minister was right in assessing the
appellant as he did in these respects.

1 Section 139(1) (az) was repealed by section 33(3) chapter 43, 1960 S.C.
and by section 33(5) of the same statute section 139(1a)(a) was added.
The difference in language is not material to the points involved in the
appeal for the year 1960.
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The appellant made a further submission that Regulation
1700 of the Income Tax Regulations is ultra vires in so far

Minisms or 8 it purports to restrict the deduction of capital cost
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allowances in respect of property used in a farming business
to the computation of income from that business. In view
of the conclusion that I have reached as to the computation
of income from different sources under the provisions of
the Statute itself, I do not need to deal with that argument.

In view of the agreement of the parties that the assess-
ments should be referred back to the Minister for the
allowance of certain items which were not in controversy
between the parties at the trial, the appeal is allowed and
the assessments are referred back accordingly.

As the Minister has been successful on all matters that
were in controversy between the parties at the hearing of
the appeal the Minister shall be entitled to his costs, except
any costs related exclusively to the items with respect to
which the assessments are being referred back and the
appellant shall be entitled to a set-off in respect of any
costs incurred by him relating to such items.

BETWEEN :

TRAVER INVESTMENTS INC. (formerly known
as Traver Corporation) anp E. I. DUPONT DE
NEMOURS AND COMPANY ........... PrAINTIFFS ;

AND

UNION CARBIDE AND CARBON
CORPORATION anp CELANESE DEFENDANTS.
CORPORATION OF AMERICA ..

Patents—Conflict proceedings—Limitation of effect of judgment in conflict
action—Validity of claims in patent issued as result of conflict proceed-
tngs—Scope of conflict action—What constitutes the invention—Deter-
mination of first inventor—No adjudication on patent application not
put in conflict by Commissioner of Patents—Disclosure of invention—
Priority of invention—Principles relating to determination of meaning
of inventor and in considering claims of patent application—Interpreta-
tion of the meaning of the claims in conflict—Effect of disclosing more
than was invented—Effect of claiming more than was invented—Lack
of knowledge of inventor of matters in specification of patent—Failure
of inventor to act uberrimae fidei in his application for patent—
Application of doctrine of substance and mechanical equivalence—
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Restriction to claims of successful party in conflict proceedings—Con-
flict proceedings in this Court not alternative to having claims put in
conflict by Commissioner of Patents—Patent Act, RS.C. 1952, c. 203,
s8, 28, 86 and 46(5), (7) and (8).

This is a conflict proceeding brought pursuant to s. 45(8) of the Patent
Act, to determine the respective rights of the parties on their applica-
tions for patents related to a method and apparatus to treat poly-
ethylene film to make its surface ink adherent. The patent applications
in issue are the applications of Traver Investments Ine. No. 631,213,
dated May 17, 1952, and No, 650,205, dated July 2, 1953, both of which
were assigned to the plaintiff E. I. Dupont de Nemours and Company
on July 25, 1962, and the application of the defendant, Union Carbide
and Carbon Corporation, No. 627,046, dated February 18, 1952. The
plaintiffs obtained a default judgment against the defendant, Celanese
Corporation of America, prior to the trial of this action.

Prior to the commencement of this action the Commissioner made his
decision in respect to the claims in the Traver Investments Ine, applica-
tion No. 650,205 and the Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation
application No. 627,046 but he took no action with respect to the Traver
Investments Inc. application No. 631,213. In his decision the Commis-
sioner of Patents ruled that there existed a conflict and that he would
allow the claims to the respective applicants as set out in his decision.

The present action is directed to .the claims dealt with in the decision of
the Commissioner of Patents and certain other claims which were not
dealt with in the decision of the Commissioner and were not in the
respective applications of Traver Investments Ine. and Union Carbide
and Carbon Corporation.

Held: That none of the findings in this conflict action puts an imprimatur
of validity on the claims in conflict beyond the restricted meaning
prescribed by s. 45(8) of the Patent Act, which is confined solely to the
result which flows from such determination, namely, that the Commis-
gsioner of Patents must issue a patent containing the claims as herein-
after set out to the party mentioned. Their validity in such a patent
in the usual meaning is a matter for determination only in an action
for infringement or impeachment if such proceedings should be taken.

2. That the four matters to be adjudicated on in this action are what
invention produces the successful result which is the subject matter of
the patent applications, who invented it first, was the invention legally
disclosed, and the validity of the claims as between the plaintiffs and
the defendant, Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation, in the restricted
meaning delineated by s. 45(8) of the Patent Act.

3. That the invention was the discovery that the phenomenon which made
polyethylene film receptive to ink so the ink adhered to the film was
produced by exposing the film to a form of electrical discharge; and
that the form of the discharge which is essential to the process is
aptly described as corona discharge, and further that the discovery that
successful treatment of the polyethylene film by electrostatic discharge
can be obtained only when the phenomenon of corona discharge is
present, constitutes the. invention.

4. That there was insufficient evidence adduced to establish that the
application of the corona discharge treatment to the other materials
mentioned in the claims, namely any plastics or associated structures
other than polyethylene film, or any other resins or resinous materials,
would result in improving their receptivity to printing inks.
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5. That this Court, in making its determination as to the issue of priority

of invention as it is required to do by the statute, must find the date
at which the inventor can prove he first formulated, either in writing or
orally, a description which afforded the means of making that which
was invented.

6. That some of the principles to be relied on in determining the meaning

of inventor and in considering the claims of the patent applications are
that an inventor must invent something that is a new and useful art,
process, machine, manufacture, composition of matter, or any new and
useful improvement in any art, process, machine, manufacture or com-
position of matter; that an inventor must be the inventor of that which
is disclosed and claimed and he may not claim what he has not
described, or, putting it another way, the disclosure in his specification
must support the claims or otherwise they are invalid, and in this
respect there is a statutory duty of disclosure (s. 36, Patent Act.)

7. That it is relevant not only in the determination of the issue of priority

of invention, but also in relation to the determination of the issue of
the validity of the claims in conflict to note that the disclosures in
any application, other than the disclosures in the subject application of
the date of filing cannot be used by the respective subject applicants
as an aid to the interpretation of the meaning of the claims in conflict,
subject, however, to the two following principles of interpretation of
the words in the claims, which principles limit in some measure the
foregoing, namely: (a) if the words in a claim are clear and unam-
biguous, it will not be possible to expand or limit their scope by
reference to the body of the specification, and (b) where the meaning
of the terms employed in the claims is not clear and requires explana-
tion, two sources are open to the patentee, viz., (i) the general meaning
of the words as understood by the competent workmen in the art, and
(ii) the precise meaning that has been given to them by the patentee
in his specification.

8. That with respect to the application of the plaintiff, Traver Investments

Inec., the inventor, Traver, purported to disclose more than he had
invented and he also claimed much more than he had invented and
in so doing he failed to establish by credible evidence that at any
material time he had formulated, either orally or in writing, a descrip-
tion which affords the means of making that which he alleges he
invented.

9. That on cross-examination with respect to the subject application, Traver

admitted that concerning twenty-three matters in the specification bear-
ing on technique, processes and equipment he knew nothing about
them and that the ideas and the words employed concerning them were
not his. By this evidence Traver himself established that his applica-
tion does not comply with s. 36 of the Patent Act in that the specifica-
tion does not describe his invention and the means of making that
which he alleges he invented, or the operation and use as he now
alleges was contemplated by him at any material time, but instead it
is as contemplated by others and therefore irrelevant to the issue of
who was the first inventor in this case; and he proves that the invention
described in it is not his alleged invention.

10. That it is clear on the whole of the evidence that Traver did not act

uberrimae fidet in his application, and on this ground alone he fails
to establish that he was an inventor of anything, let alone a first inven-
tor of the invention in issue in this case.
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11, That the discovery which taught that successful treatment of poly- 1965
ethylene film could be accomplished by using any one of the many com- T;;ER

binations of electrodes, dielectrics, spacing and voltage so long as  yyyger-

corona discharge was present was genius and invention of the highest meN1s INc.

order and is not detracted from the least by the fact that Traver or et al.

some other person may have obtained successful treatment of poly- U}?I'ON
ethylene film without knowing why, by using one of the combinations  (ppmng

of electrodes, dielectrics, spacing and voltage, and not recognizing that et al.
corona discharge was the essential feature of the invention. —

12. That the doctrine of substance and mechanical equivalence is not
relevant to the determination as to which of the four remedies provided
by s. 45(8) of the Patent Act either party to the action is entitled to
with respect to the conflict claims, the doctrine being applicable only
in an action for infringement.

13. That entitlement of Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation to a patent
containing claims in these proceedings is restricted to those claims,
found to be legally in conflict between the parties to this action, which
are within the ambit of the invention owned by Union Carbide and
Carbon Corporation, which are contained in its application, and which
comply with all relevant provisions of the Patent Act.

14 That in attempting to determine who was the first inventor and who
disclosed the invention, only the Traver Investments Inc. application
No. 650,205 and the Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation applica-
tion No. 627,046, need be considered, because the Commissioner of
Patents did not put in conflict the Traver Investments Inec. applica-
tion No. 631,213 and therefore this Court is not called upon to
adjudicate in respect to it, and the plaintiff’s attempt to change this by
its pleadings is of no avail. Its status is that of a pending application
in the Canadian Patent Office not put m conflict between the two
parties to this action.

15. That the claims which were not put in conflict between Traver Invest-
ments Ltd. and Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation by the Com-
missioner of Patents pursuant to s. 45 of the Patent Act, but which the
parties sought to bring in issue between themselves in these conflict
proceedings by their pleadings are not claims in respect to which this
Court is required to adjudicate in that the Commissioner of Patents
has not taken any action with respect to them pursuant to s. 45 of the
Patent Act and these proceedings are not an alternative method, avail-
able to the parties of putting claims in conflict. The Commissioner of
Patents alone is charged by the Patent Act with this duty.

16. That the plaintiffs’ action is dismissed and the counterclaim of the
defendant, Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation is allowed in part.

ACTION to determine rights of parties in conflict pro-
ceedings.

The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Gibson at Ottawa.

G. F. Henderson, Q.C. and R. G. McClenahan for
plaintiff.

H. G. Fox, Q.C. and D. F. Sim, Q.C. for defendants.
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The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

GiBsonN J. now (February 18, 1965) delivered the follow-
ing judgment:

This is a conflict proceeding under subsection (8) of
section 45 of The Patent Act, R.S.C. 1952, chapter 203
as amended, to determine the respective rights of the
parties on their applications for a patent or patents con-
taining claims which are numbered in this action C-1 to
C-94 and C-107.

The subject matter of the alleged invention concerns
a method and apparatus to treat polyethylene to make
its surface ink adherent.

Polyethylene became available in substantial quantities
after World War II, and is useful as a wrapping material,
especially for wrapping foods. It then had the disability
that its surface would not take print satisfactorily, in that
the ink would not adhere to it adequately; and this was
a problem in the whole industry. The solution to this
problem, by overcoming this disability, is the alleged
invention and forms the subject matter of the conflicting
claims by the parties, which gave rise to these proceedings.

The plaintiff, Traver Investments Inec. (hereinafter
referred to as “Traver”), is a corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Illinois, one of
the United States of America, and has its head office in
the City of Chicago, in the said state. This plaintiff was
formerly known as Traver Corporation and by change of
name it became Traver Investments Ine. The plaintiff,
E. I. DuPont de Nemours and Company, is a company
having its head office and place of business in the City
of Wilmington, in the State of Delaware, one of the United
States of America.

The defendant, Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation
(hereinafter referred to as “Union Carbide”), is a body
corporate and politic having a place of business in New
York City, in the State of New York, one of the United
States of America. The defendant, Celanese Corporation
of America, is a body corporate and politic having a place
of business at Newark, in the State of New Jersey, one
of the United States of America.
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The plaintiff, Traver Investments Ine., filed an applica-
tion of invention in the Canadian Patent Office for an
invention of one George W. Traver on May 17, 1952, and
this application was given a file wrapper No. 631,213 and
it is Exhibit 1 in this action. A second application was
filed by it also on July 2, 1953, and that application was
given a file wrapper No. 650,205, and it is Exhibit 2. (This
plaintiff also filed an application in the United States
Patent Office on October 26, 1950, and that application
was given a file wrapper No. 192,313 in that office, and
a copy of it is Exhibit 3.) This plaintiff assigned all its
rights in the first two applications to the plaintiff,
E. I. DuPont de Nemours and Company on July 25, 1962,
which assignment was registered on September 11, 1962.

The plaintiffs allege that the date of the invention which
was the subject matter of these applications was in May-
June, 1949; and that the product using this invention
was commercially marketed in March, 1950, submitting
that an order for the production of such product had been
taken in February, 1950.

The defendant, Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation,
filed its application for a patent or patents in the Cana-
dian Patent Office on February 18, 1952, and it was given
the file wrapper No. 627,046, and it is Exhibit D-11 in
this action. (This defendant had acquired prior to the
above date all the rights of Visking Corporation, referred
to in these reasons.)

The defendant, Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation,
alleges a date of invention at least as early as May 3,
1950.

The defendant, Celanese Corporation of America, also
filed applications for Letters Patent in the Canadian
Patent Office, which were given Nos. 675,787 and 682,030,
bearing dates November 10, 1954, and March 5, 1955,
respectively; but this defendant did not appear at this
trial, the plaintiffs having obtained default judgment
against it on April 16, 1964.

Categorizing these claims may assist in explaining the
matters raised at trial and therefore it is done in this way,
namely:

1. Claims concerning treatment of polyethylene involving the phenomenon

known as “corona discharge”
91540—93
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C-3, C-6, C-9, C-12, C-87 to C-89 incl., and C-92 to C-94 incl.

. Claims concerning treatment of plastics and associated structures

C-1, C-2, C4, C-5, C-7, C-8, C-10 and C-11.

. Claims dealing with treatment of resins and resinous materials

C-37, C-40, C-67 to C-76 incl.

. Claims in Canadian Patent No. 662521 issued May 17, 1963

C-13 to C-17 incl,, and C-107.

. Clavm wn Canadian Patent No. 674,718 issued November 26, 1963

C-83.

. Claims which are not now in conflict between the parties to this action

(settled)
C-17.

. Oher claims not put in conflict by the Commissioner between the

parties to this action
C-21, C-32, C-33, C-38 to C-43 incl., C-48 and C-61.

It may also be helpful to further categorize these claims

with a view to demonstrating the status in this lawsuit of
each of them in so far as the plaintiffs and the defendant,
Union Carbide, are respectively concerned. This is set out
under four headings, numbered hereunder A, B, C and D,
in respect to each of the plaintiffs and the defendant, Union
Carbide, that is to say:

IN RESPECT TO THE PLAINTIFFS, (TRAVER et al.)

A.

Conflict claims which were not in the plaintiffs’ (Traver’s) application
for a patent (Ezhibit 2), but which were offered to Traver by the
Canadian Patent Office

C-1 to C-12 inel., C-25 to C-28 incl, C-37, C-44 to C-47 incl.,, C49

to C-52 incl,, C-57, C-72, C-67 to C-77 incl,, C-88 to C-94 incl.
Claims which the plaintiffs (Traver) had in its application (Exhibit 2)
but which were offered to others in conflict by the Canadian Patent
Office

C-18 to C-20 incl., C-22 to C-24 incl.
Clatms put in conflict by the Commaissioner of Patents and asserted by
the plaintiffs (Traver)

All the claims in A plus B above, plus D on Union Carbide list
(infra).
Claims not put in conflict by the Commissioner of Patents, but which
are asserted in this action by Traver and are all the other claims not
listed in A, B or C, which were not in the Traver application
(Ezhibit 2) and which were also not offered to the plainiiff Traver in
the conflict proceedings by the Canadian Patent Office

The claims in this group, Traver agserts, are put forward

in this action in two ways, namely, in that they are

(1) the claims which are the subject matter of the de-
fault judgment obtained by the plaintiffs against
the defendant, Celanese Corporation on April 16,
1964 (referred to above); and
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(ii) the claims which were put in issue in this action by
the pleadings of the plaintiffs. Under (i) above, these
claims are C-32, C-33, C-38 to C-43 inclusive, C-48
and C-61.

Under (ii) above, these claims are C-13 to C-17 inclusive,

and C-107.

IN RESPECT TO THE DEFENDANT, UNION CARBIDE

A. Conflict claims which were not in the defendant Union Carbide’s
application (Exhibit D-11) but which were offered in conflict to Union
Carbide by the Canadian Patent Office

C-18, C-19, C-20, C-22 to C-31 incl.,, C-34 to C-37 incl, C-44, C486,
C-51, C-53 to C-60 incl, C-62 to C-64 inclu., C-67 to C-82 inel.,
C-84 to C-94 inel.

B. Claims which were in the application of the defendant Union Carbide
(Ezhibit D-11) but which were offered to others in conflict by the
Canadian Patent Office

C-1 to C-12 incl.

C. Claims put in conflict by the Commissioner of Patents, and asserted by
Union Carbide

These consist of all claims under A and B above, plus D on Traver
list (infra).
D. Clatm which was not put in conflict by the Commissioner of Patents
but which Unton Carbide brings in issue by its pleadings even though
it was not in its application (Exhibit D-11).
C-21 only.

Pursuant to subsection (7) of section 45 of The Patent
Act, R.8.C. 1952, chapter 203, as amended, the Commissioner
of Patents made his decision in respect to the claims in the
plaintiff’s (Traver’s) application No. 650,205, dated July 2,
1952 (Exhibit 2) and the defendant Union Carbide’s
application No. 627,046, dated February 18, 1952 (Exhibit
D-11); but he took no action in respect to the plaintiff
Traver’s application No. 631,213 dated May 17, 1952.

Exhibit 37 in this action sets out the various claims by
number, indicates who was the respective originator of each
claim, the respective person or persons between or among
whom each claim was put in eonflict by the Commissioner
of Patents, and the decision pursuant to the statute of the
Commissioner in respect to each of them.

The plaintiff Traver, not being satisfied with the decision
of the Commissioner in respect to these claims, pursuant to
the statutory right preseribed in subsection (8) of section
45 of The Patent Act, commenced these proceedings in this
Court on March 29, 1962.
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In this action, as provided in subsection (8) of section 45
of The Patent Act, there may be a determination
either '
(a) “that there is no conflict between the claims in
question”,
or

(b) “that none of the applicants is entitled to the issue
of a patent containing the claims in conflict as applied
for by (it)”,
or

(¢) “that a patent or patents, including substitute claims
approved by the Court, may issue to one or more of
the applicants”,
or

(d) “that one of the applicants is entitled as against the
others to the issue of a patent including the claims in
conflict as applied for by him.”

But none of the parties to this action, which was com-
menced in this Court following the decision made by the
Commissioner of Patents (that there existed a conflict and
that he would allow the claims to the respective applicants
as set out in his decision), was necessarily limited to ad-
ducing evidence and making submissions in respect thereof
to this Court to one or more of the four remedies set out
above and as provided for by said subsection (8) of section
45 of The Patent Act; but instead either of the parties was
entitled to, and did in fact adduce evidence and made sub-
missions in argument to justify this Court in making other
and adidtional determinations, which are set out later in
these reasons.

As to this latter, one of the main matters considered was
the construction of the plaintiffs’ application in the Cana-
dian Patent Office, Exhibit 2, in relation to the issue of
priority of invention.

At this trial not only was verbal evidence adduced, but
many documents, memoranda, letters, materials, photo-
graphs, sketches, text book excerpts, ete., were introduced
and filed as exhibits; and also there were various demon-
stations held in Court of treatment processes with various
apparatuses, to samples of polyethylene film.

In this adjudication of the issues raised in this action, it is,
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of course, clear that none of the findings put an imprimatur
of validity on the claims in conflict beyond the restricted
meaning prescribed by subsection (8) of section 45 of The
Patent Act, which is confined solely to the result which flows
from such determination, namely, that the Commissioner of
Patents must issue a patent containing the claims as here-
inafter set out to the party mentioned. Their validity in
such a patent in the usual meaning is a matter for deter-
mination only in an action for infringement or impeachment
if such proceedings should be taken.

Section 28 of The Patent Act, R.S.C., chapter 203, as
amended, sets out certain requirements which must obtain
before an applicant may obtain a patent, and it reads as
follows:

28. (1) Subject to the subsequent provisions of this section, any inven-
tor or legal representative of an inventor of an invention that was

(@) not known or used by any other person before he invented it,

(b) not described in any patent or in any publication printed in
Canada or in any other couniry more than two years before
presentation of the petition hereunder mentioned, and

(¢) not in public use or on sale in Canada for more than two years
prior to his application in Canada,
may, on presentation to the Commissioner of a petition setting forth the
facts (in this Act termed the filing of the applictaion) and on compliance
with all other requirements of this Aect, obtain a patent granting to him
an exclusive propery in such invention.

(2) Any inventor or legal representative of an inventor who applies
in Canada for a patent for an invention for which application for a patent
has been made in any other country by such inventor or his legal repre-
sentative before the filing of the application in Canada is not entitled to
obtain in Canada a patent for that invention unless his application in
Canada is filed, either

(a) before issue of any patent to such inventor or his legal representa~
tive for the same invention in any other country, or
(b) if a patent has issued in any other country, within twelve months
after the filing of the first application by such inventor or his
legal representative for patent for such invention in any other
country.
. (3) No patent shall issue for an invention that has an illicit object in
view, or for any mere scientific principle or abstract theorem.

Any applicant as envisaged by said section 28 must also
in the specification part of his application comply with
section 36 of The Patent Act, which reads in part as follows:

36. (1) The applicant shall in the specification correctly and fully
describe the invention and its operation or use as contemplated by the
inventor, and set forth clearly the various steps in a process, or the method

of constructing, making, compounding or using a machine, manufacture or
composition of matter, in such full, clear, concise and exact terms as to
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enable any person skilled in the art or science to which it appertains, or
with which it is most closely connected, to make, construct, compound or
use it; in the case of 2 machine he shall explain the principle thereof and
the best mode in which he has contemplated the application of that prin-
ciple; in the case of a process he shall explain the necessary sequence, if
any, of the various steps, so as to distinguish the invention from other
inventions; be shall particularly indicate and distinctly claim the part,
improvement or combination which he claims as his invention.

(2) The specification shall end with a claim or claims stating distinctly
and in explicit terms the things or combinations that the applicant regards
as new and in which he claims an exclusive property or privilege.

The matters in this action for adjudication are firstly,
what invention produces the successful result described
earlier, secondly, who invented it first, thirdly, was the
invention legally disclosed, and lastly, the validity of the
claims as between the plaintiffs and the defendant Union
Carbide (in the restricted meaning delineated by section
45(8) of The Patent Act.)

Dealing first with the invention, I find, on a consideration
of the whole of the evidence that the invention was the
discovery that the phenomenon which made polyethylene
film receptive to ink so the ink adhered to the film was
produced by exposing the polyethylene film to a form of
electrical discharge; and that the form of this discharge
which is essential to the process is aptly described as corona
discharge.

The corona discharge that I refer to is the term used in its
colloquial meaning, and not in its clagsical meaning, as dis-
cussed in the evidence. I find that most experts in the field
at all material times used and at present use the term corona
discharge in its colloquial meaning to describe the phenome-
non which produces the successful result in this matter. In
this sense the words “corona discharge” are used in these
reasons, and this use of the words “corona discharge” cor-
rectly describes the material phenomenon which is referred
to in the relevant specifications and claims in issue and in
the evidence adduced in this action.

I also find on the evidence that electrostatic discharge
range is a term which covers any electric action in such an
apparatus as Exhibit 42 illustrates (or any variation thereof
as may be accomplished as, for example, by changing the
shape of the electrodes, ete.) which produces an electrostatic
field; and included in its range are the Townsend range, the
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corona range, and the sparking range; that electrical dis-
charge includes any form of discharge which involves the
passage of ionization current and that in the Townsend
range it will not cause successful treatment when applied to
polyethylene film, but instead the corona range must be
reached before there can be successful treatment; and that
unless the range of corona discharge is reached when an
apparatus such as is illustrated in Exhibit 42 (or any varia-
tion thereof) is operating, there will not result successful
treatment of polyethylene film so as to make it ink adherent.

I also find that there was insufficient evidence adduced to
establish that the application of this successful treatment
process to any other plastics or associated structures other
than polyethylene film, or to any other resins or resinous
materials, would result in improving their receptivity to
printing inks.

I also find on the evidence that “corona discharge” is not
equivalent to or synonymous with the other following words
used in the said specifications, claims and/or evidence,
namely, “electrostatic discharge to increase the unsaturation
of surface molecules in said treated surface” (being words
which merely suggest the result of the treatment without
teaching how it is done), “subjecting the said surface to the
action of electrostatic discharge while employing an alternat-
ing current to render the surface molecules of said treated
surface receptive and strongly adherent, ete.” (being words
to the same effect as were found above), “electronic bom-
bardment”, “frequency . . . is substantially in excess of
60 cycles per second”, “electrostatic discharge under a
voltage in excess of ten thousand volts, to increase the
unsaturated linkages”, “diffuse electrical discharge”, “glow
discharge”, “concentrated high voltage glow discharge”,
“the voltage of the circuit being sufficient to modify said
surface, ete.”, “thin electrode in a high voltage circuit, ete.”,
“gag filled discharge tube in a high voltage circuit”, “diffuse
discharge between said electrodes”, “diffuse electrical dis-

charge”, “electronic bombardment” and “brush discharge”.

A brief glossary of terms was put in evidence as Exhibit
D-9, and in essence was proven to adequately define the
words set out, and may be helpful in providing a dictionary
for some of the words and phrases used in these reasons, and
it is as follows:
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GLOSSARY
CORONA

The physical manifestation of a corona discharge. Corona results
when a gas, usually air, has been stressed until a condition is main-
tained wherein some ionization of the gas is present and oxygen
mol rearrangement takes place forming ozone, the presence of
which may be detected by the odour manifested when corona is
present. A purplish discharge or glow under reduced light may be
seen in the vicinity of the metallic parts so charged with a sort of
crackling noise. The stressed air is nearly at a point of break down
or spark discharge yet quite controllable. Ambient atmospheric
pressure, if reduced will induce corona discharge at relatively lower
voltage than at normal 14.7 Ibs. pressure.

. CORONA DISCHARGE

A form of electrostatic discharge producing a corona.

. ELECTRIC CORONA

Corona produced by electricity.

. GLOW DISCHARGE

Activated gas resulting in emanation of light. See Crooks tube;
neon light.

. GLOW DISCHARGE OF ELECTRICITY

The glowing discharge from a gas or vapour induced by electricity.

. POTENTIAL

Another term for voltage in electrical engineering.

. ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL

Same as potential in electrical engineering.

. HIGH ELECTRICAL POTENTIAL

High voltage. An ambiguous term requiring explanation to convey
precise information. Depends upon the field involved; e.g. house-
hold lighting, overland transmission, radio transmission.

. ELECTROSTATIC POTENTIAL

The voltage of an electrostatic charge.

POTENTIAL GRADIENT
Nature of the voltage drop between two points in a system subject
to electrical charge or an electrical flowing current.
ELECTRICAL STRESS
Another term for electrical potential.
HIGH VOLTAGE
An ambiguous term. See No. 8.
ELECTROSTATIC FIELD
The volume of space being subjected to electrostatic stress.
ELECTROSTATIC STRESS
The voltage in an electrostatic field.

ELECTROSTATIC ACTION

The action created by an electrostatic discharge. The action
involving charging and/or discharging of an effective condenser.
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16. ELECTROSTATIC FIELD OF SUBSTANTIAL INTENSITY }3?3
Electrostatic field of high voltage. By itself an ambiguous term. rgavgr
See high voltage, high electrical potential. INVEST~

MENTS INC.

17. ELECTROSTATIC ACTION OF RELATIVELY LOW INTENSITY et al.
Electrostatic action carried on at relatively low voltage. An U v.
ambiguous term since it may refer to voltage of intensity below c Algg;
an unknown or unexpressed value. etal.

18. ELECTROSTATIC FORCE FIELD Gi-l;;l I
Same as No. 13. —_—

19. ELECTROSTATIC DISCHARGE

Flow of electric current in discharging from a condenser surface.
20. ELECTROSTATIC DISCHARGE FIELD

Same as electrostatic ficld where there is actual current flow.
21. ELECTRONIC BOMBARDMENT

Action of moving electrons in encountering some object.
22. ELECTRON BOMBARDMENT

Same as No. 21.
23. ELECTRICAL DISCHARGE

The flow of current from higher to lower potential. As for example,
from charged surface or from battery.

24. ELECTRICAL FIELD
A broader term than electrostatic field: Might refer to electro-
magnetic field as well.
25. ELECTRICAL FIELD WITH UNIFORM POTENTIAL GRADIENT
An electrical field wherein the potential differences from one point
to any other equi-distant part is the same.
26. DIFFUSE ELECTRICAL DISCHARGE
An unconcentrated electrical discharge.
27. ELECTRODE
In an electric system one of a pair of interconnected conductors.
28. GROUND
One conductor in & system; usually of lowest potential of the
system.
29. ELECTRON EMITTING SOURCH

A material in a condition and under surrounding condition to emit
electrons; as for example, in an electron vacuum tube the filament
when heated to sufficient temperature.

30. ELECTRON EMITTING ELEMENT
Same as No. 29.

31. GAS FILLED DISCHARGE TUBE
Qas filled tube activated so that gas gives off energy such as light;
for example, a neon tube,

32. DIELECTRIC

A body through which or 2 medium in which, electric attraction or
repulsion may be sustained. Dielectrics are always insulators; glass
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is a dielectric, because unlike charges on opposite sides of a plate
of glass, attract each other.

33. DIELECTRIC MATERIAL
Any material constituting a dielectric.

34. ArciNg
The passage of electricity through a medium along a path changed
from non-conducting to conducting.

35. 0zZONE
Osz. An unstable form of oxygen created by ionization of oxygen
or oxygen-containing gases.

There were also filed as Exhibits 41, 42 and 35 (set out
in Schedule A to these reasons) certain drawings which
illustrate the physical layout of the fundamental equip-
ment which may be employed in utilizing the process
which gives the successful treatment referred to above,
to polyethylene film. Many variations of this fundamental
apparatus may be devised to produce the desired result
and these exhibits are merely illustrative of the kind of
apparatus which may be used to produce successful
results.

In Exhibit 41 there is illustrated a functional sketch
of the basic equipment, namely, an oxy-dry tube under
which is passed the polyethylene film which is to be
processed, which rests on a ground electrode, which in this
sketch is a plate. The remainder of the sketch illustrates
the means of regulating (the Varic) and monitoring (the
voltmeter and the ammeter) the voltage and current
involved in operating the apparatus at the level produced
by means of the step-up transformer.

In Exhibit 42 there 1s illustrated a second view of the
fundamental treatment arrangement. In it is shown the
oxy-dry tube, the film to be treated, and the lower elec-
trode in a blown-up version so that the mechanism may
be more clearly seen.

The first electrode 1s the argon gas enclosed in the tube.
The second electrode is the conductive metal plate shown
below the film. The glass which is the envolpe of the oxy-
dry tube is the buffer dielectric. The electrodes are con-
nected to a high voltage alternating current source, which
is produced after the manner illustrated in KExhibit 41.
When this system is activated an electrical discharge takes
place in the region indicated on the sketch between the
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tube and the bottom electrode, and only when this elec-
trical discharge reaches a certain level and is maintained
within that certain level will successful treatment of the
film take place. This said level is identified by a sound
sometimes described as a frying sound which is evidence
of the presence of ozone gas, which is normally generated
when this discharge occurs in air, and it is pungent; and
there is also an emission of light from the discharge region
which is a bluish color. This phenomenon has the appear-
ance of corona discharge and as stated is so colloquially
described by the experts in this field and the level at
which this form of electrical discharge oceurs is aptly
deseribed as the corona range.

On the upper right hand corner of Exhibit 42 is a sim-
plified model of an atom. The nucleus of the atom is
represented by a cluster of spheres and around the nucleus
are illustrated orbital electrons.

In the normal state a balance of charge exists between
the positive nucleus and the negative electrons or in some
cases between the positive nuclei of two atoms and their
orbital electrons. Ionization of an atom occurs when one
or more of the orbital electrons becomes detached as a
result of excitation by, for example, an electric field.

When ionization takes place the net electrical charge
on the atom is positive (the positively charged atom is
called an ion) and one or more negatively charged elec-
trons is or are released, and is or are free to act on other
particles such as other atoms.

In this illustration in Exhibit 42, because of the high
voltage the air in the gap between the electrodes becomes
highly ionized. Because the current is alternating both
positively charged ions and negatively charged electrons
are attracted to the electrode beneath the polyethylene
film, and the film is probably subjected both to electronic
bombardment and ion bombardment. When this takes
place at the level of discharge in the corona range success-
ful treatment of the polyethylene film results.

The precise physical phenomenon that thus occurs to
the polyethylene film is not known. This constitutes the
theory of the invention.

But in contradistinetion, the discovery that successful
treatment can only be obtained when the phenomenon
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of corona discharge is present, constitutes the invention.

Exhibit 35, which is also set out in Schedule A to these
reasons, is a copy of the drawings included in the plain-
tiffs’ (Traver’s)application, Exhibit 2, filed in the Cana-
dian Patent Office, July 2, 1953. On it are seven figures.
The first four of these figures essentially were in the plain-
tiffs’ (Traver’s) application, Exhibit 1, filed in the Cana-
dian Patent Office on May 17, 1952, But Exhibit 35 does
not illustrate the drawings attached to the plaintiffs’
(Traver’s)United States application, Exhibit 3, filed on
October 26, 1950. The drawings attached to it illustrate
essentially the Cameron Slitter apparatus, which is re-
ferred to later in these reasons.

The plaintiffs called two main expert witnesses, namely,
Lewis C. Bancroft, who is a research supervisor at the
Engineering Physics Laboratory of the plaintiff DuPont
and who is a Bachelor of Science and Engineering from
Princeton University, having graduated in 1950 in elec-
trical engineering and having obtained a Master of Science
degree in engineering at Princeton in 1952; and Ernest E.
Lewis, who is research manager for the Film Department
of the plaintiff DuPont and who graduated in 1936 from
Colorado College with a Bachelor of Arts degree, majoring
in chemistry, and who obtained his Ph.D. at Columbia
University in 1940 in the field of organic chemistry.

Mr. Bancroft gave testimony regarding the electrical
engineering processes and phenomena in connection with
the treatment process and apparatus which is the alleged
invention of Mr. Traver, and Dr. Lewis gave testimony
concerning polyethylene film and other plastics and as-
sociated structures and also concerning other resin and
resinous materials.

The defendant Union Carbide called as its expert wit-
nesses Edward R. Hughes, who was an electrical engineer,
having graduated in 1915, and who was at one time a stu-
dent of Dr. Charles Proteus Steinmetz, and who has had
extensive experience in the field of electrical engineering;
and the alleged inventors, viz., firstly, George M. Adamns,
who has a Master of Science degree, having graduated in
chemical engineering from the University of Michigan at
Ann Arbor and who was actively employed by Visking
Corporation during all the material times when he alleges
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he was the co-inventor of the process under discussion in
this law suit (this division of Visking Corporation having
been purchased subsequently by the defendant Union Car-
bide) ; and secondly, the other alleged co-inventor, Sidney
J. Wakefield, who had attended Milwaukee School of Engi-
neering for three and one-half years and who at the material
times was an employee of Vigking Corporation in its Elec-
troniecs Department; and also Reinhard Max Stopp, who
was employed by the Meisel Press Company, which was a
printing press manufacturing company, with plant premises
in Dorchester, Massachusetts, and who was the chief de-
signer and engineer with that company for many years and
until his retirement and who was the designer of the wax
spray unit on the Meisel press which was referred to in
evidence on this trial by Traver for the plaintiffs, and which
is illustrated in a drawing, Exhibit 11, filed on this trial.

The witnesses, Messrs. Hughes, Adams and Wakefield,
adduced evidence on behalf of the defendant Union Carbide
in reference to the electrical engineering aspects of the al-
leged invention, now the property of the defendant, Union
Carbide; and Mr. Stopp gave evidence as to the precise
limitations of the uses of the Meisel press.

Of course these experts were not in agreement in all the
technical aspects of the matters in issue in these proceed-
ings, and did not definitely and certainly establish in evi-
dence all the scientific matters about the subject process
and the validity of some of the alleged claims as to what
the process could accomplish. For example, the theory of
what happens to the surface of a piece of polyethylene film
which has been successfully treated was not established;
nor was it established that the application of corona dis-
charge treatment process would improve ink adherency to
the many other plastics and associated structures, or to
resins and resinous materials. And, as another example,
there was disagreement concerning the categorization of
various phenomena that occurred when apparatus using
the subject process was put in operation.

But such a situation in matters such as this must always
exist, because experts also operate in a world of possibilities
and probabilities as does the Court. The experts can only
weigh the probabilities based on their training and ex-
perience and make their best educated guesses, but the
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ﬁﬁf Court is left with the usual legal standard of proof, namely,
Travie more probable than not, or as it is sometimes put, the pre-
et o, ponderance of believable evidence. And this was the test

etal. employed in reaching the conclusions in these reasons
U;I},N where it was necessary to resolve any conflet in such expert
C;}f‘;’;m testimony.
— As heretofore stated, expert testimony categorically estab-
G@l T lished that the existence of corona discharge was essential
for successful treatment in the process of treating poly-
ethylene film by subjecting it to high tension electric stress;
and it also established that before this discovery invention
experts in the field had thought corona discharge was para-
sitic; and it also established that it did not matter what
permutations or combinations of apparatus or process were
employed, so long as corona discharge resulted, such being
the sole factor in an electrostatic field which produces suc-
cessful treatment.

Predicated on this, the second and third issues to deter-
mine concern finding the person (from whom the parties
derived their respective rights by assignment) (i) who was
the first inventor and (ii) who disclosed orally or in writing
a description which afforded the means of making that
which was invented (Christiani v. Rice') ; that is, referring
to the persons who so affirm in this action, was it George
W. Traver (who has heretofore assigned his rights to the
plaintiffs) or was it the alleged co-inventors George H.
Adams and Sidney J. W. Wakefield (whose rights have
been assigned to the defendant Union Carbide).

In this determination in my view only two applications
need be considered, namely, the plaintiffs’ application num-
ber 650,205 filed in the Canadian Patent Office July 2, 1953
(Exhibit 2 in this trial), and the defendant Union Carbide’s
application number 627,046 filed in the Canadian Patent
Office February 18, 1952 (Exhibit D-11 in this trial).

I say this because the Commissioner of Patents did not
put in conflict the plaintiffs’ application number 631,213
filed May 17, 1952, and therefore this Court is not called
upon to adjudicate in respect to it; and the plaintiffs’
attempt to change this by its pleadings is of no avail. Its
status is that of a pending application in the Canadian Pat-
ent Office not put in conflict between the two parties now

in this action.
1119301 S.CR. 443 at 456.
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PRIORITY OF INVENTION

Priority of invention is to be determined by the applica-
tion of the judicially defined meaning of the words of sec-
tion 28 of The Patent Act to the facts which were adduced
and established by credible evidence at this trial.

Before these proceedings were commenced in this Court
what transpired heretofore between the parties in respect
to their respective applications, Exhibit 2 and Exhibit D-11,
was briefly as follows.

By reason of section 45(5) of The Patent Act, the parties
were required and each did file an affidavit with the Com-
missioner of Patents in which each applicant complied with
that subsection and stated:

(1) the date of the conception of the invention,

(2) the date of making of the first drawing,

(3) the date of making of the first written or verbal

disclosure,

(4) the dates and nature of the successful steps subse-
quently taken by the inventor to develop and perfect
the said invention.

George W. Traver (represented by plaintiffs) alleged the

following four dates:

(1) that during month of May, 1949, he conceived
the Invention,

(2) that the first drawing illustrating the invention was
made on August 22, 1950,

(3) that the first oral disclosure was made in May, 1949,
and the first written disclosure was made on Febru-
ary 3, 1950,

(4) that during December, 1949, to January, 1950, and
thereafter the continuous polyethylene sheet treating
process was used commercially.

Messrs. Adams and Wakefield (represented by the de-
fendant Union Carbide) for their said dates set out the
following in their affidavits:

(1) that on or before March 17, 1950, they conceived

their invention,

(2) that the first drawing of the invention was made on
or about March 23, 1950,

(3) that the first oral disclosure to others was made on
or about March 21, 1950,

91540—10
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1965 (4) that the first sale of polyethylene film treated on an

W_‘ » sy 3
TRAVER apparatus made for production purposes, utilizing
Miigsﬂc. the invention occurred in May, 1950.
etval- Then the Commissioner as he was required to do by sub-
Unon  Section (7) of section 45 of The Patent Act, determined
Cameor  which in his opinion was the prior inventor. He did this
etal.

— _ independently, without either party knowing or seeing
G’Pﬂ’f'}' what was in the other party’s affidavit and without any of
the deponents being subjected to cross-examination by the
Commissioner or by the other party to test the validity of
any of the facts alleged in such affidavits. The Commis-
sioner’s decision was made “after examining the facts stated
in the affidavits”. In reaching such decision, what the Com-
missioner was called upon to do by the statute in his con-
sideration of the above four dates set out in the respective
affidavits of the applicants (and the other facts in such
affidavits) was not to give any particular weight to any of
these said four dates to reach his determination but to con-
sider the matter at large, and thereby somehow to deter-
mine the prior date of invention and the date and the mode
in which the first written or verbal disclosure of such inven-

tion was made.

As previously stated, the results of the said decision in
respect to the invention and the claims is noted in these
proceedings on the schedule which was filed as Exhibit 37.

After such decision, on March 29, 1962, the plaintiffs
commenced this action in this Court; and the issue of a
patent or patents containing such claims in conflict, as
this Court may find are warranted by the evidence, awaits
the decision of this Court.

Now this Court, as stated, in making its determination
as to the issue of priority of invention as it is required
to do by the statute, must find “the date at which the
inventor can prove he . . . first formulated, either in
writing or verbally, a description which (afforded) the
means of making that which (was) invented”.

This is the test prescribed by Canadian patent law as
enunciated in Christiani v. Rice (supra); and Rinfret, J.
(as he then was) at p. 456 further proclaimed:

There is no necessity of a disclosure to the public. If the inventor wishes
to get a patent, he will have to give the consideration to the public; but,
if he does not and if he makes no application for the patent, while he will
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run the risk of enjoying no monopoly, he will none the less, if he has com-
municated his invention to “others”, be the first and true inventor in the
eyes of the Canadian patent law as it now stands, so as to prevent any
other person from securing a Canadian patent for the same invention.

The determination of who is the prior inventor in this

case also necessarily involves a number of principles in
relation (a) to the meaning of inventor and also (b) in
relation to the claims.

Some of these principles are:

(1) that an inventor must invent something that is a
new and useful art, process, machine, manufacture,
composition of matter, or any new and useful
improvement in any art, process, machine manu-
facture or composition of matter;

(2) that an inventor must be first to so invent;

(3) that an inventor must be the inventor of that which
is disclosed and claimed and he may not claim what
he has not described; or putting it another way,
the disclosure in his specifications must support
the claims or otherwise they are invalid; and in
this respect there is a statutory duty of disclosure
(section 36 of The Patent Act). (Minerals Separa-
tion North American Corporation v. Noranda Mines
Ltd.)

This latter principle numbered 3 above is relevant in
this case in respect to the issue of priority of invention
because of what was contained in the respective patent
applications and because of what was said and done at
the various material times, by the alleged inventors. As
a result the application of this principle is of assistance
in the determination of the truth of the two questions of
fact, viz., firstly, as to what was invented, and secondly,
as to who invented it first.

It is also helpful to note that this latter particular prin-
ciple was more categorically defined by the learned former
President of this Court, Thorson P., in the above cited
case wherein he marshalled in precise fashion the elements
that go to make up this principle, and which he had
extracted from a number of prior cases where the same
were established, and which are:

1[19471 Ex. CR. 306.
91540—10%
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(a)

(b)

that the description must be both clear and accurate
containing a correct description of the invention
as contemplated by the inventor, and of its opera-
tion or use as contemplated by the inventor;

that it must be free from avoidable obscurity or
ambiguity and be as simple and distinct as the
difficulty of description permits;

(¢) that it must not contain erroneous or misleading

(d)

(e)

statements calculated to deceive or mislead the per-
sons to whom the specification is addressed and
render it difficult for them without trial and experi-
ment to comprehend in what manner the invention
is to be performed;

that it must not direct the use of alternative methods
of putting it into effect if only one is practicable,
even if persons skilled in the art would be likely to
choose the practicable method;

that the description of the invention must be full,
that is, its ambit must be defined, for nothing that
has not been deseribed may be validly claimed;

(f) that the description must also give all the informa-

(9)

tion that is necessary for successful operation or use
of the invention, without leaving such results to the
chance of successful experiment; and if warnings are
required in order to avert failure, such warnings must
be given;

that the inventor must act uberrimae fider and give
all information known to him that will enable the
invention to be carried out to its best effect as con-
templated by him.

It is also relevant not only in the determination of the
issue of priority of invention, but also in relation to the
determination of the issue of the validity of the claims in
conflict to note that the disclosures in any application, other
than the disclosures in the subject application at the date
of filing, cannot be used by the respective subject applicants
as an aid to the interpretation of the meaning of the claims
in conflict, subject, however, to the two following principles
of interpretation of the words in the claims, which prin-
ciples limit in some measure the foregoing, namely:

(a)

if the words in a claim are clear and unambiguous,
it will not be possible to expand or limit their scope
by reference to the body of the specification and
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(b) where the meaning of terms employed in the claims
is not clear and requires explanation, two sources are
open to the patentee, namely,

(1) the general meaning of that word as understood
by the competent workman in the art, and

(ii) the precise meaning that has been given to it
by the patentee in his specification.

Employing the above principles, the plaintiffs’ (Traver’s)
application and then the defendant’s (Union Carbide)
(Adams and Wakefield) application are now analyzed by
examining,

(@) the oral or verbal evidence adduced at this trial,

and

(b) the written evidence,
for the purpose of determining what credible evidence was
adduced to the satisfaction of the Court to enable it to make
a finding on the balance of probabilities as to issue of
priority of invention.

THE PLAINTIFFS’ (TRAVER'S) APPLICATION

Traver said in his disclosure affidavit filed in the United
States Patent Office, in his application, Exhibit 3, and sworn
to on January 4, 1954 (a copy of which is Exhibit D-1 in
this trial), that he had conceived his invention and first
disclosed it on July 7, 1948. At this trial he contended that
the first dates of conception of his invention and disclosure
should have been May or June, 1949. He explains the
swearing of this affidavit which I find he swore falsely by
saying that his lawyer, Horace Dawson, of Chicago, Illinois,
told him that it was all right to sign and swear it. Traver
does not, even at this trial, say that he got confused about
the date nor does he give any explanation from which it
could be validly inferred that he did not swear falsely. In
effect, he says, and I so find, that he knew he was swearing
a false affidavit at that time.

The next alleged oral disclosure concerns the so-called
Meisel Press story. Traver said in evidence that on or about
May or June, 1949, he had used the Meisel Press at Traver

Corporation and has successfully treated polyethylene film
and that he had told Mr. Fred J. Pool, Manager of Plastics
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Division of Traver Corporation, about it. He did not men-
tion anything about this Meisel Press story in his U.S.
application, Exhibit 3, which was filed on October 26, 1950,
or in his first Canadian application, Exhibit 1, filed on
May 17, 1952, or in the only application before this Court,
Exhibit 2, which was filed July 2, 1953. The first time he
mentioned it was on his discovery deposition in the United
States interference proceedings held at Palm Beach, Florida,
in 1963.

Fred J. Pool, a sometime employee of Traver Corporation,
on the other hand, in his evidence at this trial, stated that
he did not recall Traver ever telling him anything about
treating polyethylene film by using the Meisel Press.

Mr. Junius Cook, the sometime patent attorney of
Mr. Traver and the Traver Corporation, also was not told
anything about it in 1950 at least, even though Mr. Cook
at this trial in discussing the Meisel Press (having investi-
gated the drawing sometime between 1950 and the date of
this trial) tried to give some credence to Traver’s story.

The defendant’s witness, Stopp, who had invented the
Meisel Press, gave evidence to the effect that without very
substantial alterations, the alleged juxtaposition of elements
in it were such that the oxy-dry tubes could not be so
located to give a gap of less than one-quarter of an inch
to permit successful operation of the machine and there-
fore I am of opinion that in the circumstances of the
alleged operation of the machine, described by Traver in
evidence, it would have been impossible to have produced
successful treatment of the polyethylene film.

In my opinion, therefore, the story that successful treat-
ment was had by employing the Meisel Press as told by
Traver is not true and I so find.

Traver then gave evidence that in 1949 in about June,
he caused the said Fred J. Pool, an employe of Traver Cor-
poration, and Arthur Groh, who was the superintendent
of the production department, to set up an experimental
process for treating polyethylene plastic film by using a con-
ventional oxy-dry tube and a metal ground bar inserting
the film in between and they obtained successful treatment
by electrically energizing the tube through a conventional
10,000-volt transformer that they used extensively at
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Traver Corporation at that time which transformer was
connected to the conventional 110-volt power system.

Traver alleged he caused to be connected the single elec-
trode of the oxy-dry tube and the ground bar electrically
with the 10,000-volt transformer and plugged the primary
winding of the transformer into the socket supplied to the
conventional 110-volt A.C. power supply system at the
Traver Corporation in Chicago; and the result was an
electrical discharge so applied to the side of the polyethylene
film facing the tube. He alleges that the gap between the
tube and the ground bar was one-eighth of an inch and
that on that particular occasion successful treatment was
obtained in that ink adhered to the film after the scotch
tape test had been employed. The scotch tape test was em-
ployed by taking a piece of scotch adhesive tape and press-
ing it upon the inked portions of the film and then stripping
the tape from the sheet. Using such a test, successful
treatment was demonstrated, he said, to have been obtained
in that the ink still adhered to the film.

This original one-tube set-up, Traver said, was taken
apart and is not now in existence but he said that a re-
production of it was made in 1955 and a photograph of
this reproduction was made in 1955, a copy of which photo-
graph was filed as Exhibit 14 on this frial.

Traver then alleged that he immediately directed Fred
Pool to proceed with the building of a multiple tube set-up
exactly like the single tube unit using eight tubes instead
of one and using a metal foil instead of a plate. He says
that this multiple tube apparatus was set up around about
June, 1949, and that the same principles were employed
in setting it up as were employed in the single tube ap-
paratus; and he said that this multiple tube apparatus is
illustrated by the photograph, Exhibit 14. He said that the
original apparatus is not now in existence but that a repro-
duction of this machine was made in 1955 and a photograph
of such reproduction was taken and a copy of that photo-
graph was filed as Exhibit 15.

Then Traver says that as a result of obtaining sucecessful
results on this machine, the principle components of which
are illustrated in Exhibit 42, he instructed Fred Pool to
proceed with adapting a machine known as the Cameron
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slitter so that it could be used in this process to give constant
treatment to polyethylene film.

Pool admitted that during all this time, and indeed until
sometime between 1954 and 1959, he did not know that
corona, discharge was essential in any such process for the
successful treatment of polyethylene film. Pool said he only
found this out from one Kritchever at this later point in
time, at which later time Kritchever told him to drop the
word corona into any evidence he gave in any proceedings
concerning this process.

Kritchever also says he only found out in 1954, or per-
haps later, that it was essential that corona discharge be
present using any treatment apparatus to obtain successful
treatment of polyethylene film.

This Cameron slitter permitted a roll of polyethylene
film on a master band to pass over and under numerous
rollers and to go around a large top roller and then to be
exposed to a bank of oxy-dry tubes and then be rewound
at the finish end.

The Cameron slitter in its usual operation was used for
slitting rolls of paper and films and this machine was par-
ticularly adapted for slitting film from a master roll of a
given width into smaller rolls and rewinding these smaller
carefully cut rolls on five separate shafts so as to prevent
them from intertwining.

Traver said he instructed Pool to take out the knives from
the Cameron slitter which was used at the plant of Traver
Corporation and place on the most exposed top roller a
bank of about five oxy-dry tubes, so placed in a curb
bank that they would be set about one-eighth of an inch
from the metal roller.

Traver said that this Cameron slitter was so adapted in
about September 1949, and that the first time he saw it in
operation was about April, 1950, but he said that he received
a report on February 3, 1950, on its operation from Fred
Pool, with which report were enclosed samples of poly-
ethylene film, one of which was supposed to have been
treated by the oxy-dry tube method in the Cameron slitter.
A copy of this letter was filed as Exhibit 17.

It should be noted that this letter makes reference to the
use of a 15,000-volt transformer, whereas there was no
evidence that a 15,000-volt transformer had ever been
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purchased by Traver Corporation. In addition, these words
appear in the letter, viz.:

. . . Apparently, the higher the voltage, the better the treatment. We
are going ahead with a design for commercial treatment using this method.

We still have some problems with the electrostatic field we create in
this process, but as we have discussed, perbaps the continuous grounded
belt might be helpful.

Will keep you posted as we develop this further.

Traver then stated he returned this letter to Pool after
writing on it these words, “Good work! Now let us give
this top priority so that we can process all our Poly orders.”

Then the evidence was that this Cameron slitter was
used at least until the early part of 1951 in the Traver
Corporation for treating intermittently polyethylene film.

Then in 1951, according to the evidence, a flat plate ap-
paratus as is illustrated in figure 7 on Exhibit 35 was built
and used to treat polyethylene film on a production basis.

In this connection, it should be noted that the drawings
included in the United States application, Exhibit 3, filed
in the United States Patent Office on Gctober 26, 1950, in
effect illustrate the Cameron slitter; and that the drawings
in the first Canadian application, Exhibit 1, which was filed
in the Canadian Patent Office on May 17, 1952, are illus-
trated in figures 1, 2, 3 and 4 of Exhibit 35; and that only
in the Canadian application, Exhibit 2, filed on July 2,
1963, are there drawings which are illustrated by all the
seven figures on Exhibit 35. (In fact, Exhibit 35 is a re-
production of the drawings filed with the application, Ex-
hibit 2.)

The allegations that the first written description or dis-
closure made by Traver was made by him in the said mem-
orandum from Fred J. Pool under date February 3, 1950,
Exhibit 17, must of necessity be confined to the apparatus
set-up illustrated by Exhibit 42, and it is significant that
in this memorandum there is no mention of spacing, and
no mention of any of the things which are associated with
corona discharge, and also it is suggested that a 15,000-volt
transformer was employed in the operation of this appa-
ratus.

The next written disclosure claimed to have been made

by Mr. Traver was in a memorandum prepared by the said
Junius F. Cook, sometime patent lawyer for Mr. Traver,
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on August 22, 1950, and on a drawing made at the same
time, both of which are filed as Exhibits 25 and 26.

These documents also do not disclose the spacing or
voltage employed or a description of any of the other in-
gredients of the phenomenon of corona discharge.

In addition, although Traver alleged that this Cameron
slitter was used on and off all during 1950, there were no
production records produced, no production figures given
and no evidence adduced as to what products or materials
the machine was slitting and treating other than the so-
called job pockets, Exhibits 19A, 20A and 23A.

The Cameron slitter was supposed to have been employed
in treating the film which was used in making the plastic
bags found in the job pockets, which were introduced in
evidence as Exhibits 19A, 20A and 23A.

These job pockets, the witness Kritchever stated he
found when he searched in the records which had been
taken over from Traver Corporation by Container Corpo-
ration when the latter purchased certain of the assets of the
former. Kritchever did not know the time or the year they
were found, but he stated that they were found, after a
search was made for evidence following instructions given
by Horace Dawson, the patent attorney who completed the
preparation of Exhibit 1, after it had been handed over to
him after its partial preparation by Mr. Junius Cook. (This
is the same Mr. Dawson who also prepared Exhibit 2, and
who also prepared Traver’s false affidavit, Exhibit D-1.)

The witness Harris called by the plaintiffs alleged that
he inspected this adapted Cameron slitter (which it was
alleged was producing successful treatment to polyethyl-
ene) at Traver Corporation in December, 1949; and he
said that Paul Traver, brother of the alleged inventor, told
him about it, and took him and showed it to him but did
not suggest that he keep such information confidential,
even though Visking Corporation, by whom Harris was em-
ployed, was the largest producer of polyethylene film in
the world and this discovery and the machine which pro-
duced successful treatment to polyethylene film would have
been at that time a major breakthrough in the art.

On this evidence, I find it is impossible to believe that
the Cameron slitter was employed to give successful treat-
ment on any commercial production basis during the year
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1950 or that the plastic bags allegedly found in these so-
called job pockets were actually in these pockets since 1950
or were from a production run of plastic bags successfully
treated by the Cameron slitter in 1950.

It is also impossible to find on this evidence that there
was any successful treatment on any commercial produc-
tion basis (and certainly not by any process that Traver
knew and realized was successful because of the sine qua
non, the presence of corona discharge), by Traver Corpora-
tion during 1950 and this is especially so because it is un-
believable, and I so hold, that Horace Dawson, the patent
attorney, who as stated finally prepared Exhibit 1 and did
prepare Exhibit 2, and under whose direction all the
searches for evidence were made, would not have cautioned
Kritchever and these other persons (whom he was at that
time directing to search for proof of priority of invention
by Traver) to take even the most elementary precautions
to make identification of these bags provable so that what
they found as a result of the searches in the records taken
over from Traver Corporation could be submitted to a
Court with reasonable expectation that such evidence
would be accepted as proving something. But no such
identification was made according to the evidence, and
therefore it is a reasonable inference that no physical evi-
dence was found that could be so identified and proven. It
is significant that Dawson was not called as a witness to
tell what he did and what instructions he gave and what
he found or caused to be found as a result of those instruc-
tions.

The failure to have Dawson testify at this trial in part
has assisted me in reaching the conclusions I have, in re-
spect to this part of the evidence, but I would have reached
the same conclusions even if I had drawn no inference from
his failure to testify.

I am therefore unable to find that there was any oral or
verbal evidence adduced proving that there was any in-
vention by Traver disclosed by way of a description which
afforded the means of making that which was alleged to
have been invented by him at least during all of 1950.

It was also alleged that Traver made certain written dis-
closures.
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Hereunder is set out some of the relevant documentary
evidence concerning this allegation by Traver.

Exhibit 17 filed is a copy of a letter dated February 3,
1950, from Pool to Traver, with an endorsement on it made
by Traver after he received it. This the plaintiffs allege was
the first written disclosure of the invention of Traver. There
is, however, nothing in this memorandum which constitutes
a description by Traver “which affords the means of making
that which (was alleged to have been) invented.”

Exhibit D-3 which was filed, concerns the Maple Crest
Wrapper which Traver is supposed to have treated in his
deep-freeze unit at his ranch, and it is a memorandum from
Traver to Pool, apparently received by Pool on July 31,
1950. From the evidence it appears Pool had sent him two
samples, one treated by a so-called flame process of Kritch-
ever and the other treated by the Cameron slitter apparatus
by Traver Corporation. On this memorandum, Traver wrote
these words, “How did we do it this time?”’

These words, it may be said, are hardly the words of an
inventor, who now alleges at this trial that he conceived
and disclosed both verbally and in writing a description of
his invention (and in which he now alleges he realized that
corona discharge was the important factor which produced
successful treatment) which afforded the means of making
that which was invented.

Exhibit D-1 which is the preliminary statement by way
of an affidavit which George Traver filed in respect to the
U.S. application, Exhibit 3, was apparently called for in the
interference proceedings in the United States in respect to
the same. This affidavit as stated was prepared by Horace
Dawson and sworn by George Traver on January 4, 1954.
In this affidavit Mr. Traver swore: “The date upon which
the invention was first disclosed to others was July 7, 1948.”

Exhibit 25 which is a memorandum dated August 22,
1950, was prepared by Mr. Junius Cook and it concerns a
conference among Messrs. Pool, Groh and Cook held on
that date.

This is supposed to have represented the full knowledge
of Traver at that time of his invention. But it is significant
to note that there is no mention of the voltage to be used,
no mention of gap, no mention of corona discharge, and no
mention of ozone in this memorandum. In other words
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there was no description in these documents which afforded
the means of making that which was alleged to have been
invented.

Exhibit 26, filed, is a sketeh made by Cook on August 22,
1950, at the said conference showing the treatment equip-
ment to be used in making the alleged Traver invention
operable but it should be noted that it does not indicate
any of the ingredients which would show anyone how to
produce successful treatment of polyethylene film. In other
words, it would fail to teach any competent workman what
he had to do to get successful treatment.

Exhibit 34, filed, is a copy of a letter of August 23, 1950,
from Cook to Traver Corporation enclosing copies of
Exhibits 25 to 26.

Exhibit 3, which is a copy of the U.S. Patent application
of George W. Traver which consists of claims, specifications
and drawings (essentially the Cameron slitter) to which
George W. Traver swears on October 17, 1950, contains
these words, namely, that “I have read the foregoing speci-
fications and claims and I verily believe I am the original,
first and sole inventor of the invention on discovery in
means for and method of conditioning plastic films for print-
ing, described and claimed therein.” But again, this docu-
ment suffers from the same disabilities as Exhibits 25 and 26,
and the same comments apply to it.

Exhibit 22 is a copy of a letter dated June 3, 1950, from
Fred J. Pool of Traver Corporation, to a customer of it,
namely, Graham Paper Company, St. Louis, Missouri.
From it, an inference could be drawn that Traver Corpora-
tion was not using the Cameron slitter process to treat
polyethylene film, Mr. Pool’s precise words in this letter
are: “Please be advised that recently developed technique
will enable us to offer this customer printed Tralon bags
with printing far superior to any which has been previously
available. For this reason we have slightly delayed shipment
of their order so that this new process may be utilized in
manufacturing this run. We have scheduled shipment of
these bags for the week of June 12, or sooner.”

It is possible that Traver Corporation may have been
purchasing treated film from Visking Corporation at that
time. And it is also possible that someone in the Traver
Corporation at that time may have known that there existed
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a process and apparatus to successfully treat polyethylene
film to make it ink adherent. But certainly, on the evidence,
there is no question about it that neither Traver nor Pool
nor anyone in Traver Corporation did know in June, 1950,
and indeed until at least 1954, that corona discharge was
the factor which was producing successful treatment and
the only factor; and certainly there was no evidence
adduced that either Traver or anyone acting under his
directions did at any time so identify such factor as the
critical one. In my opinion, on the evidence, Traver found
this out from someone else, long after October, 1950.

The evidence is, as was proved by a demonstration in
Court, using the set-up that Traver alleged was used in
1950 and $” spacing, that no successful treatment resulted.
So Traver, or Traver Corporation, if they produced success-
ful treatment of polyethylene film in 1950 must have
employed only the oxy-dry tube set-up, 10,000 volts and
%" spacing, but nowhere in the evidence is there any proof
that in 1950 Traver formulated verbally or in writing a
description of such.

Pool in his 3 February 1950 letter, Exhibit 17, did not
describe such a set-up; and Traver, in Exhibit 3, did not
confine himself to such a set-up and also did not describe it.
In Exhibits 25 and 26, also, Cook did not described it.
Instead, in both these documents, the matter is put broadly.

The only conclusion therefore that can be reached is that
Traver did not nor did anyone under his direction cause
to be formulated verbally or in writing a description which
afforded the means of making that which Traver alleged
he invented, at least up to October 17, 1950.

It is a proper conclusion to find that up to that date,
Traver and the others under his direction were experiment-
ing. But now, in retrospect Traver is saying that he used
the oxy-dry tube, 10,000 volts and ” spacing set-up to
get successful treatment and disclosed it, because he now
knows that that particular set-up will produce successful
treatment, in that corona discharge will be present.

But it is clear that all the evidence adduced on behalf
of the plaintiffs (Traver) was directed to the attempt to
prove that sometime early in 1950, and at least prior to the
alleged material date of Adams and Wakefield (defendant
Union Carbide), namely, May 3, 1950, Traver successfully
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treated polyethylene film so as to make it ink-adherent
using a process in which the phenomenon of corona dis-
charge was present and that he knew and disclosed this
factor as the critical one, and disclosed both verbally and
in writing a deseription which afforded the means of making
that which was invented.

The attempt was not successful.

Certainly, neither Traver nor anyone acting under
Traver’s directions discovered at least until after October
17, 1950, that isolating corona discharge as the critical
factor was the invention.

I therefore find that the evidence adduced by and on
behalf of Traver did not establish that Traver at any time
was the inventor of the treatment process involving the
phenomenon of corona discharge; and as stated, that alone
is the invention which is the subject of these proceedings.
Indeed, the evidence adduced by and on behalf of Traver
affirmatively established that he was not the inventor of
this treatment process.

In coming to this econclusion, I have taken into considera-
tion that it is true that someone, between 1952 and 1953,
found out that corona discharge was the factor and slipped
in the word corona in a patent application for Traver’s
alleged invention and the word corona appeared for the
first time in the Traver 1953 application, Exhibit 2; but
even the person who caused these words to be inserted in
that application, Exhibit 2, did not know their true signifi-
cance. The specification at page 20 only employed the word
corona as follows:

The corona observed during the operation is believed to be visible evi-
dence of such flow of electrons. However, it is believed that the treatment
may be effected by the electron flow even without such visible evidence.

I have also taken into consideration that it may be that
Traver, without any knowledge of what any other inventor
was doing, sometime in 1950, after the month of October,
did discover that successful treatment could be had by
employing the Cameron slitter process, Exhibit 42, provid-
ing a & gap was used (although there is some doubt that
there was any precise knowledge or understanding that the
width of the gap was critical using this particular appara-
tus), but he claimed even in 1950 on October 20 in his
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1965  U.S. application, Exhibit 3, too broadly and not what he at

Tmaven  this trial now alleges he had invented.

Mﬁi‘;ﬁsﬁ;m In addition, in his application, Exhibit 2, which is the

etv“l' subject application which this Court has to consider and
Unon  which was filed July 2, 1953, he may have disclosed in
C:ff,ll]_m an obtuse way that he may have invented, namely, the
Giboon 3. PrOCESS of treatment as employed in the Cameron slitter,

— the basic elements of which are set out in Exhibit 42, which
again required a spacing of no more than 4”, but he did
not confine his purported disclosure to this. Instead, he
purported in that application to disclose more than he had
invented and he also claimed much more than he had
invented, and in so doing he fails to establish by credible
evidence that at any material time, and certainly not up to
20 October 1950, he had formulated, either in writing or
verbally a description which affords the means of making
that which he alleges he invented.

In so doing, he breached the legal principles above refer-
red to, which he was required to observe before he would
obtain an adjudication that he was a first inventor in this

case.

A few references to the evidence will suffice to demon-
strate this.

In respect to Exhibit 2, the subject application, Traver
admitted on eross-examination that concerning twenty-three
matters in the specification, bearing on techniques, processes
and equipment, he knew nothing about them, and that the
ideas and the words employed concerning them were not
his. By this evidence Traver himself established that his
application does not comply with section 36 of The Patent
Act in that the specification does not deseribe his invention
and the means of making that which he alleges he invented,
or the operation and use as he now alleges was contemplated
by him at any material time, but instead it is as contem-
plated by others and therefore irrelevant to the issue of
who was the first inventor in this case; and he proves that
the invention deseribed in it is not his (Traver’s) alleged
invention.

This cross-examination also clearly established that the
specification is obscure and ambiguous, and employing the
correct principles in the interpretation of the words, it is
clear that it does not teach the competent workman the
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means of making that which Traver claims to have invented,
and therefore the only reasonable conclusion is that Traver
had not formulated at any material time the means of
making his alleged invention.

It also established that there was no credible evidence
that Traver had made the invention of the corona method
of treatment (which all witnesses agreed was essential to
successful treatment). At all material times, it is clear he
knew nothing about it.

It also established that there was no credible evidence
that even at the date of his application, Exhibit 2, viz., 2
July 1953, Traver understood how to make the invention
reproducible.

From what has been said above and from the whole
of this evidence, also, it is abundantly clear that Traver
in his application did not act uberrimae fidet, and on this
ground alone he fails to establish that he was an inventor
of anything, let alone a first inventor of the invention in
issu_e in this case.

These words, however, do not exhaust the findings which
could be made in respect to Traver’s application, Exhibit
2, but they are sufficient for the purpose of these reasons.

Specifically, therefore, in dealing with the evidence and in
elaboration of the finding already made, I find that Traver
in the memorandum sent to him by Frederick J. Pool, under
date of 3 February, 1950, in the memorandum and drawings
prepared by Junius Cook dated 22 August 1950, Exhibits
25 and 26, in his U.S. application for patent dated 26 Octo-
ber 1950, Exhibit 3, and in his Canadian application dated
2 July 1953, Exhibit 2, or at any material time, in any
other written document which was introduced in evidence
at this trial, or verbally to any person at least until after
22 August 1950 Traver did not formulate a description
“which (afforded) the means of making that which (he now
alleges he) invented”. Traver during all material times over-
reached to an unconscionable extent and in law he is the
inventor of nothing in so far as the subject matter of this
trial is conecerned.

APPLICATION OF DEFENDANT UNION CARBIDE
(ADAMS AND WAKEFIELD) (EXHIBIT D-11)
The evidence of the defendant Union Carbide established
that on March 21, 1950, the first successful result was

91540—11

161
1965

——
TRAVER
INvEST-
MENTS INC.
et al.

v.
Union
CARBIDE
etal.

Gibson J.



162
1065

——
TrAVER
INVEST-

MENTS INC.
et al.
v.

UnioN
CarsDB

et al.

Gibson J.

2 R.C.de’E. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

obtained and recorded in a book regularly kept in connection
with the normal work of George Adams (Exhibit D-12,
pages F, G, H, I, J); and that on May 3, 1950, it was
recognized that corona was the essential phenomenon which
had to be present to accomplish successful treatment of
polyethylene film (Exhibit D-12, page S), Adams having
between these dates tested, analyzed and discarded ultra-
violet light, x-rays, radio frequency, ozone, and passage
of electrical current through the sheet.

These written memoranda, and the verbal disclosures to
the Visking Corporation employees in March, 1950, each
constituted a complete description affording a means of
making that which was invented.

On the evidence I find that it was not obvious or natural
on March 21, 1950, after the first successful result was
obtained, to discover and isolate the corona that was
present as the element and the only element that would
produce successful treatment of polyethylene film,

This discovery which taught that successful treatment
could be accomplished by using any one of the many com-
binations of electrodes, dielectrics, spacing and voltage so
long as corona discharge was present, was genius and
invention of the highest order. And it is not detracted from
in the least by the fact that Mr. Traver or some other
person employed or acting for him or Traver Corporation
or independently, may have obtained without knowing
why, even before March 21, 1950 (which, as stated above,
I do not find), successful treatment of polyethylene film by
using the particular combination of an oxy-dry tube, 10,000-
volt transformer, and a §” spacing and confined solely to
such combination, while not recognizing that corona dis-
charge was the essential feature of the invention.

This latter conclusion is supported in many places in the
evidence; but one such reference will demonstrate this
unequivocally, namely, an excerpt from the cross-examina-
tion of Pool, which reads as follows:

Q. And, so, are we also agreed that as of August 22, 1950 neither you

nor Mr. Cook, nor Mr. Traver regarded corona as an essential
feature of this alleged invention?

A. I don’t think we knew what was taking place or why precisely.
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Q. And js it fair to say, then, in view of that lack of knowledge, that
you did not specifically regard corona as essential?

A. I don’t think we knew at that time whether corona was essential or
not. We knew an oxy-dry tube under certain conditions would do
the job. Why and what it did, we didn’t know.

Q. And, last, but not least, the voltage, is that right?

A. We suspected that the voltage we had was satisfactory under the
conditions that we were then experimenting with.

Q. You suspected, but you didn’t know?
A. We didn’t know, that’s right.

During all this relevant period Sidney J. Wakefield, the
co-inventor with Adams, said he worked cooperatively with
Adams and I find he corroborates the evidence of priority
of invention and disclosure within the principle or test
enunciated in Christiant v. Rice (Exhibit D-19, D-20, D-21,
D-24).

I find also that the commercial production by Visking
Corporation using this invention was commenced on a
regular basis at least as early as July 31, 1950 (Exhibits
D-17 and D-18).

The conclusion therefore I reach is that as between the
plaintiffs and the defendant Union Carbide Adams and
Wakefield (for the defendant Union Carbide) were the in-
ventors, within the meaning of section 28 of The Patent
Act, R.S.C. 1952, chapter 203, as amended, and the cases,
of the method (and article resulting therefrom) of treating
a polyethylene structure so as to make ink adherent to its
surface, by subjecting the surface of such polyethylene
which is to be imprinted subsequently, to high voltage elec-
trical stress accompanied by corona discharge.

VALIDITY OF THE CONFLICT CLAIMS

Having so found, it now is necessary, as between the
plaintiffs and the defendant Union Carbide to consider the
conflict claims (all of which are set out in schedule B to
these reasons) to determine to which (and to what extent)
of the four remedies provided by section 45(8) of The
Patent Act, the defendant Unien Carbide is entitled.

In this determination the doctrine of substance and
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mechanical equivalence is not relevant, although the con-
trary was urged for the plaintiffs, such being applicable only
in an action for infringement.

Entitlement to a patent containing claims in these pro-
ceedings is restricted to those claims (a) found to be legally
in conflict, between the parties to this action and (b)
which are within the ambit of the invention owned by the
defendant Union Carbide, and (¢) which are contained in
the application, Exhibit D-11, and (d) which comply with
all relevant provisions of The Patent Act.

The claims put in issue in this action may be considered
by separating the claims into seven categories or groups,
and having done so, to adjudicate in respect to each:

1. The claims which were not put in conflict between the
plaintiffs (Traver) and the defendant Union Carbide by
the Commissioner of Patents pursuant to section 45 of The
Patent Act, but which the parties sought to bring in issue
between themselves in these conflict proceedings by their
pleadings, I find are not claims in respect to which this
Court in this action is required to adjudicate in that the
Commissioner of Patents has not taken any action in re-
spect to them pursuant to section 45 of The Patent Act and
these proceedings are not an alternative method, available
to the parties (by these proceedings), of putting claims in
conflict. The Commissioner of Patents alone is charged by
The Patent Act with this duty, and if, in another and a
proper case, he should fail to do his duty, there are other
appropriate remedies available to any party who should
feel aggrieved. If either of the parties in this case felt that
the Commissioner of Patents had not done his duty in fail-
ing to put certain claims in conflict between them, either
or both should have taken other appropriate action to
provide a remedy. What the parties purported to do in this
case by their pleadings is not appropriate. In respect to this
group of claims no other adjudication other than this is
therefore made as between the plaintifis (Traver) and the
defendant Union Carbide. These claims are: C-13 to C-17
inclusive, C-21, C-32, C-33, C-38 to C-43 inclusive, C-48,
C-61, C-83 and C-107.
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(It should be noted, regarding the above claims, that

(a) in respect to claims numbered C-32, C-33, C-38 to C-43
inclusive, C-48 and C-61, that these were the subject
matter of the default judgment dated April 16, 1964,
obtained by the plaintiffs (Traver) against the de-
fendant Celanese Corporation of America; but such
judgment vis-a-vis the issues between the plaintiffs
(Traver) and the defendant Union Carbide in this
action is immaterial;

(b) in respect to claims numbered C-13 to C-17 inclusive,
that they are now included in Canadian Patent No.
662,521 issued May 17, 1963; and in respect to claim
numbered C-83, it is now included in Canadian Patent
No. 674,718, issued November 26, 1963 ; but such facts
vis-a-vis the issues between the plaintiffs (Traver) and
the defendant Union Carbide in this action are also
immaterial.)

2. Claim C-77 is the subject of a settlement and was not
in issue at the trial of this action.

3. Claims 44 to 52 (which are taken from the so-called
Lemon application—see Exhibit 37) which refer to treat-
ment by “glow discharge”, or by a “spaced thin and elon-
gated electrode in a high voltage current”, or by “an elec-
trode and a gas-filled discharge tube in a high voltage cir-
cuit”, or by “a thin electrode in a high voltage circuit” I
find are not equivalent or synonymous with treatment by
corona discharge; and no evidence was adduced that treat-
ment by such methods would be successful, and therefore I
find that treatment by such processes is not within the
ambit of the invention; and therefore that the defendant
Union Carbide is not entitled to the issue of a patent con-
taining such claims.

4. In respect to claims C-1, C-2, C-4, C-5, C-7, C-8,
C-10 and C-11 all of which concern treatment of plastics
and associated structures, I find that there was no evidence
adduced that treatment of such materials by the corona
discharge process would be successful, and therefore the
defendant Union Carbide is not entitled to the issue of a

patent containing such claims.
91540—12
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5. In respect to claims C-37, C-40, C-67 to C-76 inclusive,
all of which deal with the treatment of resins and resinous
materials, I find that there was no evidence adduced that
treatment of such materials and substances would be suc-
cessful by the corona discharge process, and therefore Union
Carbide is not entitled to the issue of a patent containing
such claims.

6. Claims C-3, C-6, C-9, C-12, C-87 to C-89 inclusive,
C-92 and C-93 I find are all claims for the method (or
article) resulting from employing the method known as the
corona discharge method, of treating polyethylene structures
80 as to make ink adherent to its surface and therefore they
are all within the ambit of the invention, and the defendant
Union Carbide is entitled to the issue of a patent containing
such claims.

7. All other claims in issue, I find, do not legally describe
the phenomenon which produces successful treatment to
polyethylene structures, and therefore the defendant Union
Carbide is not entitled to the issue of a patent containing
such claims.

In the result, therefore, the plaintiff’s action is dismissed
with costs, and the defendant Union Carbide’s counterclaim
to the extent indicated in these reasons is allowed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.
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SCHEDULE “A*
(This is Schedule ‘A" to the Reasons for Judgment of
Gibson J., in Traver Investments Inc., et al., and Unon

Carbide and Carbon Corporation, et. al., Court No. A—598.)

Exhibit No. 35, at trial,
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Exhibit No. 41, at trial.
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Exhibit No. 42, at trial.
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SCHEDULE "“'B"

(This is Schedule “B” to the Reasons for Judgment of Gibson J., in
Traver Investments Inc., et al.,, and Union Carbide and Carbon Corporation,
et al., Court No. A-598.)

(These claims are set out in Exhibits 4 and 83 filed; and the letter “C”
followed by a number at the left designates the respective claims number
references.)

C1 The method of treating plastic structure to render a surface thereof
adherent to subsequently imprinted ink impressions which comprises
directly exposing the surface of the structure to be imprinted to high
voltage electric stress accompanied by corona discharge.

C2 The method as set forth in claim 1, characterized in that the plastic
structure is a film,

C3 The method as set forth in claims 2 and 3, characterized in that
the plastic structure is formed of polyethylene.

C4 The method as set forth in claim 1, characterized in that the treated
surface of the structure is subsequently imprinted.

C5 The method as set forth in claim 2, characterized in that the
treated surface of the film is subsequently imprinted.

Cé The method as set forth in claim 2, characterized in that the film
is formed of polyethylene and the treated surface thereof is subse-
quently imprinted.

C7 An article of manufacture comprising a plastic structure having a
surface resulting from direct exposure to high voltage electric stress
accompanied by corona discharge to provide ink adhesion.

C8 An article as set forth in claim 7, characterized in that the plastic
structure is a film.

Cc9 An article as set forth in claims 7 and 8, characterized in that the
plastic structure is formed of polyethylene.

C10 An article of manufacture comprising a printed plastic structure
wherein the imprints are on a surface which prior to imprinting had
been directly exposed to high voltage electric stress accompanied by
corona discharge.

cu An article as set forth in claim 10 wherein the plastic structure is
a film,

Ci12 An article as set forth in claim 11 wherein the polyethylene plastic
structure is formed of polyethylene.

C13 A method of treating plastic film to improve the adhesion of ink
impressions subsequently imprinted thereon which comprises subject-
ing the directly opposite surfaces of said plastic film simultaneously to
the same zone of action of high voltage stress accompanied by corona
discharge.

Cl4 A method as set forth in claim 13 wherein the film is a polyethylene
film.
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Ci5 A method of treating plastic film to improve the adhesion of ink
impressions subsequently imprinted thereon which comprises con-
tinuously passing said film through a zone of action of high voltage
stress accompanied by corona discharge and maintaining said film in
said zone to expose simultaneously the directly opposite surfaces
thereof to the action of said high voltage stress accompanied by corona
discharge.

Ci8 A method as set forth in claim 15 wherein the film is a polyethylene
film.

C17 An apparatus for treating plastic film to improve the adhesion
thereof to ink impressions subsequently imprinted thereon comprising
a pair of stationary electrodes disposed in parallel spaced relationship
to provide a gap therebetween, means to produce high voltage stress
accompanied by corona discharge in said gap, means to pass a film
through said gap, and means on each of the opposed surfaces of the
electrodes to space said film during passage through said gap from said
electrodes whereby the directly opposite surfaces of the film are simul-
taneously exposed and subject to said high voliage stress accompanied
by corona discharge upon passage through said gap.

C18 The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to decorative matter, which consists of subjecting the
surface portion to the action of an electrostatic discharge to increase
the unsaturation of surface molecules of said treated surface, whereby
upon the application of decorative matter to said treated surface, said
matter is strongly adherent thereto.

C19 The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to decorative matter, which consists of subjecting said
surface to the action of electrostatic discharge while employing an
alternating current, to render the surface molecules of said treated sur-
face receptive and strongly adherent to decorative matter applied
thereto.

C20 The method of treating a surface of a polyethylene body to render
the same adherent to decorative matter, which comprises subjecting
said surface to electronic bombardment of at least sixty cycles per
second.

C21 The process of elaim 20 in which the frequency is substantially in
excess of sixty cycles per second.

Cc22 The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to decorative matter, which consists of subjecting said
surface to the action of electrostatic discharge under a voltage in excess
of ten thousand volts, to increase the unsaturated linkages in the
polyethylene surface molecules, whereby upon the application of
decorative matter to said treated surface, said matter is strongly
adherent thereto.

C23 A decorated polyethylene product, comprising a polyethylene body
having on one unoxydized surface thereof polyethylene molecules
which are unsaturated, and decorative material adhering to such surface.
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C24 A decorated film product, comprising a polyethylene film having
on an unoxydized surface thereof polyethylene molecules having double
bonds, and decorative material adhering to said surface.

C25 Process for the treatment of the surface of a body of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a body of polyethylene
resin substantially uniformly to a diffuse electrical discharge to improve
the receptivity of said surface for printing inks.

C26 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a separate, discrete, self-
supporting film of polyethylene resin to a diffuse electrical discharge to
mmprove the receptivity of said surface for printing inks.

C27 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises passing said film continuously into a diffuse
electrical discharge, said surface being treated substantially uniformly
with said discharge to improve the receptivity of said surface to print-
ing inks, and continuously taking up said film while retaining its treated
surface.

C28 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises treating a surface of a separate, discrete, self-
supporting film of polyethylene resin to improve the receptivity of said
surface for printing inks by passing said film continuously between
electrodes while maintaining & sufficiently high difference in potential
between said electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between
said electrodes, continuously moving said film relative to said electrodes,
and continuously taking up said film while retaining its treated surface.

C29 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a film of polyethylene
resin to a diffuse electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said
gurface for printing inks by passing said film continuously between
electrodes, while maintaining a sufficiently high difference in potential
between said electrodes to cause said diffuse electrical discharge between
said electrodes and while limiting said discharge to prevent the forma-
tion of localized arcs through weak spots in said film, said surface being
treated substantially uniformly with said discharge, and continuously
taking up the resulting treated film with its treated surface intact.

C30  Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resin which comprises
subjecting said resin to a diffuse electrical discharge by passing said
polyethylene resin between electrodes to which a high electrical poten-
tial is applied and between which is positioned a sheet of dielectric
material.

C31 Process for the treatment of the surface of a separate, discrete, seli-
supporting film of polyethylene resin, which comprises passing said
film continuously between electrodes, maintaining said electrodes at a
sufficiently high difference in potential to cause a diffuse electrical
discharge between said electrodes, bringing the surface of the film to
be treated uniformly into contact with said discharge to mmprove the
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receptivity of said surface to printing inks while maintaining a solid
dielectric between said film and one of said electrodes, continuously
moving said film relative to said electrodes, and continuously taking
up the resulting treated film with its treated surface intact.

C32 Process for the treatment of the surface of a body of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of said body to a diffuse
electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said surface to coat-
ing materials and then coating at least a portion of the resulting treated
surface.

C33 Process for the treatment of the surface of a body of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of said body to a diffuse
electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said surface to coating
materials and then coating at least a portion of the resulting treated
surface with a coating material which is fluent and contmnuous under
the conditions of coating.

C34 Process for the treatment of the surface of a body of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a body of polyethylene
resin to a diffuse electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said
surface for printing inks and then printing on the resulting treated sur-
face with a printing ink.

C35 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a film of polyethylene
resin to a diffuse electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said
surface for printing inks and then printing on the resulting treated
surface with a printing ink.

C36 Process for the treatment of the surface of a film of polyethylene
resin, which comprises subjecting a surface of a film of polyethylene
resin to a diffuse electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said
surface for printing inks by passing said film continuously between
elecirodes while maintaining a sufficiently high difference in potential
between said electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between
said electrodes, said surface being treated substantially uniformly with
said discharge, and then printing on the resulting treated surface with
a printing ink.

C37 Apparatus for the treatment of a continuous film of resin, said
apparatus comprising an electrode, means for causing a diffuse electrical
discharge to emanate from said electrode, means for moving a con-
tinuous film of resin past said electrode with a surface of said film
in said discharge and means for taking up said film while retaining its
treated surface.

C38 Apparatus for the treatment of a continuous film of polyethylene
resm, said apparatus comprising a pair of electrodes, means for causing
a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes, means for moving
a continuous film of polyethylene resin continuously between said
electrodes with its surface umiformly in said discharge, and a windup
roll for continuously taking up the resulting treated film with its
treated surface intact.
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Apparatus as set out in claim 38 in which one of said electrodes
comprises a plurality of parallel wires spaced from the surface of said
film.

Apparatus for the treatment of a continuous film of resin, said
apparatus comprising electrodes, means for causing a diffuse electrical
discharge between said electrodes, means for moving a continuous film
of resin continuously between said electrodes with a surface of said
film in said discharge, and solid dielectric interposed between one of
said electrodes and said film for limiting the current between said
electrodes to prevent localized ares from passing between said electrodes
through weak spots or pin holes in said film.

Apparatus for the treatment of polyethylene resins, which com-
prises a pair of electrodes, means for applying a high potential to said
electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes,
means for supporting the polyethylene resin between said electrodes
with a surface of said resin exposed to said discharge and a sheet of
dielectric material between said polyethylene resin and at least one
of said electrodes.

A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene
or similar material having a wax-like surface to receive coatings, such
as printing ink, colouring, adhesive or the like, which comprises expos-
g the surface to a concentrated high voltage glow discharge of elec-
tricity along a narrow line at a voltage and for a time sufficient to
modify said surface to render the latter adherent to the coatings.

A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene
or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink, colouring,
adhesive or the like, which comprises moving the article into a
concentrated high voltage glow discharge of electricity along a narrow
line at a voltage and for a time sufficient to modify the surface
facing said discharge to render the latter adherent to the coatings.

A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene
or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink, colouring,
adhesive or the like, which comprises moving the article into the
space between narrow spaced electrodes in a concentrated high voltage
circuit to expose a surface of said article to a high voltage glow
discharge at a voltage and for a time sufficient to modify said surfaces
to render the latter adherent to the coatings.

A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene
or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink, colouring,
adhesive or the like, which comprises moving the article into the
space between an electrode spaced from a gas-filled discharge tube,
said electrode and tube being in a high voltage circuit, thereby exposing
at least a portion of a surface of said article to & high voltage glow
discharge, the voltage and time of exposure being sufficient to render
said surface adherent to the coatings.

A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene
or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink, colouring,
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adhesive or the like, which comprises passing the article over a metal . 1965
roller and between the latter and a thin electrode spaced therefrom, TRAVER
said roller and electrode being in a high voltage circuit, thereby Invesr-

exposing at least a portion of a surface of said article to s high MENTS Inc.

. . . et al,

voltage glow discharge, the voltage and time of exposure being suf- v"z
ficient to render said surface adherent to the coatings. Uniox
CARBIDE

C47 A method of treating a surface of an article formed of polyethylene et al.
or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink, colouring, Glﬁ 3
adhesive or the like, which comprises passing the article over a metal -
roller and between the latter and a gas-filled discharge tube spaced
therefrom, said roller and tube being in a high voltage circuit, thereby
exposing at least a portion of a surface of said article to a high voltage
glow discharge, the voltage and time of exposure being sufficient to
render said surface adherent to the coatings.

C48 A method of treating opposed surfaces of an article formed of
polyethylene or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing
ink, colouring, adhesive or the like, which comprises moving the
article over an electrode having a layer of non-conducting semi-porous
material on the surface thereof and between said electrode and another
electrode spaced therefrom, said electrodes being in a high voltage
circuit, thereby exposing at least portions of opposite surfaces of said
article to a high voltage glow discharge, the voltage and time of
exposure being sufficient to render said surfaces adherent to the coatings.

C49  Apparatus for treating the surface of an article formed of poly-
ethylene or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink,
colouring, adhesive or the like, comprising spaced thin and elongated
electrodes in a high voltage cireuit, said electrodes being spaced apart
to permit the article to be moved therebetween with a surface spaced
from one electrode, and the voltage of the circuit being sufficient to
modify said surface to render the latter adherent to the coatings.

C50  Apparatus for treating a surface of an article formed of poly-
ethylene or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink,
colouring, adhesive or the like, comprising an electrode and a gas-
filled discharge tube in a high voltage circuit, said electrode and tube
being spaced apart to permit the article to be moved therebetween
with a surface spaced from one of them, and the voltage of the circuit
being sufficient to modify said surface to render the latter adherent
to the coating.

C51  Apparatus for treating a surface of an article formed of poly-
ethylene or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink,
colouring, adhesive or the like, comprising a metal roller and a thin
electrode in a high voltage circuit, said roller and electrode being
spaced apart so that the surface of an article running over the roller
facing the electrode is spaced therefrom, and the voltage of the circuit
being sufficient to modify said surface to render the latter adherent
to the coatings.

C52  Apparatus for treating a surface of an article formed of poly-
ethylene or similar material to receive coatings, such as printing ink,
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colouring, adhesive or the like, comprising a metal roller and a gas-
filled discharge tube in a high voltage circuit, said roller and tube
being spaced apart so that the surface of an article running over the
roller facing the tube is spaced therefrom, and the voltage of the
circuit being sufficient to modify said surface to render the laiter
adherent to the coatings.

C53 Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resin which comprises
subjecting a surface of said resin to a diffuse electrical discharge in an
electrical field having a substantially uniform potential gradient to
improve the receptivity of said surface to printing inks.

C54  Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resin which comprises
subjecting a surface of said resin to a diffuse electrical discharge by
passing said polyethylene resin between & pair of plate electrodes
of extended area to which a high electrical potential is applied to
improve the receptivity of said surface to printing inks.

C55  Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resin which comprises
subjecting a surface of said resin to a diffuse electrical discharge by
passing said polyethylene resin between & pair of plate electrodes of
extended area positioned uniformly distant from one another to
which a high electrical potential is applied to improve the receptivity
of said surface to printing inks.

C56 Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resmm which comprises
subjecting a surface of said resin to a diffuse electrical discharge in an
electrical field having a substantially uniform potential gradient while
another surface of the polyethylene resin is in contact with a solid
surface to improve the receptivity of the first-mentioned surface to
printing inks without imparting to said other surface an improved
receptivity to printing inks.

C57 Process for the treatment of polyethylene resin film which comprises
passing a discrete, separate self-sustaining film of a polyethylene resin
between electrodes maintained at a sufficiently high potential difference
to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes, while
one surface of said film is in contact with a solid surface and another
surface of said film is exposed to said diffuse electrical discharge so
that an improved receptivity to printing inks 1s imparted to said ex-
posed surface while the surface which is 1n contact with said solid
surface does not develop receptivity to printing inks.

C58  Process for the treatment of a polyethylene resin film which
comprises continuously passing a discrete, separate self-sustaining film
of a polyethylene resin between a pair of electrodes of extended area
posttioned uniformly distant from one another and maintained at a
sufficiently high potential difference to cause a diffuse discharge
between said electrodes while all of the surface of one side of said
film is exposed to said discharge and all of the surface of the other
side of said film between said electrodes is in contact with a solid
surface so that an improved receptivity to printing inks is imparted
to said exposed side while said other side does not develop receptivity
to printing inks, and continuously moving said film away from said
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electrodes while maintaining the discharge-treated surface of said film
ntact.

C59 Apparatus for the treatment of polyethylene resin which comprises
a pair of electrodes of extended surface area, means for applying a
high potential to said electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge
between said electrodes, and means for supporting the polyethylene
resin between said electrodes with a surface of saild polyethylene resin
exposed to said discharge.

C60 Apparatus for the treatment of polyethylene resin which comprises
a pair of electrodes of extended surface area, means for applying a
high potential to said electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge
between said electrodes, and means for moving the polyethylene
resin between said electrodes with a surface of said polyethylene resin
exposed to said discharge

C61 Apparatus for the treatment of polyethylene resin which comprises
a pair of electrodes of extended surface area uniformly spaced from
one another, means for applying a high potential to said electrodes
to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes, and
means for moving the polyethylene resin between said electrodes with
a surface of said polyethylene resin exposed to said discharge.

C62  Apparatus for the treatment of polyethylene resin which comprises
a pair of electrodes, means for applymg a high potential to said
electrodes to cause a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes,
and means for supporting the polyethylene resin with the surface in
contact with a solid between said electrodes and with another surface
exposed to said discharge, and means for moving said polyethylene
resin relative to said electrodes and said solid.

C63  Apparatus for the treatment of resin film which comprises an
arcuate convex electrode of extended area for supporting a film of
resin continuously supplied thereto with said film about said electrode,
a second electrode, said second electrode being of extended area,
arcuate and concave, and being spaced from said first electrode with
its concave side facing the convex side of said first electrode, and
means for mamtamning said electrodes at a potential difference such
that there is a diffuse electrical discharge between said electrodes.

C64  Apparatus as set forth in claim 63 in which said first electrode
18 a rotatable cylmder.

C65 Apparatus as set forth in claim 64 in which a sheet of dielectric
material 18 spaced between one of said electrodes and said film of
resin on said cylindrical electrode.

C66 Apparatus as set forth in claim 65 in which said second electrode
15 spaced uniformly distant from said cylindrical electrode, said
apparatus including a gwde for leading said film away from said
cylinder electrode after said film has been subjected to said discharge.

Ce7 The method of rendering a resinous surface wettable which com-
prises subjecting said surface to a corona discharge.
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C68  The method of rendering a resinous material wettable which
comprises passing said resinous material between two electrodes which
are maintained at such a potential difference as to produce a corona
discharge therebetween.

C69 The method of increasing the wettability of resinous material
which is normally not wettable, which comprises subjecting said
resinous material to a corona discharge.

C70  The method of treating resinous material to increase its wettability
and adherent qualities which comprises subjecting said resinous
material to a corona discharge.

C71  The method of rendering a resinous material adherent which com-
prises passing said resinous material between two electrodes which
are maintained at a potential difference which produces corona there-
between.

C72  The method of increasing the adherent quality of resinous material
which comprises subjecting it to a corona discharge.

C73 The method of rendering a normally nonadhering resinous material
more adherent which comprises exposing said material to electrical
corona.

C74  The method of rendering resinous material adherent which com-
prises exposing said material to electrical corona for a period of time,
depending upon the degree of adherence desired.

C75  The method of rendering resinous material wettable which com-
prises electrically exposing said material to electrical corona for a
period of time, depending upon the degree of wettability desired.

C76  Apparatus for subjecting resinous material to a corona discharge
comprising a first electrode, a second electrode spaced from said first
electrode, means to apply a corona discharge producing potential to
said electrodes, and means to pass said material between said
electrodes.

C78  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a body of organie
polymeric material selected from the group consisting of polyamides,
polyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl chloride to a
diffuse electrical discharge to improve the receptivity of said surface
for coating materials.

C79  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a sheet of organic
polymeric material selected from the group consisting of polyamides,
polyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl chloride to a
diffuse electrical discharge in a gaseous atmosphere to improve the
receptivity of sald surface for coating materials.

C80  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a sheet of organic
polymeric material selected from the group consisting of polyamides,
polyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl chloride to a
diffuse electrical discharge by passing said sheet continuously into
close proximity to an electrode from which said diffuse discharge is
emanating, said discharge being insufficient to rupture said film.
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C8l1 Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a sheet of organic
polymeric material selected from the group consisting of polyamides,
pelyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl chloride to a
diffuse electrical discharge by passing said sheet continuously between
electrodes while maintaining a sufficiently high difference in potential
between said electrodes to cause a diffuse discharge to emanate from
at least one of said electrodes and taking up the resulting coated sheet
material while maintaining its treated surface.

Cs2 Process which comprises subjecting the surface of a body of organic
polymeric material selected from the group consisting of polyamides,
polyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl chloride to a
diffuse electrical discharge insufficient to rupture the film in an electrical
field having a substantially uniform potential gradient.

C83  Process which comprises subjecting the surface of an article of
organic polymeric material selected from the group consisting of
polyamides, polyethylene terephthalate, polystyrene and polyvinyl
chloride to a diffuse electrical discharge while one surface of said
article is in contact with a solid surface of dielectric material.

C84  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a sheet of poly-
styrene material to a diffuse electrical discharge in a gaseous atmos-
phere to improve the receptivity of said surface for coating materials.

C85  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of a sheet of organic
polymeric material to a diffuse electrical discharge in a gaseous
atmosphere to improve the receptivity of said surface for coating
materials, said polymeric material being a polyamide.

C8  Process which comprises subjecting a surface of s sheet of poly-
ethylene terephthalate to a diffuse electrical discharge in a gaseous
atmosphere to improve the receptivity of said surface for coating
materials.

C87 A method for the production of a polyethylene terephthalate film
having improved surface bonding properties that comprises treating a
polyethylene terephthalate film which has been molecularly oriented by
drawing but has not been heat-set, by subjecting a surface of the
film to high voltage electric stress accompanied by corona discharge.

C88  The process of treating a polyethylene surface of a sheet of so-
lidified polyethylene to improve the bonding property of the treated
surface which comprises, directing a corona discharge into contact
with the surface to be treated in an oxygen containing atmosphere.

C83  The process of claim 88 and wherein the corona discharge is
generated by electrodes between which the solidified sheet passes.

C90  The process of treating the surface of solidified polyethylene to
improve the bonding property of inks and adhesives to the treated
surface consisting in exposing the surface to electron bombardment
in proximity to an electron emitting source.

(0:4)} The process of treating the surface of a solidified polyethylene
article to improve the bonding property of inks and adhesives to the
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treated surface consisting in exposing the surface to electron bom-
bardment in an electrostatic field and in proximity to an electron
emitting element.

C92 The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to subsequently imprinted ink impressions which
consists of directly exposing the surface of the body to high voltage
corona discharge. ~

C93 The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to subsequently imprinted ink impressions thereon
which consists of directly exposing the surface of the body to a high
voltage corona discharge and then printing upon said exposed surface.

C94  The method of treating a polyethylene body to render a surface
thereof adherent to subsequently imprinted ink impressions thereon
which consists of exposing the surface of the body to a high voltage
corona discharge and then printing upon said exposed gurface

C107 An apparatus for treating plastic film to improve the adhesion
thereof to ink impressions subsequently imprinted thereon comprising
a pair of electrodes disposed in spaced relationship to provide a gap
therebetween, means to produce high voltage stress accompanied by
corona discharge m said gap, means to pass a plastic film through
said gap, and means on each of the opposed surfaces of the electrodes
to space said film during passage through said gap from said electrodes
whereby both surfaces of the film are simultaneously exposed and
subjected to said high voltage stress accompanied by corona discharge.
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BeETWEEN :
KILLARNEY PROPERTIES LIMITED . .APPELLANT;
AND
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL
REVENUE ................ ceeees

RESPONDENT.

Revenue—Income—Income tazr—Purchase and subsequent sale of land by
tazpayer—Construction and sale of shopping centre—Intention of
taxpayer in purchasing land—Dual or alternative intention of tarpayer
—8econdary alternative intent becoming preferred alternative—Promo-
tional and profit-making scheme—Adventure tn the nature of trade—
Speculative nature of enterprise—Admission by tazpayer of aliernative
intent to sell—-Income Taxr Act, RSC. 1962, c. 148, ss. 8, 4 and
189(1)(e).

This is an appeal against the reassessment of the taxable income of the
appellant for the taxation year 1961 by the inclusion therein of the
sum of $10,957 25, being the profit realized on the sale early in 1961
of a shopping centre erected by the appellant on certain lands in
Edmonton, Alberta acquired by the appellant in 1959.

The appellant was incorporated in June 1959 and on June 30, 1959 it pur-
chased the land in question from XKisbey Properties Limited which
became the largest shareholder of the appellant and its largest creditor.
Construction of the shopping centre commenced in September 1959 and
was not completely finished until February 1960. An interim construc-
tion mortgage was obtained in September 1959 but the appellant
never did succeed in replacing it with a conventional mortgage from
a life insurance company despite its efforts to do so. This appears to
be the main reason put forward by the appellant for selling the
shopping centre.

The appellant received offers to purchase the shopping centre on August 6,
1959, on June 1, 1960, on December 20, 1960 and on January 17, 1961,
which last offer was accepted. In its letter of refusal of this offer dated
August 6, 1959 the appellant stated there was no possibility of a sale
“at the price and on the conditions mentioned”. The evidence
established that as early as August 9, 1959, before construction had
commenced, the directors of the appellant were considering the condi~
tions under which the property might be sold. The minutes of the
meeting of the directors of the appellant on April 4, 1960 included
the declaration “Future plans of the Company in connection with the
shopping centre revolved around selling the property. A price of
$160,000 would be acceptable, the Board felt”.

Held: That there iz in the evidence abundant proof that those who
directed the affairs of the appellant had a dual or alternative intention.

2. That the evidence establishes that what might previously have been
regarded as a secondary alternative intent to sell the property had
become a preferred alternative by April 1960.

3. That the financial set-up of the appellant had the earmarks of a pro-
motional and profit-making scheme,

4. That the acquisition, development and sale of the property in question

was an adventure mn the nature of trade, the President of the Company
91541—1
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1965 acknowledging that because of the district in which the shopping
KIL:';R'NEY centre was to be located, and since, at the beginning they were not
PROPERTIES sure of obtaning tenants for the various units of the shoppmg centre,

Lmp. the project was a speculative one and this was not the first time that
M v. the prime movers 1n the enterprise ever engaged 1n a similar project.
1\111:;?;‘1?;31? 5. That the appellant has failled to adduce any convincing evidence in
REVENUE support of its allegation that it was because 1t was mmpossible to

i procure & conventional mortgage that the appellant found it neces-
sary to sell the shopping centre and there is cogent evidence to the
contrary.

6. That the only logical conclusion to be drawn from the evidence is that
the directors and shareholders of the appellant, far from intending
to keep the shopping centre as an investment, were anxious to sell it
and thus realize over a 33 per cent profit on their investment.

7. That this case is exceptional because it is one of the very rare cases
wherein there 1s an admission by the taxpayer of an alternative intent
to sell.

8. That the appeal is dismissed.
APPEAL under the Income Tax Act.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Kearney at Edmonton.

G. Edward Trott for appellant.
Howard L. Irving and G. F. Jones for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

KeArNEY J. now (February 22, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

This action concerns a profit of $10,957.25 realized by the
appellant in its taxation year 1961 on the sale, early in 1961,
of a shopping centre which it had caused to be erected on a
site consisting of two adjacent parcels of land situated on
97th Street and 129B Avenue in the City of Edmonton,
which it had acquired in 1959.

It is submitted on behalf of the appellant that the afore-
said profit was not taxable income but a capital gain, since
the site was acquired for the purpose of building a shopping
centre which the appellant intended to retain as an invest-
ment from which good revenue could be derived. It was
only when it became evident that a conventional mortgage
loan could not be acquired to replace the then existing con-
struction mortgage and after it discovered that excessive
maintenance costs would be encountered due to faulty con-
struction that it was decided to accept an offer of sale.
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According to the respondent, the appellant acquired the Eff

said land in the course of business, or as a trading venture, grgrl;gmv;g
with a view to turning it to account at a profit. The acquisi- ~ L.
tion of the site, the construction of the shopping centre NN R OF
thereon and its subsequent sale resulted in a profit of Narrowan
$10,057.25, which was income from such business or an BFEVENUE
adventure in the nature of trade within the meaning of Keameyl.
ss. 3, 4 and paragraph (e) of s-s. (1) of s. 139 of the Income

Tax Act, R.S.C. 1952, c. 148.

The parties agreed that the amount in issue and the facts
leading up to the realization of the aforesaid $10,957.25 are
not in dispute.

The only witness heard was Mr. William J. Martenson,
who was called on behalf of the appellant. Counsel for the
respondent, apart from his cross-examination of the witness,
also examined the witness for discovery and read into the
record certain questions and answers from the discovery
proceeding. In his examination in chief, Mr. Martenson
testified that he was a land developer, that he held a degree
in Mechanical Engineering and that in 1959, when he
became President of the appellant company, he also held
the position of Sales Manager for Imperial Real Estate
Limited. Prior to entering into the aforesaid business he had
been engaged in oil field work with Schlumberger of Canada.

He was successful in having thirteen {friends and
associates join him in acquiring the aforesaid site with the
intention of construeting thereon a shopping centre as an
investment. On June 9, 1959, the appellant company was
incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta.

On June 30, 1959, Killarney Properties Limited (herein-
after called Killarney Ltd.) acquired, for the sum of $1
and other good and valuable consideration, from Kisbey
Properties Limited (hereinafter called Kisbey Ltd.), with
the exception of the westerly thirty-one feet throughout
Lots Twenty-one (21) to Twenty-four (24), inclusive, in
Block Twenty-four (24), in the City of Edmonton (Ex. 2),
but, according to an affidavit of G. Edward Trott, agent,
for Killarney Ltd., attached to the deed, the true considera-
tion paid by the transferee amounted to $20,000. Kisbey
Ltd. had acquired the said property from the City of
Edmonton.

On September 4, 1959, as appears by Exhibit 3, the City
of Edmonton, in consideration of $3,500 paid to it by

91541—13%
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Kisbey Ltd. and Killarney Ltd. (the said Kisbey Ltd.
having assigned its interest to the said Killarney Ltd. by
assignment dated July 16, 1959), transferred to Killarney
Ltd. an adjoining piece of property described as Lot 20
of Block 24. Attached to the deed is an affidavit of the
aforesaid agent of Killarney Ltd. in which he declares
that the present value of the land, in his opinion, amounted
to $10,000. Asked how did Killarney Ltd. happen to be
receiving transfer of Lot 20 from the City of Edmonton,
he replied: “Lot 20 was adjacent to the other lands and
so Killarney undertook to buy.”

The witness filed as Exhibit 4 a list giving the names and
occupations of his friends and associates who became share-
holders of the Company, together with their respective
shareholdings; it showed 110 shares. The first name on the
list is his own. He owned three shares and his loan to
the Company amounted to $600. The last name on the list
is Kisbey Ltd.; the latter held twenty shares.

Kisbey Ltd. was not only the largest shareholder but
also the largest lender, and its loan amounted to $11,798.

The witness stated that before Kisbey Ltd. sold the
land to Killarney Ltd. it had not taken any steps toward
construction of a shopping centre, nor had it arranged
for any leases, but it had consulted architects.

Q. Who arranged for these shareholders of Killarney to put money
into the company?

A. Myself.
Q. What was done with this money?
A. It was used to pay for the land.

The anticipated yield, based on the net return on the
project before depreciation and on the cash invested,
which amounted to $30,000, would rise to 56 per cent
when the mortgage had been retired, which, it was esti-
mated, would be in ten years time. In the opinion of the
witness, such return was much higher than normally found
in most revenue properties due, to a large extent, to the
increase in the value of the land as a result of develop-
ment. After selling the property in 1961 for $150,000—of
which $133,000 was paid in cash and $17,000 in the form
of a second mortgage—, a cash balance of close to $30,000
remained in the treasury and the Company, the witness
said, re-invested it in an office-and-retail-type development
of a larger size, in Edmonton, being handled by the group
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of which Killarney was a part. Returning to the history
of the shopping centre, Mr. Martenson stated that the
building contract was given to the lowest bidder, Prince
Construction Company Limited, for an amount of $78,000
(Ex. 5).

Construction began in September 1959 and it was an-
ticipated that the building would be’ completed in six or
eight weeks, which would be in late October or November,
but it was near Christmas when the tenants were able to
move in and the shopping centre was not completely fin-
ished until February 1960. The work was carried out much
more slowly than most contracts of the same nature. The
contractor, without the consent of the Company, made
many changes at the request of tenants with respect to
leasehold improvements. This led to difficulty in negotiat-
ing a settlement with the tenants, but, finally, under threat
of legal action against them, ‘“the contractor settled rather
than face this thing in Court.”

The shopping centre was completely leased in March 1960.

Messrs. Walden and Gourlay, both directors of Kil-
larney Ltd., were in receipt of modest salaries for looking
after collection of rents and dealings with the tenants.

No mortgage money had been arranged for until
after the construction contract had been allotted. Un-
successful efforts had been made to secure a loan from
regular life insurance companies at interest rates of 7 to
7% per cent with no bonus, and an interim construction
type of mortgage was obtained on September 11, 1959
from First Investors Corporation Limited for $90,000 at
7 per cent and a $10,000 bonus, the due date of which was
November 1, 1961 (Ex. 6).

The witness stated that the following offers to purchase
were received. On August 6, 1959, Vergil Chambers, of
Edmonton, offered, through his solicitors, to purchase the
shopping centre for $130,000, payable $40,000 cash and a
mortgage for $90,000, amortized over ten years, with inter-
est at 7 per cent (Ex. 7). The Company, by letter, refused
the offer and informed the purchaser that, at the price
and on the conditions mentioned, there was no possibility
of a sale. The letter went on to say: “The only thing we
could suggest is that Mr. Chambers offer to purchase all
the outstanding shares in Killarney Properties Ltd. for
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$40,000. If all the shareholders agree to this he would then
take over the company as is.” (Ex. 8).

Mr. Martenson stated that the property was never listed
for sale with any real estate agent and added that he was

Mmvister oF interested, from an agent’s point of view, in having the

ReveENvuE

Kearney J.

property for sale and earning a commission, but that his
request to obtain the listing was rejected by the directors
as a whole.

On June 1, 1960, an offer was received from Nielsen In-
vestment Ltd. for $155,000, payable $15,000 cash, plus an
equity in a certain piece of property, and the balance,
amounting to $98,000, payable $1,000 per month, with
interest at 7 per cent (Ex. 9). The aforesaid offer was
rejected.

On December 20, 1960, an offer was received from George
Mah, which, the witness said, resulted in the ultimate sale
of the property. The price was $137,500, payable $4,000
cash, an additional $45,000 payable on the possession date,
$84,000 by way of mortgage—to be arranged by the pur-
chaser—and $4,500 by a second mortgage to Killarney
Ltd. as vendor (Ex. 10). The offer was refused, but on
January 17, 1961, Mr. Mah, through his attorneys, made
a second offer (Ex. 11) amounting to $150,000, payable
$133,000 in cash and $17,000 by way of second mortgages
payable over a period of ten years at seven and one-half
per cent interest. The offer contained the following
condition:

This offer is subject to the confirmation by North American Life that
they will grant a mortgage to Mr. Mah on the above referred property

in the sum of $85,000. All adjustments will be as at the date of possession
and the date of possession is set at February 1st, 1961.

The offer was accepted.

The Company paid to the agent, Melton Real Estate Co.,
which handled the transaction, $1,000 as commission. The
regular tariff, the witness said, would amount to $6,500.
Mr. Martenson stated that, at the date of purchase, the
First Investors mortgage was not discharged because the
Company was unable to obtain, to repay it, a conventional
mortgage from another source. Mr. Mah arranged a new
mortgage and retired the existing mortgage. Asked what
considerations influenced the directors in deciding to sell,
the witness replied:

They were concerned by that time that they had been unable to
arrange a mortgage to pay this First Investors mortgage which was due
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that same year. This was a large debt which was about to mature, and many
attempts had been made to obtain a long-term mortgage through a con-
ventional company at conventional rates of 7 or 74 per cent, and we had
been unsuccessful, so this was a consideration from the point of view of
servicng this debt. There was also the consideration that the tenanis still
were faurly unhappy, and we had not solved all our problems with them by
this time, and this was a frustrating thing for the property manager, and
the directors. A third factor was also that the building was not well built
and there were a series of problems, none really large in themselves, but
many in number and quite irritating, things like doors not closing properly,
sidewalks in front falling away from the building and that type of thing,
50 this was a consideration also that there might be extensive maintenance
problems in the future that would not only cost money but further create
tenant and landlord problems. And I think a fourth factor is that this
was the first building or development ever undertaken by this group and
they were quite inexperienced, and most problems probably loomed much
larger than they would appear to a developer who was experienced in this
sort of thing, and this was definitely another factor in influencing the
directors to accept this offer.

The witness stated that, in the fall of 1960, he contacted
at least five mortgage companies and that other directors
contacted at least another five. None of the companies
showed any interest except North American Life Assurance
Co. John Klink, the manager of that firm, agreed in prin-
ciple to the idea but he had exhausted his quota of funds
and could give no assurance that the Company would get
any conventional mortgage funds in the future through his
firm. The witness added that, in fact, North American Life
Assurance Company eventually did grant a mortgage.

In cross-examination, counsel for the respondent elicited
the following information from Mr. Martenson. This was
not the first business venture that he and a number of
associates had entered into. He and a number of them, in
1959, bought substantial acreage, sold enough to pay back
the cost and held the balance.

About 105 shares of the Company were issued and the
price paid was one cent a share. Apart from Kisbey, which
wag the original owner of the property, the amounts ad-
vanced as loans by other shareholders amounted to about
$17,000, and, together with the price of their equity stock,
their investment in the Company totalled about $18,000.

The witness was asked to file a copy of minutes of a
directors’ meeting of the Company dated July 6, 1959
(Ex. A), which sets out the Memorandum of Association;

I shall comment upon it later.
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1965 The witness agreed that the construction was started in

—
Kmarney September 1959 and that prior to this the Company had
PROPERTIES

L., already received the Vergil Chambers offer of August 9.

Mxmg'mn or The witness was asked to file as Exhibit B an extract from

Namonar,  the minutes of the meeting which considered the said offer;
VENUR  this extract reads in part as follows:

Kearney J. On motion duly made and unanimously passed it was resolved that
solicitors for the company should write to solicitors for Vergil Chambers
and advise him that the only offer we can consider at the present time is
one to acquire all the shares in Killarney Properties Ltd. with the under~
standing that the leasing commissions have been paid in full and the
architects fees will be paid in full. All other benefits, rights and obligations
would be assumed by Mr. Chambers. (I will not read the last two para~
graphs, my Lord.)

The witness was asked

Q. So that the directors on this 9th day of August, 1959 are already
giving consideration to under what conditions that the property
might be sold?

A. Yes.

The witness agreed that construction was started in
September 1959 and that, prior to this, the Company had
already received the Vergil Chambers offer of August 9.
In reference to the construction mortgage the Company
received only $80,000 in mortgage money because of having
to pay a $10,000 bonus. The witness agreed that the or-
dinary mortgage company which grants a conventional
mortgage does not require a bonus of this type. The witness
was asked to produce a copy of a meeting of directors of
April 4, 1960, held following the completion of the build-
ing (Ex. C), an extract from which reads thus:

2. Mr. Martenson reported that except for some minor deficiencies
the building was complete. One unit remains unleased but three applica~

tions are in hand from prospective tenants. The building will be fully
leased by May 1, 1960.

8. Mr. Walden reported that all tenants had paid their rents accord-
ing to schedule and that all bills had been paid, except those relating to
the balance of construction, $3,750 has been paid on the mortgage.

4. A letter from Prince Construction Company Ltd. re final settle-
ment was studied. The final price is to be $95,000. Alternatives of financing
were discussed by the Board and it was decided to approach the mortgagor
to obtain additional funds to pay the contractor. Mr. Walden to attend to
the details.

5. It was decided that a sign would not be erected on the building at
this time.
£ % %
7. Future plans of the company in connection with the shopping centre
revolved around selling the property. A price of $160,000 would be
acceptable, the Board felt.
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The witness agreed that once the leases were completed the
Company planned to apply for what is called “a conven-
tional mortgage”, as it then would be in a position to show
a mortgage company the rental income that could be ob-
tained.

Mr. Martenson declared that, in the latter part of 1960,
he contacted, among five others, Mr. Klink of North Amer-
ican Life Assurance Company, who informed him that the
shopping centre was a development on which the Insurance
Company conceivably would grant a mortgage but that his
allotment, at that time, had been expended.

After reminding the witness that the last paragraph of
Mr. Mah’s offer of January 17, 1961, states:

This offer is subject to the confirmation by North American Life that
they will grant a mortgage to Mr. Mah on the above reference to property
in the sum of $85,000. .
counsel for the respondent asked the following questions
and received these answers:

Q. And with this offer you knew that the offer was contingent upon
North American Life loaning the money? The company knew that?

A. Yes.

Q. And did the company then, in looking for mortgage money, go to
North American Life or Mr. Klink and say—“Now, you have some
money, will you loan it to us?”’

No.
. You didn’t?
No.

. Nor after January 17th, 1961, did the company approach any other
mortgage institution in order to borrow money for this purpose?

No.

. Now, Mr. Martenson, the offer to purchase from Mr. Mah, the
first one which I think was Exhibit No. 10, that is Mah’s earlier
offer dated December 20th, 1960, and this offer came to you
through Melton’s Real Estate?

Yes.
. And by a man called Pat Turner?
Yes.

. You were at this time the commercial manager of Imperial
Realtors?

A. Yes.

An offer for the property in the amount of $155,000,
dated June 1, 1960, whereof $42,000 was to be paid by a
transfer of the purchaser’s equity in another property, was
declined. The Company likewise declined an offer of
$137,000, dated December 20, 1960, by George Mah who,
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36_5, on January 17, 1961, made a new offer of $150,000, of which
Kunrarney $133,000 was payable in cash, and which the Company

And Mr. Turner had a similar position with Meltons?
Yes.

. And you were close friends?

Yes.

. Your office buildings were for all practical purposes next door?

Yes.

And you visited and had coffee together and you discussed various
things intimately over all the time we are concerned with?

. We discussed things, yes.

PROPERTIES

L.  accepted.

v. Q

MINISTER OF g

NATIONAL A,

REvENUR Q

KeaEy J. A

— Q

A.

Q.

A

Q

Ly

A,
Q.

A,

. And the letter and the offer from Mah of December 20th came

as no surprise to you. Pat Turner, the Melton man, talked to you
about it prior to the offer being made, did he not?

Yes.

. And in between the first offer that Mr. Mah made of December 20th,

1960 and the second offer of January 17th, 1961, you and Pat Turner
negotiated further in respect of this?

We said merely what we wanted. We didn’t make a counter-offer.

In other words you and Turner discussed this matter over quite
sometime?

We did discuss it, yes.

On re-examination by his own counsel, he was asked who,
among the members of the Company, including the witness,

were
1959.

Q.
A

interested in land development companies prior to
The witness replied:

Some of the members were with me in Kisbey Properties
Limited and some were with me in the development of a Golf and
Country club.

. Who were they?
. I probably can’t tell you without referring to the shareholder list.

Those that had shares in each were myself, Mr., Walden, Mr.
Sawatzky, Mr. Gillmore, and I believe that is all.

Was Mr. Black in Kisbey?
Yes.

After indicating to the witness that the cost of the shop-
ping centre was $95,000, which is $17,000 in excess of the
contract price, counsel for the appellant put the following
question:

A.

How did the company obtain the funds on which to pay the
contract?

These funds were obtained primarily from the mortgage we received
and the balance from the bank loan.

(I might here observe that reference to the bank-loan ap-
pears on Exhibit 1, where a caveat which was placed on the
property by the Bank of Nova Scotia is shown.)



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965] 191

Q. Now, Mr. Martenson, for the period with which we are concerned, 1965
Mr. Martenson, you were President of Killarney Properties Limited KIL‘L ARNEY

and also a real estate salesman? ProPERTIES
A, Yes. LTD'
Q. Now, which were you during the discussions with Mr. Turner MINISTER oF
that you spoke about to my learned friend? %}*ﬂ%ﬁ“{g

A. I was both. I was wearing two hats at the time in that I repre- -
sented both a real estate agency and the company that owned the Kearney J.
property. —_—

The following is an extract from the questions and
answers given by Mr. Martenson on examination for dis-
covery read into the record by counsel for the respondent:

117. Q. Was the amount of the bonus partly because of the location of the
shopping centre in that perhaps it was somewhat of a speculative
investment in comparison to perhaps others?

A, Partly because it is speculative, yes, in that all the leases were
not acquired at that time and partly because of the shorter
duration their overhead or handling costs, or what have you,
have to be amortized over a shorter period of time.

273. Q. Now I notice, sir, that in the paragraph immediately above the

adjournment paragraph that last sentence reads, “The directors

felt the company is best suited to invest in real estate and that
the company should try to increase its assets by fifty percent
per year.”

Yes.

And the increase in assets at fifty per cent per year would be by
carrying on business?

Yes.

And T presume that this would involve buying and selling?

. It would, it could involve buying and selling or straight develop-
ment work.

274.

275.

e L

277. Q. So that it was then the company’s view that in order to achieve
a fifty per cent increase in assets per year the best way to do
it was by development of real estate?

A. Yes.

278. Q. And the real estate, upon development would either be retained
by the appellant company or sold, whichever seemed more
favourable?

A, Yes.

279. Q. And this, I presume, has at all times been the intention, if a

company has an intention, of the appellant.
A, What would be the intention?
280. Q. Of attempting to increase its assets as fast as possible in the

way we have described?
A. Yes.

In support of the appellant’s claim, his counsel submitted
that, in the early days of the Company, there was no intent
on the part of its directors and shareholders to sell the
property and that the compelling reason which led them
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1965 {0 do so, instead of retaining it as an investment, was be-

m;ﬁg cause they encountered what he described as a “big
Lw. stumbling block”. The said obstacle rested on the allega-
Mt o tion that the Company, despite repeated efforts by its di-
Naronan rectors, was unable to obtain a conventional mortgage to
REvENUE  poplace the $90,000 construction mortgage negotiated with
Kearney J. First Investors Corporation Limited and which fell due

" on November 1, 1961.

In my opinion, there is to be found, in the evidence
previously referred to, abundant proof that those who
directed the affairs of the Company had a dual or alterna-
tive intention.

As appears by questions and answers Nos. 173, 277
and 278 supra, Martenson, on discovery, testified that the
Company, by real estate development, would try to in-
crease its assets by 50 per cent per annum, and, thereupon,
to either retain the project so developed or sell it—which-
ever seemed more favourable.

The Company, it may be recalled, was incorporated in
June 1959 and the first offer for the property of $130,000
was made by Mr. Chambers on August 6, 1959 (Ex. 7),
whereupon the Company, on August 10 (Ex. 8), while
declaring that the offer was unacceptable, showed its inter-
est in selling the property by informing the intended pur-
chaser that, subject to ratifieation by the shareholders, it
would be interested, if the said purchaser would make an
offer, to buy all the outstanding shares in “Killarney
Properties Limited for $40,000”.

The above occurrence took place less than a month after
the Company had signed the building contract (Ex. 5) and
a month before any construction had commenced or the
construction mortgage with First Investors Corporation Ltd.
had been signed (Ex. 6). Mr. Martenson’s testimony dis-
closes that, in February 1960, the shopping centre was
nominally completed and lessees were in occupation.

The minutes of the director’s meeting of the Company
held on April 4, 1960 (Ex. D) provide another piece of re-
vealing evidence of intent to sell. The said meeting began
with a most encouraging statement made by the Secretary,
Mr. Walden, who reported that the one remaining vacant
unit in the shopping centre would be occupied by May 1;
that all tenants had paid their rents on schedule; that all
bills, except those relating to the balance of construction
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cost, had been paid; and that the final price for construction 198
was to be $95,000. After discussing alternative methods Kmrarney
of financing, it was decided to approach The First Investors mef;?ms
Corporation Ltd. to obtain additional funds to pay the con- .

. INISTER OF
tractor, and Mr. Walden was instructed to attend to the ~Narrowaw
details. The evidence does not disclose whether such ap- woR

proach had been made. Kearney J.

The meeting concluded with the following declaration of
intent:

Future plans of the Company in connection with the shopping centre
revolved around selling the property. A price of $160,000 would be
acceptable, the Board felt.

The foregoing evidence, in my opinion, establishes that
what might, previously, have been regarded as a secondary
alternative intent to sell the property had now become a
preferred alternative. Indeed it would hardly be over-
statement to say that the intent to sell had become a
determination to do so.

The financial set-up of the Company, in my opinion, had
the earmarks of a promotional and profit-making scheme
entered into more particularly by Mr. Martenson and three
or four close associates, who through Kisbey Ltd., in which
they were shareholders, held a controlling interest in
Killarney Properties Ltd. The capital-stock of the Company
consisted of 30,000 n.p.v. shares, which could be issued for
such consideration as the directors might determine, but
not to exceed $1 a share. All the issued shares of the Com-
pany were acquired by its original shareholders for 1 cent
a share and they were entitled to obtain further shares,
at the same price, up to some 11,000 shares, to be appor-
tioned among the shareholders according to the amount
of money they lent to the Company, which totalled ap-
proximately $30,000. In other words, the shareholders
practically received their equity-holdings in the Company
as a bonus for the money which they loaned to the
Company.

Before passing on to consideration of the main items of
defence, I might here comment on the speculative nature
of the undertaking and the background of the prime movers
of the venture.

The president of the Company acknowledged that be-
cause of the district in which the shopping centre was to
be located, and since, at the beginning, they were not sure
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of obtaining tenants for the various units of the shopping
centre, the project was a speculative one. We are not here
dealing with a case in which it was the first time that the
prime movers of the enterprise ever engaged in a similar
project. They had previously organized and developed
Kisbey Ltd. from which the instant property had been
purchased and an unnamed golf club.

In my opinion, the acquisition, development and sale
of the instant property was a further adventure in the
nature of trade.

Now, with respect to the main defence, viz., that it was
because it was impossible to procure a conventional
mortgage that the Company was left with little or no al-
ternative but to dispose of the shopping centre, in my
opinion, the appellant has failed to adduce any convincing
evidence in support of this submission and there is cogent
proof in the record to the contrary. It was only in Novem-
ber 1960 that the president and some of his associates
endeavoured, without success, to obtain a conventional
mortgage, and, at this time, the president was informed
that, for the fact that North American Life Insurance Co.
had used up their quota for the year, they would have been
prepared to grant a mortgage. After the turn of the year,
the president of the Company admitted that he had not
approached the aforesaid Insurance Company notwith-
standing that he was well aware that Mr. Mah was nego-
tiating with the same Insurance Company for an $85,000
construction loan and that the latter’s offer to purchase the
property in issue for $150,000, dated January 17, 1961, was
made conditional upon the Insurance Company granting
the said loan.

I consider that the only logical conclusion to be drawn
from the aforesaid evidence is that the directors and the
shareholders of the Company, far from intending to keep the
shopping centre as an investment, were anxious to sell it
and thus realize over a 33 per cent profit on their invest-
ment.

Counsel for the appellant raised other arguments, such as:
trouble of an irritating nature with tenants; some evidence
of defective workmanship; doors not closing properly; and
the like. Mr. Martenson, in his evidence, said that such
troubles, although they would appear large to some inex-
perienced shareholders, to a man like himself they did not
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mean much, but that they were, however, a factor in in- Esj

fluencing the directors to acecept Mr. Mah’s offer. However, Knrarney
e . . . . PropPERTIES
I regard these irritations as being of minor importance and ~ 1.

as having little probative value. MNIomR oF

Mention of the fact was made that the very first object NartonaL
of the Company, as inscribed in its Memorandum of ik
Association, was to acquire the site in issue to construct a XeareyJ.
shopping centre thereon and to lease the stores contained

therein.

I place little stock in the above described point, because
also included in the said objects were, inter alia:

(¢) To carry on business as investors, brokers and agents and to
undertake and carry on and execute all kinds of financial, com-~
mercial, trading and other operations which may seem to be
capable of being conveniently carried on or in connection with any
of these objects or calculated directly or indirectly to enhance the
value of or facihtate the realization of or render profitable any
of the Company’s property or rights.

(k) To establish, promote and otherwise assist any company or com-
panies for the purpose of furthering any of the objects of this
Company.

{(m) To sell or dispose of the undertaking of the Company or any part
thereof for such consideration as the Company may think fit and
in particular for shares, debentures, or securities of any other
Company wheresoever incorporated having objects altogether or
in part similar to those of this Company and to distribute any of
the property of the Company among the members in specie.

It was alleged that the Company did not hire a real estate
agent nor advertise the property for sale. The president was
himself a real estate agent who was anxious to earn a fee
upon the sale of the Company, which fee, it was said,
would have amounted to over $6,000, but instead of paying
anything to Martenson, the Company paid $1,000 to Mr.
P. Turner, who was supposed to be the agent of the pur-
chaser, Mr. Mah. I am unable to accept the submission of
counsel for the appellant that, although, perhaps, not im-
portant in themselves, the cumulative effects of the above-
mentioned occurrences are sufficient to establish that the
appellant was not engaged in any adventure in the nature
of trade and did not intend to turn the property to account
but to retain it as an investment.

The present instance was not the first occasion that he
had entered into an undertaking of a similar nature and
the evidence disclosed that Mr. Martenson and three or four
others, at his instigation, had joined him as associates on at
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195 least two other occasions in undertakings similar to the

Kuuarney instant one, and there is no evidence whether or not the
meﬁﬁ?ms same can be said with regard to other shareholders of the
v.
MINISTER OF Compan?r. . . ]
Namovat T consider that the present case is exceptional because it

Ravenee s one of the very rare cases—see also the judgment of No€l

Keamey J. J in The Minister of National Revenue v. Clifton Lane'—
wherein there is an admission by the taxpayer of an
alternative intent to sell. Such direct evidence does not
appear in Regal Heights Ltd. v. Minister of National
Revenue?®; nevertheless, as noted by counsel for the
respondent, the taxpayer was found liable and the Court
inferred from the surrounding circumstances that sensible
businessmen, if they were unable to develop the property
as they hoped to do, could and would re-sell it at some gain
to themselves.

Counsel for the appellant placed a great deal of reliance
on Dorwin Shopping Centre v. Minister of National
Revenue?, a judgment of Cattanach J. in which it was held
that the taxpayer was not liable for tax. In my opinion, the
Dorwin case is readily distinguishable upon its particular
facts. The preponderance of evidence confirmed the sworn
statements (albeit self-serving) of the directors that the
Company did not intend to turn the property to account by
re-sale, and, unlike in the instant case, there was no admis-
sion of a preferred or alternative intention to do so.

Furthermore, in contrast to the case at bar, wherein it is
clear that the directors knew where a conventional mort-
gage could have been had but refused or neglected to obtain
it, the directors of the Dorwin Co. had reasonable expecta-
tions of obtaining from an Insurance Company sufficient
mortgage money to complete their building project, but
despite their best efforts they were unsuccessful in obtain-
ing it, with the result that the Company’s plans were
frustrated.

For the foregoing reasons, I consider that the present
appeal must be dismissed with taxable costs in favour of
the respondent.

1119641 Ex. CR. 866; [1964]1 C.T.C. 81 al 87.
2119601 S.C.R. 907. 319641 Ex. C.R. 234.
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BETWEEN ;

RADIO CORPORATION OF AMERICA ....PLAINTIFF;
AND

PHILCO CORPORATION (DELAWARE) ..DEFENDANT.

Patents—Conflict proceeding—Jurisdiction of the Exchequer Court—Limita~
tion on scope of conflict proceeding—Review of provisions of the
Patent Act—Patent Act, RS C. 1952, c. 203, ss. 10, 28, 29, 42, 48, 46
48 and 63—Ezxchequer Court Act RS.C. 1952, c. 98, ss. 18(1)(c) and 21.

This is an application by the defendant for an order striking out certain
parts of the Statement of Claim in the action which was commenced
following the decision of the Commissioner of Patents with respect to
certain claims in conflict between the respective applications of the
parties hereto for patents for inventions relating to colour television.

The issue to be decided is whether or not the proceeding instituted in this

Court must be confined to the claims in conflict before the Commis-~

gioner of Patents.

Held: That s. 21 of the Exchequer Court Act confers jurisdiction on the
Court where a right to relief exists, in the classes of cases therein
defined, by virtue of some other statutory provision, at common law
or in equity, but it does not create a right to relief as well as confer
jurisdiction on the Court.

2. That the Court has jurisdiction, in addition to that conferred by s. 21
of the Ezchequer Court Act, wherever some statutory provision
expressly imposes on the Court a duty to hear and determine some
claim for relief in classes of cases not covered by s. 21.

3. That no right to obtain relief from a Court in respect to applications
for patents of invention exists except where such right has been con-
ferred expressly or impliedly by the Patent Act.

4. That proceedings under s. 45(8) of the Patent Act are restricted to a
determination of the respective rights of the parties in respect of the
subject matter of the claims put in conflict by the Commissioner of
Patents.

5. That the paragraph in the Statement of Claim which is an attempt by
the plaintiff to set up a contention that neither the plaintiff nor the
defendant is entitled to a patent in respect of certain of the claims
in conflict by virtue of the applications that have been put in conflict
inasmuch as the subject matter of such claims was invented by a third
person who has assigned his rights to the plaintiff should not be
struck. out.

6. That an order will go that, infer alia, certain paragraphs of the State-
ment of Claim be struck out.

APPLICATION to strike out parts of the Statement of
Claim.

The application was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Jackett, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

R. 8. Smart for plaintiff.

David Watson for defendant.
915412
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JackrrT P. now (February 23, 1965) delivered the follow-
ing decision:

This is an application by the defendant for an order
striking out certain parts of the Statement of Claim. It
raises important questions as to the ambit of relief that is
available in an action in this Court following upon proceed-
ings before the Commissioner of Patents concerning con-
flicting claims in respect of an invention.

As a background to considering the matters that have to
be decided, it seems desirable to consider at some length
the various provisions of the Patent Act, R.S.C. 1952, chap-
ter 203, as amended, which indicate the general outline
of the statutory scheme contained in that statute for creat-
ing and enforcing exclusive rights in respect of inventions
as well as the provisions which relate particularly to con-
flicts between the claims of two or more persons to or in
respect of the same invention.

The provisions which indicate the main features of the
statutory scheme for creating and enforcing exclusive rights
in respect of inventions are the following:

10. All specifications, drawings, models, disclaimers, judgments, returns,
and other papers, except caveats, and except those filed in connection
with applications for patents that are still pending or have been abandoned
shall be open to the inspection of the public at the Patent Office, under
such regulations as are adopted in that behalf.

* % %

28. (1) Subject to the subsequent provisions of this section, any inven-
tor or legal representative of an inventor of an invention that was
(a) not known or used by any other person before he invented it,
(b) not described in any patent or in any publication printed in
Canada or in any other country more than two years before
presentation of the petition hereunder mentioned, and
(¢) not in public use or on sale in Canada for more than two years
prior to his application in Canada,
may, on presentation to the Commissioner of a petition setting forth the
facts (in this Act termed the filing of the application) and on compliance
with all other requirements of this Act, obtain a patent granting to hum
an exclusive property in such mvention.
*  * %

29. (1) An application for a patent for an invention filed in Canada
by any person entitled to protection under the terms of any treaty or
convention relatmg to patents to which Canada is a party who has, or
whose agent or other legal representative has, previously regularly filed an
application for a patent for the same mvention in any other country which
by treaty, convention or law affords sumilar privilege to citizens of Canada,
has the same force and effect as the same application would have if filed
m Canada on the date on which the application for patent for the same
invention was first filed m such other country, if the application in this
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country is filed within twelve months from the earliest date on which any
such applieation was filed in such other country or from the 13th day of
June, 1923.

(2) No patent shall be granted on an application for a patent for an
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invention that had been patented or described m a patent or publication (DELAWARE)

printed in Canada or any other country more than two years before the
date of the actual filing of the application in Canada, or had been in public
use or on sale in Canada for more than two years prior to such filing.

* ok K

35 The applicant shall, in his application for a patent, insert the title
or name of the invention, and shall, with the application, send in a
specification in duplicate of the invention and an additional or third copy
of the claim or claims.

36. (1) The applicant shall in the specification correctly and fully
deseribe the invention and 1ts operation or use as contemplated by the
inventor, and set forth clearly the various steps in a process, or the method
of constructing, making, compounding or using a machine, manufacture or
composition of matter, in such full, clear, concise and exact terms as to
enable any person skilled mn the art or science to which it appertains, or
with which 1t 18 most closely connected, to make, construct, compound or
use it; in the case of a machine he shall explam the principle thereof and
the best mode in which he has contemplated the application of that prin-
ciple; m the case of a process he shall explain the necessary sequence, if
any, of the various steps, so as to distinguish the invention from other
inventions; he shall particularly indicate and distinctly claim the part,
improvement or combination which he claims as his invention.

(2) The specification shall end with a claim or claims stating distinetly
and 1 expheit terms the things or combinations that the applicant regards
ag new and 1n which he claims an exclusive property or privilege.

O

37. On each application for a patent a careful exammation shall be
made by competent examiners to be employed m the Patent Office for that
purpose.

38. (1) A patent shall be granted for one invention only but in an
action or other proceeding a patent shall not be deemed to be invahd by
reason only that 1t has been granted for more than one invention.

* % %

42. Whenever the Commissioner 18 satisfied that the applicant 1s not
by law entitled to be granted a patent he shall refuse the application and,
by registered letter addressed to the applicant or his registered agent,
notify such appheant of such refusal and of the ground or reason therefor.

* k%

44 Every person who has failed to obtain a patent by reason of a
refusal or objection of the Commissioner to grant 1t may, at any time
within six months after nofice as provided for in secfions 42 and 43 has
been mailed, appeal from the decision of the Commissioner to the Excheq-
uer Court and that Court has exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine
such appeal.

x k% %

46. Every patent granted under this Act shall contain the title or name
of the mvention, with a reference to the specification, and shall, subject
to the conditions 1n this Act prescribed, grant to the patentee and lus legal
representatives for the term therein mentioned, from the granting of the
same, the exclusive right, privilege and liberty of making, constructing,

9154123

Jackett P.
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1965 using and vending to others to be used the said invention, subject to
Rabr o'C ORP adjudication in respect thereof before any court of competent jurisdiction.

OF AMERICA * x 0%

v. 55. (1) A patent is void if any material allegation in the petition of
PaLco Coee. the applicant in respect of such patent is untrue, or if the specification and
(DELAWARE). h . . .

- drawings contain more or less than is necessary for obtaining the end for
Jackett P, which they purport to be made, and such omission or addition is wilfully
-_ made for the purpose of misleading.
* % %

57. (1) Any person who infringes a patent is liable to the patentee and
to all persons claiming under him for all damages sustained by the patentee
or by any such person, by reason of such infringement.

CE

62. (1) A patent or any claim in a patent may be declared invalid or
void by the Exchequer Court at the instance of the Attorney General of
Canada or at the instance of any interested person.

The Commissioner’s authority to “refuse” an application
is limited to cases where he “is satisfied that the applicant
is not by law entitled to be granted a patent” (section 42).
Presumably, in other cases, the Commissioner is bound to
grant a patent. Patents will, therefore, be granted to per-
sons not entitled thereto in cases where the Commissioner
had not the necessary material on which to satisfy himself
that the applicant was not entitled and in cases where the
Commissioner, even though he had the material, did not
reach the correct conclusion. Section 46 takes account of
this situation when it provides that a patent shall grant
to the patentee the exclusive right in respect of the inven-
tion “subject to adjudication in respect thereof before any
court of competent jurisdietion”.

Having regard to the conditions of secrecy under which
an application for a patent is processed (section 10), it is
impossible for the Commissioner to take steps that he might
otherwise take to test the correctness of the applicant’s
contentions for the purpose of avoiding the issuance of
patents to persons not entitled thereto.

Two sources of information that are available to the Com-
missioner are patents that have been issued and co-pending
applications by other persons. This information makes
possible the following:

(1) if the invention claimed by an applicant was de-
scribed in a patent more than two years before the
applicant filed his application, the Commissioner can
refuse the application because it does not comply
with section 28(1)(b) which specifically requires
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that the invention in respect to which an application E’ﬁ

may be filed must be an invention that was ‘“not Rabo Core.
described in any patent . . . more than two years ** A.}f HRICA
before presentation of the petition”; Pavco Coge.

. ) . . ) (DELAWARE),
(2) if the invention claimed by an applicant was de- Jobon P
seribed in a patent granted at any time after the “

commencement of that two-year period (whether or
not the patent contains a claim for that invention)
or is described in a co-pending application, a question
will be raised in the Commissioner’s mind as to
whether some person other than the applicant is
the first inventor (if the Commissioner is satisfied
that some other person, and not the applicant, is the
first inventor, the applicant’s claim should be refused
for failing to satisfy the requirement in section
28(1) (a).)

Certain provisions of the Patent Act that are apparently
designed to enable the Commissioner to deal with at least
some of the cases of doubt as to who is the first inventor in
such a way as to avoid granting patents for the same inven-
tion to more than one person as he might otherwise be re-
quired to do by the provisions of the statute. These are:

43, Whenever it appears to the Commissioner that the invention to
which an application relates has been, before the filing of the application,
described in a patent granted in Canada or any other country, and such
application was filed within two years after the date on which such patent
was so granted and the Commissioner entertains doubts whether the
patentee of such invention is, as between him and the applicant, the first
inventor, the Commissioner shall, by registered letter addressed to the
applicant or his registered agent, object to grant a patent on such applica~
tion and state, with sufficient detail to enable the applicant, if he can, to
answer, the ground or reason for such objection; the applicant has the right,
within such period or extended period of time as the Commissioner may
allow, to answer such objection and if it is not in due course answered to
the satisfaction of the Commissioner he shall refuse the application.

* k%
45. (1) Conflict between two or more pending applications exists

(a) when each of them contains one or more claims defining substan-
tially the same invention, or

(b) when one or more claims of one application deseribe the invention

disclosed in the other application.

(2) When the Commissioner has before him two or more such applica-
tions he shall notify each of the applicants of the apparent conflict and
transmit to each of them a copy of the conflicting claims, together with a
copy of this section; the Commissioner shall give to each applicant the
opportunity of inserting the same or similar claims in his application within
a specified time,
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(3) Where each of two or more of such completed applications con-
tains one or more claims describing as new, and claims an exclusive prop-
erty or privilege 1n, things or combinations so nearly identical that, in the
opinion of the Commissioner, separate patents to different patentees should
not be granted, the Commissioner shall forthwith nofify each of the
applicants to that effect.

(4) Each of the applicants, within a time to be fixed by the Commis-
sioner, shall either avoid the conflict by the amendment or cancellation of
the conflicting claim or claims, or, if unable to make such claims owing to
knowledge of prior art, may submit to the Commissioner such prior art
allezed to anticipate the claims; thereupon each application shall be
re-examined with reference to such prior art, and the Commissioner shall
decide if the subject matter of such claims is patentable.

(5) Where the subject matter is found to be patentable and the con-
flicting claims are retained in the applications, the Commissioner shall
requre each applicant to file in the Patent Office, in a sealed envelope duly
endorsed, within a time specified by him, an affidavit of the record of the
invention; the affidavit shall declare:

(a) the date at which the idea of the invention described in the con-

flicting claims was conceived ;

(b) the date upon which the first drawing of the invention was made;

(¢) the date when and the mode in which the first written or verbal

disclosure of the invention was made; and

(d) the dates and nature of the successive steps subsequently taken

by the inventor to develop and perfect the said invention from
time to time up to the date of the filing of the application for
patent.

(6) No envelope contamning any such affidavit as aforesaid shall be
opened, nor shall the affidavit be permitted to be inspected, unless there
continues to be a conflict between two or more applicants, in which event
all the envelopes shall be opened at the same time by the Commissioner
in the presence of the Assistant Commissioner or an examiner as witness
thereto, and the date of such opening shall be endorsed upon the affidavits.

(7) The Commissioner, after examining the facts stated in the affidavits,
shall determine which of the applicants is the prior inventor to whom he
will allow the clamms in conflict and shall forward to each applicant a copy
of his decision; a copy of each affidavit shall be transmitted to the several
applicants.

(8) The claims in conflict shall be rejected or allowed accordingly
unless within a time to be fixed by the Commissioner and notified to the
severa]l applicants one of them commences proceedings 1n the Exchequer
Court for the determination of their respective rights, in which event the
‘Commissioner shall suspend further aclion on the applications in conflict
until 1 such action it has been determined either

(a) that there is in fact no conflict, between the claims in question,

(b) that none of the applicants is entitled to the issue of a patent
containing the claims in conflict as applied for by him,

(¢) that a patent or patents, including substitute claims approved by
the Court, may issue to one or more of the applicants, or

(d) that one of the applicants is entitled as against the others to the
issue of a patent including the claims in conflict as applied for by
him.
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(9) The Commissioner shall, upon the request of any of the parties 1965
to a proceeding under this section, transmit to the Exchequer Court the Ranto Corp
papers on file in the Patent Office relating to the applications in conflict. or AmErrca

* & % .

63. (1) No patent or claim in a patent shall be declared invalid or E’Séti%ggg:
void on the ground that, before the invention therein defined was made —
by the inventor by whom the patent was applied for, it had already been Jackett P.
known or used by some other person, unless it is established either that, —

(a) before the date of the application for the patent such other person

had disclosed or used the invention in such manner that 1t had
become available to the public, or that

(b) such other person had, before the issue of the patent, made an

application for patent mm Canada upon which conflict proceedings
should have been directed, or that

(¢) such other person had at any time made an application in Canada

which, by virtue of section 29, had the same force and effect as
if it had been filed in Canada before the issue of the patent and
upon which conflict proceedings should properly have been directed
had it been so filed.

(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 43, an application for a
patent for an invention for which a patent has already issued under this
Act shall be rejected unless the appheant, within a time to be fixed by the
Commissioner, commences an action to set aside the prior patent, so far
as it covers the invention in question, but if such action is so commenced
and diligently prosecuted, the apphcation shall not be deemed to have been
abandoned unless the applicant fails to proceed upon 1t within a reasonable
time after the action has been finally disposed of.

(3) Where the application was filed withm one year from the date of
the filing of the application for the prior patent, the provisions of subsec-
tion (1) do not apply to the determination of the respective rights of the

parties to such action.

In considering whether these provisions create a reason-
ably well coordinated scheme for dealing with conflicts, it is
important to bear in mind that

(a) the first inventor of an invention has, by virtue of

section 28, a prima facie right to a patent condi-
tioned upon his making application for a patent
within two years of his invention being described
in a patent or in some other publication or of his
invention being in public use or on sale in Canada,
whichever happened first;

(b) the first inventor’s prima facie right to a patent
under section 28 may, in some cases, be defeated by
a patent issued to a subsequent inventor before the
first inventor filed his application unless the first
inventor filed his application within one year from
the date of filing of the application for that patent
(see section 63); and
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(¢) an application may describe or disclose an invention
without making a claim for it and a patent may also
describe or disclose an invention without granting
an exclusive right in respect of that invention (com-
pare the language of section 28(1)(b), section 45(1)
and section 63(2)).

In an attempt to ascertain the effect of the conflict
provisions set out above and to understand the reason for
the differences between the different provisions, I propose
to consider them from the point of view of different classes
of conflicts between an application No. 1 (which will have
described or disclosed an invention with or without mak-
ing a claim therefor and which may or may not have
matured into a patent which may have granted exclusive
rights in respect of that invention or which may merely
have described or disclosed that invention) and an appli-
cation No. 2 for the same invention®.

The first class is the case where application No. 2 was
filed more than two years after application No. 1 matured
into a patent which described or disclosed the invention,
whether or not it contained claims for the invention.
No special conflict provisions are needed for this class of
conflict because application No. 2 is barred by virtue of
section 28(1) (b)2.

The second class is the case where application No. 2 is
an application for an invention which is described or dis-
closed in application No. 1 and is filed within the period
of two years commencing with the issue of a patent pur-
suant to application No. 1, or, by virtue of section 29, has
force and effect as though it were filed within that period.
(Hereafter, when I speak of an application filed during a
certain period or at a certain time, I include in my refer-
ence an application that has the force and effect of being
so filed by virtue of section 29.)

1 For convenience, I may, on occasion, refer to the respective applicants
ag applicant No 1 and applicant No. 2 and, if one of the applications
has matured mto a patent, I may refer to it as patent No. 1 or
patent No. 2, as the case may be.

2 Bections 28(1)(b) and 43 apply even where the disclosure is in a
patent granted 1n some other country and applies whether or not
there 18 a claim 1 the patent for the invention. I am restricting my
analysis to the effect of these provisions in relation to conflicts arising
under the Canadian statute. As far as Canadian patents are concerned,
section 63(2) precludes the application of section 43 where there is a
claim in the patent for the mvention.
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One subdivision of the second class is where the patent E’ff
issued pursuant to application No. 1 merely discloses or Ravro Coge.
describes, but does not contain a claim in respect of, the * Af,‘[ FRICA
invention, in which event the Commissioner must, if he P&%ﬁ%ﬁgﬁg-
recognizes the conflict, proceed under section 43 and give )
applicant No. 2 an opportunity to satisfy him that he is
the first inventor. If applicant No. 2 so satisfies the Com-
missioner or if the Commissioner does not recognize the
conflict, 2 patent may issue to applicant No. 2 and he will
then be the sole person, as between himself and applicant
No. 1, having the exclusive right to use the invention.

A second subdivision of the second class is where the
Commissioner recognizes that the patent issued pursuant
to application No. 1 contains a claim for the invention
claimed by application No. 2 as well as disclosing it. Sec-
tion 63(2) prevents the granting of application No. 2,
where the Commissioner recognizes such a conflict, unless
applicant No. 2 commences proceedings to set aside the
patent issued pursuant to application No. 1 and, presum-
ably, is successsful in setting that patent aside.

It would seem that, in proceedings commenced pursu-
ant to section 63(2) in a case where application No. 2 was
filed within the two year period commencing with the
issue of Patent No. 1 (my second class of conflicts):

(a) if application No. 2 was filed within one year of the
issue of Patent No. 1, he is, by virtue of section
63(3), not subject to the rule in section 63(1) and
may attack the validity of Patent No. 1 on the
ground that the inventor named therein is not the
first inventor; and

(b) if application No. 2 was filed during the second
year of the two year period commencing with the
issue of Patent No. 1, applicant No. 2 is subject to
the rule in section 63(1) and, as he obviously can-
not meet the requirements of paragraphs (b) or (c)
of section 63(1), because his application was filed,
or has force and effect as though it were filed, after
and not before the issue of Patent No. 1, he must
comply with paragraph (a) of section 63(1) by
showing that, before the date of application No. 1,
he had disclosed or used the invention in such

Jackett P.

1See footnote No. 2 on page 204.
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manner that it had become available to the public,
before he is entitled to attack the validity of Patent
No. 1 on the ground that the inventor named therein
is not the first inventor.

A third subdivision of the second class is where section
63(2) should have operated to prohibit the grant of a
patent pursuant to application No. 2 made after the date
of the patent issued pursuant to application No. 1 but did
not so operate because the Commissioner did not realize
that application No. 2 was for the same invention as that
for which there was a claim in the patent issued pursuant
to application No. 1. In such a case there may be two
patents for the same invention. If that happens, paragraph
(b) or (¢) of section 63(1) would not be available to
patentee No. 1 to enable him to attack Patent No. 2 on
the ground that he was the first inventor but paragraph
(a) of section 63(1) would be available to patentee No. 1
because his patent would have disclosed the invention in
such manner that it had become available to the public
when it was issued, and, therefore, before application No. 2
was filed. It is conceivable that patentee No. 2 might have
made a disclosure meeting the requirement of section
63(1) (a) before the date of application No. 1, but it does
not seem probable.

The third class is where application No. 1 and applica-
tion No. 2 were co-pending for some period of time, no
matter how short, before application No. 1 matured into
a patent which described or disclosed the invention,
whether or not that patent contained claims for the inven-
tion. This class breaks into two sub-classes. The first sub-
class is where the Commissioner recognizes the conflict
and puts the claims in conflict under section 45. If that
happens, the conflict is presumably resolved at one of the
stages contemplated by section 45. The second sub-class is
where the Commissioner does not recognize the conflict
and, for that reason, the conflict is not resolved in the
manner contemplated by that section.

Where two applications containing claims for the same
invention are pending at the same time (either in fact or,
by virtue of section 29, are deemed to have been) and
where the Commissioner does not recognize that there is
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a conflict, the result probably will be that two patents will E"ﬁf
issue to two different persons for the same invention. In Rabio Core.
such event, either patentee, by virtue of paragraph (b) or * A,l\,{. e
(¢) of subsection (1) of section 63, even if he ecannot satisfy fﬁémggg;’:
the requirements of paragraph (a) of that subsection, may

attack the validity of the other’s patent on the ground Jacke“P

that the attacker is the first inventor.

In this analysis of the scheme of the Patent Act in rela-
tion to conflicting claims, I have been attempting only to
appreciate the general scheme of the legislation and I must
not be taken to have expressed an opinion on any of the
questions that may arise as to the application of the various
provisions to specific problems.

However, while, for the purpose of my analysis, I have
assumed the correctness of the decision of this Court in
re Fry', 1 cannot refrain from saying that, if it were not for
that decision, I should have reached the opposite conclu-
sion. In that case, it was decided that the rule in section
63(2) is not applicable to “an application for a patent for
an invention for which a patent has already issued” unless
the patent had issued before the subsequent application
was filed. In other words, aceording to re Fry, section 63(2)
does not apply if the two applications were ever co-pending.
In my view, the subsection should be read as applying to
any application for an invention for which a patent has
already issued at the time that the Commissioner is having
to decide whether the application should “be rejected”.
Certainly, it would seem that the public interest would be
served if the Commissioner were required to apply the rule
in section 63(2) wherever he recognizes that there is an
existing patent for the invention claimed so as to avoid the
co-existence of two patents for the same invention wherever
possible. It was suggested to me in the course of argument
that, as section 43 was brought into operation only when an
application was filed after the issue of a patent describing
the invention to which the application relates, section
63(2), which refers to section 43, should be read subject to
a similar limitation. While the two sections, prima facie,
apply to overlapping situations, in my view, they deal with
quite different problems. Conceivably, after a patent issues
either in Canada or elsewhere, some person might “steal”

1119401 1 DL R. 361.
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Efff the invention described therein and make it the subject of
Rapio Core. an application for a patent. Section 43 deals with that pos-
or Aff "M% sibility which, by reason of section 28(1)(b) and the
fg;m(zggl)’: secrecy of patent matters ugtil .the patent i‘ssues, only

—— _ arises In connection with applications filed during the two
Jackett P. vear period after a patent issues, by empowering the Com-

missioner to put the applicant to the proof of his claim
that he is the prior inventor. Section 63(2) deals with quite
a different problem, that of avoiding, where possible, the
co-existence of two patents under the Patent Act for the
same invention. That sub-section prohibits the issue of a
patent for an invention for which a patent has already
issued under the Canadian Act until the prior patent has
been successfully attacked in the Courts. This rule obviously
applies to some of the cases to which section 43 applies and
it is expressed to apply notwithstanding that section. There
is no reason why the rule in section 63(2) should be re-
stricted to an application made after the patent was issued
and the subsection does not contain such a limitation ex-
pressly. The fact that section 43 contains such a limitation
expressly and that section 63(2) does not confirms me in
my view that it is not to be implied in section 63(2).

I come now to the proceedings that gave rise to the
present application.

On October 17, 1950, Clarence Weston Hansell filed an
application in respect of an invention for colour television
(No. 606,877). Hansell’s rights are now vested in the plain-
tiff. On December 29, 1950, Wilson P. Boothroyd and Edgar
M. Creamer, Jr., filed an application for an invention for
colour telvision (No. 609,764). Their rights are now vested
in the defendant. There are nineteen claims at the end of
the specification in the plaintiff’s application and there are
ninety claims at the end of the specification in the defend-
ant’s application. In September, 1961, the Commissioner
sent notices of apparent conflict to the applicants under sub-
section (2) of section 45 and, after going through the pro-
cedure contemplated by subsections (3) and (4), there
were twelve identical claims retained in the two applica-
tions, which claims had been given the numbers C1 to C12,
inclusive, for the purposes of section 45. On December 13,
1963, the Commissioner rendered his decision under sub-
section (7) of section 45 holding that, with reference to
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Claims C1 to C4, inclusive, C. W. Hansell in application 26_5,

No. 606,877 was the prior inventor in view of the date of Ranio Cose.
August 18, 1949, established by affidavits and exhibits and o A.,nf_ o
that, with reference to Claims C5 to C12 inclusive, W. P. fﬁ;ﬁiﬁg‘)’:
Boothroyd and E. M. Creamer, Jr.,, in application No. = —
609,764, were the prior inventors in view of the date of JaCkitt P.
March, 1949, established by affidavits and exhibits. By the
letters advising the parties of his decision, the Commis-
sioner also advised them “that, unless within three months
from this date action is taken in accordance with subsection
(8) of section 45 of the Patent Act . . . the prosecution will
be resumed having regard to the Commissioner’s decision
in respect of the conflicting claims of the above outline”.
By statement of claim filed on March 12, 1964, the plain-
tiff instituted proceedings against the defendant in this
Court seeking a declaration that Hansell and not Boothroyd
and Creamer was the first inventor of the patentable subject
matter of Claims C5 to C12 inclusive. In April, 1964, the
defendant filed a statement of defence and counter claim,
claiming, in effect, an adjudication that Boothroyd and
Creamer were the first inventors of all of Claims C1 to C12,
inclusive.

On November 23, 1964, the plaintiff made a minor amend-
ment to paragraph 9 of its statement of claim, which
amendment is not relevant in this application because the
defendant has not asked for any relief with regard thereto.
In addition, the plaintiff, on that day, amended its state-
ment of claim by adding new paragraphs 10 to 19, reading
as follows:

10. Claims C1 and C2 correspond respectively to claims 32 and 34 of
application 609,764; claims C3-C7 inclusive correspond to claims 36-40
respectively of application 609,764; claims C8, C9 and C10 correspond
respectively to claims 44, 45 and 46 of the said application; claim C11 corre-
sponds to claim 35 of the said application and claim C12 corresponds to
claim 90 of the said application. The said application also contains claims
numbered 1-31 inclusive, 33, 4143 inclusive, and 47-89 inclusive.

11. Conflict exists between applications 608,877 and 609,764 with respect
to claims 1-13 inclusive of application 609,764 by virtue of the disclosure
in application 608,877 of the subject matter of the said claims and the
plaintiff alleges and the fact is that as between the parties Clarence W.
Hansell and not W. P. Boothroyd and E. M. Creamer, Jr. is the prior
inventor of the subject matier of the said claims.

12. Claims 14-31 of application 609,764 are the same claims as claims 1-8
inclusive, 10-14 inclusive, and 16-20 inclusive of Canadian Patent 529,494
covering an invention of R. C. Ballard, of which the plaintiff is the owner.
Application 609,764 and application 604,461 which matured to Canadian
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1965 Patent 529,494 were copending in the Canadian Patent Office and conflict
RAD;EORP. proceedings should have been directed thereupon. The plaintiff alleges and
oF America the fact is that R. C. Ballard and not W. P. Boothroyd and E. M. Creamer,
Jr. wags the first inventor of the subject matter of the said claims and as
between the parties the defendant is not entitled to a patent containing the
o said claims,

Jackett P. 13. Conflict exists between application 609,764 and 608,877 in respect of
B claim 33 of application 609,764 by virtue of the disclosure in application
606,877 of the subject matter of the said claim. The plaintiff alleges and
the fact 18 that as between the parties C. W. Hansell and not W. P.
Boothroyd and E. W. Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject
matter of the said claim and the plaintiff and not the defendant is entitled

to the issue of a patent containing the said claim.

(References in the above paragraph to application 608,877
are apparently intended to be to application 606,877.)

14. Claims 54, 55, 57, 58, 60, 64, 65, 67 and 68 of application 609,764 are
the same claims respectively as claims 2, 3, 5, 7, 10, 12, 13, 14 and 16 of
Canadian Patent 553,388 for an invention of Alda V. Bedford and owned
by the Plamtiff. Claims 59, 62 and 63 of application 609,764 are the same
as claims 2, 5, and 6 of Canadian Patent 553,389 on an invention of Alda V.
Bedford and owned by the Plaintiff. Claims 47-53 and 56, 61 and 66 of
application 609,764 are for subject matter disclosed in said patents 553,388
and 553,389. Applhcation Nos. 611,076 and 712,616 which matured respec-
tively to patents 553,388 and 553,389 were copending with application
609,764 and conflict proceedings should have been directed thereon. The
plaintiff alleges and the fact is that as between the parties Alda V. Bedford
and not W. P. Boothroyd and E M. Creamer, Jr was the first inventor of
the subject matter of claims 47-68 inclusive of application 609,764 and
the defendant is not entitled to a patent contamming the said claims

15 Claims 69-78 inclusive of appheation 609,764 are for subject matter
which was known or used by G. C. Szikla1 before it was invented by W. P.
Boothroyd and E. M. Creamer, Jr, if in fact it was ever invented by
W. P. Boothroyd and E. M Creamer, Jr. which 1s not admitted but denied.
The saad G. C. Szklar had knowledge of the said subject matter at least
as early as July 1949 and made the same available to the public before
the date of application 609,764 by disclosing the same to the United States
Federal Communications Commission and to the defendant in September
1949 in exhibit 209 to the plantaff’s submission to the Federal Communica-
tions Commission, a copy of which was supplied to the defendant. The
plaintaff therefore alleges that the defendant is not entitled to a patent
contamning claims 69-78 inclusive of application 609,764.

16. Conflict exists 1n respeet of claims 81, 82, 85, 86, 87, 88 and 89
between application 609,764 and applieation 606,877 by virtue of the dis-
closure in apphcation 606,877 of the subject matter of the said claims The
plamntiff alleges and the fact 1s that C. W Hansell and not W. P. Boothroyd
and E. M. Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject matter of
the said claims and the plamtiff and not the defendant is entitled to a
patent contamming the same.

17. Claims 41, 42, 43, 79, 80, 83 and 84 of application 609,764 are for
subject matter disclosed in Canadian patent 602,209 on an invention of
John HEvans, the said patent being owned by the plamtiff. Applcation
600,681 which matured to Canadian Patent 602,209 was copending with
application 609,764 and conflict proceedings should have been directed

.
PaiLcoCorp.
(DELAWARE).
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thereon. The plaintiff alleges and the fact is that John Evans and not
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W. P. Boothroyd and E. M. Creamer, Jr. was the first inventor of the Rapto Corp.
subject matter of the said claims and the defendant is not entitled to a op AmERICA

patent containing the same.
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18. Claims C5, C6, C7, C8, C9 and C10 are for subject matter described (DELAWARE).

in both application 606,877 and application 600,681 which matured to Cana-
dian patent 602,209. Until recently the plaintiff mistakenly believed that
C. W. Hansell was the first inventor of the sald subject matter but on
discovering that in fact John Evans was the first mventor of the said
subject matter, the plaintiff made application to the Commissioner of
Patents on the 1st day of April, 1964 to reissue Patent No. 602,209 with
the said claims. The said application bears Serial No. 899,329 and is cur-
rently pending before the Canadian Patent Office. Conflict exists between
the said application Serial No. 899,329 and application 609,764 by virtue of
the inclusion mm both applications of the said claims. The plaintiff alleges
and the fact is that John Evans and not W. P. Boothroyd and E. M.
Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject matter of the said
claims and as between the parties the plaintiff in application 899,329 and
not the defendant is entitled to a patent containing the said claims.

19. The plaintiff alleges and the fact is that the subject matter of none
of claims 1-90 of application 609,764 is adequately supported by the dis-
closure of that application or reasonably to be inferred from the disclosure
of said application as filed and the defendant is not entitled to a patent
containing any of the said claims.

At the same time, the plaintiff amended its prayer for relief
by substituting a new paragraph (a) asking that it be
ordered and adjudged as follows:

1. As between the parties, C. W. Hansell and not W. P. Boothroyd
and E. M Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject matter
of claims 1-13 inclusive, 33, 81, 82 and 85-89 inclusive, of applica-~
tion 609,764 and claims C11 and C12 and that the plaintiff is the
person entitled to a patent containing the said claims or substitute
claims approved by the Court.

2. Asbetween the parties R. C. Ballard and not W. P. Boothroyd and
E. M. Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject matter of
claims 14-31 mclusive of application 609,764 and that the defend-
ant is not entitled to a patent contaming the said claims.

3. As between the parties Alda V. Bedford and not W. P. Boothroyd
and E. M. Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor of the subject
matter of claims 47-68 inclusive of application 609,764 and the
defendant is not entitled to a patent containing the said claims.

4. As between the parties G. C. Sziklai and not W. P. Boothroyd
and E. M. Creamer, Jr. was the prior inventor in respect of the
subject matter of claims 69-78 of application 609,764 and the
defendant is not entfitled to a patent containing the said claims.

5. As between the parties John Evans and not W. P, Boothroyd and
E. M. Creamer, Jr was the prior mventor of the subject matter
of claxms C5-C10 inclusive and claimg 41, 42, 43, 79, 80, 83 and 84
of application 609,764 and that the plaintiff in appleation 899,329
and not the defendant is entitled to a patent containing the said
claims.

Jackett P,
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This is a motion to strike out the amendments so made
on the following grounds:

(@) This Court has no jurisdiction to consider issues raised by the
amendments since such issues do not relate to the conflict in
respect of which the proceedings were brought.

(b) The Plaintiff is seeking relief outside the terms of Section 45(8).

(¢) The action relating to the new claims sought to be added was
instituted beyond the time limit set by the Commissioner of
Patents.

(d) The Plaintiff has no status with respect to the issues sought to be
rased by the amendments.

I must first deal with the application to strike out para-
graphs 10 to 19, inclusive, of the Statement of Claim. Dis-
position of the application as far as the prayer for relief
is concerned will depend upon the disposition of the
application in so far as the body of the Statement of Claim
is concerned except, it should be noted, that counsel for
the plaintiff conceded during the course of argument that
he could not support retention of the last two and one-half
lines of subparagraph (5) of paragraph (a) of the amended
prayer for relief.

In so far as the body of the Statement of Claim is con-
cerned, counsel for the plaintiff conceded that paragraph
19 in its present form can only be supported if he is per-
mitted to retain paragraphs 11 to 17 inclusive of his
amended Statement of Claim. Paragraph 18 of the State-
ment of Claim is also a special problem in that it is an
allegation by the plaintiff that neither the plaintiff nor the
defendant is entitled to certain of the claims that were put
in conflict by the Commissioner by virtue of the applica-
tions in conflict but that, on the other hand, the true first
inventor in respect of such claim was one John Evans in
respect of whose invention the plaintiff now holds a patent
which describes the invention but does not contain the
claims in question. (It further alleges that it has applied
to add these claims to the Evans patent by way of a re-
issue patent.) If this allegation is well founded, it would
be a basis for a declaration under section 45(8)(b) that
neither the plaintiff nor the defendant is entitled to the
issue of a patent containing the claims in conflict by virtue
of the applications that have been put in conflict under
section 45.

Paragraph 10 of the Statement of Claim is an explana-
tory allegation which will follow the fate of paragraphs
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11 to 17. Paragraphs 11 to 17 have this in common that %3
each of them makes an attack on some of the 78 claims Rabio Core.
in the defendant’s application which were not put in con- > AB:FRICA
flict under section 45 by the Commissioner. It may also ?Séﬁ%‘i‘éﬁ?j
be noted that all 78 of the claims in the defendant’s appli- —
cation that were not put in conflict by the Commissioner Jad{_Et_t P.
are attacked by one or other of paragraphs 11 to 17. The
respective attacks so made on the claims in the defendant’s
application that were not put in conflict by the Com-
missioner may be classified as follows:
(1) paragraphs 11, 13 and 16 allege that certain of the
78 claims are in conflict with the plaintiff’s applica-
tion by virtue of the disclosure in the plaintiff’s
application (the plaintiff says that Hansell and not
Boothroyd and Creamer is the prior inventor of the
subject matter of those claims);
(2) paragraph 12 and part of paragraph 14 attack cer-
tain of the 78 claims on the ground that they are the
same as some of those for which two patents be-
longing to the plaintiff were issued (one patent was
for an invention by a man by the name of Bedford
and the other for an invention by a man by the
name of Ballard); and the plaintiff says that the
applications upon which these patents were based
were, at one time, co-pending with the defendant’s
application and that the claims in question should
therefore have been put in conflict under section 45;
(3) the remainder of paragraph 14 and paragraph 17
attack certain of the 78 claims in the defendant’s
application on the ground that they are for subject
matter disclosed in patents belonging to the plain-
tiff which were issued pursuant to applications
which were co-pending with the defendant’s appli-
cation and the plaintiff says that conflict proceed-
ings should have been directed with regard thereto
(the plaintiff says that, in the case of one of the
patents, Bedford was the first inventor and not
Boothroyd and Creamer and, in the case of the
other patent, Evans was the first inventor and not
Boothroyd and Creamer);

(4) the remainder of the 78 claims not put in conflict
by the Commissioner are attacked by paragraph 15

91541—3



214
1965

e
Rabio Core.
OF AMERICA

v.
Prr.coCorp.
(DELAWARE).

Jac—k:t-t P.

2 R.C.del’E. COUR DE L'ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

of the Statement of Claim on the ground that they
are for subject matter which was known or used by
one Sziklai before it was invented by Boothroyd
and Creamer and that Sziklai had knowledge of the
said subject matter at least as early as July 1949
and made the same available to the public before
the date of the defendant’s application.

Before proceeding to outline the arguments with regard
to paragraphs 11 to 17 inclusive, I should revert to the
grounds set out in the defendant’s Notice of Motion which,
it will be recalled, are:

(a) This Court has no jurisdiction to consider issues raised by the
amendments since such issues do not relate to the conflict in
respect of which the proceedings were brought.

(b) The Plaintiff is seeking relief outside the terms of Section 45(8).

(¢c) The action relating to the new claims sought to be added was
instituted beyond the time limit set by the Commissioner of
Patents.

(d) The Plaintiff has no status with respect to the issues sought to be
raised by the amendments.

While I recognize that the jurisdiction conferred on this
Court by section 21 of the Exzchequer Court Act, R.S.C.
1952, chapter 98, may not extend to such parts of para-
graphs 11 to 17 as do not form the basis for a claim in
respect of conflicting applications, I am of opinion that
what I have to decide is not to be determined by reference
to that section. In my view, section 21 confers jurisdiction
on the Court where a right to relief exists, in the classes of
cases therein defined, by virtue of some other statutory
provision, at common law or in equity. (Unlike section
18(1) (¢), section 21 does not create a right to relief as
well as confer jurisdiction on the Court). In addition to
the jurisdiction conferred by section 21, the Court has
jurisdiction wherever some statutory provision expressly
imposes on the Court a duty to hear and determine some
claim for relief in classes of cases not covered by section 21.
Applications for patents of invention are creatures of the
Patent Act. No right to obtain relief from a Court in re-
spect thereto exists except where such right has been con-
ferred expressly or impliedly by some statute and, as far
as I am aware, the only statute that deals with such
applications is the Patent Act itself. The only provision in
the Patent Act upon which the plaintiff has attempted
to found the claims for relief contemplated by paragraphs
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11 to 17 is section 45. In my view, those paragraphs must E’ff
be struck out unless section 45 confers on the plaintiff a Ravro Core.
right to seek the relief contemplated thereby in this Court, % AMF=1cA
The defendant’s application to strike out, in such event, is fgﬁgﬁgﬁ;"
sufficiently covered by the grounds contained in para- —
graphs (b) and (d) of the Notice of Motion. Jackett P.
As the plaintiff’s right to attack claims in the defend-
ant’s application that the Commissioner did not put into
conflict must depend upon the correct interpretation of
section 45 of the Patent Act, it is desirable that I review
the provisions of that section as a preliminary to stating
the plaintiff’s argument as fairly as I can:
{a) Subsection (1): This subsection reads as follows:

(1) Conflict between two or more pending applications exists

(a) when each of them contains one or more claims defining substan-
tially the same invention, or

(b) when one or more claims of one application describe the inven-
tion disclosed in the other application.

In effect, subsection (1) defines what is meant by a “con-
flict between two or more pending applications”. There
iy a conflict between pending applications when each of
them contains one or more claims defining substantially
the same invention or when one or more claims of one
application describe the invention disclosed in the other
application.

(b) Subsection (2): This subsection reads as follows:

(2) When the Commissioner has before him two or more such applica-

tions he shall notify each of the applicants of the apparent conflict and
transmit to each of them a copy of the conflicting claims, together with a
copy of this section; the Commissioner shall give to each applicant the
opportunity of inserting the same or similar claims in his application within
a specified time.
There is a point, which may well be academic, as to
whether this subsection imposes an obligation on the
Commissioner to notify each of the applicants whenever a
conflict exists or only when a conflict is “apparent” to him.
Upon consideration, I am inelined to think that the point
is academic. It must be clear that, regardless of what con-
struction is put upon subsection (2), the Commissioner
can, in fact, only send out a notification pursuant to sub-
section (2), when a conflict is apparent to him.

(c) Subsection (3): This subsection reads as follows:
9154133
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1965 (3) Where each of two or more of such completed applications con-
" tains one or more claims describing as new, and claims an exclusive prop-
Rabro Corp. . . . . A . . .
oF Awrmrica €rty or privilege in, things or combinations so nearly identical that, in the
v. opinion of the Commussioner, separate patents to different patentees should
PancoCorP. not be granted, the Commussioner shall forthwith notify each of the
(DELAWARE). :
applicants to that effect.

Jackett P. What the Commissioner is to notify the claimants under
subsection (3) is that one or more claims in the two or
more applications claims an exclusive property in things
or combinations “so nearly identical” that, in the opinion
of the Commissioner, separate patents to different patentees
should not be granted. This notice has to do with specific
conflicting claims.

(d) Subsection (4): This subsection reads as follows:

(4) Each of the applicants, within a time to be fixed by the Commis-
sioner, shall either avoid the conflict by the amendment or cancellation of
the conflicting claim or claims, or, if unable to make such claims owing
to knowledge of prior art, may submit to the Commissioner such prior art
alleged to anticipate the claims; thereupon each application shall be
re-examined with reference to such prior art, and the Commissioner shall
decide if the subject matter of such claims is patentable.

It is clear that this subsection only deals with the “con-
flicting claim or claims” that were the subject matter of
the notice under subsection (3).

(e) Subsection (6): This subsection reads as follows:

(5) Where the subject matter is found to be patentable and the con-
fhcting claims are retamed in the applications, the Commissioner shall
require each apphcant to file in the Patent Office, in a sealed envelope
duly endorsed, within a time specified by him, an affidavit of the record
of the invention; the affidavit shall declare:

(@) the date at which the idea of the invention described in the con-
flicting claims was conceived;

(b) the date upon which the first drawing of the invention was made;

{¢) the date when and the mode in which the first written or verbal
disclosure of the invention was made; and

{d) the dates and nature of the successive steps subsequently taken by
the inventor to develop and perfect the said invention from time
to time up to the date of the filing of the application for patent.

Clearly, this subsection only applies to the conflicting claims
concerning which the Commissioner has found the subject
matter to be patentable under the concluding portion of
subsection (4). It is only in that case that the Commissioner
can require an applicant to file the material specified in a
sealed envelope.

(f) Subsection (6): This subsection reads as follows:

(6) No envelope containing any such affidavit as aforesaid shall be
opened, nor shall the affidavit be permitted to be inspected, unless there
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continues to be a conflict between two or more applicants, in which event 1965
all the envelopes shall be opened at the same time by the Commissioner in Ranto .C ORP.
the presence of the Assistant Commissioner or an examiner as witness op Awmgrica

thereto, and the date of such opening shall be endorsed upon the affidavits. v.
Pairco Core.

This subsection clearly refers to the envelope to be filed (Derawagg).
under subsection (5) and to the affidavits to be put in JackettP.
the envelope under that subsection. —

(g) Subsection (7): This subsection reads as follows:

(7) The Commissioner, after examining the facts stated in the affidavits,
shall determine which of the applicants 1s the prior inventor to whom he
will allow the claims in conflict and shall forward to each applicant a copy
of his decision; a copy of each affidavit shall be transmitted to the several
applicants.
The affidavits that the Commissioner is to study are the
affidavits referred to in subsections (5) and (6) and there-
fore must relate to the claims which are the subject matter
of the notices sent out under subsection (3) which are, of
course, the “claims in conflict” referred to in subsection
(7). It is only in reference to such claims that the Com-
missioner makes his decision under subsection (7).

(h) Subsection (8): This subsection reads as follows:

(8) The claims in conflict shall be rejected or allowed accordingly
unless within a time to be fixed by the Commissioner and notified to the
several applicants one of them commences proceedings in the Exchequer
Court for the determination of their respective rights, in which event the
Commissioner shall suspend further action on the applications in conflict
untl in such action it has been determined either

(a) that there is in fact no conflict between the claims in question,

(b) that none of the applicants is entitled to the issue of a patent con-
taining the claims in conflict as applied for by him,

(¢) that a patent or patents, including substitute claims approved by
the Court, may issue to one or more of the applieants, or

(d) that one of the applicants is entitled as against the others to the
issue of a patent including the claims in conflict as applied for by
him.

Here again it is quite clear that the “claims in conflict”
which are to be rejected or allowed are those which were
the subject matter of action under the earlier subsections
and with which the Commissioner dealt under subsection
(7). (The question that arises in this case is whether the
proceedings which one of of the several applicants is im-
pliedly authorized to commence “for the determination of
their respective rights” are restricted to proceedings for the
determination of their respective rights in respect of the
“claims in conflict” or whether such proceedings may also
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1965 extend to “their respective rights” regarding some larger

Rapio Core. class of matter.)
OF AMERICA . . . .

v. (¢) Subsection (9): This subsection reads as follows:
PamncoCorp.

(DELAWARE). (9) The Commissioner shall, upon the request of any of the parties
—_— to a proceeding under this section, transmit to the Exchequer Court the
Jackett P. papers on file in the Patent Office relating to the applications in conflict.

It is to be noted that the Commissioner may be required
to send to the Exchequer Court the papers on file in the
Patent Office “relating to the applications in conflict”
and not merely to the claims that have been put in conflict.
If it were not so, the present problem might have never
arisen because the plaintiff might never have learned of
the 78 claims in the defendant’s application that were not
put in conflict.

The position taken by counsel for the defendant in mov-
ing to strike out paragraphs 10 to 17, inclusive, of the
plaintiff’s application is that the proceedings contemplated
by subsection (8) of section 45 are restricted to proceed-
ings to determine the respective rights of the applicants
in respect of the claims that have, in fact, been put in con-
flict by the Commissioner under the earlier subsections of
section 45. The plaintiff’s position, if I correctly under-
stand its counsel, is that, in additon to the respective rights
of the parties in relation to the claims that were put in
conflict, those proceedings may not only deal with “the
respective rights” of the applicants with respect to other
conflicts that the Commisioner should have recognized as
existing between the two applications and should have put
in conflict!, but may also deal with their respective rights
with regard to any of the claims in either of the applica-
tions in respect of which there is a dispute between the
two applicants even though that dispute may arise by
virtue of facts that are entirely extraneous to the conflict-
ing applications.

Counsel for the plaintiff contended that, if subsection
(8) of section 45 is not given a wider scope for which he
contends, an applicant who, in fact, is the first inventor,
may well be put at a serious disadvantage in relation to

1The plaintiff’s counsel made a submission that sectlon 45(2) created
an inchoate right to adjudication of any conflict in fact existing
between co-pending applications which right matures into an active
right in respect of all conflicts whenever section 45(8) comes into
play with reference to any conflict. I do not appreciate the cogency
of this argument. In any event, 1t does not support the full breadth
of the plaintiff’s contention.
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the other applicant who, in fact, is not the first inventor %5

but whose claims may be processed and mature into pat- Rapio Core.
ents if the first applicant does not have a right to an ad- ° AR
judication with regard to the conflict at the application f’g}iﬁ%ﬁgﬁ;’-
stage. It is not, of course, for the Court to attempt to = —
improve upon the scheme which Parliament has estab- Jackett P.
lished for the determination of conflicting claims between

applicants who each claim to be first inventor.

There is, as I understand it, no dispute between the
parties regarding the situation that would exist if the Com-
missioner had not recognized that there was some conflict
and brought the defendant’s application into conflict pro-
ceedings. If the Commissioner had taken no action under
section 45, not only would the plaintiff not be in a position
to know of the existence or the contents of the defendant’s
application for a patent, but there is no provision in the
statute under which the plaintiff could institute proceed-
ings in this or any other Court to obtain an adjudication,
before the issue of a patent to the defendant, as to whether
the defendant was entitled to a patent in respect of any
of the claims in its pending application.

In these circumstances, the question is whether the very
special provision impliedly made by subsection (8) of sec-
tion 45 for proceedings in this Court to determine the
respective rights of the parties whose applications are in
conflict is restricted to the respective rights in respect of the
claims in conflict as dealt with by the Commissioner or
whether that very special provision opens the door to an
attack by either of the applicants on any of the claims set
out in the other party’s application no matter what the
basis for that attack may be and no matter how remote such
claims may be from the subject matter of the claims put
in conflict by the Commissioner.

I am of opinion that proceedings under section 45(8) are
restricted to a determination of the respective rights of the
parties in respect of the subject matter of the claims put in
conflict by the Commissioner. Giving the best consideration
that I can to section 45 as a whole and reading it in relation
to the other provisions of the Act, I cannot read subsection
(8) as applying to anything except the claims that have
been dealt with pursuant to subsections (3) to (7) inclu-
sive.
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1965 While, from some points of view, it might be more con-

Ravo Core. venient to have all the potential disputes involving either

or AMERICA 1 both of these two applications adjudicated by the Court

%’gﬁgﬁg at this time, nevertheless, as indicated above, I am of opin-

— ion that Parliament has, by the other provisions of the

Jackett P. patent Act, indicated at what stage of proceedings and in

what manner conflicting claims of inventors are to be re-

solved, and I do not think that subsection (8) of section

45 can be interpreted in the manner proposed by the plain-

tiff even if that interpretation would result in a more
equitable determination of the matters in dispute.

I come now to paragraph 18 of the Statement of Claim
which, as it will be recalled, is an attempt by the plaintiff
to set up a contention that neither the plaintiff nor the
defendant is entitled to a patent in respect of certain of the
claims in conflict by virtue of the applications that have
been put in conflict inasmuch as the subject matter of such
claims was invented by a third person who has assigned
his rights to the plaintiff.

I am of the opinion that paragraph 18 of the Statement
of Claim should not be struck out. In International Mineral
and Chemical Corporation v. Potash Company of America
and Duval Potash and Sulphur Company', the Supreme
Court of Canada upheld a decision by President Thorson
that a third party be admitted as a party to confliet pro-
ceedings under subsection (8) of section 45 for the purpose
of seeking an adjudication under paragraph (b) of subsec-
tion (8) that none of the applicants was entitled to the
issue of a patent containing the claim in conflict “as applied
for by him”. The status of the intervening party in that
case, according to the judgment of the Supreme Court of
Canada, was that the grant to one of the parties to the
conflict of the exclusive right to use the process which the
intervening party had been using for years would “affect
the legal right” of the intervening party “to continue to
carry on its business”. That being so, it is at least arguable
that the plaintiff in this case has a status to attack the
particular claims that have been put in conflict on the
grounds that they belong to it by virtue of an invention in
respect of which it has a pending claim for a patent. I
appreciate that there is force in the defendant’s contention
that the result of the plea in paragraph 18 is to remove the

1(1964) 47 D.L.R. (2d) 324.
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claims in question from the conflict as between the con- 195

flicting applications. See Aktiengesellschaft Fuer Stickstoff- RADAIO Core.
duenger v. Shawinigan Chemicals Limited'. Whether this oF %?RICA

argument should prevail must be left to be decided at trial. %’gmggg‘)’

An order will go, therefore, that paragraphs 10 to 17, Tackets P
inclusive, and paragraph 19 of the Statement of Claim be "~
struck out and that paragraph (a) of the Prayer for Relief
be struck out with leave to the plaintiff to restore para-
graph (a) as it was before the amendments of November
23, 1964, and also to restore the substance of subparagraph
(5) of paragraph (a) in its amended form with the deletion
of any reference to the plaintiff’s application 899,329. The
defendant will have the costs of the application, which I
hereby fix at $400, in any event of the cause.

I should say something with reference to the plaintiff’s
submission that I should not strike out any part of its
Statement of Claim unless I am satisfied that the portion
of the Statement of Claim being struck out does not admit
of plausible argument. See City of London v. Horner® per
Cozens-Hardy, M. R. Notwithstanding the fact that I have
gone to considerable lengths in these reasons to examine
the scheme of the Patent Act and to analyze the portions
of the Statement of Claim which the defendant has sought
to have struck out, I am of opinion that, when it is properly
understood and put in perspective, the question as to
whether the plaintiff is entitled to seek the relief covered
by the portions of the Statement of Claim that I am
striking out “is one which does not admit of plausible
argument”. In any event, this is not a case, such as London
v. Horner was, where the question was whether the plain-
tiff had alleged facts which made out a cause of action.
The question here is whether the statute provides any right
to the plaintiff to seek relief of the kind here being sought.
The question does not in any way depend upon the facts
that may be proved at trial. If the plaintiff is not entitled
to seek the relief and is nevertheless permitted to retain
the allegations in question in its Statement of Claim, the
number of issues which will have to be dealt with at trial
will be improperly multiplied many times. In these cir-
cumstances, in my view, it is preferable that the question

1119361 Ex. C.R. 56 at 70. 2119141 111 L.T. 512
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E?f should be decided at the inception of the proceedings and, if
Ranro Core. necessary, finally determined by way of appeal before trial,

or AMIRIGA o) as to avoid the possibility of what may well be a long and

PrmcoCore. somplicated trial with reference to claims for relief which
(DELAWARE).

——  the Court has no right to grant.
Jackett P.

1964 BETWEEN:

S—
Apr-13-17 HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN .......... PLAINTIFF;
1965 AND
FI%
— CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY
DEFENDANT.
COMPANY ..o,

Crown—Information—Common carrier—Breach of contract for carriage of
goods—Derailment of train by mud slide—Act of God—Nature of
plea of act of God—Duty of railway company to guard against mud
slide—Negligence—Damages.

In this action the plaintiff claims damages for breach of a contract for the
carriage of a quantity of wheat owned by the plaintiff, under the terms
of which confract the defendant was to deliver the wheat to Van-
couver, British Columbia, but failed to do so because the wheat was
lost when the defendant’s train carrying the wheat was derailed and
wrecked when it collided with a mud slide covering a part of the
defendant’s track in the Revelstoke section in the Rocky Mountains
at about 8:30 p m. on May 11, 1961,

The evidence established that the mud slide was first detected by the train
crew at a distance of about 300 feet but that, at the speed of the train
at the time, 29 m.p.h. its emergency stopping distance would be
1,062 feet. The mud slide was 8 or 10 feet deep and about 100 feet in
length. The evidence also established that about three hours before the
collision a train had safely gone through the area of the collision, and
that earlier on the same day the defendant’s divisional engineer, its
assistant roadmaster, a roadmaster and then its regional maintenance
crew all passed along this section of track at different times.

The defendant pleaded act of God by way of defence.

Held: That the plea of act of God, being a plea of an exculpatory nature,
it is necessarily an extreme one which must evince most if not all of
the characteristic traits predicated of it. Otherwise, the expression, act
of God, becomes a self-serving synonym for the negligent inaction of
man,

2. That 100 feet or so from the tracks, at the point of the derailment, a
watehful eye would have detected the unmistakable proof of past
trouble, a pile of debris, also an ill omen of future danger.

3. That the defendant was duty bound to undertake, at regular intervals,
a check by aerial photography of the “dangerous” and “potentially
dangerous” mountain zones near its track. The defendant’s line men,
foremen and roadmasters should have occasionally left the track and
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walked up the stream beds a certain distance at points opposite its
bridges and culverts.

4, That even a cursory look at the heaps of debris at the location of the
mud shde in question before it occurred would have put a knowledge-
able person on inquiry.

5. That what was done by the defendant to prevent a derailment such as
occurred in this case is well, but falls short of the entire fulfilment of
its obligations as a common carrier under the circumstances.

6. That the plaintiff’s claim is allowed.

INFORMATION by the Crown to recover damages for
the loss of wheat as a result of a train wreck.

The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Dumoulin at Viectoria.

H. B. Monk, Q.C. and R. W. Law for plaintiff.
F. E. Dent and A. G. Graham for defendant.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Dumourin J. now (February 25, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

It is admitted in the defendant’s pleadings (Statement of
Defence, paras. 1 and 5) and in a Statement of Agreed
Facts that, on May 11, 1961, at Mile 116.5 of the Canadian
Pacific Railway’s Mountain Subdivision, Province of British
Columbia, one of its trains, number 73, composed of 4 Diesel
locomotives, 61 loaded boxcars and 7 unloaded ones, was
wrecked, at about 8:30 p.m., as a result of a mud slide.

The impact had caused the derailment of the engines and
of 18 boxcars loaded with wheat “to all intents and at all
times material to this action the property of Her Majesty
the Queen in right of Canada”. An equally agreed fact is
that a quantity of wheat in the sum of $46,199.95 was
spoiled and lost in consequence of the wreck, and, therefore,
never reached its destination, the City of Vancouver.

Plaintiff lays to defendant’s charge a breach of duty in
omitting to safely or securely carry this consignment to the
above Pacific sea port, whilst the Company says “that the
wreck and the consequent damage to the said wheat was
the result of an act of God”.

An offer of $364, monetary value of some salvaged grain,
was refused by the plaintiff.

Clause 4 of the Statement of Agreed Facts acknowledges
that:
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4. There was issued by the Defendant and received by the Crown or its
agents a Bill of Lading in the New Form 717 (filed as exhibit 1) in respect
of each car referred to in the information whereby the Defendant
acknowledged receipt of the grain and grade referred to as being shipped
in that car and agreed to transport such grain and deliver the grain to
agents of the Crown at Vancouver upon the terms and conditions set forth
in the Bill of Lading.

Those pertinent “terms and conditions” are mainly set
out in section 1 and the two first lines of section 3, hereunder
quoted, the remaining conditions being only incidental in
exhibit 1:

Sec. 1. The carrier of the bulk grain herein described shall be liable
for any loss thereof or damage thereto except as hereinafter provided.

See. 2....
Sec. 3. The carrier shall not be liable for loss, damage or delay to the
bulk grain herein described, caused by the Act of God . . .

As aforesaid, around dusk, the time, 8:30 in the evening
of May 11, 1961, the trainman, Douglas Moore, of Revel-
stoke, B.C., in charge of train 73, was seated in the cab of
the Jeading Diesel Electric Unit Locomotive, to the right of
the engineer, C. O. Paul, this latter having at his left fireman
T. A. Utheala.

At a distance of some 300 feet, Moore detected a mud
slide, mud and rocks, that a curve in the roadway had pre-
vented him from seeing before. He, at once, cried: “Slide!”,
whereupon the brakes were applied but “with very little
effect” reports Douglas Moore, whose warning yell had been
duplicated by fireman Utheala. The brakes, tested at
Albert’s Canyon, 12 miles back, were in good order, but at a
travelling speed of 29 miles per hour, indicated on the
speedometer, “the emergency appliance in so short a dis-
tance, 250 feet from the mud pile, did not and could not
slow up the train in any appreciable way”’, testifies the
engineer, C. O. Paul, whose connection with the company
dates back to 1936. This witness remembers it was twilight
with good visibility and fair weather.

Bruee MacDuff, supervisor of air brake equipment for the
C.P.R., performed tests on a train of equal weight to that
of number 73, namely 5283 tons, running along a 1%
descending grade. The emergency stopping distance of such
a train, at 29 m.p.h., would be 1,062 feet. To stop such a
mass within 238 feet, the Divisional Engineer, A. F. Joplin
having set in his evidence a distance of 236 feet as the point
whence the engine driver could first notice danger ahead,
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the train’s speed would have to be no more than 13 m.p.h. E’ff

Had the “normal brakes” not been settled at 30 m.p.h., then Tae Queex
200 additional feet, 1,262 in all, would be required. Douglas Camspiax
Moore is positive the train could not come to a full stop in FPacric

Ramwway
a lesser run than 1,000 feet. CoMPANY

Colliding against this flow of mud, rocks and rubble, DumoutinJ.
approximately 8 or 10 feet deep and about 100 feet in length, —
toppled the engine and eighteen cars off the rails.

“A warning Page wire fence, automatically flashing a
danger signal when under pressure, was installed alongside
the track some days after”, testifies the trainmen. This pro-
tective device appears on photo 16 of exhibit no. 3.

The engine driver, C. O. Paul, a fireman on the first sec-
tion of train no. 73, Hans Hendrickson, and the Divisional
Engineer, Albert F. Poplin, asserted they had never heard
of previous trouble at Mile 116.5.

On the day of the accident, May 11, one Istvan Dugar, a
C.P.R. machine operator, was temporary section foreman
along a six-mile stretch, patrolling tracks and inspecting
culverts. He went by point 116.5 at 15:30 hrs. (3:30 p.m.);
everything seemed in perfect condition.

Dugar drew drinking water from the mountain freshet
flowing through the culvert. The weather was clear. The wit-
ness and his erew of two men “tarried about six minutes at
that spot”.

After the slide, Dugar with his companions rebuilt the
track, substituting a rectangular culvert to the erstwhile
round one, and they also set up the electric warning fence.

Frank Minifie, the company’s roadmaster between Green
Mountain and Revelstoke, a distance of 61 miles, supervises
every section foreman in that sector who all report to him.
Minifie has charge of the care, safety and maintenance of
rails and culverts over his territory, with the help of two
assistant roadmasters.

Their inspections, made every day in the week and often
of a Sunday, is done by “track motor” or on board regular
trains. Each road foreman must inspect every foot of road-
way assigned to him. On May 11, roadmaster Minifie passed
point 116.56 “in his usual manner at 16:10 hrs. (4:10 p.m.)
in clear weather; there was nothing untoward there at all.
Whenever something seems out of order, it is immediately
investigated and traced to its origin”, notes the witness.
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Since no rain had fallen that day nor for some time, there
was no apparent reason to anticipate trouble. The stream
was not discoloured and carried no debris towards the cul-
vert, four feet high and eight wide, “six times too large”,
which had been cleared the previous March.

One hour after the accident, at 9:30 p.m., the roadmaster
reached Mile 116.5. Under cross-examination by Mr.
Henry B. Monk, Q.C., the witness agreed that “no steps are
taken to discover areas of potential slides”. When, at
4:10 p.m., that afternoon, he went past 116.5, he was travel-
ling at 20 m.p.h. on a track motor and “paid no particular
attention to water running there”.

A few days later, tracking the path of the disturbance
half a mile up the mountain flank, he observed traces of
other slides that blocked the stream and altered its former
course. Mr. Minifie’s concluding words were: “It does rain
in that region”.

Next to enter the witness box was Albert Frederick
Joplin, civil engineer by profession, defendant’s divisional
engineer for the Revelstoke section which includes Mileage
116.5. All structures in that division: stations, rails, culverts,
bridges, ete., are under his supervision and that of an
engineering staff working with him. An assistant roadmaster
oversees the sector daily. “Twice yearly at least”, says Mr.
Joplin, “I must inspect everything on which the safety of
trains depends”. “Prior to May, 1961, the culvert was
examined by the roadmaster and road foreman and cleaning
operations undergone in March, same year.”

Telltale signs of danger would be excess or shrinkage of
water, discolouration of the flow, debris rolling down, trees
withering, any unusual happening.

According to the witness “the Spring of 1961 was an easy
one, the main water run-off had already occurred by May 11,
the weather persisting generally fair during the period
immediately preceding”.

Around 17:30 (5:30 p.m.) or 3 hours before the “affair”,
a train had gone by safely at Mileage 116.5. Joplin himself
passed there at 14:30 (2:30 p.m.) on the fateful day. So
did the assistant roadmaster at the same time, then a road-

. master at 15:55 (3:55 p.m.) and the regional maintenance

crew at 16:10 (4:10 p.m.). Finally, by 17:30 (5:30 p.m.)
the first section of freight train 73 negotiated the curve.
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At 9:30 p.m. the divisional engineer, told of the washout, 1965

reached the scene and measuring as best he could the mud Ts Quesx
slide, estimated it was 120 feet long and 5 feet thick at its CA;;DIAN
deepest point. The track, completely torn up, had to be Facwrc

. . Ramwway
replaced practically where it lay before. CoMPANY

A month after the derailment, engineer Joplin climbed up Dumoutin J.
the creek meadow to a spot where, in his opinion, the trouble ——
had originated, some 2,500 feet above the track. Letter X
on photo, exhibit R, filed by the witness, identifies the origin
of the mud slide, about three quarters of a mile from the
railway.

In reply to plaintiff’s counsel, Joplin insists he ignores the
cause of the accident and noticed nothing in the vicinity
that called for special precautions. Yet, in spite of this asser-
tion, he must admit “that he considered potential sources of
danger could arise in that region”, but took no particular
preventive steps in relation to Mile 116.5.

Soon after May 11, the embankment alongside the rails
was lowered with a bulldozer as appears on exhibit B. “A
very costly derailment”, concludes the engineer, “19 cars
swept off the tracks”.

I would pause a moment in order to record my impression
of this evidence. It goes without saying that a thin band of
steel, snaking through possibly the most precipitous moun-
tain range on the Continent, wriggles under a constant
menace from above and not from the ground. Diligent watch
of the tracks, culverts and bridges, is, of course, imperative,
precisely on account of the multitudinous perils: avalanches,
diluvial rains, rock slides, mud slides, tumbling boulders,
liable, most of them, at a moment’s notice, to crash upon
the line, which, therefore, stands as a passive recipient and
very seldom is the initial cause of disasters.

The Assistant Regional Engineer for the C.P.R.’s Pacific
Region, at the material time, a professional engineer himself,
Mr. Roy Arnold Swanson, was the next witness heard. The
following lines summarize his testimony. Between Field and
Revelstoke, for the last 78 years, the railroad has wended
its course. “Avalanches, and rock falls, are the main troubles
we encounter with, also, mud slides and sewer blockages,
owing to excessive rains”. Patrolmen on “speeders” or on
velocipedes keep watching the tracks whenever rock falls
are feared. Within the 10 years preceding, the company may
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have spent $2,750,000 on rock sheds, tunnels or soil protec-

Tae Queex tion, a yearly average of $275,000.

V.
CANADIAN
PaciFic
RamLway
CoMPANY

I interrupt the résumé to remark that annual expendi-
tures of $275,000, in connection with a 500-mile penetration,
or thereabouts, through the Rockies do not conjure up a

Dumoulin J.’ Staggering figure.

Swanson, subsequently to May 11, 1961, walked along
the creek bed to an elevation of 1400 feet, and, by helicopter,
flew over the so-called alpine meadow, supposedly the
stream’s drainage basin, two or three thousand feet higher.
“It i8”, claims the witness, “ a typical mountain stream
of small size, and photograph exhibit ‘O’ reveals the drain-
age area at this creek’s source. By no means is it one of
the largest streams in the region. The heavy run-off had
pretty well occurred 8 or 10 days before”.

Occasionally, the C.P.R. makes use of soil mechanics
where “cracks or other signs of movement appear”. “From
climatic conditions persisting on or about May 11, nothing
unusual could be apprehended. Photos ‘Q’ and ‘R’ indi-
cate traces of old slides. Generally speaking,” reports
Mr. Swanson, “that area had not given us too much trouble
from up above”. His closing declaration, when cross-
examined, was that the company “never drew up an over-
all program of precautions to prevent mud slides”.

The evidence of Mr. Leslie R. Smith, Vice-President and
General Manager, Pacific Region, affords a repetition of Mr.
Swanson’s testimony, save for the over-optimistic claim
that “We did not experience such a slide anywhere before,
not even in 1940 which was our worst water difficulty”. This
executive official, momentarily forgets the several mentions
of an identical mud flow taking place not so far away, at
Mileage 86.7 on June 24, 1958, that also toppled off the
tracks the 4 diesel engines and 10 cars of a wheat convoy.
This accident ultimately formed the subject matter of suit
no. 153946 in the Exchequer Court of Canada, Her Majesty
the Queen and Canadian Pacific Railway' Honourable Mr.
Justice Kearney allowed plaintiff’s action for the full
amount, $32,655.12.

The witness declares that soil mechanics were utilized “to
stabilize curves in the line, for bridges and buildings”.

1119651 1 Ex. CR. 145.
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Plaintiff’s counsel elicited from Mr. Smith these declara-
tions, two of them at least, not devoid of ambiguity: “So Twzr Queewx
far as our records show no slide of that nature ever hap- CA;,{DMN
pened at Mileage 116.5” and, later, “Some slides or terrain Facwic

. . . . Ramway
slipping did occur in this area”. COoMPANY

The total cost of the 1961 derailment, including repairs Dumoulin J.
to locomotives, to 18 cars, and replacement of signalling ——
apparatus, amounted to $130,000. Then came this final ad-
mission: “The risk of running into any kind of obstruction
on our tracks has been considerably reduced by the pre-
cautionary measures employed. Under such conditions, the
Company is willing to face that risk.”

Most, if not all, of those “precautionary measures” seem
decidedly compressed within a too passive policy of “wait
and see”. I have expressed above my opinion about the in-
sufficiency of limiting protective steps to a daily patrol of
the tracks, when the imminent peril looms above. “Causa
sublata, tollitur effectus: Suppress the cause, consequences
disappear”, would be a sound maxim to apply.

My allusion, supra, to a momentary forgetfulness was
obviated later on, Mr. Swanson now remembering that
“since 1958, only two major slides, including that of 1961,
oceurred in this region”.

1965
——

Two other witnesses closed the roster of factual depon-
ents, as contrasted with the technical experts; they were
Messrs. Leonard George Reichart, assistant Chief Engineer
of the Great Northern Ry. Company, with head office at
Seattle, Washington, and Edgar Stuart English, the Cana-
dian National Railway’s regional "engineer for British
Columbia and the entire Rocky Mountain section. Both
these gentlemen, having heard the evidence so far adduced,
stamped with their approval the recital of the defendant’s
safeguarding methods.

With the slight reservation that, usually, “the blade bears
witness to the hilt”, these top railway officials’ corroboration
of their colleagues’ prudence raises a double question mark:
are conditions in the hills of Washington State comparable
to those obtaining around Mile 116.5? and next, did not the
Canadian National Railways recently retain Doctor Hardy’s
services for a thorough survey of a hundred mile stretch of

mountainous ground?
91541—4
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Thus comes to a close the first stage of the case, consisting
in a recital of the material incidents surrounding the mis-
hap, and a mention of the daily care, inspection and general
supervision, exercised by the railroad authorities, permanent
way-men and roadmasters, specifically, for our requirements,
over a 6l-mile expanse of track, between Green Mountain
and Revelstoke.

A second chapter will show, pitted one against the other,
two highly reputed engineers, upon whose expert technical
knowledge the litigants largely pinned their hopes.

The scientific notions expounded and natural laws at
play, to be meaningful, require the assistance of numerous
citations, a course of action I unhesitatingly adopted.

Dr. Robert MacDonald Hardy, specializing in soil
mechanics and foundation engineering, appeared on behalf
of the defendant.

In his opinion, “the slide that over-topped the railroad
and caused the derailment was the result of a blockage that
occurred up the stream bed about three quarters of a mile
from the railroad”. (trans. p. 6).

The present stream bed cut its way through the slope
after an older one had become clogged by soil slipping, of
much more substantial proportions.

The witness, having at hand exhibit “R”, an aerial photo
taken July 30, 1961, describes the local topography:

Now between A and X on exhibit R . . . it is roughly 3,000 feet, that
is, from the junction of the old and the new channel . . . The sides of the
creek valley in there are relatively steep, and the creek is on a fairly steep
glope in that section. There has been some sloughing from the valley walls;
while it is quite a sharply incised valley and the water channel occupies
practically the whole width right at the bottom of the valley . . . ; there
is evidence of a recent sloughing of the banks in some sections of that
particular stretch . . . but my conclusion regarding those slopes was that
the movements that had taken place were in the nature of just surface
sloughs; they were not deep-seated movements. (trans. p. 13).

I interrupt the quotation to note this mention of an

initial landslide antedating that of May 11, 1961, by an
unspecified lapse of time.

Three or four thousand feet upstream from point X on
exhibit R (see also photo exhibit N), looking downwards
from the little alpine meadow, the source of this creek,
exhibit R depiets:

A fairly steep-sided valley with the creek right in the bottom of the
valley with no width for meandering to speak of, and the creek is on quite a
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rapid slope. There is no evidence of recent slide scars in this section at all; 1965
there is no evidence of channel erosion in this section . . . . There is one pyy Quesn
glide ares in this picture, and by coincidence the sun was such that it just V.

shows up the slide area in the upper centre of the picture, (ex. N), and CaNAaDIAN
that is a comparatively recent slump, but it is a shallow slump. . . . . This RIT:IEIVE&;{&C';’
type of slide is not of the same nature (as) the slide at Point X (on ex. R) Goupany
in my opinion. It is quite a shallow surface sloughing and the vegetation has —
been re-established on it, and . . . could not possibly have grown to that Dumoulin J.
extent in the two years . . . This is a more ancient slide but it is a slough -
that has come down the valley side-wall. (trans. pp. 14-15).

The “two years” above refer to Doctor Hardy’s first inspec-
tion trip, July 29, 1963.

The engineer’s attention was drawn to the exceptional
conditions at the intersection of the old and new channels, a
question he takes up with renewed insistence:

. .. I think we should say more, sir, about this unnatural condition at
Point O on Exhibit R. Of course, that is shown in Exhibit Q which was
taken ten years previously. But it is the old channel—the old channel was
blocked at Point O by a very substantial pile of—or it is blocked now by
a very substantial pile of debris.

The witness continues (cf. pp. 16, bottom line, and 17):

. . . there was nothing immediately around that within a hundred
feet of that area that could be the source of that blockage; the only pos-
sible source is that it came down the creek and that at some stage there
was a similar event to the blockage that we say occurred at Point X and
that subsequently caused the trouble at the railroad. It would be a much
bigger catastrophe in terms of yardage of material involved and quantity of
water, but the hydraulics or the mechanics of that earlier washout, if you
hke, is interesting in a number of respects in relation to the one that
occurred on May the 11th in 1961.

There is still a considerable slope down to the railroad, but there is
a change there, and it deposited that debris up there. Where the slide
occurred on May the 11th, 1961, it didn’t deposit this debris load until
it got down to the culvert almost at the railroad. Well, the blockage or the
debris blocked the creek and the water then forced itself into a new channel
which is an artificial channel from the natural hydraulics point of view, that
is the present creek bottom.

Dr. Hardy has examined the aerial photos with the hope
of measuring the extent of the drainage basin and is re-
ported, at page 20, to have testified that:

A. ...my estimate from the aerial photographs is that the area of the
drainage basmn is two to three square miles.

Page 20:
Question by Mr. Frank E. Dent, counsel for defendant:

Q. Did you consider that the particular ares of the slide which you
have described is particularly prone or susceptible to slides?

A. Well, it is mountainous area, and when you are in the mountains,
you have to expect slides . . . In my judgment, based on my own
91541—4}
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experience in the mountainous areas, this is not & particularly active
slide area. In fact, it is a comparatively stable area from the point
of view of surface slides in mountainous areas.

Page 21:

Dr. Hardy comments that anyone coming “from a trip
through the Kicking Horse Pass . . . or from the Fraser
Canyon” will find at mileage 116.5 “no hazard here com-
pared to that at all”’. An understandable observation on the
part of this experienced technician, but of indifferent
probative weight if one remembers that Kicking Horse Pass
and the Fraser Canyon notoriously stand out as major
achievements of daring mountain engineering, therefore
subjected, presumably, to constant watching. Conformably
to this line of comparative reasoning, Zero weather in
Eastern Canada may feel mild to an inhabitant of the Arctic
Circle. It is fair to say that Professor Hardy, quickly per-
ceiving the conflicting exaggeration, at once rectified his
aim, adding: “But it is relative. You are in a mountainous
area and the weathering conditions are tending to bring
things down to the bottom of the valley; so you must antici-
pate that you are going to have slides.” If the permanent
anticipation is such, should not the corresponding watch-
word be: permanent caution?

The witness explains that: < ... between this creek and
Reuvelstoke, there are areas where the hazard from snow-
slides 1s the greatest on the whole system on either railroads,
and this is also snowslide area, and there is evidence of
snowslides within a mile of this creek ...”

Next, refering to the picture exhibit K, taken from a
helicopter, the deponent points out that “ . . . in this partic-
ular location the exposure that is shown on Exhibit K
indicates quite a substantial thickness, of several feet, it
might be ten, fifteen, twenty feet, even, of material that is
susceptible to sliding . . .” Now, one can hardly escape
the thought that such a lurking threat could and should
have been anticipated, investigated and obviated in the
Spring of 1961.

Page 28:

To a question by the Court, the witness replies:

If the C.P.R. had asked me for advice on what was the hazard at this
particular location, I would have, I am afraid, said that they should be on
the lookout for similar events to what blocked the channel at “O” on
Exhibit R originally, and if they occurred they would re-establish the old
channel.
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Page 35: 13;63
This expert’s op1n10n so far, about the utility of aerial T#® Q“EEN
photography is that . . . in slide areas of small proportions CmAmAN

such as the slide we are saying caused this derailment at 1{;‘3{};

Mile 116.5, you could not locate that sort of thing from the Company
study of aerial photographs from this area. It would be a Dumoulin J.
mere coincidence, almost, if you could”. -

Nevertheless, the witness’ subsequent testimony does not
tend to minimize nor deprecate the assistance derived from
aerial photography, as the undergoing quotations will prove,
while affording also a significant instance of soil research
investigations entrusted to R. M. Hardy and Associates
Limited, by the Canadian National Railways over a 100
miles of line. At page 45, we read:

. Coming to railroad work, the firm of which I am a partner,
R. M. Hardy and Associates Limited, have a commission right now from
the Canadian National Railways to examine the conditions on about
100 miles of line . . . They have slide problems that are more important
to the railroad now . . . On this job we first of all travelled the railroad on
railroad knickers. We talked to the railroad people who had been main-~
taining this line for years. We looked at troublesome spots on foot. Then we
studied the geology of the area and we also then got aerial photographs
of the whole line and studied them in detail. Then, we went in and drilled
certain locations that we picked from the aerial photographs and what we
saw on the ground, and we did some geophysical work, and then we took
all this information into the office and worked it up into a procedure for
upgrading this line.

Whether or not this meticulous scanning of the terrain
bordering on the C.N.R.’s right of way came as an aftermath
of the incident at issue, I have no means to tell. Still, the
defendant Company, aware of both this mud slide and that
of June 24, 1958, which swept four diesel engines and ten
freight cars off the tracks, would not have displayed ex-
cessive care had it preceded the Canadian National Rail-
ways in the use, to some degree, of similar vigilance.

Be that as it may, Dr. Hardy, when asked if the condi-
tions he holds responsible for the slide “could have been
identified beforehand”, asserts that “. . . they could not have
been identified with any standard techniques that are
accepted in good engineering practice for location work
originally or in connection with maintenance operations”
(trans. p. 46). On the next page, (47), the witness continues
thus: “Now, in hindsight, I can see how this happened, but
I doubt very much if I could have logically come to the con-
clusion on the basis of what you can see in the past history -
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of that creek that the slide just like this one that occurred
and caused the derailment would have acted that way”.

Defendant’s counsel then puts this question to the soil
mechanics specialist (at p. 48):

.. . Doctor, how does the spot where the slide occurred compare with
other areas in British Columbia?

. certainly (it) can’t be taken as being a hazardous spot. If you
identify this location as being hazardous to the railroad operation, there
are literally hundreds of similar locations in the railroads in the moun-
tains of B.C. that you would have to say are equally hazardous.

Should there be, as the witness testifies, hundreds of spots
in a given area liable to trigger, in three years’ time, two
disturbances of such foree, it follows that aerial inspection,
at regular intervals, would constitute the minimum precau-
tion expected. However, Doctor Hardy is satisfied that
the railway did all it could to avoid this washout (ecf. trans.
p. 52).

On cross-examination by Mr. Henry B. Monk, Q.C,,
plaintiff’s counsel, the witness was of the opinion that “. ..
most of the material that blocked the culvert and filled up
the ditch and went over the top was picked up at the lower
end of the slide. It didn’t originate in this hillside that came
down first or this little slide that popped down into it . . .”
(trans. p. 55).

This deduection, by Doctor Hardy, prompted the question,
at p. 69:

. .. you agree with me, then, that the pile of debris would be some
notice to a knowledgeable person that there was material further up the
mountain which might come down?
the reply being:

That s correct, if the location engineer saw that, he should be alerted.

A query comes to mind: why didn’t the location engineer
locate this pile of telltale debris not so remote from the
tracks or possibly fringing them?

The matter of aerial photographs came up anew. Mr.
Hardy now eulogizing their usefulness in connection, partic-
ularly, with the San Guido subdivision, where “ . . . we
made quite extensive use of them” over “the whole hundred
and one miles”. (trans. p. 72).

The objective then sought was the obtention, in quick
fashion, of data about soil and embankment solidity, old
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slides and river hydraulics, also for the purpose of ascertain-
ing potential dangers. Mr. Hardy winds up this topic by
observing that:

. . . the information from the aerial photographs was very valuable in
arriving at @ decision as to what we were going to do in stabilization. (trans.
p. 73).

It is a part of the Company’s duty to seek out the spots
of prospective danger and apply the requisite correctives.
Investigation of the area would turn up these facts, visually
ascertainable, agrees the witness, who, on page 77, outlines
what should be done:

... They (the C.P.R.) have two choices—at least two choices available
to them if they have a slide: They can go up and make an examination
and decide that they will do something at the source to eliminate a recur-
rence of it, or they can do something somewhere else . . .

Doctor Hardy believes that expectation of more land-
slides “is one of the factors that might have influenced” the
erection of a warning fence at Mile 116.5 (trans. p. 77) ; he
also suggests as his “rough computation” that 2000 cubic
yards of earth were necessary to swell the slide that filled
the ditches, a culvert four feet high by eight in width,
spreading about 120 feet along the track, its mud-floe
approximately five feet thick (trans. p. 79).

Sometime before 1957, the witness was requested by the
Trans-Canada Highway authorities to survey this area for
their purposes, namely “to tell them whether there were
any particularly hazardous soil conditions” (trans. p. 82).
Prior to the start of his technical task, including inspection
by train and with the field parties, Dr. Hardy observed the
considerable amount of work, soil boring and soil tests,
already done by his clients in an area comprising Mile 116.5.
He summarizes his search report to the Trans-Canada
people in these words:

My report to them was that the soil conditions were not particularly
hazardous and that the stability conditions were not particularly severe,

and I had in mind specifically in comparison to the stability conditions of
the slopes in the Kicking Horse Pass between Golden and Field,

localities qualified by the expert as “extremely dangerous”
(trans. pp. 82, 83, 84).

I previously elaborated on the relative fallacy of evidence
by approximations, a logical breakdown of which, presently,
is that the deseription “not particularly hazardous’ applies
only as against the opposite term “extremely dangerous”,
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leaving a melancholy intermediate conclusion of “hazardous

TreQueen enough”. The 1958 and 1961 incidents do not disprove this
Canamax  deduction.

PaciFic
Ramway

The impression I gathered from this testimony might be

Comeany gummarized in this exchange of questions and answers
Dumoulin J. between counsel and witness:

Q. Would it be fair to say that it has always been recognized that there
is some danger in this area?

A. That is correct.
And the railway has known this all along?
You are in mountains, and so you have to accept that condition.

Q.
A,
Q. Yes, and it is a question of judgment as to what steps are taken to
meet the risk?

A,

Q.

There is a large element of judgment in it, yes.

And there 1s also an element of economics in that it may be better
to take the risk and pay the piper, if necessary, than spend the
money to eliminate the risk?

A. That is one way of assessing it, yes.
(trans. p. 78).

What precedes could well open a wider window upon the
real factors involved.

Another eminent scientist, Dr. Hugh Quinton Golder, a
professional engineer, interested in soil and foundation
problems, as his predecessor on the witness stand, was next
called upon to state his views on the matter.

His services were retained by the Crown and the Canadian
Wheat Board to investigate the occurrence at Mile 116.5.

We are told that two slides happened; “a collapse of a
steep till slope some distance up the creek . . . then the
material in the creek moved down . . . under the influence
of water”, an incident classified as a debris flow (trans. pp.
7-8).

Dr. Golder made three visits at, and in the vicinity, of
Mileage 116.5, on February 5, 1962, May 20 and June 17
of the same year. He examined the slide area on foot and
flew over it in a helicopter.

Of special interest is a series of 18 pictures, produced in
bulk as exhibit 11 but respectively bearing a distinctive
number.

On photo 2 (ex. 11), an arrow topped by the numeral 2
indicates the mountain gully in line with Mile 116.5, the
course followed by the mudslide.
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Passing now to photo 6, we see the top end of gully #2, 196

looking south, with the gathering ground for the waters Tsn (3mmu
seeping down to the creek at melting time and rushing Cawaouw

towards the culvert at Mile 116.5. R AcmIG

Photo 7, taken, like the preceding and a few others, on COENY
June 17, 1962, from a helicopter, shows, Point “A”, the Dumoulin J.
heap of debris where the gully branches off. Point “B” is a
scar on the side-wall of the creek where falling soil traced
new serapings.

Turning now to photograph #8, of June 17, 1962, we
see that the bottom of the slope has been cut and a fall
of material into the creek which would probably block it.

Photo 9, of May 20, is a clear view of the water shed down
gully #2. The witness says that the stream “is largely flow-
ing on rock at this point and on the right-hand side we can
see bare rock. On the left-hand side there is a certain
amount of till and loose material. But at points you can see
rock, the cover is very thin.” (trans. p. 27).

Photo 10, of May 20, 1962, shows the pile of debris where
the gully divides in two. It consists of rocks, soil, some tim-
ber and portions of trees. The witness, thinking back a
couple of years, would say this pile of debris was ten or
twelve feet high and perhaps a little more.

Photo 11 was taken on foot, May 20, 1962, from the top
of the same pile of debris, looking down the old stream bed
in a northerly direction.

Of the same date, photo 12 peers into gully #2 and it is
of interest to note the material “piled up on the left, down
the channel of the gully, which indicates or gives some idea
of the level to which moving material rose during the
actual slide”. (p. 30). This height would have attained, in
the witness’ opinion, a level of six to eight feet above
the present stream bed.

Photo 13 affords “a fairly good idea of the amount of
material which must have come down the gully at the time
of the slide. You can see a lot of larger rocks and a lot of
finer material”. (trans. p. 31).

Taken from the track, on June 17, 1962, photograph #14
illustrates the water cascading down gully #2 and, very
thinly etched in the foreground, the Page warning fence set
up after the mudslide of May 11, 1961.
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Photo 15, of May 20, filed separately as ex. 4, is a view of
the warning fence and some of the debris left from the slide
on both sides of the track. At Points “A” and “B” appear
piles of rotting wheat, presumably a relic of the accident,
says the witness (trans. p. 33).

The warning fence appears on photo 16, filed as ex. 3.

The culvert, at the critical spot, is visualized on photo
17 of ex. 11, taken May 20, 1962. Dr. Golder notes the cul-
vert “is running about three parts full” possibly because
some of the space is occupied by rocks and not water; due
also to the fact that this culvert had not been sufficiently
cleaned out, a surmise apparently borne out by photo 18
(ex. 6) showing the downstream or opposite outlet of the
culvert with a considerably reduced flow of water, explain-
able by the presence of some obstructions at its entrance
(trans. pp. 35-36).

Photo 19 is missing.

Numbers 20 and 21 are of no great interest in the case and
22 is a Dominion Government photograph of 1958 from
the Archives of the Royal Canadian Air Force, indicating
Twin Butte siding and sites of both gully #2 and of the
mudslide.

All this evidence appears in the transeript of Dr. Golder’s
testimony, pp. 23 to 41 inclusive.

Three “failure zones” or “places where there had been
slides” were observed in the steep till slopes, and I am told
that the science of soil mechanics has adopted methods of
detecting slide areas such as this. In conformity with those
norms, Dr. Golder, first of all, during his inspection, looked
“at the aerial photographs”, since “in an area where they
are available, they are a very cheap method of getting quite
a lot of information quickly”. He pursues thus: “I would
insist that information obtained from aerial photographs
was later checked by ground survey. There are some places
where, looking at the photographs, you could say straight
away in these areas there is no danger of slides” and “. . .
some places where you could say . . . you most certainly will
have slides . . . One could say, here is an area where you
will have a supply of water, you will have till slopes into
which a river is cutting or a creek is cutting and you have
quite a steep grade. So that, potentially, you have the
requirements or the conditions which will cause a flow at
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some time . . .” (trans. pp. 46-47). A stereoscopic study of L’ﬁf

photograph 22 revealed “slight humps in the ground, each Tae QUEEN
side of gully No. 2 . . .” suggesting the somewhat ominous CAN VAN
presence of “an unconsohdated material”’, soil, sand or 1{;@:@1‘;
gravel. (trans. p. 47). CoMPANY

Proper allowances had for the hindsight wisdom of an Dumoulin J.
ex post facto test, this does not impugn the methods
advocated.

One of the next questions bring to the fore the matter of
costs “in relation to the C.P.R.s operation”. Since
economic considerations appear threaded into the skein of
the problem, and cannot be readily dismissed, I deem it
advisable to quote abundantly from Doctor Golder’s reply;
he is dealing with aerial photography:

Assuming the photographs exist and that the line is 500 miles long . ..
taking photos at a scale of one inch to 1,320 feet, that is four inches to a
mile, you would have one eight-inch wide photo (covering) two miles;
50 you would have 250 sets of photographs to examine. I have assumed that
a quick examination of these might show you that in half the area there
was no great danger. You have to make some sort of assumptions. I have
allowed fifteen minutes for each of those photographs. In other areas where
there might be some danger . . . I allow one hour for study of each pair
of photographs, and that comes up with something like thirty days, and
the total cost would be, I suppose, three to five thousand dollars, that sort
of order. (trans. pp. 48-49).

A triple classification of the Rocky Mountain region is
made by Doctor Golder: a zone of immediate danger, proba-
bly known to the railway company; one of no danger, and,
lastly, a zone of potential danger such as Mile 116.5, which

‘... should be examined on the ground to see whether or not
in the engineer’s opinion it was necessary to do anything”.
(trans. p. 49).

A major reason inviting caution would be, in the witness’

own words, that:

If you have a steep slope of till and you have a stream, a fairly fast
stream running past the bottom, it is, I think, inevitable that soomer or
later you will have a fall or a shallow rotational block slide of the till into
the valley, and that is what did in fact happen. (trans. p. 53).

Just walking along the track in the vicinity of Mileage
116.5 would not reveal traces of two former land falls . . .
but, if the person had gone a little off the track or had
looked at the aerial photographs before he made the recon-
naissance, he would, I think, have found evidence of two
slides quite readily”, vouchsafes Doctor Golder (trans.
p. 55), who also believes that . . . the mechanism of the
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slide in gully No. 2 is such that one could expect a recurrence

Tue Queen of the slide.”
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Conflicting with Professor Hardy’s statement that the
flow and slide were a potential danger impossible to foresee
by any known technique, is the deponent’s equally positive

Dumoulin J. View “that the slide, the possibility of a slide, could have

been foreseen”. He adds: “I would go so far as to predict
that there will be other slides at this point sometime in the
future.”

Anteriorly (pp. 64, 65), the plaintiff’s expert had assumed
that till areas in British Columbia could be expected along
500 miles of railway line, and made “a rough guess that half
the area might deserve study”. A detailed schedule of
remedial measures suggested by soil mechanies or founda-
tion engineering is outlined and may be read on pages 86,
87 and 88 of the transcription.

Admittedly, I felt embarrassed at the idea of tying down
the company to what might seem prohibitive costs over,
possibly, a 200-mile stretch. I had in mind the evidence of
Mr. Roy Arnold Swanson, plaintiff’s assistant engineer for
the Pacific Region, that in the last ten years a “rough
estimate . . . of expense incurred by the railway” for
remedial action “ . . . between rock sheds, tunnel lining,
slides stabilization” would be “around two and three
quarter million dollars”. (trans. p. 13). Dr. Golder, however,
allayed my perplexity by this quite simple solution (trans.
Pp- 88-89):

... We then arrive at the point that we are not going to try to stop
the slide necessarily, but we want to prevent the slide, if it takes place,
from wrecking a train. So you then come to your warning devices such as
the fence that has been erected at this point, and I am sure that there are
other warning devices which the railway company probably know about.

Here, a responsive chord was struck of which the erection
of a Page Wire Fence, automatically releasing a warning
signal when any obstruction hits it, was a practical echo.
It will be remembered that, since the mud slide, Mileage
116.5 is fenced off in this manner, surely not an uneconomic
care, nor a superfluous precaution in view of the witness’
reiterated belief thus expressed on page 108:

I think that another slide could happen at any time in that valley, in
valley No. 2, this ts.

Again, I would single out as significant of Dr. Golder’s
long testimony, the following questions and replies:



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965]

By Mr. Dent:

Q. Am I correct in this that you disagree with the railway company’s
procedures at the moment for protecting its line?

A. I don’t disagree with what they do . .. What I was going to say
was it seemed to me that it might be reasonable to do something
more than they do, but I explained earlier that I do not know
anything about the economics of running a railway. But as an
engineer I know that that is a very important part of our problem
... I can only say that certain procedures which I have suggested
seem to me to be a reasonable approach to the problem.

Q. Regardless of the cost involved?

A. The cost of what I have suggested is quite small in terms of finance
of the railway company. (trans. pp. 111, 112).

This review of the material incidents and scientific
appreciation of the case, which, I hope, may be sufficiently
comprehensive, now calls for a conclusion.

Defendant pleads . . . that the wreck and the consequent
damage to the said wheat was the result of an act of God”.

What is considered an Act of God?

Halsbury’s Laws of England Third Edition, vol. 8, p. 183,
no. 317, under the caption of “What constitutes an act of
God”, defines it as follows:

An act of God, in the legal sense of the term, may be defined as an
extraordinary occurrence or circumstance which could not have been fore-
seen and which could not have been guarded against; or, more accurately,
as an accident due to natural causes, directly and exclusively without human
intervention, and which could not have been avoided by any amount of
foresight and pains and care reasonably to be expected of the person sought
to be made liable for it, or who seeks to excuse himself on the ground of it.
The occurrence need not be unique, nor need it be one that happens for
the first time; it is enough that it is extraordinary, and such as could not
reasonably be anticipated. The mere fact that a phenomenon has hap-
pened once, when it does not carry with it or import any probability of a
recurrence (when, in other words, it does not imply any law from which
its recurrence can be inferred) does not prevent that phenomenon from
being an act of God. It must, however, be something overwhelming and
not merely an ordinary accidental circumstance, and it must not arise from
the act of man.

Black’s Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, 1951, Vo. Act
of God, emphasizes that the event attributed to the inter-
vention of purely natural causes “ . . . could not have been
prevented or escaped from by any amount of foresight or
prudence, or by any reasonable degree of care or diligence,
or by the aid of any appliances which the situation of the
party might reasonably require him to use”. (italics not in
text).
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1965 An exculpatory plea of this nature is, necessarily, an

Tz Qo Queen extreme one, which must evince most if not all of the char-
Canmay  acteristic traits predicated of it. Otherwise, the expression,
Pacric  get of God, becomes a self-serving synonym for the negli-

Ramwway A .
Comeany gent inaction of man.

DumoulinJ. The evidence reveals manifest traces of an initial soil
—  movement of huge proportions, with, additionally, other
slides occurring on June 24, 1958 at Mile 86.7, and the
present one. Doctor Hardy, defendant’s expert witness,
classifies gully no. 2 as potentially dangerous; Doctor
Golder, for the plaintiff, goes a step further and expects

other washouts to happen any time.

A hundred feet or so from the tracks a watehful eye would
have detected the unmistakable proof of past trouble, a
pile of debris, also an ill-omen of future danger.

Patrolling the line, examining culverts, testing bridges,
building rock sheds are essential but insufficent cares for the
reasons stated previously.

Then, what else should the company have done? I
believe it was duty bound, at regular intervals, to under-
take a check by aerial photography of the “dangerous” and
“potentially dangerous” mountain zones. Doctor Golder
insisted this mode of investigation provided “a very cheap
method of getting quite a lot of information quickly”. I
incline to think this omission, throughout, derogates from
the condition just cited, not to disregard “the aid of any
appliances which the situation of the party might reason-
ably require him to use”.

In Mr. R. A. Swanson’s own words: “No over-all program
of precautions to prevent mud slides was ever drawn up”.

I am also of the opinion that, oceasionally, the line men,
foremen, assistant roadmasters or roadmasters, should,
opposite bridges and culverts of some size, as that at Mileage
116.5 (4’ x 8), leave the track and walk up the stream beds
for a certain distance. Even a cursory look at the surround-
ing heaps of debris in the instant case would have put a
knowledgeable person on inquiry.

The economic factor appears to wield a disproportionate
influence in this attitude of hopeful and relative passivity.
Professor Hardy, it will be remembered, readily admitted
that one way of assessing the situation was it might be
better to take the risk and pay the piper, if necessary, than
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spend the money to eliminate the risk. Defendant’s Vice- 1965

President and Regional General Manager, Mr. Leslie R. Tue Queen
Smith, did not strike a different note when he explained Carapux
that: “The risk of running into any kind of obstruction Ri;"ﬁg
on the tracks has been considerably reduced owing to the Comeany
precautionary measures employed. Under such conditions pymoulin 7.

the Company is willing to face that risk.” —

Briefly stated: What is done by the company is well, but
falls short of the entire fulfilment of its obligations as a com-
mon carrier under the circumstances.

I cannot reconcile the evidence with, for instance, Hals-
bury’s text (supra) that “An Act of God, in the legal sense
of the term, may be defined as an extraordinary occur-
rence or circumstance which could not have been foreseen
(italics are mine) and which could not have been guarded
against”, nor did it exclude all probability of a recurrence.
Neither do I find compliance with the standard set by
Mr. Justice Duff (as he then was) in re: Pleet vs Canadian
Northern Quebec Railway Company*. I quote:

I have come to the conclusion that the proof is not, as regards the
nature of the precautions taken, of that close knit character which a
tribunal charged with the responsibility of deciding that issue might fairly
require.

Based upon an act of God, the defendant’s proof primarily
reveals an act of economy, a thrifty objective which, pre-
sumably, pervaded overmuch the company’s line of conduct.

FOR THE FOREGOING REASONS, I would maintain
the plaintiff’s action for the sum of $46,199.95, together with
taxable costs.

Judgment accordingly.

BETWEEN: 1965
Jan, 25-27

JOHNSTON TESTERS LTD. ............ AppELLANT; T
Feb.26

THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL|
REVENUE ..................... HSPONDENT.

Revenue—Income—Income tawv—Deductibility of expense payment made
for purpose of gaining or producing income—Commutation of fulure
annual royalty payments under patent licensing agreement—Income or

171923] 4 DLR. at 1117.
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1965 capital disbursement—Pro tanto going out of business—Benefit from

JOHNSTON payment of a revenue character—Income Tax Act, R.8.C. 1952, c. 148,

TesteRs LTD. ss. 11 and 12(1)(a) and (b).
v. This 18 an appeal 1 respect of an income tax assessment for the taxation
MINISTER OF .
NATIONAL year 1958 whereby a tax was levied on a commutation payment made
REVENUE by the appellant to obtain the release of an obligation to pay certain
— royalties on patents which obligation would otherwise have continued
on an annual basis until 1972.

The two patents in question were U S A. patents for a main valve testing
tool and a hydraulic valve tool, both of which devices were used mn
carrying out certain tests in the discovery and development of oil wells.
The main valve testing tool patent was issued in the early 1930’s to one
M. O. Johnston and the hydrauhe valve tool patent was issued to
Johnston Testers Inc, a US. company of which the appellant was a
wholly owned subsidiary at all material times. The main valve testing
tool patent owned by M. O. Johnston was assigned in part to other
members of his family and the several owners licensed the appellant
and the other Johnston companies, mcluding Johnston Testers Inc., in
1951 to use 1t on a royalty basis This agreement was amended several
times to extend the terms providing for royalty payments.

In 1956, Schlumberger Well Surveying Corporation purchased all the
assets of Johnston Testers Inc, including all the outstanding shares of
the appellant, and at the same time the appellant and Johnston Testers
Inc. entered mnto a hicensing agreement with the Johnston family under
which they were licensed to use both the main valve testing tool and
the hydraulic valve tool on a royalty basis, the terminal date for royalty
payments being December 1, 1972. The evidence established that the
purchase of the appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. by Schlumberger
‘Well Surveying Corporation would not have been completed had the
licensing agreement with respect to both devices not been entered into.
This was an arm’s length transaction between the parties thereto.

The appellant paid its share of the royalties under the licensing agreement
from January 31, 1956, the date of the agreement, until 1958, and its
payments were allowed as expenses chargeable against income in 1956
and 1957. In 1958 the appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. contracted
to commute the remaining royalty payments under the agreement and
the appellant’s share of the commutation payment was $146,850.18
(Can.).

Because of income tax considerations, the Johnston family sold their
interest in the two patents to the Schlumberger Foundation, a
charitable organization, for $950,000, and that Foundation granted a
release of the royalty agreements to the appellant and the other
Johnston companies for $1,000,000. The foundation was free from any
control by Schlumberger Well Surveying Corporation or any of its
associated or subsidiary companies and of any of the Johnston com-
panies at all material times.

Held: That it is clear beyond doubt that the commutation payment was
made for the purpose of gaining a producing income within the mean-
ing of 8. 12(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act using as a criterion for such
conclusion that it was made based on good commercial practice, and
bearing in mind that it did not have to be incurred in gaining or
producing the income of the particular period in which it was expended
and that no casual connection had to be established between any
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particular receipt of income and this expenditure, and that it was an 1965
extraneous and non-recurring item of expenditure, JoRNSTON

2. That in the final analysis, no one criterion adopted in the decided cases TrsTERS LrD.
can be universally used m all cases to determine whether the payment v.
. . . . MINISTER OF
is a capital expenditure or one chargeable against income. The business “yy monar,
purpose of a commutation payment in each case must be analyzed RevenuE
carefully for the object of categorization and then one or more of the _—
various criteria may be employed to assist in determining the cor-
rect category of such payment.
3. That by the 1956 licensing agreement the appellant acquired a capital
asset, viz., the licence to use the two patents.
4. That the payment under consideration was 2 payment made to get rid of
an annual charge against revenue in the future and was not made to
get rid of a loss or apprehended loss in business after the income and
expenditure had been put together, as was the case in all the instances
where there was a pro tanto gomg out of business. This payment was
not made 1 order to pro tanto go out of business but was made in the
course of and for the purpose of a continuing business, and the
appellant did in fact after this payment and still does carry on the
same business.
5. That on the particular facts of this case the true business purpose of the
commutation payment by the appellant, n essence, was not to get
rid of a capital asset (which was a mere mecidental result) but instead
to get rid of an onerous annual expense in respect to a business
that 1t proposed to and did carry on, and such payment was made in
the course of such continuing business. As a result no advantage or
benefit either positive or negative accrued to the capital account of
the appellant, but instead all the advantage and benefit obtained was
of a revenue character and, therefore, the payment was not a capital
outlay within the meaning of s. 12(1)(b) of the Income Tazx Act.

6. That the appeal is allowed.
APPEAL from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Gibson at Toronto.

H. H. Stikeman, Q.C. and P. N. Thorsteinsson for appel-
lant.

Donald J. Wright and D. G. H. Bowman for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Gisson J. now (February 26, 1965) delivered the follow-
ing judgment:

This is an appeal from the decision of the Tax Appeal
Board dated October 28, 1963, in respect of the income tax
assessment of the appellant dated December 9, 1959, for

the taxation year 1958 whereby a tax in the sum of
91541—5
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Eff $67,418.10 plus interest in the sum of $2,792.77 was levied

Jornston for the said taxation year.
TesTERS LD,

. The monies which are the subject matter of this appeal
MINISTER OF were 8 commutation payment made by the appellant in
RevenveE the taxation year 1958 in the sum of $150,000 (U.S.) or
GibsonJ. $146,850.18 (Can.). The purpose of such commutation
payment was to obtain the release of an obligation to pay

certain royalties on patents which obligation otherwise

would have continued on an annual basis until the year

1972.

The annual royalty payments which had been made
annually up to the taxation year 1958 by the appellant
approximated $20,000 per year, and the appellant charged
against income the said whole payment of $146,850.18
(Can.) made in the 1958 taxation year.

The Tax Appeal Board disallowed in part this expense,
allowing as a charge against income only the accrued
royalties up to January 31, 1958, which was the date of
the release agreement under the terms of which the said
commutation payment was made by the appellant. This
allowance amounted to $5,872.22 (Can.). The balance of
$140,997.96 the Tax Appeal Board found was an outlay
of capital or a payment on account of capital the deduction
of which in computing the appellant’s income for the 1958
taxation year was prohibited by reason of paragraph (b)
of subsection (1) of section 12 of The Income Tax Act.

The appellant at the material time was a wholly owned
subsidiary of a United States company known as Johnston
Testers Inc., of Houston, Texas, and it carried on in
Canada the business of performing certain oil well tests
for others and earned its income by charging such other
persons, who were owners of oil wells, fees for its testing
service. This service provided is called a drill stem test
which the evidence discloses is a procedure whereby a
sample of the hydrocarbons or other fluids from the bot-
tom of an oil well that is in the process of being drilled
are trapped in a device fixed to the end of the drilling
shaft or stem and then are brought to the surface for
examination and evaluation. The device in which the fluids
are trapped is called a testing tool.

The drill testing tools which we are econcerned about on
this appeal are called firstly a main valve testing tool for
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which U. S. patent No. 2,126,641 was issued to one M. O.
Johnston and a hydraulie valve tool for which U.S. patent
No. 2,703,696 was issued to Johnston Testers Ine., of Hous-
ton, Texas. A copy of each of these patents was filed as
Exhibits 1 and 2 on this appeal.

The main valve testing tool devised by the inventor
M. O. Johnston in the early 1930’s, in part was assigned
by him to certain members of his family and then on
June 1, 1951, M. O. Jonhston and his family entered into
a written contract with the appellant and the other John-
ston companies including Johnston Testers Inc., whereby
the latter were given the exclusive right to use the patent
on this main valve tool on a royalty basis. This agreement
was filed as Exhibit 3 on this appeal.

This 1951 royalty agreement was subsequently amended
several times by agreements dated December 2, 1953,
January 31, 1955, and August, 1955, which agreements
purported to extend the terms under which the licensees
would be required to pay royalty payments to the licen-
sors. The purported reason given for these various amended
agreements was that in each instance there had been an
improvement to the basic patent and for each of such
improvements a patent application had been made by the
licensors. There was a dispute as to the precise meaning
of these extension agreements in so far as the same con-
cerned the question of whether these amending agreements
in fact extended the term during which the appellant and
the others were obligated to make royalty payments to
the Johnston family.

In my view, however, this is not of any great significance
because the important agreement in so far as this appeal is
concerned is the agreement dated January 31, 1956. This
agreement was entered into contemporaneously with the
purchase agreement whereby a firm known as Schlum-
berger Well Surveying Corporation purchased all the
assets of Johnston Testers Inc., of Houston, Texas, which
assets included all the outstanding shares of the appellant
company.

The said hydraulic valve tool patent which we are con-
cerned with on this appeal was not licensed in the above-

mentioned 1951 licensing agreement with the Johnston
91541—5%

247

1965

——
JOHENSTON
STERS LD
v,
MINISTER OF
NATIONAL
RevENUE

Gibson J.



248 2 R.C.del’E. COUR DE I’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651

195 family nor was it included in any of the amending agree-
Jomwston ments to the 1951 agreement, but it was, however, included

TesmeRsLID. i) the said agreement dated January 31, 1956.

MINISTEROF  The hydraulic valve tool, embodying the principle of
Revenve  the said patent for it, had in substantial measure replaced
GibsonJ. the main valve tool because it was a superior instrument

—— and at the material time in 1956 the appellant and the
other Johnston companies were in the main using the
hydraulic valve tool in providing their services to their
customers to earn their respective incomes. However, the
main valve tool was not entirely supplanted until a year
or two after the actual purchase as of the 31st of January,
1956, by Schlumberger Well Surveying Corporation.

The evidence discloses that Schlumberger Well Survey-
ing Corporation as early as 1955 entered into negotations
for the purchase of the assets of Johnston Testers Inc., of
Houston, Texas, but this early date is of no significance,
and this purchase was completed as of January 31, 1956.

The relevant contract documents evidencing this trans-
action were filed on this appeal as Exhibits 8 and 14. In
so far as this appeal is concerned, however, Exhibit 14
which is the contract amending the royalty agreement is
a significant agreement. This is the January 31, 1956, licens-
ing agreement above referred to.

By this 1956 contract the appellant and Johnston Testers
Inc., of Houston, Texas, agreed to pay royalties to the
Johnston family on both the main valve tool and the
hydraulic tool notwithstanding the fact that by contract
up to that time neither the appellant nor Johnston Testers
Inc. were liable to pay royalties to the Johnston family
for the use of the hydraulic tool patent. The hydraulic tool
patent in fact was owned by Johnston Testers Inc. The
appellant had no title to it at any time. The agreement
also provided that there would be a terminal date for such
obligation to pay royalties and it was fixed at December 1,
1972. The latter provision was the significant one in so far
as this action is concerned.

There were many documents filed and much argument
submitted for the purpose of demonstrating the reason the
appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. entered into this 1956
royalty agreement with the Johnston family. Without
detailing all this evidence nor referring to the submissions
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made, it is sufficient for the purposes of this appeal to state 1965

that in my opinion the purchase contract between Schlum- Jomxsron
berger Well Surveying Corporation and Johnston Testers TESTES,SLTD'
Inec. by which the former acquired the shares of the appel- Mﬁﬁfgf{ﬁ"‘
lant company would not have been completed if this Revenue

licensing agreement of 1956 had not been consummated.  Gibson J.

And T am unable to find on the evidence that the sub-
stance of this 1956 royalty agreement is anything different
than the document purports to state.

I, therefore, find that this agreement was a legal and
binding contract made at arm’s length between the appellant
and Johnston Testers Inc. as licensees and the Johnston
family as licensors to pay an annual royalty on both the
main valve tool and the hydraulic valve tool until De-
cember 31, 1972.

In respect to this contract, the evidence was that after
January 31, 1956, and until 1958, the appellant and John-
ston Testers Inc. did pay the Johnston family royalties on
these patents. The payees and payers were strangers in law
and the royalties paid were allowed as an expense charge-
able against the income of the appellant for the years 1956
and 1957. In 1956 such payment by the appellant amounted
to $19,433.95 and in 1957 it amounted to $19,459.18. And
the royalty payments from 1953 under the respective cur-
rent agreement had consistently been about $19,000 or
$20,000.

In 1958 the appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. entered
into negotiations and did by contract commute these royalty
payments. The commutation payment made by the appel-
lant was in the sum of $150,000 (U.S.) or $146,850.18
(Can.) and by Johnston Testers Inc., $850,000 (U.S.).

At first the negotiations for the release of these royalty
obligations with the Johnston family had been unsuccess-
ful. The apparent reason for this was because the pfoposal
first made to the Johnston family would have resulted in
the payment to them being categorized as income in their
hands. This was unacceptable to them because of the income
tax disadvantage, and so instead different arrangements
were made which caused the monies received by the John-
ston family to be categorized as a capital receipt in their
hands.
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The Johnston family sold all their right, title and interest

Jorxston in these two patents (of which they only had title to one,

TesTERS LD,

v.

MINISTER OF
NATIONAL

viz., the main valve patent—any claim to the hydraulic
valve patent being questionable) to a charitable organi-

Revenve zation known as Schlumberger Foundation for $950,000;
Gibson J. and then the Schlumberger Foundation granted the release

of the royalty agreements to the Johnston companies,
including the appellant, for $1,000,000 and thereby the
Foundation itself made a profit of $50,000.

The Schlumberger Foundation being an exempt taxpayer
under United States tax laws as a charitable organization
kept the $50,000 profit for its organization. (In connection
with this transaction, it should be noted that the evidence
disclosed that the Schlumberger Foundation at the material
time was free of any control by the Schlumberger Well
Surveying Corporation or any of its associate or subsidiary
companies and also of the appellant or any of the other
Johnston companies.)

It was argued firstly that the 1956 patent royalty agree-
ment with the Johnston family was really part of the
purchase price of the assets of Johnston Testers Ine. by
Schlumberger Well Surveying Corporation, but I am un-
able on the evidence to find that this was so.

It was next argued that there was no necessity for the
appellant to covenant in this 1956 agreement to pay any
royalties in respect to the hydraulic valve tool patents be-
cause the latter in law were at that time owned by Johnston
Testers Inc. In this connection there was some equivocation
in the evidence of Mr. Cox, the Texas attorney of Schlum-
berger Well Surveying Corporation as to the reason why
it was agreed to pay royalties in this 1956 agreement on
the hydraulic valve tool to the Johnston family and he did
not conclusively explain why this 1956 patent royalty agree-
ment called for an undifferentiated payment of royalties,
in that there was a bulk royalty payment called for, and
no division was made in such payment as between the main
valve tool and the hydraulic valve tool. But in so far as
the appellant is concerned, this is really of no legal con-
cern because as stated it at no time had any title to the
patent for this tool, and the royalty it was called upon to
pay by this 1956 agreement was reasonable according to
the evidence.
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The documents evidencing these transactions were filed %
on this appeal and in essence they demonstrate that these Jomnsron
transactions were all made at arm’s length and they estab- = 5 L.
lish that the Schlumberger Foundation contracted con- Mﬁfﬁgﬁ"
temporaneously with the Johnston family to pay them Revenuve
$950,000 for the assignment of their patent rights and with gipsen 1.
the appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. obligating them to —
pay it $1,000,000 for a release from the royalty agreement
of 1956 in respect to these said two patents. In other words,
the Schlumberger Foundation at the material time was not
obligated to complete the contract with the Johnston family
unless the appellant and Johnston Testers Inc. completed
their contract with it for the release of the royalty agree-
ments.

The issue on this appeal, therefore, is whether or not the
appellant in these circumstances can charge as an expense
against its income for the year 1958 the sum of $140,977.96
(being $146,850.18 less the sum of $5,872.22 paid in respect
of royalty payments accruing to January 31, 1958).

In considering this, it should be observed that the Tax
Appeal Board made one main assumption, namely, that the
Schlumberger Foundation acted as agent for the Schlum-
berger Well Surveying Corporation, the owner of Johnston
Testers Inc. and the appellant, in arranging the release
agreement dated January 31, 1958, and that “the Schlum-
berger Well Surveying Corporation, in effect, purchased
the patents in question as a capital transaction for the
purpose of terminating the liability of its nominee, Johnston
Testers Inc., and in turn, that of its subsidiary, Johnston
Testers Ltd., the appellant herein, in respect of the royalty
payments payable until December 31, 1972, under Exclu-
sive Licensing Agreement dated 1st June, 1951.”

I must respectfully disagree with this assumption and,
therefore, also the opinion of the Board predicated on it.
Instead, I am of the opinion that Schlumberger Foundation
in this particular series of transactions was a stranger in
law with the parties with whom it dealt and that no relation-
ship of agency existed in respect to any of the transactions
between it and the appellant through any of the corporate
convolutions which took place in completing the same.

This finding, however, does not resolve the matter.
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The problem here is to determine on the facts of this case

Jomnsron whether or not this commutation payment of $140,977.96

TEBTERS Lmp.

MINISTEB OF
NATIONAL

(Can.) was a trading or income disbursement or a capital
disbursement of the appellant for the income tax year 1958

Revenur oD & true application of the relevant jurisprudence.

G1bson J.

In all cases where commutation payments are made, the
application of the distinction between income disburse-
ments and capital disbursements is difficult because such
payments lie on the borderline, and the problem of assign-
ing them to income or capital is always troublesome.

The Income Tax Act, R.S.C. 1952, does not define
“income” nor “capital”. It describes sources of income and
prescribes methods of computing income. It is, therefore,
necessary to find the answer in a given factual situation by
reference to the decided cases; and the answer in these cases
is to a question of mixed fact and law.

Counsel for the appellant referred to, mentioned or dis-
tinguished the following cases in support of their submis-
sion that the commutation payment in this case was an
income disbursement: Royal Trust Co. v. M. N. R.}; Anglo
Persian Oil v. Dale?; Noble v. Mitchell®; Mallett v. Stave-
ley Coal and Iron Company Limited*; Dain v. Auto Speed-
ways Ltd?®; C.I.R. v. William Sharp & Son®; Bedford
Overseas Freighters Ltd. v. M. N. R."; B. C. Electric Rail-
way Company Limited v. M. N. R®; Falaise Steamship
Company Limited v. M.N.R.?; Halifax Overseas Freighters
Ltd. v. M.N.R*; Stow Bardolf Gravel Co. v. Poole';
Kmnight v. Calder Grove Estates?; J. P. Hancock v. Gen-
eral Reversionary & Investment Co. Ltd.*®; Shove v.
Dura Manufacturing Co. Ltd.**; Green v. Cravens Railway
Carriage & Wagon Co. Ltd.*5; I R.C. v. British Salmson
Aero Engineers Ltd.'S; Cowcher v. Richard Mills & Co.
Ltd.X™; West African Drug Co. v. Lilley.

Counsel for the respondent on the other hand in a similar
manner referred to the following cases to support his sub-

1119571 C.T.C. 32. 10719591 C.T.C. 71.
216 T.C. 253. 1135 T.C. 459.

311 T.C. 372. 1235 T.C. 447.

413 T.C. 772. 137 T C. 358.

538 T.C. 525 1423 T.C. 779.

6338 T.C. 21 15 32 T.C. 359.
7119591 C.T.C. 58. 1622 T C. 29.
8119571 Ex. CR. 1. 1713 T.C. 216.

9 [19591 C.T.C. 67. 1828 T.C. 140.
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mission that the disbursement in this case was one of 1965

capital: TiOHNSTI(jll:ID
STERS .
Peters v. Smith'; James Snook v. Blasdale?; Royal In- v.

surance v. Watson®; Pyrah v. Annist; Associated Portland MENSTE oF
Cement®; Glenboig v. C.I.R.%; Dominion Natural Gas’; Revenue
British Insulated®; Cowcher v. Richard Mills®; Mallet v. GibsonJ.
Stavely'®; VandenBerghs v. Clark™; West African Drug v. ——
Lilley*®; B. C. Electric Railway v. M. N. R*; C.IR. v.
Sharp™; Dain v. Auto Speedways'®; DeSoutter v. Hanger'®;
Constantinesco v. R27; Anglo Persian v. Dale'®; Eagle
Motors™.

In coming to a conclusion in this case, two questions have
to be resolved, namely, (1) was the expenditure of
$140,977.96 by the appellant in the taxation year 1958 made
for the purpose of gaining or producing inecome within the
meaning of section 12(1)(a) of The Income Tax Act? and
(2) if it was so made, was such payment an allowable ex-
pense or was it a capital outlay within the meaning of
section 12(1)(b) of The Income Tax Act?

In this case it is clear beyond all doubt that the expendi-
ture was made “for the purpose of gaining or producing
income” within the meaning of section 12(1) (a) of The
Income Tax Act, using as a criterion for such conclusion
that it was made based on good commerecial practice, and
bearing in mind that it did not have to be incurred in gain-
ing or producing the income of the particular period in
which it was expended and that no causal connection had
to be established between any particular receipt of income
and this expenditure, and that it was an extraneous and
non-recurring item of expenditure. And it should be noted
that all this is true whether this expenditure be classified
as an income expense or disbursement, or as a capital outlay
or disbursement.

1 (1963) 41 T.C. 264. 1013 T.C. 772.
233 T.C. 244 11 119351 A.C. 431.
3118971 AC. 1. 12 (1947) 28 T C. 140.
4(1957) 1 All ER. 196 affirming 13119581 C.T.C. 21.
[19561 2 All ER. 858. 14 (1959) 38 T.C. 341.
5119471 1 Al ER. 68. 15 (1959) 38 T.C. 525.
612 T.C. 427. 16119361 1 All E.R. 535.
7119411 S.C.R. 19. 17 (1927) 11 T.C. 730.
8119261 A.C. 205. 18119321 1 K B. 124

2 (1927) 13 T.C. 216. 1964 D.T.C. 829.
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In determining the second question of whether this
expenditure is an income disbursement or a capital dis-
bursement various tests or criteria are employed in the
cases, as are hereinafter referred to. But probably no such
determination would have had to be made in this case
except for the fact that the amount sought to be charged
against income is very large, and except for the fact that
there is no provision for amortizing commutation pay-
ment expenditures such as this, in any category under
section 11 of The Income Tax Act, or any regulation made
thereunder. However, neither comment is relevant in
assisting in the solution of the problem here.

In many cases, Judges have used various criteria which
have assisted them in deciding this issue, based on the
respective facts of such cases. For example, the criterion
afforded by the economists and used by some Judges in the
solution of this issue is their differentiation between fixed
and circulating capital. If the payment can be categorized
as out of the former, the economists say it is a capital
expenditure and if out of the latter it is an income
expenditure.

The criterion of the accountants, which has been some-
times used in these cases, is their test as to whether such
expenditure, in good and accepted commercial accounting
practice, should be recorded in the books as a charge in
the profit and loss account rather, than a payment out of
capital account.

Neither of these two above criteria, however, are of much
assistance in determining the problem here.

The criterion distinguishing between a “once and for all”
lump-sum payment made in the income account as opposed
to the capital account by the House of Lords in the case
of Atherton v. British Insulated Cables Ltd.! was put this
way by Lord Cave at p. 192, “But when an expenditure
is made, not only once and for all, but with a view to
bringing into existence an asset or an advantage for the
enduring benefit of a trade, I think there is very good
reason (in the absence of special circumstances leading to
an opposite conclusion) for treating such an expenditure
as properly attributable not to revenue but to capital.”

110 T.C. 155.
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But Mr. Justice Rowlatt in Anglo-Persian Oil Co. Ltd.  1%5
v. Dale (supra), considered that this finding was inecon- Jomwsron
clusive, and that there was fallacy in the use of the word TESTERSLTD
“enduring”, and stated that “What Lord Cave is quite 1\%1“5“1‘ orF

ATIONAL

clearly speaking of is a benefit which endures, in the way Ravenum
that fixed capital endures, not a benefit which endures in gy oon s
the sense that for a good number of years it relieves you @ —
of a revenue payment.” And then he held that the com-
mutation payment made in the case before him represented
the future emoluments (of the agent) which were redeemed
and that it was made in the course and for the purposes of
a continuing business.

Some other criteria adopted in the cases are that if the
commutation payment either (a) creates a capital asset
of enduring or permanent character as, e.g., plant ma-
chinery, ete.; or (b) if it is a payment in respect of a
capital asset in order to pro tanto go out of business, it will
be categorized as a capital expenditure, but if, (¢), the
commutation payment does not create a capital asset even
though it is made in respect to a capital asset and the
business or that part of it continues after such payment,
and such payment was made for the purpose of such
continuing business, then the payment will be categorized
as an income expenditure.

In the final analysis, however, it would appear that no
one criterion can be used universally in all cases. Instead,
the business purpose of a commutation payment in each
case must be analyzed carefully for the object of cate-
gorization and then one or more of the various criteria may
be employed to assist in determining the correct category
of such payment, that is, whether the payment truly is an
income disbursement or one out of capital account.

In this case by the said 1956 agreement the appellant
I find acquired a capital asset, viz., the license to use the
two patents.

Such asset could have been shown on the balance sheet
of the appellant as a capital asset, in which event its value
would have been recorded as nominal. Its ommission from
the balance sheet in this case, however, was commerecially
acceptable accounting practice in that such omission did
not affect the integrity of the balance sheet. And when it
ceased to be a capital asset of the appellant in 1956, such
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fact did not in any significant way affect the capital account

Jornston of the appellant.

TesTeERS LID

v

MINISTER OF
NATIONAL

The acquisition of this capital asset gave the appellant
the right to use the patents, as distinguished from the use

RE_VEUE or employment of the machines embodying such patents,
GibsonJ. Which latter was the business carried on by the appellant

by which it earned its income.

In respect to the latter only, the appellant paid the
licensors of the patents annual royalties, calculated on
actual use. For the former there was no actual dollar con-
sideration paid.

The said release agreement in 1958 accomplished two
things, namely, it got rid of the said capital asset, but
the appellant paid no dollar consideration for this; and it
got rid of the onerous annual payments of royalties to
these licensors for use of the patents until 1972.

In other words this latter was a payment to get rid
of an annual charge against revenue in the future. It
was not made to get rid of a loss in business or apprehended
loss in business after the income and expenditure had been
put together, as was the case in all the instances when
there was a pro tanto going out of business. On the con-
trary, the money paid in this case was not paid in order to
pro tanto go out of business. The money was paid in the
course of and for the purpose of a continuing business,
and the appellant did in fact after this payment and still
does carry on this same business.

It was argued that the appellant did pro tanto go out
of business in so far as its use of the main stem valve tool
was concerned because it no longer could use this machine
after this release agreement was executed. And it was a fact
that at that time the appellant had stopped using the
main valve tool because it had been supplanted by the
superior hydraulic valve tool.

But the appellant was entitled after this release agree-
ment in 1958 to continue the use of this hydraulic valve
tool by arrangements with Johnston Testers Ine. who in
fact owned the patent to it, and the appellant did con-
tinue in precisely the same business as it had been in before.
What it got rid of by this commutation payment in 1958
in exchange for the release agreement wag the large annual
royalty charge against its revenue, payable to the Johnston



2 Ex.C.R. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965] 257

family under the said 1956 agreement. And, therefore, I E’ﬁf
am unable to find that by ceasing to use the main valve Jomwston
testing tool in 1958 the appellant could be considered to ~=~wRs L.

. : : MINISTER OF
be pro tanto going out of any part of its business. NATORAL

In brief, therefore, I find that the true business purpose Revexus
of this commutation payment of $140,977.96 (Can.) in Gibsonyd.
1958 by the appellant, in essence, was not to get rid of a —
capital asset (which was a mere incidental result), but
instead it was to get rid of an onerous annual expense in
respect to a business that it proposed to and did carry on,
and such payment was made in the course of such continu-
ing business; and that as a result no advantage or benefit
either positive or negative accrued to the capital account
of the appellant, but instead all the advantage and benefit
obtained was of a revenue character and, therefore, the
payment was not a capital outlay within the meaning of
section 12(1)(d) of The Income Tax Act.

The appeal, therefore, is allowed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.

THE ONTARIO ADMIRALTY DISTRICT E’ff
BETwWEEN: De_c'_m
CANADA MALTING CO. LIMITED ..... PLAINTIFF; 1965

AND Mar.5
THE BURNETT STEAMSHIP CO. IR
LIMITED AND CHAS. H. TRE- DEFENDANTS.

GENZA CO. LTD. ..............

Shipping—Carriage of goods—Damage to goods—Transfer of risk in f.ob.
contracts—Application to add party as plaintiff—Grounds for refusing
to add party as plaintiff on his consent—Expiry of limitation period for
instituting action—Application to add as plaintiff principal for whom
present plaintiff acted as agent—Order that party be added as plaintiff
on terms—Water Carriage of Goods Act, R.S.C. 1952, ¢c. 291, Rule 6—
Bills of Lading Act, R.8.C. 1952, c. 16, 5. 1.

This is an application brought by the plaintiff for an order adding a party,
Oland & Son Limited, as a plaintiff in this action, on the consent of
the party sought to be added. The defendants resisted the application
on the ground that the limitation period set out in Rule 6 in the
schedule to the Water Carriage of Goods Act, RS.C. 1952, c. 201 has
expired and any cause of action that might have existed between the
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party sought to be added as a plaintaff and the defendants is now
barred.

Mauming The evidence on the application established that the plaintiff was the con-

Co. L.
v,
BurNETT
SteaMsHIP
Co. L.
etal.

signor of a cargo of malt shipped from Port Arthur to Oland & Son
Limited at Halifax on board a steamship owned by the defendant, The
Burnett Steamship Co. Limited and chartered by the defendant
Chas. H. Tregenza Co. Ltd. It is not clear when title to the malt
passed from the plaintiff to Oland & Son Limited, the party sought to
be added as a plaintiff. This action was instituted as a consequence
of the damaged condition of the malt on arrival at Halifax.

Held: That prima facte, in f.0.b. contracts the general rule appears to be

that the risk passes on the shipment of the goods, that is to say, as soon
as they are delivered to the carrier.

2. That the bill of lading in this case indicates that it was taken by the

plaintiffl acting as agent for Oland & Son Limited, the purchaser of
the malt. This raises the question as to who the plaintiff in this action
should be,

3. That the Court is precluded from granting the order applied for only if

by doing so the defendants are deprived of some legal defence which
they now have or the plaintiff would thereby be permitted to set up
8 new cause of action, by the addition of Oland & Son Limited as a
plaintiff.

4. That the bill of lading was entered into by the plaintiff as an agent and

the only person for whom it could be an agent in the circumstances is
Oland & Son Limited to whom the goods were being consigned. From
s very short time after the cargo bad been delivered in a damaged
condition at Halifax the defendants knew that a claim was being
asserted against them, and the addition of Oland & Son Limited as a
plaintiff is merely to add and bring before the Court the real principal
in the case for whom the present plaintiff acts as an agent.

5. That as agent for Oland & Son Limited the plaintiff was the contracting

party and it is advisable that it should continue in the case because
of that.

6. That in permitting Oland & Son Limited to be added as a plaintiff, the

defendants are not being deprived of any real defence they have to
this action, nor is any new cause of action being set up.

7. That there will be an order nunc pro tunc as of the issue of the wrlt

permitting Oland & Son Limited to be added as a party plaintiff and
for the necessary amendments to be made to the pleadings, the order
being on the terms that the plaintiffs will not be entitled to any
further costs against the defendants than the present plaintiff would
have been entitled to if it had gone to trial and had succeeded.

APPLICATION for an order nunc pro tunc to join a

plaintiff to the action.

The application was heard by the Honourable Mr.

Justice Wells, District Judge in Admiralty for the Ontario
Admiralty Distriet, at Toronto.

P.F. M. Jones for plaintiff.
A. J. Stone, Q.C., for the defendant, The Burnett

Steamship Co. Limited.
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J. W. Macdonald for the defendant, Chas. H. Tregenza.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

WeLLs, D.J.A. now (March 5, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing decision:

This application was brought by the plaintiff and heard
on Thursday the 10th Deceember last for an order that
Oland & Son Limited be joined nunc pro tunc as a plaintiff
in this action and for an order amending the style of cause
herein accordingly and for an order permitting the parties
hereto to deliver such amended pleadings as to them seem
necessary.

The material before me on this application consists of
an affidavit by one Reginald James Thomas of Toronto,
who is the comptroller of the plaintiff company. Mr.
Thomas was cross examined on his affidavit and the facts
as set out by him appear to be quite simple and are not
controverted, as far as I am aware. They are that the action
arises out of damage caused to a cargo of malt shipped by
the plaintiff from its elevator at Port Arthur to Oland &
Son Limited at Halifax, Nova Scotia on board the steam-
ship Tynemouth. The plaintiff was the consignor of the
said cargo, the Burnett Steamship Co. Limited is the
owner of the ship Tynemouth and the defendant Chas. H.
Tregenza Co. Ltd. was the charterer of the ship at the time.
Oland & Son Limited who seeks to be added was the
purchaser of the malt and is a brewer in Halifax.

Paragraph 5 of Mr. Thomas’ affidavit I think sets out

the gist of the matter which was before me, when he says
as follows:

I am informed by my solicitors and verily believe that upon the
information available to them at the time the writ was issued, it appeared
that the plaintiff was the sole owner of the goods. It now appears that title
to the goods may have been in Oland & Son Limited at the time of the
loss, and accordingly, the presence of Oland & Son Limited is necessary in
order to enable the court effectively and completely to adjudicate upon
the questions involved in this action.

Oland & Son Limited has also signed a consent to being
joined as a plaintiff in this aciion.
As I have already said Mr. Thomas was cross examined

on his affidavit, but it would appear that the question of
when the title in the malt, which was the subject matter
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of this dispute, passed from the present plaintiff to Oland
& Son Limited in Halifax is far from clear. The cross
examination on the affidavit of course, was not an examina-
tion for discovery and was not treated as such by anyone
concerned. It is interesting however to look at one of the
Bills of Lading which was filed as a specimen before me.
What I take to be Exhibit 1 in the cross examination is
a contract dated July 23, 1962, which is said to cover the
purchase of malt from Canada Malting Co. Limited by
Messrs. Oland & Son Limited, Halifax, Nova Scotia. The
amount is Sixty Thousand (60,000) bushels Screened Old
Crop Brewers’ Malt at a price of $2.01 net cash per bushel
of 36 pounds, f.o.b. Port Arthur, All the malt covered by
the contract was to be ordered out for delivery prior to
November 30, 1962. The bill of lading is also instructive.
It is dated at Port Arthur on September 24, 1962 and
covers goods shipped in apparent good order and condition
from the port of Port Arthur, Ontario, by Canada Malting
Co. Limited as agent and forwarder for account and at the
risk of whom it may concern, on board the vessel S.S.
Tynemouth whereof Capt. J. Barrass is Master, now in
the port of Port Arthur, Ontario and bound for Halifax,
Nova Scotia, the property herein described to be delivered
as agreed herein in like order and condition, to the order
of Oland & Son Limited, or his or their assigns at Halifax,
N.S., upon payment of freight and charges as noted below.

The specimen Bill of Lading which was shown to me
covered 10,000 bushels or 360,000 1bs. of blended brewers
malt. The bill of lading was accepted and signed by some-
one whose signature is illegible to me, as agent for the
vessel.

Normally, apart from questions of laches there would
not be much exception taken to an application of this sort,
particularly in view of Section I of the Bills of Lading Act.
However, a real objection is made by the defendants on the
basis of the rules set out in the schedule to the Water
Carriage of Goods Act, which is Chapter 291 R.S.C. 1952.
These rules embody what are normally called the Hague
Rules and are a series of rules relating to bills of lading and
other matters which were designed to liberalize and bring
up to date the Maritime Law as it then stood in several
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jurisdictions. They were also designed of course to create E‘f

some uniformity. CANADA

Rule 6 deals with the question of loss or damage and 1(\3%%?;0

notice thereof and the third paragraph of that rule is as Brmm:-r-r
follows: Smmamsmre

In any event the carrier and the ship shall be discharged from all et al. ’
liability in respect of loss or damage unless suit is brought within one year
after delivery of the goods or the date when the goods should have been WellsDJ A.

delivered.

This loss of course, occurred in the year 1962. The writ
was issued on November 27, 1963 and it would appear
that if the rule does create a limitation of action, it has
been greatly exceeded.

Having referred to many authorities on the subject it
appears to me that the most suceinet and practical state-
ment of the principles which governs the Common Law
Courts in the exercise of their jurisdiction when dealing
with a Statute of Limitations, is set out by Scruton L.J.
in the case of Mabro v. Eagle Star and British Dominion
Insurance Co.! where he said this:

In my experience the Court has always refused to allow a party or a
cause of action to be added, where if it were allowed, the defence of the
Statute of Limitations would be defeated. The Court has never treated it
ag just to deprive a defendant of a legal defence. If the facts show either
that the particular plaintiff or the new cause of action sought to be added
are barred, I am unable to understand how it is possible for the Court to
disregard the statute.

An examination of the contract of purchase and sale of
the malt in question, of which the shipment on the Tyne-
mouth was but a part, discloses that some 60,000 bushels
were sold by the plaintiff to Oland & Son Limited, Halifax,
Nova Secotia, f.o.b. Port Arthur. Prima facie in f.0.b. con-
tracts, the general rule appears to be that the risk passes
on the shipment of the goods, that is to say, as soon as they
are delivered to the carrier. Admittedly there are circum-
stances which prevent the passage of ownership from the
vendor to the purchaser at this point, but I am not able to
say from the evidence before me whether any exists in this
case or not.

P.S. Atiyah in his book “The Sale of Goods” in Chapter
19, Transfer of Property and Risk in Export Sales says at
page 123 under the sub-heading F.0.B. Contracts, (he is
of course dealing with the Act in the United Kingdom):

1119321 1 K B. 485 at 487.
91541—6



262
1965

——
CANADA
MaLTiNG
Co. L.

v.

BUBNETT

SrEAMSHIP
Co. L

et al.

Wells D.JA.

2 RC.del’E. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651

In f.ob. contracts the general rule is that the risk passes on shipment
of the goods, that is to say, as soon as they are over the ship’s rail.
Although the risk usually passes with the property, the risk may well pass
before the property in f.ob. contracts. Thus if the goods are unascertained,
and are shipped together with other consignments no property can pass until
the goods are specifically appropriated to the particular contract, but the
risk passes nonetheless on shipment. Moreover, even when the goods are
specifically appropriated to the contract the property may not pass because
there is a contrary intention within the meaning of Section 18, or because
the appropriation is not unconditional. Thus if the seller reserves the right
of disposal by taking the bill of lading in his own name Sect. 19(1) and (2)
come into operation to delay the passing of the property. Sect. 19(1)
has already been set out above. Sect. 19(2) provides—

“Where goods are shipped, and by the bill of lading the goods are
deliverable to the order of the seller or his agent, the seller is prima
facie deemed to reserve the right of disposal.”

In such a case the property does not pass until the bill of lading is
transferred to the buyer.

Further he says:

Despite the fact that the Court may easily be driven to a contrary
conclusion it may be said that in f.ob. contracts the general rule is that
property and risk pass together on the shipment of the goods.

In this case as I have already indicated, the bill of lading
was taken by Canada Malting Co. Limited as agent and
forwarder for account and at the risk of whom it may con-
cern, on board the vessel S.S. Tynemouth and the stipula-
tion was that the property herein deseribed was to be de-
livered as agreed herein in like order and condition to the
order of Oland & Son Limited, or their assigns at Halifax,
Nova Scotia.

I think it may fairly be said that this bill of lading would
indicate that the present plaintiff took it acting as agent for
Oland & Son Limited the purchaser of the malt. It there-
fore raises the question as to who the plaintiff in this action
should be. The present plaintiff made the contract with the
defendant ship and in that respect reference may be made
to the opinion of Lord Simonds in the House of Lords in
Scruttons Ltd. v. Midland Silicones Ltd.! The appellants
were Scruttons Ltd. and Midland Silicones Ltd. were the
respondents. At page 467 Viscount Simonds, after noting
that it was argued that the carrier had purported to
contract for the benefit of the stevedores and it was argued
that if they had done so, the stevedores could enforce the
contract Lord Simonds observed:

1[1962] A.C. 446.
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Learned counsel for the respondents met it, as they had successfully
done in the courts below, by asserting a principle which is, I suppose, as
well established as any in our law, a “fundamental” principle, as Lord
Haldane called it in Dunlop Pneumatic Tyre Co. Ltd. v. Selfridge & Co.
Ltd., [1915]1 A.C. 847, 853; 31 T.L.R. 399, H.L. an “elementary” principle,
as it has been ealled times without number, that only a person who is a
party to a contract can sue upon it. “Our law”, said Lord Haldane, “knows
nothing of a jus quaesitum tertio arising by way of contract”, Learned
counsel for the respondents claimed that this was the orthodox view and
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asked your Lordships to reject any proposition that impinged upon it. Wells DJ.A.

To that invitation I readily respond. For to me heterodoxy, or, as some
might say, heresy, 1s not the more attractive because it is dignified by the
name of reform. Nor will I easily be led by an undiscerning zeal for some
abstract kind of justice to ignore our first duty, which is to administer
justice according to law, the law which is established for us by Act of
Parliament or the binding authority of precedent. The law is developed by
the application of old principles to new circumstances. Therein lies its
genius. Its reform by the abrogation of those principles is the task not of
the courts of law but of Parliament. Therefore I reject the argument for
the appellants under this head and invite your Lordships to say that certain
statements which appear to support it in recent cases such as Smith and
Snipes Hall Farm Ltd. v. River Douglas Catchment Board, [1949] 2 K B.
500; 65 T.L.R. 628; [1949] 2 A1l ER. 179 C.A. and White v. John Warwick
& Co. Lid. (1953) 1 W.L.R. 1285; [1953] 2 All E.R. 1021, C.A. must be
rejected. If the principle of jus quaesitum tertio is to be introduced into
our law it must be done by Parliament after a due consideration of its
merits and demerits. I should not be prepared to give it my support
without a greater knowledge than I at present possess of its operation in
other systems of law.

Dealing with the problem before me I venture to quote
a dissenting judgment of my brother MacKay in 1962 in
the case of Board of Commissioners of Police of Corpora-
tion of Township of London v. Western Freight Lines Ltd.
and Ulch'. While in this case MacKay J.A. was the dis-
sentient judge the case on which he relied has I think some
bearing on the matters before me and I quote his judgment
and the long quotation from the case of Robinson v. Uni-
cos beginning at page 953.

As was pointed out in the case of Robinson et al. v. Unicos Property
Corp. Ltd. [1962]1 2 All E.R. 24, the rule that amendments will not be per-
mitted if a statute of limitations has intervened, is not a rule applying

generally to all amendments. At pp. 25-6 of the Robinson case Holroyd
Pearce, L.J. said:

“. .. the defendant relies on the well-known words of Lord Esher, M.R.
in Weldon v. Neal (1887) 19 Q B.D. 394 at p. 395, where he said:

‘We must act on the settled rules of practice, which is that amend-
ments are not admissible when they prejudice the rights of the opposite
party as existing at the date of such amendments. If an amendment
were allotted setting up a cause of action, which, if the writ were
issued in respeect thereof at the date of the amendment, would be

1119621 O.R. 948.
91541—6}



264

1965
——
CaNapa
MarriNg
Co. Ltp.
v.
BurNETT
SteAMsHIP
Co. L.
et al.

WellsD.JA.

2 RC.del’E COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

barred by the Statute of Limitations, it would be allowing the plaintiff
to take advantage of her former writ to defeat the statute and taking
away an existing right from the defendant, a proceeding which, as a
general rule, would be, in my opinion, improper and unjust. Under very
peculiar circumstances the court might perhaps have power to allow
such an amendment, but certainly as a general rule it will not do so’
Those words were used in a case where the plaintiff had brought a slander
action, had been non-suited, had then obtained from the Court of Appeal
an order for a new trial, and then sought to amend by setting up false
imprisonment, assault and other causes of action. It was, therefore, a clear
case where the plaintiff was trying to set up not only a new cause of action
but several new causes of action. Counsel for the defendant then referred
us to Cook v. Gill, (1873), LR. 8 C.P. 107 at p. 116, where Brett J. said:
“Cause of action” has been held from the earliest time to mean
every fact which is material to be proved to entitle the plaintiff to
succeed,—every fact which the defendant would have a right to
traverse.
He contends that it was in that sense that Lord Esher M.R. said that no
amendment could be allowed setting up a cause of action. If that argument
is right, it follows that no material fact could ever be amended or added
after the period of limitation had expired. Such a narrow meaning was
certainly not put on Lord Esher’s words in such cases as Collins v. Hert-
fordshire County Council, [19471 1 All ER. 633; [1947] K.B. 598 and
Dornan v. J. W. Ellis & Co. Ltd., [1962] 1 All ER. 303.
In my view the dictum of Lord Esher was not intended to lay down
a rule that no material averment could ever be amended or added to after
the period of limitation had expired. When he said ‘a cause of action’, he
was, I think, referring to what is popularly known as a cause of action,
namely a claim made on a certain basis. By ‘a new cause of action’, he
meant a new claim made on a new basis.”

In the case at Bar I am only precluded from making the
amendment if by doing so I deprive the defendants of
some legal defence which they now have, or if I permit
the plaintiff to set up, by the addition of Oland & Son
Limited, a new cause of action. Examining this matter I
am not convinced that if the amendment is made as asked
either of these things occur.

To begin with the bill of lading was entered into by the
present plaintiff as an agent and the only person for whom
it could be an agent in the circumstances of this case
is Oland & Son Limited to whom the goods were being
consigned. That is quite clear from the material before me.

From a very short time after the cargo had been deliv-
ered in a damaged condition at Halifax the defendants
knew that a claim was being asserted against them in con-
nection with this shipment of malt and the addition of
Oland & Son Limited as plaintiff is merely to add and
bring before the court the real principal in the case, for
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whom the present plaintiff acted as agent. In doing so it
was the contracting party and I think it advisable that
it should continue in the case because of that. In my opin-
ion I am not depriving the defendants of any real defence
they have to this action, nor am I setting up any new
cause of action. It is precisely the same cause of action
which has existed since the writ was issued.

In doing all this I am also conscious of the fact that the
Limitations Section with which I am dealing is one con-
tained in the Hague Rules and in that respect I would also
like to again refer to the judgment of Viscount Simonds
in the case of Scruttons Ltd. and Midland Silicones Ltd. to
which I have already referred. At page 471 he said:

In the consideration of this case I have not yet mentioned a matter
of real importance. It is not surprising that the questions in issue in this
case should have arisen in other jurisdictions where the common law is
administered, and where the Hague Rules have been embodied in the
municipal law, It is (to put it no higher) very desirable that the same con-
clusions should be reached in whatever jurisdiction the question arises.
It would be deplorable if the nations should, after protracted negotiations,
reach agreement, as in the matter of the Hague Rules and that their several
courts should then disagree as to the meaning of what they appeared to
agree upon: see Riverstone Meat Co. Pty. Ltd. v. Lancashire Shipping Co.
Ltd. [19611 A.C. 807; [1961] 2 W L.R. 278; [1961]1 1 All ER. 495, HL. and
cases there cited. It 1s therefore gratifying to find that the Supreme Court
of the United States in the recent case of Robert C. Herd & Co. Inc. v.
Kraunll Machinery Corporation, (1959) 359 U.S. 297; 119591 1 Lloyd’s Rep.
305, not only unamimously adopted the meaning of the word “ecarrier” in the
relevant Act, which I invite your Lordships to adopt, but also expressed the
view that the Elder, Dempster decision [1924] A.C. 522 did not decide what
is claimed for it by the appellants.

In respect of the matters before me I was referred to
the decision of Firestone Plantations Company v. United
States of America’. This is a judgment of the District
Judge, Wilkin and at page 747 his judgment, which is quite
brief, may be set out in full. It is as follows:

. The motion of The Firestone Tire & Rubber Company for leave to
intervene is sustained. Libellant had a right to file libel; consignor may
sue for benefit of consignee. The City of Brunswick (D. Mass) (1934)
AMC. 552, 6 F. Supp. 597; Aunt Jemina M:lls Co. vs. Belge (SDNY),
(1928) A.M.C. 1635, 38 F. (2d) 398; Northern Commercial Co. vs. Lindblom
(9CCA), 162 Fed. 250. Consignee’s interest entitles it to participate. The
runnmg of the statute of limitations was stopped by the filing of the libel
and therefore did not run against the motion or petition to intervene.
Holmes vs. City of New York (2CCA), 1928 A M.C. 216, 30 F. (2d) 366;
US. vs. Middieton (EDS.C.), 1923 A M.C. 148, 649; (4CCA), 1925 A.MC.
85 3 F. (2d) 384.
1(1945) AM.C. 748.
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1;9'6_‘5 Certain of the authorities relied on would seem to indi-
Canana cate principles of law that are somewhat at variance with
I‘éf‘ffb“ those -obtaining in this jurisdiction, but in view of Lord
Borars Simonds’ remarks it is satisfactory that one has been able
Srmamsmre 00 interpret the limitations section of the Hague Rules

Co.Lm. jn egsentially the same manner.

We;:_;l;IA There will therefore be an order nunc pro tunc as of
— the issue of the writ permitting Oland & Son Limited to
be added as a party plaintiff. If the plaintiffs should see

fit to amend their statement of claim then the defendants
should have the usual time under the rules to amend their
statement of defence. The plaintiffs should have the usual

time to make Reply. As the new plaintiff is out of the
jurisdiction it may be that some question of security for

costs will arise and if so, such matter may be referred to

The Registrar. This is in my opinion an order that should

be made on terms. They are, that the new plaintiff should

agree that at the trial they will not be entitled to any further

costs against the defendants than the present plaintiff
would have been entitled to if they had gone to trial and

had succeeded in the action they have brought. In other
‘words, the costs are not to be increased by reason of the
adding of the new plaintiff. There will be one set of costs

for both plaintiffs. Costs of this motion to defendant in

the cause.
E’f_?j BerwreeN:
Feb. 8-12
s HOFFMANN-LA ROCHE LIMITED ....APPELLANT;

AND

BELL - CRAIG PHARMACEUTI-
CALS DIVISION OF L. D. CRAIG RESPONDENT.
LIMITED .......oiviiniininnnns

Patents—Compulsory licence—Hearing before Commissioner of Patents—
Good reason mnot to grani compulsory licence—Duty of Commissioner
.on application for compulsory licence—Objective of compulsory
licence provision of Patent Act—Commissioner having regard to own
knowledge when considering effect and weight of technical or pro-
fessional emdence—Determanation of amount of royalty payable under
.compulsory licence—Royalty commensurate with maintenance of
research incentive and importance of both process and substance—
Patent Act, R8.C. 1952, c. 203, s. 41(8).
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This is an appeal by the owner by assiznment of the Canadian patent in
respect of an invention for the preparation of the drug, chlordiazepoxide
or chlordiazepoxide hydrochloride, sold by it under the trade name
Librium, from an order of the Commuissioner of Patents made pursuant
to 5. 41(3) of the Patent Act, granting to the respondent a licence to use
the 1nvention.

Prior to the making of the order by the Commissioner of Patents both
parties filed affidavit evidence with the Commissioner and a hearing
was held before him at which both parties adduced viva voce and
documentary evidence and submitted argument.

The appellant now appeals against the granting of the licence to the
respondent, against the royalty fixed by the Commissioner and against
other terms of the licence granted by the Commissioner.

Held: That even 1if a reason put forward by the appellant on this appeal
were one which, as a matter of law, is a “good reason” why the Com-
missioner should not have granted the licence, the Commissioner was
not manifestly wrong in failing to see it as a good reason when the
appellant did not, when 1t was before the Commissioner, present that
reason to the Commissioner for consideration.

2. That the Commissioner cannot be regarded as having been manifestly
wrong in not having seen a “good reason” which was not sufficiently
obvious to prompt the appellant to raise it before the Commissioner.

3. That evidence that was adduced in the proceedings before the Com-
missioner with regard to one issue cannot be regarded as having
established a fact to which neither the Commissioner nor the parties
addressed their minds at the time of the hearing.

4. That the objective of s. 41(3) of the Patent Act is to bring about com-
petition.

5. That there is no duty imposed upon the Commissioner by s 41(3) of
the Patent Act, when he is considering whether there is “good reason”
to reject an application for a compulsory licence, to conduct an investi-
gation as to whether the prices at which the patentee has been selling
the patented product are in fact “reasonable”.

6. That the Commissioner is entitled, in considering the effect and weight
of technical or professional evidence, to take advantage of his general
knowledge of the particular subject matter acquired throughout the
years of his experience as Commissioner and also, indeed, to have
regard to his own professional knowledge as a chemical engineer.

7. That the statutory rule set out in s. 41(3) of the Patent Act to be
applied in determining the amount of royalty will result in a royalty
less than 1t otherwise would be if the only rule to be applied were the
rule in s, 19 of the Patent Act. The general tendency of the rule must
be to require that the Commissioner have regard to the desirability of
making the royalty or other consideration less than market price but
he must not make it so low that it is not consistent with giving to the
inventor due reward for the research leading to the invention.

8. That on the one hand there is a ceiling on the royalty or other con-
sideration to be determined by reference to the theoretical market
place and, on the other hand, there is a floor, beneath which it must not
be reduced from that ceiling, in that it is not to be reduced from
market value to an amount that is not “commensuate with the main-

tenance of research incentive the importance of both process and
substance”.
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That s. 41(3) of the Patent Act does not contemplate or require that the
patentee 1s entitled through payment of royalty by the licensee, in
effect, to that proportion of its wholesale selling price of the sales that
it will lose by virtue of the compulsory licence that medical information
costs and research costs are of the total sale price of all its sales of
patented drugs.

That in fixing the royalty or other consideration under s. 41(3) 1t is not
right to attribute, with some show of mathematical precision, a part
of research cost, or of other costs, to each part of the product manu-
factured pursuant to a particular invention and to conclude that, as a
matter of law, that is the royalty that must be awarded.

That the Commissioner erred in thinking, when considering the amount
of royalty to be paid under the licence, that the finishéd materal in
dosage form, packaged and labelled, was outside the scope of the
patent and immaterial to him because it is precisely the same product
as 1t is when in bulk except that it has been packaged so as to be in
the form in which 1t has value as a merchantable commodity.

That the :appeal is dismissed with the exception of a change i the
method of calculation of the royalty to be paid.

That the appellant will pay to the respondent 90 per cent of its costs
of the appeal.

APPEAL from an order of the Commissioner of Patents.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice

Jackett, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

Gordon F. Henderson, Q.C., and R. G. McClenahan for

appellant.

I. Goldsmith for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the

reasons for judgment.

Jackerr P. now (March 8, 1965) delivered the following

" judgment:

This is an appeal from an order of the Commissioner of

Patents, made pursuant to subsection (3) of section 41

of

the Patent Act, R. S. C. 1952, chapter 203, granting to

the respondent a licence for the use of an invention for
the preparation of a drug, chlordiazepoxide or chlordiaz-

ep
is

oxide hydrochloride, which is used as a tranquillizer and
sold by the appellant under the trade name Librium.

The appellant is a company that carries on business in

Canada selling drugs and vitamins. A substantial part of
its drug business consists in the sale of Librium, which it
imports in bulk, capsulates, packages and sells in Canada.
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The appellant is one of a group of related companies,
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hereinafter referred to as the “La Roche group”. The Horrmann-

other members of the La Roche group carry on business
in other countries. Some of the other companies in the
group carry on research activities in the United States of
America, the United Kingdom.and Switzerland. Librium
is manufactured by members of the group in the United
States and Switzerland and is distributed throughout the
world. The appellant purchases it from members of the
group who so manufacture it. As far as the evidence shows,

each member of the group carries on business on its own
behalf.

The appellant is the owner of a patent (No. 612,497)
under the Patent Act, R. S. C. 1952, chapter 203, in respect
of the invention in question, apparently being the assignee
of the Canadian patent rights from the inventor, Leo H.
Sternbach, of Upper Montclair, New Jersey, U.S.A.

The relevant portion of section 41 of the Patent Act reads
as follows:

(8) In the case of any patent for an invention intended for or capable
of being used for the preparation or production of food or medicine, the
Commissioner shall, unless he sees good reason to the contrary, grant to
any person applying for the same, a licence limited to the use of the inven-

"tion for the purposes of the preparation or production of food or medicine
but not otherwise; and, in settling the terms of such licence and fixing the
amount of royalty or other consideration payable the Commissioner shall
have regard to the desirability of making the food or medicine available to
the public at the lowest possible price consistent with giving to the inventor
due reward for the research leading to the invention.

(4) Any decision of the Commissioner under this section is subject
to appeal to the Exchequer Court.

The first branch of the appellant’s appeal is against the
granting of the licence to the respondent. The second
branch of the appeal is against the royalty fixed by the
Commissioner. The third branch relates to other terms
of the licence granted by the Commissioner.

I had occasion recently, in Aktiebolaget Astra, Apote-
karnes Kemiska Fabriker v. Novocol Chemical Manufactur-
ing Company of Canada Limited', to consider the Court’s

function on such an appeal and I do not propose to repeat
here what I said in that case.

A proper appreciation of the submissions of the parties
on the first branch of the appeal requires a consideration of

119641 Ex. C.R. 955.

LA RoceE
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V.
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L.D. Craia
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Jackett P.
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1965 the proceedings leading up to the Commissioner’s decision
Horrmann- and it is necessary, therefore, to review such proceedings

LA Ro . . . . .
ATeCH® in some detail. My review of those proceedings as is follows:

v.
Beri-Crate (1) APPLICATION BY RESPONDENT FOR COMPULSORY LICENCE:
PaArRMA-

CEUTICALS On August 17, 1962, the respondent filed an applica-

L.%?Cﬁm tion with the Commissioner of Patents for a compulsory
L. licence for the use of the invention disclosed by Patent

Jackett . NO. 612,497 for the purpose of the preparation or produc-

— tion of medicinal and pharmaceutical products contain-

{ ing or incorporating chlordiazepoxide. The application

states that the respondent was established in 1945, since

which time it had carried on the business of a manu-

facturer and distributor throughout Canada of ethical

pharmaceutical products. It gives information concerning

the respondent’s premises and its staff and states that it

had ample facilities for the manufacture of pharmaceuti-

cal products. The application states that the respondent

at all times maintained strict controls and high standards

of purity fully complying with the Food and Drug Act

and that the respondent’s premises and facilities are

periodically inspected by officials of the National Health

and Welfare Department. The application states that the

respondent’s average turnover during the previous five

years had been $345,000 and that its average profits for

that period before taxes had amounted to $28,300 an-

nually. After giving certain information concerning the

patented product and process, the application states that

the respondent company had a guaranteed source of sup-

ply of the “starting material” necessary for the manu-

facture of the patented product and that the respondent

intended to manufacture the patented product at its

premises by the method of manufacture described in the

patent. The application gives certain information con-

cerning the process of manufacture as set out in the

patent and states that the steps referred to are standard

procedures well within the capacity and ability of the
respondent’s facilities and personnel.

The application states that the respondent expected
to be able to manufacture chlordiazepoxide at a cost of
$85 per kilo and to market the substance in tablets or
similar form to be sold to the public at prices specified
in the application,.for example, 10 mg. capsules or tablets
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at $7.75 per hundred. The application states that, to the 1965

best of the respondent’s information and belief, the Hormaann-

appellant is the only supplier of chlordiazepoxide in Can- “AfR0=®
ada, that the appellant sells such compounds under the Barr Crate

trade name Librium at specified prices, for example, 10 Prarma-
mg. capsules at $12 per hundred and that, accordingly, "D o
if a licence were granted to the respondent, the latter L- J%T(SRAIG
would be in a position to make chlordiazepoxide available ——

to the Canadian public at prices substantially lower than JackettP.

those at which it was then being sold. o

(2) COUNTERSTATEMENT FILED BY APPELLANT:

On January 25, 1963, the appellant filed with the Com-
missioner of Patents, a document entitled ‘“Counter-
statement”.

By paragraph 2 of the Counterstatement the appellant
asserted that “The public interest would not be served
by granting the licence for which the Applicant has ap-
plied”. Paragraphs 3 to 14, inclusive, state in detail the
position of the appellant as stated in general terms in
paragraph 2.

Paragraph 3 states that Librium is the first specific
medication for the symptoms of anxiety and tension and
that previously available medications would relieve the
symptoms of anxiety and tension, but either to a lesser
extent than Librium, or by also producing undesirable
side effects, such as habituation or addiction. It states
that Librium is light sensitive and will readily break
down into derivatives if not properly controlled, that
some of the derivatives are more potent than the parent
compound and would cause an overdosage producing
undesirable side effects, that some of the derivatives are
less potent which would render the substance ineffective,
and that others are “definitely toxic”.

Paragraph 4 states that the applicant is not qualified
to manufacture chlordiazepoxide and has neither the
competence nor the facilities to reproduce the process of
the patent “safely”. The paragraph states that it is
apparent, from the application, that the respondent did
not comprehend the magnitude of the process and did
not appreciate the facilities, equipment and personnel
required and the hazards and risks that are involved.
Paragraphs 5 to 10, inclusive, elaborate in some detail
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1963 the appellant’s reasons for alleging that the respondent is

Horrmann-  not qualified to manufacture chlordiazepoxide safely or to

LAIR,:I),‘_’HE manufacture a product which it would be safe to put on
— the market from the point of view of the user.

ELL-CRAIG
PHARMA- Paragraph 11 of the Counterstatement alleges that the
CEUTICALS s .. . . .

Drv. oF respondent’s statements in its application concerning the
L. I%Tgfm" prices at which the appellant sells Librium are incor-
ko p ‘rect, the suggestion concerning the prices at which chlor-

acke .

— diazepoxide manufactured by the respondent could be
marketed is misleading and that “Quality is a more im-
portant criterion of public interest than is the price of
a drug”.

Paragraph 12 of the Counterstatement says that, in
addition to the issues of “competence, facilities, public
interest and public safety” there is a further issue in-
volving the reputation of a most beneficial product. It
states that if a product of inferior quality is produced
by the respondent, the reputation of “Librium” could be

. destroyed and, by virtue of a loss of reputation,.a very
valuable drug may be denied to the public and that,
in addition, the reputation of the appellant is in issue
in that “Librium” is now associated in the public mind
with the appellant and any inferior product would have
a detrimental effect upon the reputation of the appellant.

In paragraph 13, the appellant comes back to the
question of the respondent’s ability to manufacture a
product which it is safe to market. In this paragraph,
the appellant says in effect that the appellant makes its
own starting material and therefore is in a position to
be sure that its ultimate product will be satisfactory and
suggests that the respondent cannot be sure, if it uses a
starting material acquired from someone else, that there
will not be impurities in it which “may react with other
ingredients of the process causing other toxic by-products
in the final substance”.

Paragraph 14 of the Counterstatement refers to para-
graph 17 of the application where the respondent states
that it expected to be able to manufacture chlordiaz-
epoxide at a cost of $85 per kilo and states that the
appellant, from its own knowledge, knows that the manu-
facture of the starting material alone will cost in the
neighbourhood of $85 per kilo if properly made.
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. 1965
(3) REPLY: i

On March 26, 1963, the respondent filed a document Hﬁ‘%ﬁg-
entitled “Reply”, which contains the respondent’s answers  Le.
to some of the allegations in the Counterstatement. pur; tiara
There is no need to review such answers for the purposes ;ﬁﬁa‘f‘:‘s
of this appeal. The Counterstatement contains, in addi- Diwv.or
tion, a statement that the respondent had, then, for the ]%}r?,fme
first time, obtained a firm quotation for the starting ma- _ ——

. . . Jackett P.
terial and that, based on that quotation, its cost of ———
manufacturing chlordiazepoxide should not exceed $150
per kilo. (It will be remembered that the costs were

estimated in the application at $85 per kilo.)

(4) HEARING:

On August 21, 1963, the Commissioner of Patents gave
to each of the parties an opportunity of adducing evi-
dence and of presenting argument. The respective parties
were represented before the Commissioner by the counsel
who represented them on the hearing of the appeal in
this Court. The parties adduced evidence by way of
sworn testimony and by way of documentary exhibits.
I have reviewed the transeript of the hearing before the
Commissioner and it seems clear that each of the parties
restricted its proof and argument to supporting the con-
tentions in the material it had previously filed and attack-
ing the contentions in the material previously filed by its
opponent. I have been able to find no indication that
either of the parties asked the Commissioner to consider
any submission not set out in the documents filed before
the hearing. In particular, I have not been able to see that
the appellant, at any time, asked the Commissioner to
make any finding on the question of “good reason” to
refuse the licence other than those contemplated by
the Counterstatement. I am confirmed in this view by a
review of the transeript of the argument made by counsel
for the appellant before the Commissioner. At pages 53-4
of the transcript of the argument, counsel for the appel-
lant summed up the submissions he had made to that
point as follows:

In relation, then, to this particular prescription drug, I submit:
(1) The applicant is not technically qualified:

(a) He has not had experience in the manufacture of chemicals.
(b) In particular, he has not had experience in the manufacture
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of chemicals having the type of reaction which is entailed here, involv-
ing the type of material which must be handled: on the contrary, he
has shown a lack of understanding of this material and a lack of com-
petence to deal with it.

(¢) He has shown that he does not have the personnel, he is not
himself equipped, and he intimates that he must send his engineer over
to learn—over somewhere. And, as I have said, he has no contract
which would give rise to an assurance that something is going to be
obtained.

In view of all this, I submit that this country ought not to be
delivered to the vagaries of the Italian will. In short, he has no know-
how, he has no experience, he has no personnel. I say he is not qualified.

(2) The applicant is not qualified from the point of view of
facilities.

His present building is a menace to the community and I say this—
and I repeat it—in Mr. Craig’s presence. If he carries out this process
he does it at his risk in those premises, and one can only say: Be it on
his own head. I say that to carry out an explosive type of reaction
such as he proposes to carry out in premises of this kind, with the
volatile materials he proposes to use, and in a residential neighbour-
hood, is a real risk—and I am speaking in terms of the product he is
seeking to produce and under the conditions contemplated.

I have no knowledge of what he is producing now. I am not
criticizing what he is doing now, I repeat, because I have no knowledge
of what he is doing now; I am speaking in the context of what he is
agking you to allow him to do in the premises he has now, and in
that context I say he would be operating not only [sic] but at his

neighbour’s risk as well.

Counsel then dealt with the contention that the respond-
ent’s premises and equipment were not suitable for the
manufacture of the drug and, commencing at page 58,
he developed his contention that the obligation to
make the substance available to the public at a reason-
able price must be considered in the light of the fact
that the drug is a prescription drug which must be con-
sidered “in terms of risks in use”. At page 59, counsel
made the submission that “private rights are not to be
ignored” and that if the product should lose its reputa-
tion in the market then the long term benefits from the
drug may be lost and, on page 60, he submitted that, as
the drug was still in the formative stage, this worked
“in favour of control from a single source”. On pages
60-1, he justified the appellant’s refusal to make public
its “controls”, and on pages 62-3, he came back to the
adequacy of the respondent’s organization and qualifica-
tions. At page 63, he turned to the question of royalty.
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On July 6, 1964, the Commissioner delivered his de-
cision. He dealt with the question as to whether or not a
compulsory licence should be granted to the respondent in
that part of his decision which reads as follows:

The application has been opposed by the patentee on the grounds
that the applicant is not technically qualified, that he does not have the
proper facilities in the way of housing and equipment and that the use of
the invention involves the handling of extremely dangerous materials.

I bave heard many such cases before and it is always a common
ground of attack by the patentee to dwell on the lack of competency of the
applicant and it is my duty to analyze the facts very carefully in order to
arrive at a decision which 1s m conformity with the true intent of the
legislation.

In this case it has been argued that many volatile, explosive and cor-
rosive substances are involved and that a great many things concerning the
process are known by the patentee which are not known by the applicant.

That the patentee, who has had several years of experience in dealing
with the process, knows a great deal more about it than any applicant for
licence, is obvious. It cannot normally be otherwise; however, if an applicant
has to know nearly as much as the patentee concerning a patent, the pur-
pose of the licencing provisions would be defeated.

Section 36 of the Patent Act requires that an applicant shall fully
describe his invention in such full clear, concise and exact terms as to
enable any person skilled in the art to which it appertains, or to which
it is most closely connected, to make, construct, compound or use it. I must
take it for granted that the patentee has fulfilled the requirements of the
Act in describing his invention and he cannot at this time come and say,
Oh no! with the specification alone you cannot do it. It may be true that
the patentee has since learned much about the process, but what he has
learned can also be learned by others. Reference could appropriately be
made here to the statement of Thorson, P. in the Exchequer Court in the
case of Minerals Separation North American Corporation v. Noranda Mines
Limited, [1947]1 Ex. C.R. 306 at pages 316 and 317:

Two things must be described in the disclosures of a specification,
one being the invention, and the other the operation or use of the
invention as contemplated by the inventor, and with respect to each
the description must be correct and full. The purpose underlying this
requirement is that when the period of monopoly has expired the
public will be able, having only the specification, to make the same
successful use of the invention as the inventor could at the time of his
application. The description must be correct; this means that it must
be both clear and accurate. It must be free from avoidable obscurity
or ambiguity and be as simple and distinct as the difficulty of descrip-
tion permits. It must not contain erroneous or misleading statements
calculated to deceive or mislead the persons to whom the specification
is addressed and render it difficult for them without trial and experi-
ment to comprehend in what manner the invention is to be performed.
It must not, for example, direct the use of alternative methods of
putting it into effect if only one is practicable, even if persons skilled
in the art would be likely to choose the practicable method. The
description of the invention must also be full; this means that its
ambit must be defined, for nothing that has not been described may
be validly claimed. The description must also give all information that
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is necessary for successful operation or use of the invention, without
leaving such result to the chance of successful experiment, and if warn-
ings are required in order to avert failure such warnings must be given.
Moreover, the inventor must act uberrima fide and give all information
known to him that will enable the invention to be carried out to its
best effect as contemplated by him.

I have studied the specification very closely and I have not detected
any particular difficulties in carrying out the process of the claims. The
reaction is not carried out at any high temperatures or high pressures.
It is a heterogeneous reaction which, I admit, may present some
problems, but nothing in the specification points out to any unknown
necessary procedure of control. The patentee has stressed the dangers
involved in the handling of the chemical substances which are used in the
process. Out of eight such substances said to be so dangerous I say that
seven of them are used mn a great many synthetic organic reactions as
reactants, solvents, agents of precipitation or crystallizing media and are
found in meostly all research laboratories and manufacturing plants of
organic chemicals. Most organic chemists are thoroughly familiar with such
common substances as methanol, ethanol, acetone, ether, petroleum ether,
methylene chloride and methyl amine, Dealing with quinazoline, I have
not found in the chemical literature any warning concerning such severe
gkin irritating properties as ascribed to it by the patentee. Considering the
statements made by a witness for the patentee concerning the dangers of
the other substances mentioned above and the careful way the statements
were made, while in essence they were true, they would lead a person who
is not conversant with chemistry to a very distorted impression of the
behavior of such substances. In the case of quinazoline, the irritating prop-
erties, which I do not deny, may also have been slightly overstressed. A
great many organic chemical substances are fluffy and dusty and can pro-
duce irrtation of the skin or of the mucous membranes when people come
in contact with them or inhale them. I believe that any chemist with a
reasonable knowledge of organic chemistry and observing the rules of
safety is qualified to work the process of the eclaims. There may be a con-
siderable amount of know-how to be learned, but this can be acquired by a
newcomer, the same as it was acquired by the patentee.

The applicant has in his employ one chemical engineer one pharmacist,
three chemists and one bacteriologist. With such a staff, I have no doubt
that the process described in the patent can be well understood and that the
necessary precautions can be taken particularly in view of the severe warn-
ings given by the patentee during these proceedings.

Objection has also been taken to the fact that the applicant does not
have the proper plant and equipment. Here again, 1t 1s not fair to expect
an applicant to spend considerable sums of money before he knows whether
he 15 going to have a licence or not.

In view of the above considerations I find that a licence should be
granted to the applicant.
The Commissioner then dealt with the question of royalty
in a part of his reasons to which I will refer at a later
stage of these reasons.

By notice of appeal dated July 21, 1964, supplemented
by a further notice of appeal dated October 15, 1964, the
appellant appealed from the Commissioner’s decison.



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965] 277

On August 11, 1964, an application was made to this 1965

Court to stay proceedings in relation to the Commissioner’s Hop%a_xun-
decision, the purpose of the application being to obtain L4 focE®
from this Court an order postponing the effective date of Birs Cnata

the compulsory licence pending disposition of the appeal. ~Prarma-

I dismissed that application® and gave the following reasons Ty o
for so doing: L. DI:T(;RAIG

The only ground, of those that have been urged upon me, upon which -
I would consider granting a stay, if I have authority to grant a stay, is that Jackett P.
the Court might conclude, upon the disposition of the appeal, that the —
Commissioner of Patents erred in not forming the opinion that the risk of
danger to the public inherent in permitting the respondent to manufacture
the patented substance was good reason for refusing the licence.

In that connection, I refer to a statement by Thurlow J. in Hoffman-
La Roche Inmated v. Delmar Chemicals Limited (27 Fox P.C. 178;
[1965] 1 Ex. C.R. 611), concerning the duty of the Commissioner in
dealing with an application under ss. (3) of s. 41, as follows:

But, as I read the section, neither the ability of the particular
applicant to produce the food or medicine safely nor his ability to
produce 'a safe food or medicine is a matter which the Commissioner
is concerned to ensure.

Having regard to that statement, with which I agree, I cannot conclude
that there is a probability that this Court will dispose of this appeal upon
the ground that the Commissioner erred in not forming the opinion that
the risk of danger to the public inherent in permitting the respondent to
manufacure the patented substance was good reason for refusing the
licence.

Furthermore, I am not satisfied that this Court, in an appeal under
8s. (3) of s. 41, has any authority to affect the operation of the Commis-
sioner’s order prior to disposition of the appeal.

The appellant applied to a judge of the Supreme Court of
Canada for leave to appeal from that decision, but such
leave was refused.

On the argument of the branch of the appeal having to
do with the Commissioner’s decision to grant the licence,
counsel for the appellant indicated that the appellant was
not abandoning the publie safety point but, in view of the
opinion so expressed on August 11, he would not make
submissions in this Court with regard to that point.

On the branch of the appeal having to do with the Com-
missioner’s decision to grant a licence, while it was put in
various ways from time to time during the course of a long
argument, the appellant, in effect, based the major portion
of its attack on one principal ground. There was in addition
one relatively minor ground for the attack that was quite
separate from that prinecipal ground.

1119651 1 Ex. CR. 179
9154117
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1965 The principal ground can, I think, be summarized as

Horrmann- follows:

LA RocHE o . . . .

L. (a) it is admitted that section 41(3) requires the Com-
Bais Craza missioner to grant the licence applied for by the
Cll’ngTAfcn:LA; respo,r’ldent ‘“unless he sees good reason to the con-

Div. or trary”,
L.D. Crale . . .

L. (b) the purpose of the provision is to ensure that the
Jackett P. medicine is made available to the public at the

—— lowest “possible” price,

(¢) the lowest possible price at which the medicine can
be made available to the public is a price that is
reasonable having regard to all the necessary costs
of discovering, producing and making available to
the public, drugs of this particular kind,

(d) the appellant did, by its evidence before the Com-
missioner, establish that the drug was already being
made available to the public at such a reasonable
price, which is therefore “the lowest possible price’™,
and there was no evidence upon which the Com-
missioner could have found that there was a likeli-
hood that the respondent would be able to make the
drug available to the public at a lower price,

(e) it having been established that the drug is already
being made available to the public at the lowest
possible price, it follows that the grant of a compul-
sory licence will serve no useful purpose in this par-
ticular case,

(f) the grant of a licence to a person such as the re-
spondent to manufacture and distribute the drug
in question will be contrary to the public interest

1Tt was accepted for purposes of the hearing before the Commissioner
that the respondent could produce chlordiazepoxide in bulk (variously
referred to as the “crude”, “basic” or “active” material) for $150 per
kilo and that there would be an additional cost of $250 per kilo for
capsulating and of $60 per kilo for bottling and packaging, making a
total cost for putting the material in usable dosage form of $460 per
kilo. It was also common ground that, at the price of $7.75 per 100
of the 10 mg. dosage size, at which the respondent claimed it could
enable the product to be supplied to the public, the respondent would
net about $3,500 per kilo after allowing for retailer’s margin, whole-
saler’s margmm and taxes At the appellant’s suggested list price to the
public of $12 per 100 of the same size, making the same allowances,
the appellant netted about $5,405 per kilo but its average price per
kilo was $4,600. The difference between the cost of $460 per kilo and
the appellant’s realization of $4,600 per kilo appeared, on the evidence,
if 1t could be taken to give a complete and balanced picture, to be
no more than adequate to cover costs of research and medical
information, other necessary overhead expenses and a modest profit.
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(i) because it will deprive the appellant of the 195

monopoly rights essential to its recovering the :HLOF§MANN-
costs of discovering such new and useful drugs 1o
and making them available to the public and will Brrs g

. . . BeLL-Crarg
thus tend to deprive the public of the possi- Prarma-
bility of similar discoveries of new and useful T on®

drugs in the future, and L.D. Crae

(ii) because it will deprive the public of the advan- L.
tages which flow from the appellant’s programme Jackett .
of gathering and distributing medical informa-
tion with reference to the drug, which is still
in a formative stage, which programme can
only be carried on with real advantage to the
public if the appellant is the sole manufacturer
of the drug so that it can ensure that all of the
drug distributed to the public is maintained in
accordance with a constant standard of purity;

(g) the Commissioner should have seen that the facts
outlined above constituted good reason for not grant-
ing the licence pursuant to the appellant’s applica-
tion and he was manifestly wrong in not seeing it.

Put slightly differently, but amounting to the same thing,
the appellant contended that

(a) on the one hand, the purpose of providing for a
compulsory licence is to ensure that the particular
drug is sold at a reasonable price and this reason
for granting the licence was negatived once it was
shown that the appellant sold the drug at a reason-
able price, and

(b) on the other hand, it is in the publie interest that
these new drugs—referred to in the business as

“winners”—Dbe discovered and, therefore, that the

essential research and medical information be paid

for, and it is also in the public interest that the full
potentialities of the drug be developed and placed
at the service of the public and these objectives can
only be achieved by leaving to the patentee the full
scope of his monopoly so that he may recover such
essential costs and have the required conditions of
guaranteed standards of purity of the drug for its

development by the medical information services:
9154173
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1965 and the Commissioner was manifestly wrong in not having

Horrmann- recognized such obvious facts and conclusions as being
LaRocHE ’ . .
D. good reason” for not granting the licence.
Brr. Onara There are many possible answers to the appellant’s
Pmarma- complex submission, which I have endeavoured to sum-
rro® marize as fairly as I can. It will be sufficient for my purpose
L. D.Crata 4o indicate three of them, each of which I am satisfied is
——  an adequate answer, and to indicate that I am not to be
Jackett P. taken otherwise to have accepted any part of the sub-
mission.
The first answer to this submission, in my view, is that,
even if the reason put forward now were one which, as a
matter of law, is a “good reason”, the Commissioner was
not manifestly wrong in failing to see it as a good reason
when the appellant did not, when it was before the Com-
missioner, present that reason to the Commissioner for con-
sideration®. It has to be recognized that all the propositions
outlined in the paragraphs I have lettered (b) to (f) above
have to be taken together to constitute a single “good rea-
son” which, in the appellant’s submission, the Commissioner
should have seen. The appellant contended, but without too
much assurance, that it had presented this to the Commis-
sioner as a “good reason”. Alternatively, it contended that,
whether or not a submission had been made to the Commis-
sioner with regard thereto, the Commissioner was manifestly
wrong in not having seen it himself because it was to be
gleaned from an examination of the evidence presented to
the Commissioner. In my view, the Commissioner cannot be
regarded as having been manifestly wrong in not having
seen a “good reason” which was not sufficiently obvious to
prompt the appellant to raise it before the Commissioner.
My second reason for rejecting this submission on behalf
of the appellant is that I am not satisfied that the facts
which, according to the submission, were clearly established
by the evidence were, in fact, so clearly established or,
indeed, established at all. For example, no issue was raised
by the respondent’s Application or the appellant’s Counter-
statement as to whether the appellant’s prices were reason-
able and the evidence adduced before the Commissioner was
not therefore adduced with regard to such an issue. I cannot

1 There is some doubt in my mind whether a situation could ever arise
where the Commissioner would be wrong in law in not seeing a par-
ticular reason as a “good reason” providing he has complied with the
rules of natural justice.
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agree that evidence that was adduced with regard to some B‘f

other issue can be regarded as having established a fact to Horrmawn-
which, as far as I ean ascertain, neither the Commissioner AII,{;)DC e

nor the parties addressed their minds at the time of the , %
hearing. If such evidence had been given for the expressed Prarma-

purpose of establishing the facts upon which the appellant Ty op "

now relies, it might have been supplemented or qualified by L- D CR“G
cross-examination or by other evidence. Furthermore, there
are many attacks that could be made upon the evidence as
it stands from the point of view of whether it establishes
that the price at which the appellant sells its product in
Canada is the “lowest possible price” and, therefore, a rea-
sonable price. The very fact that, according to the evidence,
the drug appears to have been sold by the La Roche group
at different prices in different countries and, indeed, at
different prices in Canada, and that no evidence was adduced
as to actual prices, but only as to averages, raises some ques-
tion as to whether it is being sold in Canada at the “lowest
possible price”. As suggested by the respondent, it would
have been interesting to know the group’s prices in coun-
tries where it has no patent for the drug and to have been
able to compare such prices with prices in Canada. The
more fundamental difficulty with the evidence, as I under-
stand the case that the appellant now tries to make out, is
the assumption that, in respect of certain matters, the world
costs of the La Roche group should be spread evenly over
all the patented drugs sold by all the companies forming
that group for the purpose of determining what is a “reason-
able” price at which to sell in Canada and that other costs
incurred by the appellant company itself in Canada should
be spread evenly over the drugs sold by the appellant in
Canada for the same purpose. Even where a tribunal is set
up to regulate the prices of a statutory monopoly, such as
a transportation company, it is not usual, and certainly not
legally necessary, to determine “reasonable” prices in such
an arithmetical way. I am not satisfied that, as a matter of
law, such a formula must be applied to determine “reason-
able” prices for the sale of goods under a monopoly con-
ferred by a patent and this, in effect, is what the appellant
contends. In fact, of course, the appellant does not recover
its research and medical information costs evenly from all
its sales. It sells the drug in the dosage form at prices that

J ackett P.
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vary as widely as from $3,450 per kilo, at which price it sells
to hospitals, to $5,405 per kilo, which appears to have been
its ordinary wholesale price in Canada.

My third reason for rejecting the appellant’s main submis-
sion in support of its appeal against the granting of the
licence is that, in my view, it is based upon a fundamental
misconception as to the legislative intention embodied in
section 41(3). The appellant’s contention, as I understood
it, is that the fundamental, if not the sole, objective of
section 41(3) is to ensure that the particular produet is sold
at a reasonable price or, “at the lowest possible price” which,
according to his interpretation, is the reasonable price hav-
ing regard to the costs of the patentee. He deduces from this
that it is the Commissioner’s duty under the section to
determine whether or not the patentee’s prices are reason-
able because that must, as a matter of law, be a very
important factor in determining whether there is “good
reason” for rejecting the application for a licence. In my
view, the objective of the provision is to bring about com-
petition. On balance, in most fields, competition is regarded
by Parliament as being in the public interest because com-
petition regulates prices in the public interest and also
because competition tends to bring about greater efficiency,
better service, and further research. The monopoly granted
to an inventor is an exception to this general prineiple in
our law. Section 41(3) was passed because, in the field to
which it applies, “the specific public interest in free com-
petition” was deemed to be more important than the main-
tenance of the patentee’s monopoly rights. Compare
Howard Smith Paper Mills, Limited v. The Queent. Just as
it has been consistently held that it is no answer to a charge
of a breach of the Canadian laws against combines to show
that, in a particular case, the prices at which the goods have
been sold have been “reasonable” so, in my view, there is no
duty imposed upon the Commissioner by subsection (3) of
section 41 of the Patent Act, when he is considering whether
there is “good reason” to reject an application for a com-
pulsory licence, to conduct an investigation as to whether
the prices at which the patentee has been selling the
patented produect are in fact “reasonable”.

For the above reasons, I reject what I have referred to
as the appellant’s “principal” attack on the Commissioner’s
decision to grant a licence.

1119571 S.CR. 403.
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The other ground upon which the appellant attacks the
Commissioner’s decision to grant a licence is that the Com-
missioner, in considering the submissions that were made to
him by the appellant with regard to the ability of the
respondent to make the drug in question, went outside the
evidence that was before him and relied upon material
which the appellant was given no opportunity to answer?.
To appreciate the weight that should be given to this sub-
mission, reference should be made to the whole of the pas-
sage in the Commissioner’s reasons in which is found the
particular statement upon which the appellant founds its
objection. That passage reads as follows:

I have studied the specification very closely and I have not detected
any particular difficulties in carrying out the process of the claims. The
reaction is not carried out at any high temperatures or high pressures. It
is a heterogeneous reaction which, I admit, may present some problems,
but nothing in the specification points out to any unknown necessary
procedure of control. The patentee has stressed the dangers involved in the
handling of the chemical substances which are used in the process. Out of
eight such substances said to be so dangerous I say that seven of them are
used in a great many synthetic organic reactions as reactants, solvents,
agents of precipitation or crystallizing media and are found in mostly all
research laboratories and manufacturing plants of organic chemicals. Most
organic chemists are thoroughly familiar with such common substances as
methanol, ethanol, acetone, ether, petroleum ether, methylene chloride and
methyl amine. Dealing with quinazoline, I have not found in the chemical
literature any warning concerning such severe skin irritating properties as
ascribed to it by the patentee. Considering the statements made by a wit~
ness for the patentee concerning the dangers of the other substances men-
tioned above and the careful way the statements were made, while in
essence they were true, they would lead a person who is not conversant
with chemistry to a very distorted impression of the behaviour of such
substances. In the case of quinazoline, the irritating properties, which I do
not deny, may also have been slightly overstressed. A great many organic
chemical substances are fluffy and dusty and can produce irritation of the
skin or of the mucous membranes when people come in contact with them
or inhale them. I believe that any chemist with a reasonable knowledge of
organic chemistry and observing the rules of safety is qualified to work
the process of the claims. (The emphasis is mine.)

The appellant’s objection to the Commissioner’s treatment
of this subject is related particularly to the words “Dealing
with quinazoline, I have not found in the chemical litera-
ture any warning concerning such severe skin irritating

1 As this attack relates to the portion of the Commissioner’s reasons
where he was dealing with the “public safety” point, concerning which
the appellant made no submission in this Court, I would be bound to
reject it, even if it were otherwise sound, because, in my view, the
Commissioner should have, and would have, rejected “public safety”
as a “good reason” regardless of his finding on the facts.
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properties as ascribed to it by the patentee”. In support of
his objection to the fact that the Commissioner resorted to
chemical literature, the appellant relied upon Hughes v.
Lancaster’s Steam Coal Collieries* per Tucker, L. J. at page
558. In that case, a compensation board had rejected
evidence of an expert nature concerning the characteristics
of hernia by reason of evidence received by the board in
other cases and Tucker, L. J. said that “The Judge clearly
went wrong, as he is not entitled to reject the uncontra-
dicted evidence before him by reason of his preference for
evidence that had been given by other witnesses in other
cages . . .” This, in my view, is not the same sort of case. In
this case, the Commissioner was appraising the weight to be
given to the evidence which he was discussing and was not
rejecting the evidence in favour of evidence which he had
found outside the record. His conclusion was that “In the
case of quinazoline, the irritating properties . . . may also
have been slightly overstressed”. There can, in my opinion,
be no doubt that the Commissioner was entitled, in con-
sidering the effect and weight of technical or professional
evidence, to take advantage of his general knowledge of
the particular subject matter acquired throughout the years
of his experience as Commissioner and also, indeed, to have
regard to his own professional knowledge as a chemical
engineer, which, I understand, is his profession. This is sup-
ported, in my view, by the balance of the sentence in
Tucker, L. J.’s judgment, from which I have already quoted.
That sentence concludes “. . . although, no doubt, he is
perfectly entitled to use the knowledge that he has acquired
in this class of case in order to understand and test the
evidence of the witnesses who are called before him”.

The appellant also attacked the Commissioner’s reference
to chemical literature as constituting a failure to observe the
principle of natural justice which was applied by the House
of Lords in Ridge v. Baldwin®. Possibly, the most favourable
statement of the rule in question, from the point of view of
the appellant, is the statement of Lord Parmoor in De Ver-
teuil v. Knaggs®, where he said that the person who there
had the duty of making a decision had “. . . a duty of giving
to any person against whom the complaint is made a fair
opportunity to make any relevant statement which he may

1119471 2 All ER. 556.
2119631 2 All ER. 66. 319181 A.C. 557.
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desire to bring forward and a fair opportunity to correct or E‘f
confrovert any relevant statement brought forward to his Horrman-
prejudice”. I doubt very much that this rule operates in any ™ %.;)Dm
way in this case in favour of the appellant. In the first place,

. . . BELL—CBAIG
the issue in this case was whether there was “good reason” ~Pmarma-
why a licence should not be granted to the respondent and FreAs
the appellant was in the position of making allegations L. D CRAIG
with regard thereto to the prejudice of the respondent!. In
the second place, I have not been able to find any case in J*“’ki“ P.
which the rule has been applied so as to require that the
person making a complaint against someone else, or indeed
the person against whom a complaint has been made, be
given an opportunity of seeing and commenting on all the
material ultimately placed before the officer having to make
the decision. (In De Verteuil v. Knaggs, supra, the rule was
held to have been observed by reason of the fact that the
person against whom the complaint was made had been
informed of the substantive allegations made against him
and was given an opportunity of answering them.) In any
event, in my view, the rule does not detract from the right
of the tribunal to “understand and test” the evidence of the
witnesses having regard to the general body of knowledge
available to the tribunal concerning the technieal subject to
which the evidence relates.

The second branch of the appeal against the Commis-
sioner’s decision has to do with the amount of the royalty.

The sole reference to royalty in the appellant’s Counter-
statement was paragraph 15 which reads as follows:

If, contrary to the submission herein, a licence is granted to the
applicant, the royalty paid thereon should be commensurate with the
maintenance of research incentive and with the importance of both the
process and the substance involved.

At the hearing before the Commissioner, the appellant
put in a large volume of evidence concerning the cost of the
research operations carried on by the La Roche group and
relating such costs to the total volume of sales of patented
drugs by those companies. Evidence was also given designed
to show that this group of companies did not make unrea-
sonable profits on its sales of patented drugs. There was

also evidence establishing the importance of the drug

1Tt would seem that, having formed a tentative appraisal of the appel-
lant’s evidence, the Commissioner turned to the textbooks to make
sure that there was nothing there to invalidate his conclusion. This
process does not mvolve an “allegation” to the prejudice of either
party.
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195 Librium to the general public. No evidence was offered as to

Horrmann- the amount of royalty for which a licence would be granted
La Rocue S11e o113 .
im. by a willing patentee to a person willing to enter into a
B Grata contract for such a licence. It appears, from the evidence
Pmarma- that it is improbable that any meaningful evidence could

o have been found on that point.

L. I%Tg“m Evidence was put in that was designed to show that the

JMEP annual research costs of the La Roche group amounted to

7" 178 per cent of annual sales by those companies of

patented drugs and that a reasonable return on the capital

invested in those research activities amounted to 7.12 per

cent of such annual sales of patented drugs. Evidence was

further put in designed to show that the medical informa-

tion operations of the Canadian company (i.e., the appel-

lant) amounted to 39 per cent of the appellant’s sales of

patented drugs and that a reasonable return on its invest-

ment of capital in medical information services would

amount to 12.5 per cent of such sales. The total of these

four items is 76.4 per cent. Evidence was also put in to show

that the appellant’s average selling price of the drug in

Canada was $4,600 per kilo. The appellant contended before

the Commissioner, on the basis of this evidence, that the

royalty should be 76.4 per cent of $4,600 per kilo, or
$3,528.37 per kilo.

The Commissioner dealt with the question of royalty in

that part of his reasons reading as follows:

The next question to be determined is that of royalty. The patentee
brought, as a witness to the hearing, a Chartered Accountant who has an
extensive experience in business practices and who has a thorough knowl-
edge of the pharmaceutical industry. He gave us a detailed explanation of
the way the pharmaceutical industry figures out what part of each sales
dollar goes to the different items of expenditure that have to be accounted
for before profits can be determined.

The purpose was to arrive at a royalty figure. However, the royalty
arrived at through his method would amount to the fantastic sum of three
thousand five hundred and twenty eight dollars per kilo of bulk active
material which costs approximately one hundred and fifty dollars to make.
Of course that was based on the cost of the complete and sustained research
program undertaken by the patentee company, the overhead, return on
capital invested, depreciation, sponsoring, advertising, and keeping the
physiciang’ interest in the drug, all figured out on the sales of the product
when capsuled, sealed and labelled, ready for patient’s consumption.

In all these considerations the patentee forgets that I am dealing with
a patent covering a process. He has no exclusive right to the bulk active
material per se, except when made by the particular process of the patent.
Anyone is free to make and sell the product if he can develop a different
process or somehow obtain it legally. I am therefore concerned with the
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process only. Much less has he any exclusivity on the finished material in
dosage form, packaged and labelled. This is outside the scope of the
patent and it is immaterial to me. Reference can be made to the case of
Fine Chemicals Limited v. Parke, Davis & Co. where I followed the same
reasoning, (1957, Vol. 16 Fox Patent cases p. 38). The Commissioner’s
decision was affirmed in the Exchequer Court, (1957, Vol. 16, Fox Patent
cases p. 173) and in the Supreme Court (1959, Vol. 18 Fox Patent cases
p. 125). The principle I have established of fixing the royalty on the sale
price of the bulk material has not been disturbed by the courts. In the
Supreme Court, Mr. Justice Martland said at page 134 (Fox) “The Royalty
as fixed is, therefore, to be determined upon the wholesale price and has
no relationship to the ultimate selling price of the medicine to the con-
sumer.” He went on to question the adequacy of the royalty but not the
principle. Although the produet per se is not actually patented the royalty
payments have to be calculated on the amount of product made by the
process, because it would be next to impossible to assess the value of a
process except on the basis of the extent of its use to make a product which
in turn can be evaluated in terms of dollars and cents.

In the case at hand the patentee has arrived in his calculations at a
royalty of $3,528 37 per kilo but this figure includes all the irrelevant factors
that I have in the past refused to consider and which are not part of what
ig covered by the patent.

* * *

On the basis of past experience and upon considering the wide
acceptance of the product, I will fix the royalty at 15% of the net selling
price of the bulk active material made by the licensee and sold to others,
or should the licensee process all of its production for sale as finished
medicine ready for patients consumption, the royalty payments should be
based on what would be a fair selling price of the bulk material to others.

My understanding of the argument of counsel for the
appellant in this Court with reference to royalty, while it
was put in various ways at different times during the course
of argument, may be summarized as follows:

(a) the La Roche group, like other groups of companies

in the same class of business, carry on continuously
a very expensive research programme and the
general experience is that it is only once in ten to
twenty years that such a research programme results
in a discovery of a new drug which is of sufficient
general importance in the world to enable the com-
panies to recoup research expenses—such a drug is
known as a “winner”;

(b) if such a group of companies is going to be able to
continue the sort of research programme that is
calculated to produce new important drug discover-
ies in the future, they must be able to sell a winner
at a high enough price to enable them to recoup the
research expenses of their whole research operation;
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(¢) mere discovery of a new and important drug is not

(d)

(e)

sufficient to give to the public the advantage of its
therapeutic value—as long as such a drug is in a
state of development, it is essential to provide
medical information services by means of which
(i) doctors throughout the world are supplied with
information concerning the drug so that they
can appreciate its value as a new drug and know
how to use it for the benefit of their patients, and
(ii) a continuing service is provided of gathering
information from all the doctors in the world
who are using the drug, co-relating the informa-
tion and making available to the doctors of the
world the conclusions drawn therefrom;
before the La Roche group can obtain any reimburse-
ment of its research costs out of the price for which
it sells its winners, it must first recover the cost of
the aforesaid medical information services, and of
course, before it can recover the cost of the mediecal
information services, it must recover the actual cost
of producing, packaging and distributing the drug,
out of each dollar of sales of the drug, the company
must therefore first recover an appropriate amount
in respect of its costs of medical information and
have left over 24.92 per cent. to apply in respect of
its research costs,

(f) as the demand for the drug is inelastic the appellant,

(9)

for all practical purposes, will lose sales in Canada
substantially equal to those made by the respondent
after it gets into production and starts to distribute
the drug,

as it is by virtue of the compulsory licence that the
appellant will lose that volume of sales and conse-
quently the ability to obtain recoupment of its med-
ical information costs and research costs, the royalty
paid in respect of the compulsory licence should be
equal to the amount of such costs that the appellant
will not be able to recover by the sales so lost to it,
or in other words, 76.4 per cent. of the appellant’s
selling price in Canada of $4,600 per kilo'.

1 While I do not return to the accuracy or cogency of the individual
statements and arguments in this review of the appellant’s position
concerning royalty, I must not be taken as having accepted their
aceuracy or cogency.
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The appellant takes the position in effect that, if it is not ljff
allowed a royalty of 76.4 per cent. on its wholesale price of Horrmann-
$4,600 per kilo, it will not have a royalty “commensurate LAI%’,?HE
with the maintenance of research incentive” as is required BerCaata
by the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Park, Pmarma-

Davis & Co. Ltd. v. Fine Chemicals of Canada, Ltd} COUTICALS

Dav. oF
The statutory rule which has to be applied is that part of L-

]% Cralg
TD.
subsection (3) of section 41 of the Patent Act which reads —
as follows: Jackett P.

. . . In settling . . . the amount of royalty or other consideration pay-
able the Commissioner shall have regard to the desirability of making
the . . . medicine available to the public at the lowest possible price con-
gistent with giving to the inventor due reward for the research leading to
the invention.2

Where, under section 19 of the Patent Act, the Government
has a statutory right to use a patented invention and the
Commissioner’s duty is to fix “a reasonable compensation
for the use thereof”, such reasonable compensation is to be
determined by what, under normal conditions in the market,
would be paid to a willing licensor by a willing licensee
bargaining on equal terms. See The King v. Irving Air
Chute Inc® Presumably, the same rule would apply in
determining royalty or other consideration under subsection
(3) of section 41 if the portion of that subsection that I
have just quoted did not require the Commissioner to “have
regard” to “the desirability” of making the medicine avail-
able at the lowest possible price “consistent with . . . due
reward for the research . . .” The general purport of this
rule is, in my view, that the royalty or other consideration
is to be less than it otherwise would be if the only rule to
be applied were the rule in the Irving Air Chute case. Only

1[19591 S.CR. 219.

2 Counsel for the appellant rested much of his argument regarding the
royalty that should have been fixed upon J. R. Geigy 8.As Patent
[1964]1 141 R P.C. 391. Whether or not the decision in that case deter-
mines how a direction to fix terms so as to make a patented medicine
available to the public at the lowest prices consistent with the
“patentees’” deriving “a reasonable advantage from their patent
rights” must be applied on facts such as those in this case, I cannot
agree that it determines how royalty or other consideration must be
fixed when the direction is to have regard to the desirability of
making the patented drug available to the public at the lowest pos-
sible price consistent with giving to the “inventor” due “reward for
the research leading to the invention”. In any event, there does not
appear to have been any controversy in the Geigy case as to the
method to be followed or any adjudication with regard thereto. The
parties differed as to certain details in the application of the method
followed by each of them and the adjudication concerned such details.

5119491 SCR 613.
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26_‘5 by making the royalty less than it otherwise would be could

Hﬁ?ﬁ‘;j‘g the Commissioner be said to have regard to the desirability
tro. of making the medicine available to the public at the lowest
. - possible price. The general tendency of the rule must,
Prarma- therefore, be to require that the Commissioner have regard
B at® 0 the desirability of making the royalty or other considera-
L. %TERAIG tion less than market price. However, there is a qualifica-
——  tion upon this direction that, in having regard to the
Jackett P. qegirability of making the price as low as possible, the
Commissioner must not make the royalty or other con-
sideration so low that it is not consistent with giving to the
inventor due reward for the research leading to the inven-
tion. The result of the statutory direction, for practical
purposes, as interpreted by the Supreme Court of Canada
in Parke, Davis & Co. v. Fine Chemicals of Canada, Ltd.,
supra, is that the royalty is to be “commensurate with the
maintenance of research incentive and the importance of

both process and substance”.

On the one hand, as I see it, there is a ceiling on the
royalty or other consideration to be determined by reference
to the theoretical market place and, on the other hand, there
is a floor, beneath which it must not be reduced from that
ceiling, in that it is not to be reduced from market value to
an amount that is not “commensurate with the maintenance
of research incentive and the importance of both process
and substance”.

In this case, the only attack on the Commissioner’s deci-
sion with reference to royalty is that it is too low. It has
not been suggested that it is higher than it should be. As
I see the problem, therefore, the only question is whether
the royalty fixed is commensurate with the maintenance of
research incentive and the importance of both process and
substance. I cannot accept the appellant’s proposition that
the appellant is entitled, in effect, to that proportion of its
wholesale selling price of the sales that it will lose by virtue
of the compulsory licence that medical information costs
and research costs are of the total sale price of all its sales
of patented drugs. As I read section 41(3) of the Patent
Act, it does not contemplate or require any such result.
What the statute says is that the Commissioner shall “have
regard” to “the desirability” of a certain result and this has
been interpreted by the Supreme Court of Canada to mean
that the Commissioner shall fix a royalty “commensurate



2 Ex.CR. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA 119651 291

with the maintenance of research ineentive and the import- 26_15
ance of both process and substance.” In my view, this is not Hﬁi"'ﬁ‘ﬁé‘%‘
something that can be determined by applying some arith- ™pm
metical rule to ascertainable facts. Relevant facts must be BrniCnaG
taken into account but, when they are ascertained as well Prarma-
as they can be, there is a necessity for the exercise of judg- D or
ment just as there is whenever any person or authority has L. %TCDRAIG
a responsibility of laying down a general rule for the future = —
designed to aceomplish a certain result. The problem is not Ja";k_'m P.
unlike the problem facing Parliament or some branch of the
executive when it has to fix remuneration for persons in the

service of the state, such as cabinet ministers, members of
Parliament, judges, soldiers or civil servants. In fixing such
remuneration, regard must be had to the necessity of mak-

ing the offices or positions attractive to persons of the
requisite ability and experience and to the importance of

the duties to be performed by the respective officers or
funectionaries. It is important, in making such a decision, to

know what it costs a person to accept such an office or

position (i.e., what alternative earnings in private in-

dustry he will probably forgo by accepting the offer) and

it 18 necessary to make an evaluation of the importance of

the particular office or position to the state. When, however,

such facts have been evaluated as well as may be, and
ordinarily this can only be done in a very general way, the

person or authority responsible for making the decision

must, of necessity, make a more or less arbitrary decision

which, while it takes the relevant facts into account, must

reflect his judgment as to what amount will meet the
requirements of the situation. Similarly, in fixing the

royalty or other consideration under section 41(8), it is not

right to attribute, with some show of mathematical preci-

sion, a part of research cost, or of other costs, to each part

of the produet manufactured pursuant to a particular in-

vention, and to conclude that, as a matter of law, that is the

royalty that must be awarded. On the other hand, informa-

tion as to what research in the particular field costs is a rele-

vant factor to be taken into consideration just as is in-
formation as to the importance of the particular invention.

Having those factors in mind, however, the Commissioner

is nevertheless faced with the task of making a more or less
arbitrary decision reflecting his judgment as to what amount

of royalty or other consideration is “commensurate with the



292 2 RC.del'E. COUR DE I’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651

1965 maintenance of research incentive and the importance of
Horrmann- both process and substance”.

La Roca=m
ALmCH I therefore reject the appellant’s argument that the
BuiCrarg TOY2lties should be $3,528.37 per kilo and I also reject his

PrarMa- argument as to the manner in which the royalties must, as
Prror. a matter of law, be computed. (If I accepted his argument
L. ]i Crate that the royalties must, as a matter of law, be computed in
that manner, I would refer the matter back to the Com-
missioner for a new hearing during which the Commissioner
and the parties would be directing their minds to the issues

of fact raised by that method.)

Having regard to the decision of the Supreme Court of
Canada in Parke, Davis & Co. Ltd. v. Fine Chemicals of
Canada, Ltd. supra, I must nevertheless consider whether
the evidence before the Commissioner was adequate to
enable him intelligently to arrive at a royalty which would
give due weight to all the relevant considerations, for, if
it was not, it would appear that the matter must be referred
back to the Commissioner for reconsideration.

In this case, it is to be noted, that the appellant gave
much consideration and thought to the preparation of a
case, which it placed before the Commissioner, concerning
the amount of the royalty and, while I have rejected the
appellant’s submissions as to the conclusions to be drawn
from that evidence, nevertheless that evidence was cal-
culated to give the Commissioner a very clear idea as to
the general burden of research costs on the drug industry
and, particularly, on the La Roche group.! That evidence
was also calculated to give the Commissioner a clear idea
as to the value and importance of the drug which is the
subject matter of the patent and made it clear that it is
practically impossible to segregate out the costs of the
“research leading to the invention” of this particular drug.
Having regard to the fact that there is no question of the
royalty as fixed by the Commissioner being too high,
I find it very difficult to envisage what further evidence the
parties could place before the Commissioner if the mat-
ter were referred back to him for further consideration.
As the appellant made no submission in this Court that the
evidence before the Commissioner was inadequate to enable

1T am relieved, by a concession made by the respondent on the facts
of this case, from having to decide whether such costs are relevant
when it appears clear that neither the patentee (the appellant) nor
the inventor bore any part of the costs “leading to the mvention”,

J ackett P.
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him to determine the compensation or royalty and as I

293
1965
—

cannot conceive of any other class or type of evidence that Horrmann-

might have been placed before the Commissioner, I do not
think that I am justified in referring the matter back to the
Commissioner for a further hearing as to the quantum of
royalty or other consideration. In this connection, I also
have in mind that portion of Mr. Justice Rand’s ]udgment
in Parke, Davis & Co. Ltd. v. Fine Chemicals of Canada,
Ltd. supra, at page 223, where he said:

. Once the Commissioner decides the case to be one for licence, it
lies with the patentee, by whatever means are open to him, to present sub-
stantial support for the royalty which he claims; in the absence of that he
will be in a weak position to complain of any holding by the Commissioner,
The appellant here did not have an opportunity to establish
the amount of the royalty after the Commissioner had
decided that the case was one for a licence. However, the
appellant was prepared to put in his case before the Com-
missioner on the question of royalty at the same time as it
put in its case on its opposition to the grant of a licence and
it was, at that time, afforded full opportunity to do so.
That being so, I am of opinion that, to use Mr. Justice
Rand’s words, the appellant is “in a weak position” to com-
plain of the royalty fixed by the Commissioner on the
ground of the adequacy of the material before the Com-
missioner.

That, however, does not complete my task concerning
the question of royalty. Throughout the consideration of
this appeal, I had difficulty with that part of the Commis-
sioner’s reasons where he speaks of “the principle I have
established of fixing the royalty on the sale price of the bulk
material” as not having been disturbed by the Courts. I do
not understand the intrinsic merit of a principle that re-
quires that the royalty be fixed on the sale price of the
bulk material. The royalty should be so fixed that it
complies with the rule in the last half of section 41(3). To
achieve that result, presumably, a lower percentage rate
would have to be chosen if a formula were adopted that
called for application of a percentage rate to the whole-
sale price of the product in dosage form than that which
would have to be chosen if a formula were adopted that
called for application of a percentage rate to the sale price
of the bulk material. I should have thought that there is

nothing intrinsically right or wrong with either type of
91541—8
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formula® and I do not understand that Mr. Justice Mart-
land in the case of Parke, Davis & Co. Ltd. v. Fine
Chemicals Ltd. gave approval to any such “principle” as
that suggested by the Commissioner. On the contrary, there
is, in my view, a strong indication in that judgment that, on
facts such as were present in that case and are present in
this case, the real monetary indication of the value of the
patented medicine is in the price at which it sells in dosage
form. As I understand the facts, the medicine is distributed
to the public in dosage form and not in the bulk form,
which, so far as its use as a medicine is concerned, is merely
an intermediate stage in the creation of a merchantable
form of the product.? I have come to the conclusion that the
Commissioner fell into error in thinking that “the finished
material in dosage form, packaged and labelled” was “out-
side the scope of the patent” and “immaterial” to him. On
the contrary, the drug in the dosage form, if it was made in
accordance with the patented process, is just as much the
subject matter of the patentee’s monopoly as it is when it
is sold in bulk. It is precisely the same produet as it is when
1t is in bulk except that it has been packaged so as to be in
the form in which it has value as a merchantable com-
modity.?

Rather than send the matter back to the Commissioner
and put the parties to the expense of a further hearing, I
have come to the conclusion that I should allow the appeal
and change the royalty as fixed by the Commissioner to a
royalty of 15 per cent. of the licensee’s selling price when
is sells the patented drug in dosage form to persons with
whom it is dealing at arm’s length. I do this, not only
because I have the impression that the Commissioner
would have so fixed the royalty himself if he had not
thought that he was constrained by principle to choose
the lower base but, more particularly, because, giving the
matter the best consideration I can, and having regard to
my understanding of the correct approach as set out above,
it is my judgment of a consideration that is “commensurate

lef, The King v. Irving Air Chute Inc. [1949] S C.R. 613 at pages 625,
629 and 635.

21t will be recalled that the appheation stated that the respondent
expected to market the substance “in tablets or similar form”.

3 ¢f Colomal Fastener Co. Lid. v. Lightning Fastener Co. Ltd. [1937]
S.C.R. 36 at pages 40-1.
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with the maintenance of research incentive and the import-
ance of both process and substance” having regard to the Horrmann-
evidence. (In reaching this conclusion, I have in mind that LA;%%‘_’HE
this allows a much larger incentive for research than the . v
appellant company, which does no research, is required to Pmarma-
contribute to the other members of the La Roche group G’
that do the research. It buys bulk material that has a cost L. D CRAIG
of production of from $50 to $100 per kilo for $294.87 per
kilo. This means a contribution of not more than $150
per kilo for research although income tax considerations,
I should have thought, would keep the inter-company
price reasonably realistic.)

In making this change in the royalty formula as fixed by
the Commissioner, I have no reason to think that it is a
very substantial change. There is no evidence as to the
price for which the material would sell in bulk but we do
know that it would probably be sold by the respondent in
dosage form for $3,500 per kilo and that the cost of con-
verting from bulk form to dosage form is only $310 per kilo.
There is no reason to think that the respondent would sell
in bulk form at a price very much less than it could get
for it after converting it to dosage form at such a relatively

minor cost.!

The third branch of the appeal relates to the terms of
the various provisions in the licence as settled by the
Commissioner.

It was apparent to both parties that the paragraph num-
bered 1 in the licence requires some change in wording in
order to carry out the obvious intention of the Commis-
sioner. That paragraph reads as follows:

The Licensee shall pay to Hoffmann-La Roche Limited a royalty of
fifteen percent (15%) on its net selling price to others of the active prod-
uct in its crude form, prepared or produced pursuant to this licence and
sold by it.

The term “net selling price” employed herein shall mean the price
actually received by the Licensee from the sale of the product prepared
or produced by it pursuant to this licence, less any allowances for returns
and any sales tax or other tax forming part of the sale of such product
and required to be remitted by the Licensee to any taxation authority.

As so framed, paragraph 1 is deficient in that it only
provides for payment of royalty on the product when

11t may be that the respondent will sell some in erude form to other
drug companies who sell to retail druggists. In such case, it might
sell at a difference in price that would reflect not only the cost of
capsulating, packaging, etc., but also the cost of selling to retailers
as opposed to merely selling to wholesalers.

91541—83
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1965 actually sold in the crude form (i.e., in bulk) and also

Horraanx- because it contemplates computation of the royalty by

LAI%,?HE reference to the price at which it is sold in the crude form

v. even when it is sold to a person with whom the licensee does
Berr-Craic

Puarma- Not deal at arm’s length.

“33:?&? I may say that the Commissioner invited the parties

L.D.Crata 4o endeavour to agree on the terms of the licence and the
appellant took the position that it was not prepared to
attempt to reach any agreement with the respondent con-
cerning such terms. Similarly, I invited the parties to
endeavour to agree on the terms of a revision of paragraph
1 on the assumption that the royalty award would be
unchanged. In the absence of any agreement by counsel
for the parties, I have, tentatively, come to the conclusion
that the paragraph might be revised to read somewhat as
follows:
1. (a) The licensee shall pay to Hoffmann-La Roche Limited, in respect
of the patented product that is prepared or produced pursuant to
this licence and sold by it in the pharmaceutical dosage form to a
person or persons with whom it was dealing at arm’s length, fifteen
per cent, (15%) on the net selling price at which it was so sold.

(b) The term “net selling price” employed in this paragraph means
the price actually received by the licensee from the sale of the
produet prepared or produced by it pursuant to this licence, less
any allowances for returns and any sales tax or other tax forming
part of the sale of such product and required to be remitted by
the licensee to any taxation authority.

(¢) The licensee shall pay to Hoffmann-La Roche Limited, in respect
of the patented product that is prepared or produced pursuant to
this licence to which subparagraph (a) does not apply fifteen
per cent. (15%) of what would be the net selling price if the prod-

uct had been sold in the pharmaceutical dosage form by the licensee
to a person with whom it was dealing at arm’s length.

Jack—;i P.

If this revision of paragraph 1 is not acceptable to either
or both of the parties, the matter may be spoken to before
the minutes of judgment are settled.

With reference to the other terms of the licence, the
appellant made a number of submissions as to changes
which should be made therein but, in each case, the sub-
mission amounted to a request that I interfere with the
substantive terms as settled by the Commissioner for no
good reason other than that the interests of the appellant
would be better served if the change were made and I have
not been able to detect any good reason why I should inter-
fere with the terms as settled by the Commissioner. How-
ever, counsel for the respondent did indicate that the
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respondent was prepared to have a term added to the licence }36_5J

by which the licensee would be required, upon request by Horrmanw-
the appellant, to advise the patentee promptly whether ornot f:im

it had sold the licensed product to a named purchaser and .
if so the date and quantity of such sale. If the appellant PHARMA-
elects to have such a term added to the licence, a term C'C®
may be included in the minutes of judgment amending the L.D.Crame
licence accordingly. L.

The appeal will be allowed to the extent of making the
indicated changes in the licence as granted by the Commis-
sioner. Subject thereto the appeal is dismissed. As the
appellant has been completely unsuccessful on the first
branch of the appeal, has been unsuccessful in the main
portion of its appeal as to royalty (only being successful
to the extent of a relatively small increase based on quite
a different principle from that which it advocated) and
has not obtained anything on the third branch of the appeal
that it would not have been able to obtain had it accepted
the Commissioner’s invitation to cooperate in setting the
terms of the licence, the appellant will pay to the respond-
ent 90 per cent, of its costs of the appeal.

Ji ackett P.

Judgment accordingly.
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THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL} Apr.20,21

APPELLANT; 1965
REVENUE ..................... ’

[S——

Mar. 9

AND
HIGHWAY SAWMILLS LIMITED ..... RESPONDENT.

Revenue—Income—Income tax—Sale of timber limit after removal of
merchantable timber—Capital cost allowance calculation where asset
sold in tazation year—Depreciable property—Deduction of proceeds
of disposition from wundepreciated capital cost—Income Tax Act,
RS.C. 1962, c. 148, ss. 11(1)(a), 20(6)(a) and (e)—Income Tax Regula-
tions 1100(1)(e), (2), (3) and (3)(a), 1101, 1102(2) and 1105, and
Schedules B and C.

This is an appeal from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board with respect
to the assessment for income tax of the respondent for the taxation
year 1957,

The respondent owned a tiamber limit in the District, of Malahat, British
Columbia, which it sold to Alaska Pine and Cellulose Company



298
1965

——
MINISTER OF
NATIONAL
REVENUE
V.
SawMILLS
Hicaway
Lrp.

2 R.C.de’E COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [1965]

Limited on March 4, 1957, at which time the undepreciated capital
cost of the Iimit was $49,370.30. The sale price was $28,800 and the
net proceeds to the respondent of the sale were $22,620. The appellant
assessed at $26,759 30 the undepreciated capital cost to the respondent
of the timber limit at the end of its taxation year, September 30,
1957, arriving at that amount by subtracting the net proceeds of the
sale from the $49,379 30, the undepreciated capital cost of the timber
limit before the sale on March 4, 1957.

The issue was whether or not the disposal price of bare land, denuded of
all merchantable timber, must be deducted from the undepreciated
capital cost of the limit immediately prior to its sale to determine its
undepreciated capital cost after the sale.

Held: That a timber limit is a property in respect of which a taxpayer is
entitled to a deduction under s. 11(1)(a) of the Income Taxz Act and
it is therefore “depreciable property” by virtue of s. 20(5)(a).

2. That where “depreciable property” has been disposed of the proceeds
of disposition are to be deducted from the amount that would other-
wise be the undepreciated capital cost of property of that class in
order to determine undepreciated capital cost within the meaning of
that expression as defined by s. 20(6)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

3. That the respondent can deduct under Regulation 1100(2) of the
Income Tax Act only the amount that would otherwise be the unde-
preciated capital cost of the limit at the end of the year as determined
under 8. 20(5) (e).

4. That the appeal is allowed.
APPEAL from a decision of the Tax Appeal Board.

The appeal was heard by the Honourable Mr. Justice
Dumoulin at Vietoria.

D. M. M. Goldie, R. A. C. McColl and G. F. Jones for
appellant.

K. E. Meredith for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Dumovrin J. now (March 9, 1965) delivered the follow-
ing judgment:

The Minister of National Revenue has appealed from a
decision of the Tax Appeal Board, dated May 10, 1963,
respecting an income tax assessment for the respondent’s
1957 taxation year.

The appellant asserts that, during its 1957 taxation year,
the respondent owned a timber limit, consisting of several
blocks east of the Sooke River, District of Malahat, B.C.,
which had an undepreciated capital cost of $49,379.30,
immediately prior to a sale of these holdings to Alaska Pine
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and Cellulose Company Limited, on March 4, 1957 (cf. Iiﬁj
exhibits Z-7 and Z-8). MINISTER OF

. N
The sale price was $28,800 (cf. ex. Z-8) which, after RevoNus
deducting commission and sundry selling expenses, the p > =

Minister estimated, in net proceeds, at $22,620, a valuation SAV{‘MILLS
TD.

uncontested by respondent in paragraph 3(e) of its Reply to ==
Notice of Appeal. Dumoulin J.
In consequence of the disposal aforesaid, Highway Saw-
mills, at the end of 1957, no longer retained any proprietary
title in this limit, a faet that induced the appellant to
assess at $26,759.30 the “undepreciated capital cost” to
respondent company of this timber limit at the end of the
taxation year which terminated on September 30. The above
figure of $26,759.30 was reached by subtracting the sale
price—net proceeds—of $22,620 from $49,379.30, unde-
preciated capital cost of the timber limit before the trans-
action of March 4, 1957,
Highway Sawmills’ claim of $45,411.42 capital cost allow-
ance for its timber limits during taxation year 1957 was
disallowed and, in lieu thereof, a deduction of $26,759.30
was permitted.

The appellant relies, inter alia, upon sections 11 and 20 of the Income
Tax Act, RS.C. 1952, chapter 148, and upon section 1100 and Schedule
C of the Income Tax Regulations. (Notice of Appeal, para. 5).

Paragraphs 6 and 7 of appellant’s pleadings respectively
set out the twofold basis of this appeal, namely: that the
respondent, having sold the timber limit prior to end of its
1957 taxation year, was not entitled, in computing its
income, to any deduction under regulation 1100(1) (e) and
Schedule “C” (Notice of appeal, para. 6) ; but, on the other
hand, that respondent was entitled to and allowed a
$26,759.30 deduction, pursuant to regulation 1100(2), the
latter amount representing, in the Minister’s estimation,
the undepreciated capital cost of the timber limit as of
September 30, 1957, closing date of Highway Sawmills’ fiscal
year. (para. 7)

Conflicting with this view, the respondent asserts that
it had purchased certain timber limits anteriorly to 1957
“for the purpose solely of logging timber therefrom ... and
the price therefor was fixed with reference to the value of
the timber thereon with no allowance whatsoever for land”
(Reply to Notice of Appeal, para. 3(c).) In paragraph 3(d)
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the company goes on to say that: “Between the years of
the acquisition of the said Blocks and the end of the fiscal
year of the Respondent 1957, the Respondent logged all the
merchantable timber from the timber limits aforesaid . . .”
and, consequently, the full purchase price of those lands
was deducted from income as capital cost allowance. Para-
graph 3(e), after mentioning the sale for $22,620 to Alaska
Pine and Cellulose Ltd., during 1957 (March 4), specifies
Highway’s basic interpretation of the transaction, which
would have been: . . . entirely fortuitous insofar as the
Respondent was concerned, the Respondent considering at
all material times that the land had no value . .. save, of
course, that of the timber growing on it, and, therefore,
the sum brought in by the sale of the bare ground . . . con-
stituted a capital receipt . . . and a windfall.” (This last
quotation excerpted from para. 7.)

The respondent, attaching a different meaning to sections
11 and 20 of the Act, relies on those statutory enactments
and also upon Regulations 1101, 1105 and Schedules B and
C thereof.

Unravelling the interplay of the pertinent legal provisions
herein, albeit lucidly drafted, is by no means a simple task
and calls for a considerable degree of concentration in
order to distinguish what to a layman might seem Ariadne’s
clew. In point of fact, the issue narrows down to deciphering
which Regulations and Schedule should govern, but, as we
shall see, a rather intricate statutory skein must be un-
wound before the labyrinth’s exit is reached. Once again, let
us bear in mind the question awaiting a solution: whether
or not the disposal price of bare land, denuded of all mer-
chantable timber, must be deducted from the undepreciated
capital cost of the limit immediately prior to its sale to
determine its undepreciated capital cost after the sale.

The respondent was entitled, during the years following
the purchase of the timber limit, to deduct capital cost
allowance under the following provisions:

(1) seetion 11(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act which
authorizes a deduction in computing a taxpayer’s
income for a taxation year of “such part of the
capital cost to the taxpayer of property ... as is
allowed by regulation”;

(2) Regulation 1100(1)(e) which provides for an allow-
ance under paragraph (a) of section 11(1) of “such
amount as he may claim not exceeding the amount
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calculated in accordance with Schedule C in respect
of the capital cost to him of a timber limit. . .”;
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(3) Schedule C to the Income Tax Regulations which Revenuve
sets out a formula for determining the amount of the 4 > =
annual deduction in respect of the capital cost of a sAvﬁmns

D.

timber limit.

During the 1957 taxation year, the respondent dispose
of the timber limit (which, by virtue of Regulation 1101(3)
is a prescribed class) and was therefore entitled, by virtue
of Regulation 1100(2), (infra), to a deduction “equal to
the amount that would otherwise be the undepreciated
capital cost of property of that class at the expiration of the
year”.

Regulation 1101(3) enacts the following:

(3) For the purpose of this Part and for the purpose of Schedules C
and D

(a) a timber limit or a right to cut timber from a limit shall be deemed
to be a separate class of property . ..
Undepreciated capital cost is defined by section 20(5) (e)
of the Income Tax Act:

(e) “Undepreciated capital cost” to a taxpayer of depreciable property
of a prescribed class as of any time means the capital cost to the
taxpayer of depreciable property of that class acquired before that
time minus the aggregate of

(i) the total depreciation allowed to the taxpayer for property of
that class before that time,

(ii) for each disposition before that time of property of the tax-
payer of that class, the least of

(A) the proceeds of disposition thereof,
(B) the capital cost to him thereof, or
(C) the undepreciated capital cost to him of property of that
class immediately before the disposition, and
(iii) each amount by which the undepreciated capital cost to the
taxpayer of depreciable property of that class as of the end of
a previous year was reduced by virtue of subsection (2).

It may be worthwhile to note that since the decision by
this Court of Caine Lumber Company v. Minister of
National Revenue', April 16, 1958, affirmed by the Supreme
Court of Canada? April 28, 1959, paragraph (a) of s. 20(5)
was amended in 1959 (S.C. c. 45, s. 6 (1)) by closing the
quotation marks after the word “property” in the first line
rather than as formerly after the word “taxpayer”, same
line. Similiarly, para. (e) of s. 20(5) was amended (1959,
S.C. c. 45, 5. 6(3)) by closing the quotation marks after
the word “cost” in the first line, rather than, as previously,

111958] Ex. C.R. 216. 2119591 SCR 556.

d Dun-’xgliinJ.
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1985 after the word “property” in the same line. Possibly those
Minister oF Slight variations intended bringing the definitions closer to
NATIONAL the current acceptation of the bracketed terms and more in

v. line with the remarks of Mr. Justice Locke, at p. 561 of the
HicawAY .
Sawmms, Caine Lumber case (supra).

L. Once more, let us look at the deductions allowed in com-
DumoulinJ. puting income particularly at paragraph (a) subsection (1)
~ of section 11, providing for fiscal allowances in relation

to capital cost of property:

(@) such part of the capital cost to the taxpayer of property, or such
amount in respect of the capital cost to the taxpayer of property,
if any, as is allowed by regulation.

This refers the matter to Part XI of the Regulations,
entitled “Allowances in Respect of Capital Cost”, under
which appear Regulation 1100, subsection (1) and para-
graph (e), this latter disposition captioned “Timber Limits
and Cutting Rights”; T quote:

1100. (1) Under paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 11 of the
Act, (dealing with capital cost of property) there is hereby allowed to a

taxpayer in computing his income from a business or property, as the
case may be, deductions for each taxation year equal to

(e) such amounts as he (the taxpayer) may claim not exceeding the
amount caleulated in accordance with Schedule C in respect of the
capital cost to him of a timber limit or a right to cut timber from
g limit,

Next in line as affording a general direction are subsec-
tions 2, 3 and 3(a) of Regulation 1100, hereunder:

(2) Where, in a taxation year, otherwise than on death, all property of
a, prescribed class that had not previously been disposed of or transferred
to another class has been disposed of or transferred to another class and
the taxpayer has no property of that class at the end of the taxation year,
the taxpayer is hereby allowed a deduction for the year equal to the
amount that would otherwise be the undepreciated capital cost to him of
property of that class at the expiration of the taxation year.

Paragraph (3) hereunder also bears the specific title of
“Timber Limits or Cutting Rights”:

(3) For the purpose of this Part and for the purpose of Schedules C
and D

(a) a timber limit or a right to cut timber from a limit shall be
deemed to be a separate class of property . . .
I might also mention regulation 1102(2) to the effect
that:

(2) The classes of property described in Schedule B shall be deemed
not to include the land upon which a property described theremn was con-
structed or is situated.

Before passing on to Schedule C, it may be of some
interest to ascertain the nature of the transactions between
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Highway Sawmills Limited and Alaska Pine Company as  1%5

stated in exhibits 7 and Z-8. MINISTER OF
NATIONAL

Exhibit 7, dated July 26, 1956, is an option “open for Revenue
acceptance by the Optionee” (Alaska Pine Co.) until the Hicmway
24th day of September 1956, whereby for the sum of $30,000 Sawsrs
the Optionor (Highway Sawmills Ltd.) promises to sell “the ™
lands and premises (description follows) . . . together with DumoulinJ.
all timber (except as herewith provided) . . .”, an exception
of no indifferent significance, reserving to Highway Saw-
mills “. . . the right to cut and remove free of charge all
merchantable timber on said lands for a period of two years
from the date of such acceptance, together with all necessary
rights-of-way over any roads crossing said lands whether
presently in existence or constructed by the optionor or the
optionee during said two-year period”.

Exhibit Z-8, dated the 4th day of March, 1957, is the deed
of sale whereby Highway Sawmills, for a price of $28,800,
conveys unto Alagka Pine Company the full ownership in
fee simple of certain designated lands in the Malahat and
Otter Districts, Vancouver Island, “save as set out in
Schedule “A” hereto . . .” The grantor company thereby
reserved to itself “the right to enter upon all or any part
of the lands described . . . for the purpose of felling, cutting
and removing all merchantable timber now standing, lying
or being on the said lands and for such purposes to use any
existing roads on the said lands and to construct and use
such other roads on the said lands as the Grantor may deem
necessary, provided however that the Grantor shall conduet
its operations in such a manner as to minimize any damage
to other timber growing on the said lands; and the rights
hereby reserved to the Grantor shall terminate on the 20th
day of September, 1960, or so soon as the Grantor shall have
removed . . . all merchantable timber now standing, lying
or being thereon . . .”.

Mr. John Williams White, office manager of Highway
Sawmills (in voluntary liquidation since 1960), testified his
company “had no intention of selling logs over lands, but
being offered $15.00 an acre for 2,002 acres we nevertheless
decided to accept that windfall”. The witness explains that
his firm “hoped to get rid of the ground for unpaid taxes
after cutting all merchantable timber”.

It remains uncontested that immediately prior to the dis-
posal deed of March 4, 1957 (exhibits Z7 and Z8) the
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1965 undepreciated capital cost was $49,379.30. Then, at the date
Minisr=e o aforesaid, the respondent, reserving to itself during three
NATIONAL v ears and six months, viz. March 4, 1957, September 20,
Hramwas 1960, the right to cut and remove the entire timber crop,
Sawmmss sold the land and received therefor a price of $22,620. Under
Lm. guch circumstances it would be difficult, I believe, to deny
DumoulinJ. the applicability of subsection (2) of Regulation 1100, next
~  repeated for convenience’s sake, with some deletions:

1100. (2) Where, in a taxation year, . . . all property of a prescribed
class . . . has been disposed of . . . and the taxpayer has no property of
that class at the end of the taxation year, the taxpayer 1s hereby allowed
a deduction for the year equal to the amount that would otherwise be
the undepreciated capital cost to him of property of that class at the
expiration of the taxation year.

The appellant has set at $49,379.30 the undepreciated
capital cost to respondent of the limit immediately prior to
its disposal, a figure undisputed and exceeding the capital
cost allowance of $45,411.42 claimed by Highway Sawmills
for 1957. Out of the valuation of $49,379.30, a fraction, or
$22,620, was paid into the company’s coffers. The agreed
figure of $49,379.30 remains undisturbed, save that the
respondent received an important portion of it. The sale
price of $22,620 plus the deduction allowed of $26,759.30,
add up to $49,379.30.

In brief, applying section 20(5) (e) (i1) (supra) the Minis-
ter deducted the proceeds of sale from the undepreciated
capital cost as it was before the sale and determined that
“the undepreciated capital cost of property of that class at
the expiration of the year”, deductible under Regulation
1100(2), was $26,759.30.

The respondent contends that Regulation 20(5)(e) (ii)
does not apply when what was disposed of was, in effect,
bare land. He contends that there is a principle that land
is not depreciable property.

The only principle of law concerning land in respect of
capital cost allowance is Regulation 1102(2) which reads as
follows:

(2) The classes of property described in Schedule B shall be deemed
not to include the land upon which a property described therein was con-
structed or 18 situated.

This provision concerning land applies only to property
described in Schedule B to the Income Tax Regulations. It
has no application to property described in Schedule C.

The respondent also claims that land is not a “depreciable
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asset” but is a “depletable asset”. The answer to that con- 19~6_5‘

tention is that a timber limit is a property in respect of Mivster or

which a taxpayer is entitled to a deduction under section 11 m%‘é;‘

(1) (@) and it is therefore “depreciable property” by virtue i
of section 20(5) (a), which reads: Samramy,

(a) “depreciable property” of a taxpayer as of any time in a taxation _I_"I'_D_
year means property 1n respect of which the taxpayer has been allowed, or Dumoulin J.
is entitled to, a deduction under regulations made under paragraph (a) -
of subsection (1) of section 11 in computing income for that or a
previous taxation year;

It is clear where “depreciable property” has been

disposed of, that the proceeds of disposition are to be de-
ducted from the amount that would otherwise be the
undepreciated capital cost of property of that class in
order to determine undepreciated capital cost within the
meaning of that expression as defined by section 20(5) (e).
Each timber limit is a prescribed class of depreciable
property. The respondent’s claim to deduct $45,411.42 is
based on section 11(1)(a) of the Act and the Regulations
made thereunder. It follows that it can only deduet under
Regulation 1100(2) the amount that would otherwise be
the undepreciated capital cost of the limit at the end of
the year as determined under section 20(5) (e).

For the reasons above, the Court reaches the conclusion
that the respondent’s 1957 taxation year was properly
assessed, and would therefore allow the appeal with costs
in favour of the appellant.

Judgment accordingly.

BETWEEN: 1964
CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILWAY Apr.22,24
PrAINTIFF, 1965
COMPANY ..o, ——
Mar. 12
AND -
ELMER J. PALMER .................... DEFENDANT.

Ezpropriation—Compensation for expropriation—Increase in wvalue of
expropriated lands before expropriation—Value of land at time of
expropriation—Injurious affection—Railway spur line splitting land
into two parcels—Exchequer Court Act, R8.C. 1952, c. 98, s. /9—Ex-
propriation Act, RS.C. 1952, c. 106 s. /6.

On September 21, 1960 the plaintiff expropriated certain lands owned by
the defendant on Tilbury Island, Municipality of Delta, British
Columbia, the said lands being 1192 acres in area. A further 7.35
acres of land were agreed to be treated as expropriated, making a
total of 1927 acres. The defendant was left with two parcels of land,
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one of 186 acres lying to the south of the spur line subsequently
built by the plantiff, and the other of 44.13 acres lying to the north
of the spur line.

Ramway Co. The lands were purchased in two parcels, 42 acres purchased on December

v.
PALMER

31, 1957 at $1,000 per acre, and 40 acres purchased on April 3, 1959

at $2,225 per acre. On or about April 7, 1959 the plaintiff committed

itself to construct a spur line to service a new plant to be built and

operated by Dow Chemical Company, and this necessitated the sub-
_ sequent expropriation of the defendant’s lands.

The main 1ssue to be determined is whether the enhancement in value
of the defendant’s lands should be considered as having occurred on
or about April 7, 1959, when the plaintiff committed itself to Dow
Chemical Company to built the spur line, or only after the railway
had duly implemented this commitment in early April 1961, i.e., sub-
sequent to the expropriation date.

Held: That the land m question appreciated in value to $3,000 per acre as
industrial land, from $2,000 per acre as agricultural land, when the
plamntiff committed itself to construct the spur line for Dow Chemical
Company, which it did well before the date of expropriation, and,
accordingly, the land expropriated had a value of $3,000 per acre at the
time it was taken,

2. The governing principle set out by the Supreme Court of Canada in
Fraser v. The Queen (1963) 40 D.L.R. (2d) 707 at 726 is applicable to
the instant case.

The action was tried by the Honourable Mr. Justice

Dumoulin at Victoria.

K. E. Meredith and C. J. Irwin for plaintiff.
R. C. Bray for defendant.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

DumovniN J. now (March 12, 1965) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

The Canadian National Railway Company, plaintiff,
expropriated, on September 21, 1960, certain lands of the
defendant situated on Tilbury Island, Municipality of
Delta, Province of British Columbia.

The parties agree on the extent of the land taken, 11.92
acres, plus 7.35 acres agreed to be treated as expropriated,
a total of 19.27 acres.

This area was taken for the purpose of establishing a
right-of-way for the C.N.R., called the Tilbury Spur.

The defendant, Elmer J. Palmer, engaged in the lumber
trade, owned, prior to September 21, 1960, in the aforesaid
sector, 82 acres more or less, which the building of the spur
line severed in two portions, one to the south, comprising

18.6 acres, and a northerly one containing the remaining
44.13 acres.
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In para. 8 of its statement of claim, plaintiff stated its

willingness to pay for the land and for any loss or damage Canapax
NATIONAL

caused to the defendant by reason of the taking, a total guyway Co.

compensation of $47,430 with interest. This offer was v.
PavLMER

refused, the defendant setting out thus the indemnity ~——
sought: Dumoulin J.

19.27 acres taken at $3,000 per acre ...........eiuinn. $57,810
186 acres, located south of the rnght-of-way, for in-
jurious affection and severance at $1,000 per acre .. 18,600

1965
—

$76,410

At the start of the trial, counsel for plaintiff withdrew the
amount offered pretexting that, even though compensation
for 19.27 acres at $2,000 an acre and indemnity for in-
jurious affection to 18.6 acres might reach the figure of
$57,140, this was fully set off by a sum of $62,730 resulting
from a $1,000 per acre increase in value to 62.73 acres after
the trackage extension over Palmer’s land. This withdrawal
was based upon s. 49 of the Exchequer Court Act, 1952
R.S.C. c. 98, of which more later.

The Court is asked to determine three questions:

(a) the value of 19.27 acres expropriated;

(b) injurious affection to 18.6 acres severed from the
remaining property owned by the defendant, south
of the railway track;

(¢) whether the set off contemplated in s. 49 applies in
this case.

Palmer acquired his Tilbury Island holdings by means of
two purchases. He first bought 42 acres on December 31,
1957, at a price of $1,000 an acre, from one Beintima, a
foreigner who, retiring from business, agreed to sell at a
rather low price. The remaining portion, 40 acres, was
obtained on April 3, 1959, from a local resident, Kabal
Singh, at the increased cost of $2,225 an acre. When the
deals were concluded, the best possible use for these lands
was agriculture. Palmer acknowledges that his aim in the
transactions was a speculative one, and surely no blame
attaches to so normal an expectation.

It so happened, as the Court is told by J. A. Duff, man-
ager of industrial development for the Canadian National
Railway Company, that, on or about January 13, 1959,
an important industrial concern, Dow Chemical Company,
“approached us (the C.N.R.) in confidence advising that
they were proposing to set up a phenol plant in the Greater
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PALMER

Dumoulin J.

Vancouver area and were looking for property of around
100 acres, and they indicated that they would require
property serviced by power, gas, deep sea and rail, and
they particularly stressed the rail angle”. (transeript, p. 78)

The witness emphasizes the fact that “Dow had indicated
to (him) that trackage was . . . absolutely essential”. (p.
79). The railway agreed to this proposition and definitely
committed itself to put in a line connecting Brownsville
in the east to a C.N.R. ferry slip built on Tilbury Island on
the west side.

Dow Chemical, according to the witness’ recollection, was
officially advised of this decision “on or about April 7,
19597, and agreed to pay for the trackage on their own
property. Some time after the expropriation of September
21, 1960, the spur line was installed and the large industrial
plant constructed.

The experts practically agree on the value of the expro-
priated property at all material times, their assent bearing
upon the following points:

(@) prior to the assurance given in April of 1959 by the
C.N.R. to Dow Chemical Co., that trackage would be
installed as aforesaid, the value of the subject
property was $2,000 per acre;

(b) immediately after the above commitment between
plaintiff and Dow Chemiecal, the value of the subject
property increased to $3,000 per acre;

(¢) after the taking, September 21, 1960, defendant’s
land continued to be worth $3,000 an acre.

At page 3 of plaintiff’s written argument appears an
admission that the expropriated right-of-way intersecting
“the Dow property . . . now serves the Dow plant. It
further serves the Tilbury ferry slip of the Plaintiff. It will
in future serve the purposes of any heavy industry which
may be established on the land of the Defendant”.

The promotion of defendant’s property from agricultural
to industrial brackets remains uncontested but the parties
disagree about the interpretation of this material improve-
ment.

The plaintiff seemingly rests its case on a “before and
after” outlook, claiming it should be entitled to treat the
“before” as prior to the assurance of trackage to Dow
Chemical Co. in 1959, and that “after” should apply only
from September 21, 1960. Were this argument accepted,
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the result would completely defeat the possibility of an 198
award to the defendant for 19.27 acres taken from him Cawapmx

and for the injurious affection to 18.6 acres severed from ghomoNet
his remaining property. . Paien
Then, should the enhancement in value of $1,000 be —
Dumoulin J.

considered as intervening on or about April 7, 1959, when
the C.N.R. advised Dow Chemical of its promise to build
a spur line connecting the proposed plant to the Tilbury
Island ferry slip, or only after the railway had duly imple-
mented this commitment in early April, 1961, subsequently
to the expropriation date, September 21, 19607

The plaintiff contends (ef. Argument, p. 5) that:

The land in the present case is particularly well adapted to the use of
heavy industry . .. . The property had, therefore, something more than
an agricultural potential. Its potential was for heavy industry as there
was & possibility of rail. It is in this condition that the land was worth
$2,000.00 per acre. Once the railway was assured the potential for in-
dustrial use was realized and the property increased in value by $1,00000
to acquire a value of $3,000.00 per acre. The plaintiff says that this realiza-
tion of the potential is the very factor which must be excluded when the
value of land for expropriation purposes falls to be determined for it is
an advantage “due to the carrying out of the scheme for which the property
was compulsorily acquired”. (italics added)

And, now, this coneclusion:

It would be patently unfair that the railway should be required to
pay for the very advantage that it is bestowing upon the property.

In contradistinction with this viewpoint, the defendant
argues, on p. 4:

That the railroad had for all intents and purposes become a reality
in 1959 (April 7) when it was committed to go into the Dow Chemical
plant by the C.N.R., and that the increase in value to the subject property
from 82,00000 to $3,000.00 per acre took place at that time. It is therefore
submitted that at the date of expropriation (September 21, 1960) the
value of the subject property was $3,00000 per acre and that no benefit
accrued fo the Defendant as a result of the railroad severing the Defend-
ant’s property. (italics have been inserted)

Since the material factors are, as previously noted,
undisputed, I may at once review the precedents on whose

authority the litigants mainly rested their submissions.
The plaintiff company considered as particularly illumi-
nating a passage from the case of Sidney v. North Eastern
Ry. Co.l! appearing in the judgment of Rowlatt, J. quota-
tion:
But the value to the owner is not confined to the value of the land to

the owner for his own purposes; it includes the value which the require-

119141 3 K.B. 629 at 636.
91541—9
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ments of other persons for other purposes give to it as a marketable com-~
modity, provided that the existence of the scheme for which it is taken is
not allowed to add to the value.

Special adaptability is an expression which is wide enough to include
special adaptability for any purpose, but where the special adaptability
is for purposes other than those of the compulsory purchaser it is merely
an element in the calculation of the probable competition for the land,
that is, an element in 1ts general value. It only gives rise to a question
in compensation law, where, existing for the purposes of the promoters,
its consideration seems at first sight to infringe the principle that value
due to the scheme is to be excluded. For example, a piece of land may
have special value for a particular crop, for a particular sort of building
scheme, or for a reservoir, or for several of these purposes. But if it is
going to be taken for an artillery or rifle range, or for a railway, these are
elements of general value only and raise no question. Suppose, however,
it is to be taken for a reservorr, its special suitability for that purpose
(bemg the purpose of the scheme) does raise the question how far that
can be taken into consideration without infringing the rule aganst giving
value due to the scheme.

Referring to special suitability for “the purpose of the
scheme”, in the language of Rowlatt, J., and avoiding, I
trust, the danger of a play on words, it might not appear
unreasonable to entertain the possibility of a special suit-
ability in defendant’s land for plaintiff’s particular pur-
poses. Had it not offered the shortest, most economical
route to the C.N.R.’s ferry slip, why then this recourse to
the exceptional power of expropriation?

The leading case supporting the proposition put forth by
the defendant is the recent Supreme Court decision of Fraser
v. The Queen', and particularly this passage of Mr. Justice
Ritchie’s pronouncement when speaking for the majority:

When the property in question was taken from the Appellant by the
Province of Nova Scotia in 1950, the potential market for the rock which
it contained was still a matter of speculation, as no decision had been
finally made about the causeway, but when the lands were re-acquired
by the Appellant on July 2nd, 1952, the years of speculation, study and
planning concerning the building of the causeway had already culminated
in the letting of a contract for its construction, which contemplated the
use of an estimated nine million tons of rock from these lands, and the
potential market for this commodity had thus become a reality before
the lands were re-acquired by the Appellant. It was these lands with this
potentiality which were expropriated by the Dominion Government,
and it is their value at the time of that expropriation which is required
to be assessed of (for) the purpose of compensation. (italics are mine)

I would immediately note and repeat the plaintiff’s clear
and explicit acknowledgement that “the potential for indus-
trial use was realized and the property increased in value by
$1,000.00 to acquire a value of $3,000.00 per acre once the

1(1963) 40 D.L.R. (2d) 707 at 726.
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railway was assured”, a year and a half prior to the ex-
propriation. That the C.N.R.’s determination remained & Canaomx
confidential matter between itself and Dow Chemical is 10t pamos G,
even hinted at. On the contrary, this assured development v.

. . e . . Parver
became a matter of general knowledge in the vicinity, with ~_—_
the sure result that from April 7, 1959, up to September 21, Dumoulin J.
1960, all concerned could appreciate the enhanced real
estate value.

Owing to the plaintiff’s binding undertaking to run a spur
line for the use of the chemical factory and with a view of
expanding its own affairs, the instant case bears a close
resemblance to that of Fraser v. The Queen (supra), wherein
the decisive factor was “the letting of a contract” for the
construction of the causeway. Then and now, “the potential
market” had become a reality long before expropriation.
Such a potential market existed in April, 1959, when Palmer
paid $2,225 per acre to his vendor, Kabal Singh. It would
be sheer insanity to dispute that these rates astronomically
overshoot farm land prices, usually averaging a hundred
dollars or so an acre. Any sane man buying 40 acres at
$2,225 apiece, has something in mind other than growing
parsnips. In all likelihood, Palmer, from the day of his
acquisition, April 3, 1959, would have waived aside any offer
below $3,000 per acre.

The equitable norm obtaining is fittingly suggested by
the following quotation from Cripps on Compulsory Acquisi-
tion of Land, 11th ed., p. 692, where it is said:

The value must be tested in relation to the market which would have
ruled had the land been exposed for sale before the purchaser had secured

any powers or acquired the other object which made the undertaking a
realized possibility.

Section 46 of the Expropriation Act, 1952, R.S.C. c. 106
prescribes a similar rule in these terms:

46. The Court in determining the amount to be paid to any claimant
for any land or property taken for the purpose of any public work or for
injury done to any land or property shall estimate or assess the value or
amount thereof at the time when the land or property was taken or the
injury complained of was occasioned.

1965
——

Conformably with the statutory prescription above, the
Court finds that “at the time when the land was taken”, its
value was $3,000 per acre, or, for 19.27 acres, $57,810, a
compensatory sum due to the defendant, Elmer J. Palmer.

There now remains to be determined a claim of $18,600
for injurious affection to 18.6 acres on the south side of the



312
1965

——
CANADIAN
NATIONAL
Ramwway Co.
V.
PaLMER

Dumoulin J.

2 R.C.deVE. COUR DE L’ECHIQUIER DU CANADA [19651

railroad tracks, thus severed from the major portion of
property still owned by the defendant, and now cut off from
direct access to deep water.

The railway company is adamant in its contention that
the entire property automatically benefited by a one thou-
sand dollar increase in value through its decision to extend
rail service to the Dow plant.

I am not so sure that such is the true situation, especially
after hearing the plausible explanations afforded by Messrs.
D. C. McPherson and T. J. Boyle, two experienced realtors
associated with well-known Vancouver real estate firms.

Mr. McPherson believes that none but a “big plant”
might consider buying the residue of the property and
would look unfavourably upon the necessity of having
its men and material crossing the tracks at every moment
of the day. He appraises this disadvantage at approximately
$1,000 per acre.

The other realtor, Mr. T. J. Boyle, also called by the
defendant, sees an element of injurious affection in that “the
property south of the railway . . . is now severed from the
deep sea . . .”. For this reason, it is very unlikely that “one
user” might be interested in purchasing the whole site in
despite of the severance.

An accurate assessment of the damage thereby ocecasioned
is something quite difficult, says the witness, who would sug-
gest a depreciation of certainly $500 per acre, a figure rea-
sonably borne out by the evidence. Therefore, the indemnity
granted for 18.6 acres, at $500 a unit, will be $9,300.

A last proposition to determine consists in the plaintiff’s
argument that s. 49 of the Exchequer Court Act foresees a
set-off the application of which would wipe out the defend-
ant’s demand for compensation aceruing from injurious
affection to the severed remnant.

The allotment just made would excuse me from discussing
this objection if I did not look upon it as worthy of
consideration.

Section 49 directs that:

49, The Court shall, in determining the compensation to be made to
any person for land taken for or injuriously affected by the construction
of any public work, take into account and consideration, by way of set-off,
any advantage or benefit special or general, accrued or likely to accrue, by
the construction and operation of the public work, to such person in
respect of any lands held by him with the lands so taken or injuriously
affected.
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A similar point was raised in re Molly James et al. v. Lgff

Canadian National Railway Company*, and decided by Mr. Canabiaw

Justice Cattanach, with whose pronouncement I fully agree. RAATIONAL |
After citing s. 49, the learned Judge’s comments read thus: Pai

I do not need to decide this question as, on my reading of section 49, —
even if it is applicable to a Canadian National expropriation, it has no DumoulinJ.
application to the facts of this particular case. The application contem-
plated by the parties was that section 49, if applicable, requires that the
Court, in determining compensation to be paid to the plaintiffs for the
292 4383 acres injuriously affected by the construction of the new railway
project, take into account and consideration by way of set-off any
advantage or benefit likely to accrue by the construction and operation
of the railway project to those 2924383 acres of land. What the section
says, however, is that what is to be taken into account is the advantage or
benefit likely to accrue “in respect of any lands” held by the plaintiffs
“with the lands so . . . injuriously affected”. There were no such lands
here and, therefore, section 49 has no application.

I readily adopt those reasons.

The sum total, granted as indemnity for land expro-
priated, $57,810, and compensation for injurious affection to
the residue, $9,300, amounts to $67,110.

There will, therefore, be judgment declaring that the
property described in paragraph 3 of the Statement of
Claim, and also that mentioned in paragraph 5, to an agreed
total of 19.27 acres, is vested in Canadian National Railway
Company as from September 21, 1960; that the amount of
compensation money to which the defendant is entitled,
subject to the usual conditions as to all necessary releases
and discharges of claims, is the sum of $67,110 with interest
at 5% per annum from September 21, 1960, to the date of
this judgment. The defendant is entitled to recover his costs.

Judgment accordingly.

THE QUEBEC ADMIRALTY DISTRICT ﬁ‘f
BETWEEN : Mar. 22
DELANO CORPORATION OF AMERICA, . .PLAINTIFF;

AND

SAGUENAY TERMINALS LIMITED, ....DEFENDANT.

Shipping—Trial of an issue—Contract of carriage of goods—Damage to
goods in transit—Bill of lading—Demise clause in hill of lading—
Privity of contract between owner of goods and charterer of ship—
Charterer of ship as agent of owner of ship—Charterer by demise—

1119651 1 Ex CR 71
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Failure of charterer to inform owner of goods that it is not owner or
charterer by demise of the ship.

Practice—Trial of an issue question of law—Exchequer Court Rule 149.

This hearing resulted from a motion by the defendant to have an issue
tried and decided before the trial of the action herein, the issue being
whether or not paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Statement of Defence are
well founded in law, that is, whether or not there was a contractual
relationship or privity of contract between the plaintiff and the defend-

.ant in respect of the carriage of the plaintiff’s goods in the m.v.
Sunamelia.

The action resulted from the carriage of 500 bags of potatoes owned by the
plaintiff from Halifax, Nova Scotia to Maracaibo, Venezuela on the
m.v. Sunamelia, the plaintiff alleging that the potatoes were damaged
beyond use while in the care and possession of the defendant, which is
liable to the plaintiff therefor in contract and for negligence.

The defendant alleged that the Bills of Lading which were signed by one
G. Cooke, the defendant’s representative, contained provisions that
unless the defendant was the owner or charterer by demise of the
vessel in which the goods were being carried the Bills of Lading would
take effect only as a contract with the owner or demise charterer, the
defendant being agents only and under no personsal liability.

Held: That in circumstances such as those under which the Bills of Lading
on which the plaintiff’s action is based were signed, the Time Charterer
(the defendant) being neither the owner of the vessel nor its possessor
under a demise charter, in signing the Bills of Lading acts only for and
is the agent of the owner of the vessel.

2. That the contract clearly stipulates that if the defendant was neither the
owner nor the charterer by demise there. was to be no contractual rela=~
tionship between the plaintiff and the defendant in regard to the car-
riage of the plaintiff’s merchandise, the mere fact that the defendant
was neither the owner nor the charterer by demise being all that is
necessary to make this so. The defendant was not required to notify
or make the plaintiff aware that it was neither the owner nor the
charterer by demise.

3. That the plaintiff, by accepting the Bills of Lading in the terms in which
they were drawn is bound by the condition excluding privity of contract
as between the plaintiff and the defendant in the case where the

defendant was neither owner of the vessel nor in possession of it under
a demise charter.

4. That it is an express condition of the contract of carriage to which the
plaintiff was a party that unless the defendant was either the owner
or the charterer by demise it was not to be considered as acting in its

own name and the contract was deemed to be one between the plaintiff
and the owner of the vessel.

§. That since there was no privity of contract as between the plaintiff and
the defendant in respect of the contract of carriage, the Court would
be obliged to maintain the defence in law and dismiss the plaintiff’s
action, if this were the sole issue involved.

6. That paragraphs 1 and 2 of the defendant’s Statement of Defence are
declared to be well founded.

MOTION to have an issue tried and decided before
trial.
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The motion was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
A. I. Smith, District Judge in Admiralty for the Quebec
Admiralty Distriet at Montreal.

William Tetley for plaintiff.
L. 8. Reycraft, Q.C. for defendant.

SmrtH, D. J. A. now (March 22, 1965) delivered the fol-
Jowing decision:

The Court, having heard the parties by their respective
Attorneys in regard to the question of law as to whether the
defendant’s plea, that there is an absence of privity of con-
tract between the parties, is well founded, having examined
the proceedings and exhibits filed and duly deliberated:

By its action the plaintiff claims the sum of $2,375.00,
alleged to represent the value of a shipment of 500 bags
of potatoes entrusted to the defendant for carriage in the
m.v. Sunamelia from Halifax, Nova Scotia to Maracaibo,
Venezuela.

The plaintiff’s action is based mainly upon an alleged
Contract of Carriage evidenced by two Bills of Lading
dated Halifax, December 18, 1954 and signed by the
defendant’s representative, one G. Cooke, (Exhibit D-2).

The plaintiff alleges that the said goods were so damaged
as to be rendered a total loss, while in the care and pos-
session of the defendant who, in virtue of the said Contract
of Carriage, as well as by reason of its fault and negligence,
is legally responsible to the plaintiff for said loss.

One of the principal grounds of defence raised is that there
was no contractual relationship or privity of contract
between the plaintiff and the defendant in view of the terms
of the said Bills of Lading, which expressly provide that
unless the defendant was the owner, or charterer by demise,
of the vessel in which the goods were being carried said
Bills of Lading would “take effect only as a contract with
the owner or demise charterer”, the defendant being agents
only, and under no personal liability.

This ground of defense is raised by paragraphs 1 and 2
of the Statement of Defence which are in the following
terms:

1. In answer to paragraph 1 of the Plaintiff’s Statement of Claim the
defendant states that Bills of Lading Nos. 28 and 29 dated December 18th,
1954, at Halifax Nova Scotia, and not dated September 18th, 1954, as stated
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in the Plaintiff’s Statement of Claim, comprise the contract of carriage and
that said Bills of Lading speak for themselves, and the Defendant invokes
all the terms, conditions and exceptions of said Bills of Lading and, more
particularly, paragraph 17 of the Conditions of Carriage, which reads as
follows:—

17. PARTIES TO CONTRACT:—If the Ship is not owned by, or
chartered by demise to Saguenay Terminals Limited (as may be the
case notwithstanding anything that appears to the contrary) this Bill
of Lading shall take effect only as a contract with the owner or demise
charterer as the case may be as principal, made through the agency
of the said Saguenay Terminals Limited, who act as agents only, and
who shall be under no personal liability whatsoever in respect thereof.

otherwige the allegations contained in said paragraph are denied.

2. The Defendant further states that said Bills of Lading Nos. 28 and
29, dated at Halifax, Nova Scotia, on December 18th, 1954 were signed on
behalf of and under the authority of the Master of the S.8. Sunamelia and
that under the terms and conditions of the said Bills of Lading, as the said
vessel wag not owned by or chartered by demise to the Defendant, the
said Bills of Lading took effect only as a contract between the Plaintiff
and the Owner of the SS. Sunamelia as the carrier and the Defendant
further states that there is no privity of contract between the Plaintiff
herein and the Defendant.

On December 18, 1959 Counsel for the defendant gave
Notice of Motion presentable December 22, 1959 (the case
having previously been set down for that date) asking that
the issue of privity of contract raised by paragraphs 1 and 2
of the Statement of Defence be first heard and decided and
the trial of all other issues be postponed.

The trial did not take place on December 22, 1959 and
the defendant’s motion was held in abeyance.

On September 23, 1963 the plaintiffi made a motion to
have a date fixed for the trial which motion was heard on
October 2, 1963 and the case set down for trial on Feb-
ruary 25, 1964.

For some reason, which does not appear, the trial did not
proceed on February 25, 1964 but on or about September 25,
1964 Counsel for both parties attended before me with
respect to the setting down for trial of a number of cases
including this one. The defendant’s motion to have the
question of privity of contract heard and decided prior to
the trial of the other issues was discussed and Counsel
agreed that the said question of law should be argued and
decided prior to the trial of the other issues, and the Court,
considering that the adoption of such a course would be in
the interests of justice, ordered that the hearing on the said
question of law should take place on January 8, 1965.

On January 8, 1965 Counsel for both parties appeared
before me and although Counsel for the plaintiff, at that
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time, indicated a certain reluctance to proceed on the ques-
tion of law he appears to have withdrawn his objection and
he participated in the proceedings without further objection
or reserve and submitted written argument in respect of the
said issue of law.

In ordering that the said question of law should be argued
and decided prior to the trial of the other issues the Court
acted, not only in virtue of the agreement of Counsel, but
in accordance with the discretion vested in it by rule 149 of
the Exchequer Court Rules.

The sole issue therefore which is at present before the
Court is whether or not paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Statement
of Defence are well-founded in law. The Court is required to
decide whether or not there was contractual relationship or
privity of contract between the plaintiff and the defendant
in respect of the carriage of the plaintiff’s goods in the m.v.
Sunamelia on the voyage above-mentioned.

There were produced in the record, without objection or
reserve, the Time-Charter under which the said vessel was
being operated by the defendant, as well as the Bills of
Lading upon which the plaintiff mainly bases its action. The
execution of these documents has not been challenged and
the issue of law now before the Court must, in my opinion,
be decided on the basis of these documents.

The two Bills of Lading (Exhibit D-2) are dated Halifax,
Nova Scotia, December 18, 1954. At the top of each is
printed the heading “Bill of Lading” and on the line imme-
diately beneath this is the name “Saguenay Terminals Ltd.,
Montreal”.

Both documents are signed with the printed name
“Saguenay Terminals Ltd.” and on the line immediately
beneath that appears the signature of one “G. Cooke”, below
which appears the designation “Master or Agents”,

Apparently “G. Cooke” was an employee of the defendant
who signed in virtue of the written authority executed by
the Master of the m.v. Sunamelia on November 9, 1953
(Exhibit D-3).

Immediately above the signature appears the following
clause:

In accepting this Bill of Lading the shipper, consignee, owner of the
goods and the holder of the Bill of Lading expressly agrees to all its terms,
conditions and exceptions, whether written, printed, stamped or incor-
porated.
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Therefore Clause 17 of the Bills of Lading, hereinabove
quoted contains terms and conditions which are binding
upon the plaintiff.

The Charter-Party entered into between the owners of
the vessel and the defendant contains the following pro-
visions:

8. The Captain (although appointed by the Owners) shall be under the
orders and directions of the Charterers as regards employment and agency;
and Charterers are to load, stow and trim the cargo at their expense under

the supervision of the Captain, who is to sign Bills of Lading for cargo as
presented, in conformity with Mate’s or Tally Clerk’s receipts.

26. Nothing herein stated is to be construed as a demise of the vessel
to the Time Charterers. The Owners to remain responsible for the naviga-
tion of the vessel, insurance, crew and all other matters, same as when
trading for their own account.

On behalf of the defendant it is submitted that, since it
was neither owner nor charterer by demise of the m.v.
Sunamelia it must, in virtue of the foregoing clause, be held
to have signed said Bills of Lading solely in a representative
capacity as agent for the owner, and there is no lien de
droit or privity of contract between the parties, in so far
as the alleged contract of carriage is concerned.

The plaintiff, in its written argument, submits that there
are two contradictory judgments relating to the point at
issue, one rendered by this Court in the case of Apex
(Trinidad) Oilfield Ltd. v. Lunham & Moore Shipping Ltd.*
and the other rendered in the United States, namely Epstein
v. U.S.A2 In fact however, there are several other judg-
ments or authorities bearing on the issue, to at least some
of which references were made in the Apex case. They are
as follows:

Hassneh Insurance Co. Ltd. et al. v. Sargena Company et al. Civil case
no 152/66 in the District Court of Haifa and in the Supreme Court, Court
of Appeals no 328/58. It is noteworthy that Clause 17 of the Bill of Lading
involved in that case was in terms almost identical to those of the Clause 17
of the Bills of Lading relied upon in the present case.

The Aristo.

Under Canadian Law, governing a voyage from Canada to Bermuda,
the sub-charterer who signs bills of lading (with or without its own printed
name) for Master and Owners or “for the Master without disclosure that
the vessel is chartered and that claims must be enforced solely against the
ship and Ship-owner, does not thereby become bound as a carrier; the
ship-owner, being the carrier; hence the sub-charterer is not liable for loss
of cargo by negligent stranding and the question of whether the vessel was

seaworthy or whether due diligence had been used to make her so does not
arise in a suit against the sub-charterer.

1719621 2 Lloyd’s Rep. 203. 2 (1945) AM.C. 1598.
3(1941) AMC. 1744
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Patterson Steamship Limited v. Aluminum Co. of Canadal.
Valkenburg, K-G v. 88. Henry Benny No. 92

It appears to be now settled therefore that, in circum-
stances such as those under which the Bills of Lading on
which the plaintiff’s action is based were signed, the Time
Charterer, being neither the owner of the vessel nor its
possessor under a demise charter, in signing said Bills of
Lading acts only for, and is the agent of, the owner of the
vessel.

The contract clearly stipulates that if Saguenay Terminals
Ltd. was neither the owner nor the charterer by demise there
was to be no contractual relationship in regard to the car-
riage of the plaintiff’s merchandise between the plaintiff and
the defendant. The mere fact that the defendant was neither
the owner nor the charterer by demise is all that is necessary
to make this so. There is nothing which required Saguenay
Terminals Ltd. to notify or make the plaintiff aware that it
was neither the owner nor the charterer by demise. Had the
plaintiff wished to know the identity of the owner of the
vessel or whether the defendant was in possession of it under
a demise charter, it could have insisted upon being supplied
with this information prior to accepting these Bills of
Lading. It did not do so however. On the contrary it accepted
the said Bills of Lading including the clause which expressly
excluded privity of contract as between the plaintiff and the
defendant in the case where the defendant was neither owner
of the vessel nor in possession of it under a demise charter.
The plaintiff, by accepting said Bills of Lading in the terms
in which they are drawn is bound by this condition. The case
is not to be assimilated to that of a mandatory acting in
his own name (Article 1716 CC). It is clear from the Bills
of Lading (Clause 17) that it is an express condition of the
Contract of Carriage to which the plaintiff was party, that
unless the defendant was either the owner or the charterer
by demise, it was not to be considered as acting in its own
name and the contract was deemed to be one between the
plaintiff and the owner of the vessel.

The Court therefore reaches the conclusion that there was
no privity of contract as between the plaintiff and the
defendant in respect of the Contract of Carriage alleged and
that paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Statement of Defence are

1119511 S.C.R. 852, Rand J. at p. 854.
2 (1961) A.M.C. 2221,
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1965 well founded, and if this were the sole issue involved, the
Dmano Court would be obliged to maintain the defence in law and

E&’E&i dismiss the plaintiff’s action.

Sy However, on behalf of the plaintiff it was argued that the

AGUENAY . s 3 .

Terminats Plaintiff’s action is based not merely on allegations of con-
Lm. tractual fault but also contains allegations of fault and
Smith, negligence which, if proven, would entitle the plaintiff to
DJA- succeed. A careful examination of the allegations of plain-

tiff’s Statement of Claim satisfies me that such is the case.
There are various allegations of fault and negligence, some
of which at least, if proven, might conceivably engage the
personal liability of the defendant even if, it was acting
solely as an agent of the owner.

An agent, even though acting as such, may nevertheless
render himself personally responsible towards third persons
for loss or damage occasioned to them by his fault or neg-
ligence. CC 1053, CC 1106, CC 1709 et seq, and CC 1715
et seq.

The Court concludes therefore that the issue of law raised
by paragraphs 1 and 2 of the defendant’s Statement of
Defence must be decided in favour of the defendant and the
defence of lack of privity of contract upheld.

On the other hand, it finds that the Statement of Claim
contains allegations of delictual fault which, if proved, might
well engage the responsibility of the latter even although it
may have been acting for and on behalf of the owner.

On the present proceedings therefore in so far as they
relate solely to the question of whether or not there was
privity of contract between the plaintiff and the defendant
the Court concludes that this issue must be decided against
the plaintiff.

ConsEQUENTLY, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the defendant’s
Statement of Defence are declared to be well founded and
the costs of the present proceedings on the issue of law are
assessed against the plaintiff.



2 Ex.C.R. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965] 321

ENTRE: liﬁf
Avril 26
LE MINISTRE DU REVENU APPELANT: 1065
NATIONAL .......covveeei. FRLANT, 2
février 5
ET T
ROLAND COUTURE ..., INTIME,.

Revenu—Impét sur le revenu—Lot de Uimpdt sur le revenu. S.R.C. 1952,
ch. 148, art. 12(1)(a)—Gain de capital—Revenu non imposable—Appel
rejeté.

L’intimé est propriétaire d’une usine depuis 1945. Il fait affaires sous le
nom de «Carnegie Locknit Reg'd», transformant des marchandises, ie.,
soie brute, viscose, nylon et terylene en certaines piéces surtout
utilisées dans la production de la lingerie pour dames.

Vers le milieu de 1956, il fut approché par un nommé F. J. Marcotte de
F. J. Marcotte Cie Ltée et par un M. McCarthy de Canadian Chemi-
cal and Cellulose Co. Ltd., vendeur de soie brute, viscose, hylon et
terylene, qui tous deux lui proposérent de Iui vendre & meilleurs
comptes que d’autres, toutes marchandises ou machinerie dont il
powrrait avoir besoin dans son usine.

D’aprés 'intimé, Marcotte avait le contrdle de la production et de la
vente des marchandises de C. Co. et M., McCarthy en était 'un des
vendeurs.

L’intimé, dans le cours de I’année 1956, acheta sa marchandise exclusive-
ment de F. J. Marcotte et Cie Lté de Montréal, P.Q.

Cependant, aprés six mois, soupconnant de la part de Marcotte et de
MecCarthy des agissements louches envers lui, I'ntimé découvrit
qu’il ’exposait involontairement 4 étre considéré comme prenant part
4 une conspiration et mit fin & ces anomalies en cessant d’acheter ses
marchandises de Marcotte.

Le prix des marchandises que I'mtimé avait achetées de la Cie Marcotte
g'élevait & la somme de $11,126.25,

Sur refus par Couture (Carnegie) de payer ce compte, et pour cause, la
Cie Marcotte lui intenta une action en justice pour $11,126 25.

La Cie Marcotte négligea de payer le prix des marchandises achetées de
Capnadian Cellulose Co. Ltd. et vendues et livrées & Carnegie (R.
Couture, intimé). Requise par C. Co. de lui transférer sa créance
contre intimé, elle accepta.

Plus tard, une entente par écrit, intervint entre Cellulose Co. et Carnegie
(23 décembre 1957) et, par concessions réciproques, les parties mirent
fin 4 une action, en premier lieu originairement instituée par la Cie
Marcotte et, en second lieu, 4 une menace de poursuite judiciaire faite
par l'intimé contre C. Co.

La somme de $11,126.25 représente le prix de certaines marchandises que
l'intimé ne paya jamais puisque cette créance fut annulée et remise.

Le Ministre du Revenu national s'est eru justifié d’ajouter cette somme
de $11,126.25 au revenu autrement imposable de l'intimé pour I'année
1957.

91542—1
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1965 L'intimé en appela de cette imposition & la Commission d’Appel d’Tmpdt
M%TEI?,;;EUDU qui décida que le montant de $11,12625 dont I’intimé a bénéficié en
NATIONAL raison de la susdite remise de compte constitue un gain de capital et

non un revenu imposable provenant de son entreprise.

14 d'un pourvoi devant cette Cour.

Jugé: Ce montant de $11,126.25, annulé et remis 3 titre de dommages doit
étre considéré comme un gain de capital.

2. L’appelant n’a pas établi, conformément 3 la cause de «Goldman v.
Minister of National Revenue ((1953) 1 S.CR. 211)» que le bénéfice
dans la présente cause a été recu pour services rendus.

3. La preuve indique clairement que Canadian Chemical and Cellulose
Co. Ltd. tenait & acheter sa paix et que pour ce faire, elle a payé, par
voie de remise de dette, I'équivalent de $11,126.25 afin d’empécher
une action en dommages que l'intimé entendait instituer contre elle.
Les dispositions de la dite transaction sont telles que prévues aux
articles 1918, 1919 et 1920 du Code Civil.

4, I/intimé était justifié d’utiliser le montant de $11,12625 qu'il devait
récupérer de C. Co. comme dommages et, ¢’est pour cette raison qu’il
enfra dans son état financier, sous le titre: «Conciliation of Capital
Accounts» comme surplus de capital, pour liquider une somme identi-
que ($11,126.25) mais payable pour marchandises recues.

5. Le montant dfi, soit $11,126.25, inclus comme achats et cofit de ventes

dans le rapport de lintimé intitulé: «Profit and Loss Statement» fut,

avec raison, traité par conciliation comme un compte payé.

.
CouTUrE De

6. La remise de créance ne constitue pas, en l'espice, un rabais ou abatte-
ment, mais bien deux dettes distinctes et pour un montant identique;
c’est un gain de capital, done non imposable.

7. L’appel est rejeté et la décision de la Commission d’Appel d’ITmpdt est
maintenue; U'intimé était justifié d’utiliser le montant de $11,126.25,
comme surplus de capital.

APPEL d’une décision de la Commission d’Appel de

PImpdt.

L’appel fut entendu par 'Honorable Juge Kearney &

Montréal.

Paul Boivin, c.r. et R. Boudreau pour I'appelant.
Stanley Steinman pour 'intimé,

Les faits et questions de droit sont exposés dans les
motivés de la décision que rend maintenant (5 février 1965)
monsieur le JuGe KEARNEY:

I1 s’agit ici d’'une décision de la Commission d’appel de
I'imp6t sur le revenu en date du 13 décembre 1951!, main-
tenant l’appel de l'appelant contre une cotisation par
laquelle le Ministre ajouta une somme de $11,126.25 au
revenu autrement imposable de I'intimé pour I'année 1957.

128 Tax AB.C. 358.
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Ce montant ainsi ajouté représente le prix de certaines MINISTRE DT

marchandises (principalement de la soie brute) achetées de Revenu
Pun de ses fournisseurs par lintimé et que ce dernier ne ATONA-
versa jamais, puisque subséquemment, par consentement Covrure
mutuel intervenu entre lacheteur et le vendeur ou ses KearneylJ.
ayants-droit, cette créance fut annulée et remise. —
La Commission, par sa décision, décida que le montant
dont I'intimé a bénéficié en raison de la susdite remise de
compte constitue un gain en capital et non un revenu
imposable provenant de son entreprise.
Les procureurs au dossier ont déclaré mutuellement
qu'ils s’entendaient pour offrir dans cet appel comme
preuve celle produite devant la Commission d’appel de
I'impdt, telle que contenue dans la copie de la transeription
de la preuve qu’ils produisent ainsi que le dossier.
Les allégations principales de l'avis d’appel se lisent
comme suit:

A. EXPOSE DES FAITS

1. I’intimé a produit une déclaration de son revenu
pour I'année d’imposition 1957; ‘

2. Dans ladite déclaration, 'intimé a déduit des profits
bruts de son entreprise pour I'année 1957 un montant
de $11,126.25 comme colit de marchandises;

3. Cette dette de $11,126.25 encourue pour ’achat de
marchandises n’a jamais été payée et n’est plus
exigible;

4. L’appelant a refusé de reconnaitre comme déduction
des profits le montant de $11,126.25 et a cotisé l'intimé
en conséquence en ajoutant ledit montant 3 ses profits.

B. DISPOSITIONS STATUTAIRES ET RAISONS A
L’APPUI DE I’APPEL:

1. Le montant de $11,126.25 ne peut étre réclamé
comme dépense encourue pour gagner le revenu aux
termes de l'article 12(1)(a) de la Lot de U'impdt sur le
reveny;

2. L’appelant a tenu compte de la somme de $11,126.25
dans le calcul du revenu du contribuable en con-
formité des dispositions des articles 3 et 4 de la Lot de

Uimpot sur le revenu.
91542—1%
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1965 : s . ’ 3 . ’ .
Mmespe  O€ dui suit est en partie la réponse de I'intimé au susdit

Revenv  avis d’appel:
NartoNaL

colio o A. EXPOSE DES FAITS

Kearney J 1. L’exposé des faits contenus dans les paragraphes 1,
— 2, 3 et 4 semblent étre véridiques.
B. 1. Les allégations contenues aux paragraphes 1 et 2 de
la partie “B” de I'appelant, sont niées par I'intimé.
D. ET POUR PLUS AMPLE REPONSE, I’'INTIME
DIT:

2. L’intimé s’oppose & cette décision pour les raisons
suivantes:

a) Cette somme de $11,126.25 ajoutée & son revenu
'ne peut étre considérée comme' un revenu
imposable parce qu’il ne peut étre question d'un
ajustement de prix de la part de Canadian Chemi-
cal & Cellulose Co. Ltd., la marchandise ayant été
achetée de F. J. Marcotte Co. Ltd.

b) A la suite d’une entente avec F. J. Marcotte Reg’d
datée du 24 aofit 1956, Vintimé fut placé dans une
position telle qu’il ne pouvait plus acheter
directement de Canadian Chemical & Cellulose
Co. Ltd., et tous ses achats devaient étre faits chez
F. J. Marcotte Co. Ltd.

c) Aprés enquéte, V'intimé déeouvrit qu’un officier
de la compagnie Canadian Chemical & Cellulose
Co. Ltd. était associé & monsieur F. J. Marcotte;
ce dernier livrait & l'intimé des marchandises de
premiére qualité au prix de celles de bonne ou
seconde qualité.

d) Craignant pour sa réputation et pour sa position
vis-a-vis la compagnie Canadian Chemical &
Cellulose Co. Ltd., qui pouvait étre celle d’un
conspirateur, I'intimé attira I’attention des autori-
tés de la Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Co. Ltd.

" & plusieurs reprises, mais sans succes.

e) A la suite du refus de I'intimé de payer le solde
du compte di & F. J. Marcotte Co. Ltd. des pro-
cédures furent prises par cette derniére com-
pagnie en recouvrement du compte; les événe-
ments se sont précipités et avant laudition de
cette cause en Cour Supérieure, F. J. Marcotte Co.
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Litd. fit cession de ses biens et entre autres céda Mmlxgggm -
3 Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Co. Ltd. le 207 Revenu
décembre 1957 le solde du compte réclamé par: NAT;?NAL
P’action en recouvrement. CouTure
f) Le 23 décembre 1957, cette créance fut annulée KearneyJ.
par Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Co. Litd. en —
considération des renseignements que lintimé
avait fournis 4 Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Co.
Litd. sur les relations existantes entre P’officier de la
compagnie, congédié & la suite de ces faits, et F. J.
Marcotte Co. Ltd.
g) Comme cette remise de créance ne constitue pas un
rabais sur marchandises, l'intimé considére ce
montant comme un gain de capital n’étant pas
imposable.”

Je dois dire immédiatement qu’d mon avis le point
décisif de la cause réside dans la détermination de la nature
de la prétendue remise de dette susdite s’élevant &
$11,126.25.

Je ne crois pas que les mots «annulations ou «remise de
dettes déerivent aveec exactitude une situation ol deux
parties ayant des droits et intéréts opposés réglent leurs
différends sur une base de quid pro quo.

Pour les raisons susmentionnées, je crois qu’il est impor-
tant d’examiner les principales circonstances qui ont con-
duit & la prétendue annulation ou remise de compte.

Il y a eu peu de contestation quant aux faits et—sujets
3 certaines modifications non essentielles que je mention-
nerai plus tard—on trouve ces faits dans le témoignage de
Iintimé, le seul témoin appelé par son procureur.

Depuis 1945 ou 1946, l'intimé €était le propriétaire d’une
compagnie faisant affaires sous le nom de Carnegie Locknit
Reg'd. (ci-aprés appelée «Carnegies), en la cité de Sher-
brooke, P.Q. L’'intimé, peu de temps aprés avoir ouvert son
usine, a commencé & acheter de Canadian Chemical &
Cellulose Co. Ltd. (ci-aprés appelée «C. Cos»), dont le
bureau principal était situé & Montréal, P.Q., sa marchan-
dise (soie brute, viscose, nylon et terylene), pour la trans-
former en certaines piéces surtout utilisées dans la produc-
tion de la lingerie pour dames. L'intimé déclara que vers
le milieu de 1956, il fut approché par un nommé F. J.
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Minss - Marcotte, un M. McCarthy et une troisiéme personne dont
Revenu il ne se rappelle pas le nom, qui l'informérent que §'il
NATIONAL  ossait de faire affaires directement avec C. Co., ils
Couture  gchéteraient eux-mémes, directement de cette compagnie,
Kearney J. toutes les marchandises ou machinerie dont il pourrait
——  avoir besoin dans son usine et qu”ils seraient préts & les lui
revendre & des conditions plus favorables que celles que
I'intimé obtenait & ce moment. D’aprés V'intimé, Marcotte
avait le contrle de la production et de la vente des
marchandises de C. Co. et M. McCarthy était un directeur
de cette derniére compagnie. L'intimé accepta la susdite
proposition et, dans le cours de 'année 1956, il acheta sa
marchandise exclusivement de F. J. Marcotte de Montréal,
P.Q., qui plus tard fit affaires sous le nom de F. J. Marcotte
Enr., laquelle firme fut par la suite connue sous le nom de
F. J. Marcotte Cie Ltée (ci-aprés appelée «Compagnie
Marcottes). Ce n’est qu’a Dlexpiration de six mois que
Iintimé soupconna qu’il y avait quelque chose de louche,
lorsqu’il se rendit compte que les marchandises qu’il ache-
tait directement de la Compagnie Marcotte et qui étaient
transportées & Sherbrooke dans des camions portant le
nom de C. Co. n’étaient pas apportées directement & 1’usine
de Pintimé mais étaient d’abord livrées & une firme locale,
Hodge’s Trucking Depot qui les transféraient sur leurs
camions pour les transporter finalement 3 la place d’affaires

de I'intimé.

L’intimé déclara aussi, en ce qui a trait aux expéditions
de soie brute, que 50 & 75 pour cent de ces livraisons com-
portaient une marchandise de premiére classe qui était
chargée au compte de I'intimé au méme prix que s'il §’était
agi d’'une marchandise de deuxiéme classe. I'intimé & un
certain moment s'inquiéta de ces anomalies et craignit de
s'exposer involontairement & &tre considéré comme prenant
part & une conspiration. Il déclara également que MM.
Marcotte et MecCarthy lui suggérérent de se porter
acquéreur d'un intérét de 25 pour cent dans la Compagnie
Marcotte, ce qu'il refusa de faire.

Les factures que I'intimé recevait de Marcotte portaient
toutes le méme numéro, soit le numéro 518, et il déclara
qu’il écrivit & M. McCarthy lui demandant, aprés lui avoir
mentionné le numéro en question, d’expliquer les anomalies
susmentionnées se rapportant 3 la livraison et 4 'achat des
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marchandises. Comme il ne regut aucune réponse & sa MINISTRE DT

lettre, il communiqua alors aveec M. McCarthy de C. Co. Revexu
712 r . NartonaL

. par télégrammes et par lettres recommandées, mais sans o

plus de suceds. Il essaya ensuite de rejoindre M. McCarthy Covurues

par appels interurbains et, au cours de 'une de ses vaines KearneyJ.

tentatives, il réussit & parler & M. Keith, le président de C. —

Co., 4 qui il fit part de ses soupcons lui disant qu’il était

convaineu qu’ «il a quelque chose de croche qui marche»

quant a.ses achats de Marcotte, mais le président, dit-il, lui

donna # entendre que, si tel était le cas, ¢’était Iui (’intimé)

qui était «crochey, et il refusa de faire quoi que ce soit & ce

sujet. L’intimé consulta alors son avocat et celui-ci 'avisa

de refuser les paiements dus & la Compagnie Marcotte, pour

marchandise vendue et livrée (ci-aprés désignée «<la

marchandise»), s’élevant & $11,126.25. Peu de temps apreés,

la Compagnie Marcotte institua des procédures judiciaires

contre lui, mais—pour des raisons que j’expliquerai plus

tard—7"action fut retirée.

Le procureur de 'intimé envoya ce qui est communément
appelé <«une lettre d’avocaty au président de C. Co.,
réclamant des dommages pour un montant excédant de
beaucoup le montant de $11,126.25, prix des marchandises
vendues, et provoqua la visite d'un M. Marshall, avocat,
qui était aussi alors secrétaire de C. Co., & Sherbrooke,
ou il y rencontra l'intimé et son avocat. Pendant cette
visite, M. Marshall—a qui copies des lettres et télégrammes
susmentionnés furent montrées et sur preuve des appels
téléphoniques—déclara que la Compagnie n’avait jamais
été mise au courant ni des lettres, télégrammes ou méme
des téléphones et il semble bien que ces communications
furent interceptées par M. MecCarthy, qui fut plus tard
congédié.

D’autres événements survinrent par la suite. La Com-
pagnie Marcotte négligea de payer la marchandise achetée
de C. Co. et subséquemment vendue & Carnegie, et la
Compagnie Marcotte, 4 la demande de C. Co., lui transféra
sa créance contre I'intimé. I1 semble aussi que la réclamation
comprenait deux machines pour le tricot, dont le prix n’a
pas été indiqué (voir Ex. R-1). Je dois ajouter qu’en ce qui
regarde ces deux machines les procureurs des parties ont
déclaré qu’elles ne sont pas en litige et que 1'on ne doit
pas en tenir compte.
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Peu de temps aprés, la Compagnie Marcotte fit cession
volontaire de ses biens. Le 23 décembre 1953, pour régler
leurs différends, une entente par écrit (Ex. A-1) intervint
entre C. Co. et Carnegie, laquelle se lit comme suit:

December 23, 1957
Canadian Chemical & Cellulose

Company Ltd.,

2035 Guy Street,
Montreal 25, Quebec.

Dear Sirs:

F. J. Marcotte Company Ltd. have at present a claim against us
In the amount of $11,126.25 which is alleged to represent balance of pay-
ment due on goods delivered by them to us.

By separate agreement you have arranged for the assignment of this
claim from F. J. Marcotte Company, Ltd. to Canadian Chemical & Cellu-
lose Company Ltd. and although it was our intention to contest this
claim, we hereby agree to the said assignment and hereby acknowledge the
claim.

In consideration for such action on our part, you have agreed upon
completion of such assignment to cancel the said claim of $11,126.25. In
consideration for such action on your part, we hereby waive any and all
claims which we might have against the said F. J. Marcotte Company Ltd.
or against Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Company, Itd. by reason of
the assignment from F. J. Marcotte Company Ltd.

Yours very truly,
Carnegie Locknit Reg'd.

per: Roland Couture

Canadian Chemical
& Cellulose Company, Ltd.

(signature illisible)

11 est évident, 4 mon avis, que I'exhibit A-1 comporte un
double but, étant donné que les parties y mentionnées, en
faisant des concessions—chacune d’elles possédant une
valeur reconnue de $11,126.25—ont mis fin en premier lieu
4 une action originalement instituée par la Compagnie
Marcotte contre I'intimé, mais ecédée par la Compagnie
Marcotte & C. Co., et, en second lieu, 4 une menace de pour-
suite judiciaire faite par l'intimé contre C. Co. Les disposi-
tions dudit contrat sont telles que prévues dans les articles
1918, 1919 et 1920 du Code civil:

1918. La transaction est un contrat par lequel les parties terminent un
procés déji commencé, ou préviennent une contestation & naltre, an
moyen de concessions ou de réserves faites par l'une des parties ou par

toutes deux.
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1919. Ceux I& seuls qui ont la capacité légale de disposer des objets
compris dans la transaction peuvent en transiger.
1920. La transaction a, entre les parties, l'autorité de la chose jugée en

dernier ressort.

Au paragraphe 3 de I'avis d’appel, 'intimé allégue que la
dette de $11,126.25 encourue par l'intimé pour l'achat de
marchandises n’a jamais été payée et qu’elle n’est plus
exigible, mais dans mon opinion, comme conséquence de la
susdite transaction, la dette de I'intimé, en fait et en droit,
a été aussi effectivement payée que si chacune des parties y
afférentes s’étaient mutuellement remis un chéque de
$11,126.25.

Comme je V'ai déja dit, 1a question la plus importante a
déterminer est celle-ci: le bénéfice que lintimé a recu en
raison de I’entente par écrit Ex. A-1, par laquelle I'intimé
avait le droit de recevoir un erédit pour ladite somme de
$11,126.25, constitue-t-il un revenu taxable?

Si T'on pouvait dire avec justification, conformément 3
la cause de Goldman v. Minister of National Revenue®, que
le bénéfice dans la présente cause a été recu pour ser-
vices rendus, je n’hésiterais pas & maintenir le présent appel.
Le paragraphe f) de la réponse & I'avis d’appel pourrait,
jusqu’d un certain point, étre invoqué en faveur de cette
soumission, lequel paragraphe—dans le but de sauver du
temps—il est bon, je crois, de répéter:

) Le 23 décembre 1957, cette créance fut annulée par Canadian Chemical
& Cellulose Co. Ltd. en considération des renseignements que 'intimé avait

fournis & Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Co. Ltd. sur les relations
existantes entre l'officier de la compagnie, congédié & la suite de ces faits,

et F. J. Marcotte Co. Ltd.

Le procureur de l'appelant a compris I'importance de
cette question et, & mon avis, s'est donné beaucoup de peine,
mais en vain, pour établir que le bénéfice recu par I'intimé
a été accordé & ce dernier pour services rendus, tel qu'il
appert du témoignage de Clifford Malone, secrétaire de C.
Co., entendu de la part de I’appelant. En réponse i la
question «Was it (the debt) cancelled to avoid legal
proceedings?» le témoin a dit:

A. It was, to the best of my knowledge, for many reasons; one of
which was a threatened suit by Carnegie Lockmt agamst Canadian
Chemical based on certain alleged commitments made by one of
our salesmen to Carnegie.

Q. Was it cancelled as a reward or as a donation to Mr. Couture for
services he rendered to your company?

1719531 1 S.C.R. 211.
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A. No.
Q. It was not as a reward for services he rendered to your company?
A. No.

De plus, en transquestion (p. 48, in fine) le procureur

KeareyJ. de l'intimé demanda au témoin Malone de produire comme

Exhibit R-2 une lettre qui se passe de commentaires et qui
se lit comme suit:

CSM-424-60 July 29, 1960.

Department of National Revenue,
Taxation Division,

50 Couture Street,

Sherbrooke, P.Q.

Attention: Mr. G. Thivierge, Appeal Section.
Dear Sirs:

In reply to your letters of June 16th and July 13th and further to our
telephone conversation of yesterday, I wish to advise as follows with
respect to the claim of Canadian Chemical & Company, Limited against
Carnegie Locknit Reg’d. in the amount of $11,126.25. In this regard I also
advise that Canadian Chemical & Cellulose Company, Limited has now
been wound up and any residual matters are being handled by Canadian
Chemical Company, Limited.

In 1957 Chemcell Fibres Limited, a then subsidiary of Canadian
Chemical & Cellulose Company, Limited, discovered that one of its sales-
men was downgrading goods being sold to F. J. Marcotte Co. Ltd., which
company in turn sold such goods to Carnegie Locknit Reg’d as first grade
goods but at reduced prices. At the same time our salesman assured
Carnegie of a continuous supply of such goods at similiar reduced prices.

Chemcell Fibres in effecting settlement with the F. J. Marcotte firm
for the true value of the goods sold received a claim of Marcotte against
Carnegie in the amount of $11,126.25.

However, Carnegie at that time indicated the possibility of institut-
ing legal action against Chemcell Fibres because of the above mentioned
undertaking of the salesman, Carnegie having made commitments to its
customers based on a continual supply of goods at reduced prices. Accord-
ingly, it was decided that it was in the best interest of Chemcell Fibres
not to enforce collection of the $11,12625 and upon the undertaking of
Carnegie that legal action would not be commenced such claim was can-
celled.

We t{rust that the above fully answers your request and we would ask
that this information be treated in confidence.

Yours very truly,
(signature) C. S. Malone,

CSM/os Secretary
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En ce qui a trait & la lettre Exhibit R-2 précitée, le

témoin Malone a témoigné comme suit (p. 49):

Q. Referring to that letter, could you say you cancelled that amount
from your books as a normal course of business or was it extra-
ordinary?

. It was extraordinary, it is not normal. ;

. What did you do to cancel that amount from your books?

. There were several reasons, and one of which was that we were
threatened with a suit by Carnegie against our company, and
another one was that we could not maintain the sale or yarn at
those prices and maintain the market for the yarn. Thirdly, we
wished to close up the matter, it was an unhappy affair as far as
our company was concerned, and we were quite happy to close it
off and we wished to maintain business relations with Mr. Couture.

O P

Je réitére que le témoignage de Roland Couture ne
s’accorde pas tout & fait avec celui de Marcotte. En effet, si
on se référe & la preuve et si on lit la lettre Exhibit R-2, il
semble qu’au paragraphe 2 de cette lettre Marcotte y a
désigné McCarthy comme étant un vendeur & 'emploi d'une
filiale de C. Co., en 1957, alors que I'intimé, lui, I'a désigné
comme étant un directeur de cette derniére compagnie. Je
crois, toutefois, que cette différence a peu d’importance.

A mon avis la preuve indique clairement que C. Co. tenait
3 acheter sa paix et que, pour ce faire, elle a payé, par voie
de remise de dette, 1'équivalent de $11,126.25 afin
d’empécher une action en dommages que P'intimé entendait
instituer contre elle.

Le procureur de Pappelant a mis de ’avant un argument
additionnel, 3 savoir: que méme si Pon admet que I'intimé
a recue $11,126.25 4 titre de dommages et que ce montant
peut é&tre considéré comme un gain de capital, les entrées
qui apparaissent dans les livres de compte de I'intimé sont
erronées.

La prétendue erreur dont le procureur de I’appelant se

plaint est suffisamment résumée dans la transcription de son
argument; je cite:
. .. .lorsqull y a eu cancellation de dette, le montant de $11,126 25 aurait
di &tre déduit du compte d’achats et aussi déduit des comptes payables.
Mais monsieur Couture a toujours laissé dans ses livres le montant de
$11,126.25 au Lieu de le diminuer du compte d’achats; il I’a transféré aux
comptes payables, ce qui veut dire que pour I'année 1957 il réclame tou-
jours une dépense de $11,126.25 dans ses livres, dette qui lui a été cancellée,
pour quelque raison que ce soit et comme je 'ai dit tantot . . . .
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MINllgsﬁmiE ,c Lasusdite prétention de la part de I'appelant ne peut pas

Revenu  prévaloir, parce qu’a mon avis il ne s’agit pas en l'espéce
NATIONAL - un rabais ou abattement, mais bien de deux dettes
Couruse  distinctes et pour un montant identique, I'une par laquelle
KearneyJ. C. Co. est endettée envers I'intimé par suite des dommages
— qu'il aurait subis et I'autre représentant la valeur de cer-
taines marchandises vendues et payables par I'intimé & C.
Co., le débiteur, dans les deux cas, ayant reconnu sa
responsabilité.

Je considére que lintimé était justifié d’utiliser le
montant de $11,126.25, qu’il devait récupérer de C. Co. pour
dommages et qu’il entra dans son état financier sous le titre
«Conciliation of Capital Accounts comme surplus de capital,
pour liquider une somme identique ($11,126.25), mais pay-
able, pour marchandises regues.

Je suis également d’opinion que le dit montant dii, soit
$11,126.25, qui est inclus comme achats et colit de ventes
dans le rapport de 'intimé intitulé «Profit and Loss State-
ment», fut avee raison traité, par conciliation, comme un
compte payé. Je crois que s’il avait été traité de la fagon
suggérée par lappelant ceci aurait eu pour résultat
d’accroitre les profits de 1'intimé d’une somme de $11,126.25
en se servant de 'expédient injustifiable de cotiser un gain
provenant de la réalisation d’un eapital de méme montant.

Comme je 'ai déja fait remarquer, 4 mon avis l'intimé
était justifié de faire dans ses livres les mémes entrées qu’il
aurait pu faire si les deux, intimé et C. Co., avaient suivi
la formalité de s’échanger chacun leur chéque pour un méme
montant, viz. $11,126.25.

Je ne puis, par conséquent, tenir pour justifiée la cotisa-
tion de 'appelant par laquelle $11,126.25 a été ajouté au
revenu autrement imposable de I'intimé.

PAR CES MOTIFS, il s’ensuit que les $11,126.25 que
I'intimé, ainsi qu’il a été admis, avait droit de recevoir ne
constituent pas un revenu découlant d’'un commeree, ni un
paiement pour services rendus, mais un gain afférent & la
réalisation d’un capital, et n’est pas par conséquent impo-
sable.

L’appel est done rejeté avec dépens.

Jugement en conséquence.
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ENTRE: 1964

PIERRE RABY ..o, AppErany; 8%

1965
ET Sey—
mars 8

LE MINISTRE DU REVENU NATIONAL .... .INTIME. =~ —

Revenu—Impét sur le revenu—Loi de UImpét sur le Revenu, S.R.C., 1952,
ch. 148, articles 86E(1)(a)(b), 99(1), 139(1)(e)—Vente de fonds de
commerce avec profit—Affaire de nature commerciale—Appel rejeté.

L’appelant était un entrepreneur de construction. Pour Vexploitation de
son entreprise il s'était associé 4 Roger Pilon et tous deux faisaient
affaires sous les nom et raison sociale de «Global Construction Com-
pany.» Cette société avait construit une centaine de maisons d’habita-
tion dans le secteur Roxboro, en banheue de Montréal.

Devenu sérieusement malade, 'appelant, sur le conseil de son médecin, se
retira des affaires et convint de dissoudre la société et de vendre les
intéréts qu’il y détenait. L’appelant toucha une somme de $27,191.40,
profit qu’il réalisa pour sa part de l'entreprise. L’estimation des biens
de Raby fut établie & $92,000 assujettie & une dette hypothécaire
de $64,808 60 laissant une part réelle de $27,191.40.

Dans son rapport d’impdt pour Vannée 1957, il omit d’inclure ce montant
de $27,101.40, prétendant étre exempt de l'imposition fiscale, vu que,
selon lui, cette somme représentait une plus-value non imposable de
capital.

Le Ministre différa d’opinion. Il décida que Pierre Raby, Pappelant, était
soumis & limpbdt sur le revenu selon les dispositions des articles 3,
4 et 139(1)(e) de la Loi. Il le cotisa donc pour une somme supplé-
mentaire de $8,382.52 afférente & un profit de $27,19140 que Raby
avait, réalisé pendant l'année dmposition 1957.

De cette décision Pierre Raby interjeta appel & la Commission d’Impdt
sur le Revenu qui maintint la cotisation susdite. Il se pourvoit main-
tenant en appel devant cette Cour.

Jugé: La transaction faite avec profit par Pierre Raby, qui céda sa part
dans une entreprise de construction & la firme Alain Construction Ine.,
alias Roger Pilon, constitue une affaire de nature commerciale, soit une
cession de biens portés & l'mventaire social et, de ce chef, soumise 3
'1mp6t sur le revenu selon les dispositions des articles 3, 4 et 139(1) (e)
de la Loi (ch 148, S. R. du C. 1952).

2. La vente, conclue le 4 octobre 1957, entre Global Construction (Pierre
Raby) et Alain Construction, démontre de fagon certaine que la part
du cédant Raby se composait d’'une moitié «des biens compris dans
linventaire de 'entreprise» jadis exploitée conjointement avec Roger
Pilon.

3. L’appel est rejeté sans frais pour les raisons que 'intimé & qui larticle
99(1) de la Loi fiscale imposait la divulgation «des dispositions
statutaires et raisons» sur lesquelles il avait l'intention de s’appuyer,
n’a fait aucune mention, dans sa réponse, de l'article 85K (1), raison
essentielle du débouté.

APPEL d’une décision de la Commission d’Appel de
I'Imp6t sur le Revenu.
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L’appel fut entendu par I'honorable juge Dumoulin, 3
Montréal.

4. J. Rosenstein, c.r. pour Pappelant.
Paul Boivin, c.r. et Paul Coderre pour 'intimé.

Les faits et points de droit sont exposés dans les motivés
de la décision que rend maintenant (8 mars 1965) ’honora-
ble Juge DuMoOULIN:

I1 s’agit d’'un pourvoi devant cette Cour de la décision
rendue le 1™ mars 1963, par la Commission d’appel de
Pimpdt, approuvant une cotisation supplémentaire de
$8,382.52 afférente 3 un profit de $27,191.40, réalisé par
Pappelant pendant I’année d’imposition 1957.

Bien que les procédures littérales soient rédigées en an-
glais, 'enquéte et les plaidoiries orales furent entendues en
francais; je rédigerai done mon jugement dans cette langue
qui, du reste, est celle de Pierre Raby.

Dans un exposé trés minutieux des faits, I'appelant dé-
clare que, par le truchement d’une firme, Global Construc-
tion Company, dont il était propriétaire, il avait construit
une centaine de maisons d’habitation dans le seecteur Rox-
boro, en banlieue de Montréal. Certaines complications de
nature financiére et municipale ralentirent les opérations au
printemps de 1956, mais, 4 I’été de cette méme année, Pierre
Raby, alias Global Construction Company, accepta de s’as-
socier avec un dénommé Roger Pilon pour faire 1'acquisition
de lots & batir.

I1 fut aussitdt procédé a I'achat de six lopins de terre, puis,
le 17 décembre 1956, la société Raby-Pilon souscrivit une
promesse de se porter acquéreur, au prix de $63,366, de
terrains appartenant & Remi Realty Ltd., engagement exé-
cuté peu aprés selon 'aveu de Roland Bigras, alors secrétai-
re-trésorier de cette compagnie.

Au mois de juillet 1957, Raby devint sérieusement ma-
lade, et sur le conseil de son médecin, convint de se retirer
des affaires et de dissoudre 1a société récemment formée.

Pour faciliter la réalisation de ce dessein, Raby, qui aurait
préféré le retrait pur et simple de sa moitié de 1’actif social,
consentit, cependant & la contre-proposition de Roger Pilon
désireux d’acheter la part de son associé dans les terrains
communs & un taux dont on conviendrait, puis de compléter
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Iérection de certaines maisons selon les termes et conditions 1965

de lancienne société. Dans sa formulation anglaise cette  Rasy

entente se lit comme il suit: MINTOTRE DT

(m) Pilon, desirous of continuing the partnership’s business, proposed b?'EVENU

that he acquire Appellant’s interest in the partnership’s land | ATIONAL
assets, at a price to be agreed upon and that the houses in course Duymouln J.
of construction be completed on the prevailing partnership basis. _—

A ce stade, 1a société Raby-Pilon possédait environ 92 lots

4 construire.

L’estimation des biens & laquelle il fut alors procédé
établit 1a demie de 'appelant a4 $92,000, assujettie, toutefois,
a une dette hypothécaire de $64,808.60, laissant une part
nette de $27,191.40.

Incapable d’acquitter d’un coup cette obligation et de
poursuivre son entreprise de construction, Pilon eut recours
3 des moyens assez compliqués afin de se procurer les
ressources nécessaires. .

Le plan échafaudé fut que Pierre Raby vendrait sa part
des lots 3 une entreprise du nom de Alain Construction Ine.,
pour $92,000; que cette derniére, aprés avoir purgé I’hypo-
theéque de $64,808.60, détenue par Remi Realty Ine., et payé
$27,191.40 & Raby, revendrait ces mémes terrains, avec
profit, & Roger Pilon, au prix de $115,000.

L’admission par I'intimé de tous les faits permet, doréna-
vant, de supprimer le fastidieux récit des transactions multi-
ples qui suivirent.

En bref, cette somme de $27,191.40 fut versée a ’appelant
en 1957, qui omit de l'inclure dans son rapport d’impdot de
P’année susdite pourle motif que—et je citerai textuellement:

4. The profits brought to tax are not properly taxable income and
consisted of capital appreciation and enhancement not taxable within the
meaning of the Income Tazx Act.

11 ¢’agirait done dans la persuasion de l'appelant d’'une
plus-value de capitaux.

Par ailleurs, 'appelant, dans l'article 3 de la partie B
(page 4) de son avis d’appel qualifie cette vente dans les
termes ci-apres:

3. The sale was in effect the disposal of the capital of the Appellant’s
undivided one-half of the partnership’s land which, in effect, was assimila-
ble to a stock-in-trade and was acquired for and by the remaining partner.
(les mots en italique sont de moi.)

Comme bien on pense, pareille interprétation de la tran-

saction n’est pas demeurée inapercue. L’intimé, aux articles
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\lﬂif 10 et 15 de la partie B de sa réponse (pages 2 et 3) prend

Rasy  acte de cette admission, qui ferait de la vente une cession de

Muvisime o fORds de commerce, de valeurs portées 3 l'inventaire social

l\%‘i‘;ﬁgz et, de ce chef, soumise & I'impdt sur le revenu selon les
——  articles 3,4 et 139(1) (e) de la loi.

D . . . . . _y .
umoulnJ. Ay dictionnaire de terminologie 1égale de Black® apparais-

sent les définitions que voici des expressions mercantiles
«Stock-in-trades (fonds de commerce) et «Inventory» (in-

ventaire) :
Stock-in-trade: . . . Merchandise or goods kept for sale or traffic.
Inventory: . . . an itemized list of the various articles constituting

a collection, estate, stock-in-trade, etc., with their estimated or
actual values.

Aprés ces explications préliminaires, la position du pro-
bléme est simple. La transaction, avec profit, par laquelle
Pierre Raby cédait, en 1957, & la firme Alain Construction
Inc., alias Roger Pilon, sa part dans une entreprise de
construction constituait-elle un gain de capital, comme le
voudrait I'appelant, ou une affaire de nature commerciale,
selon la prétention de I'intimé?

Rappelons les éléments constitutifs de cette part: la
propriété, pour moitié, de 92 lots et, en outre, une égale
proportion des profits pouvant résulter des travaux en cours
d’exécution.

Antérieurement au statut 54 de 1955, art. 27, qui interca-
lait, entre autres, dans la Loi de U'impdt, 'art. 85E (1) la
version de I'appelant se fut imposée sans conteste, vu le
jugement de la Cour Supréme dans V'instance Frankel Cor-
poration Ltd. and The Minister of National Revenue® auquel
je référe les parties.

Mais cet ajouté statutaire de 1955, dont le texte suit,
dispose du cas dans un sens tout autre, et je cite:

85E. (1) Quand, sur l'aliénation d’une entreprise ou de quelque partie
d’une entreprise ou aprés Pavoir aliénée, ou lorsqu’il cesse d’exploiter une
entreprise ou quelque partie d’une entreprise ou aprés avoir cessé de
Yexploiter, un contribuable a vendu la totalité ou une partie des biens
compris dans I'inventaire de 'entreprise, les biens ainsi vendus sont censés,
aux fins de la présente Partie, avoir été vendus par iui

(a) au cours de la dernitre année d'imposition ol il a exploité

I'entreprise ou la partie de lentreprise, et

(b) au cours de 'exploitation de l'entreprise.

1 Black’s Law Dictionary, 4th ed.
219591 R.C.S. 713.
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Intentionnellement ou pas, cet article met de ¢oté I'auto- L%i
rité du précédent ci-haut mentionné. La transaction dont  Rasy
il ¢’agit, disposant d’une partie, celle de Raby, des biens ppyroms vy
compris dans l'inventaire d’une entreprise que le cédant Revenv

. . . .y . Narronar
cessait d’exploiter, §'intégre, par définition de 1a loi, dans la =~
catégorie des activités nommément visées au sous-paragra- DumoulnJ.
phe (e) du paragraphe (1) de Particle 139. La piece 1, la
vente conclue le 4 octobre 1957, entre Global Construction,
autrement dit Pierre Raby, et Alain Construction, démontre
de fagon concluante que la part du cédant se composait
d’une moitié «des biens compris dans I'inventaire de I'entre-
prise» jadis exploitée conjointement avec Roger Pilon.

PAR CES MOTIFS, I’appel est rejeté mais sans frais,
aucune mention de l'article 85E (1), raison essentielle du
débouté, n’apparaissant dans la réponse de lintimé & qui
Particle 99 (1) de la Loi fiscale imposait la divulgation «des
dispositions statutaires et raisons» sur lesquelles il avait
I'intention de g’appuyer.

Jugement conforme.

91542—2
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1965  ENTRE:

V1 P AULRACINE ..o, ... .APPELANT;
mars 16
—_— ET
LE MINISTRE DU REVENU I ,
NATIONAL ..o (e NTIME.
ENTRE:
AMEDEEDEMERS . ..o, APPELANT;
ET
LE MINISTRE DU REVENU INTIME
NATIONAL .............. (e )
ENTRE:
FRANCOIS NOLIN ..........ccciiennnnnnn APPELANT;
ET
LE MINISTRE DU REVENU INTIME

NATIONAL ..............(777

Revenu—Impét sur le Revenu—Loi de PImpét sur le Revenu, SR.C,
ch. 148, articles 3, 4, 139(1)(e) et 85E—La venie par quelquun de
toute son entreprise d'affaires ou commerciale (auiremeni que par
un moyen prévu & Uart. 864 de la lot) nest pas une transaction impo-
sable il ne sagit pas d’'un commerce acheté dans le bul de le
revendre avec profit.

Dans cette cause, les appelants, hommes d’affaires expérimentés, étaient
engagés seuls ou ensemble dans diverses entreprises, soit comme
entrepreneurs en construction, détenteurs d’immeubles pour fins de per-
ception de loyers, directeurs de compagnie de transport routier et
d’une compagnie faisant le commerce de terrains.

L’entreprise qui fut I’objet des transactions qui donnérent lieu aux profits
dont il s'agit était un commerce d’achat et de vente de machineries
lourdes et de pidces opéré par Machines Modernes Ltée.

Ce débat ne porte que sur les profits réalisés par les trois appelants et
provenant de:
1° la vente d’'un immeuble;
2° et de la vente d’actions de Machineries Provinciales Inc.

Apres avoir exploité ce commerce pendant un certain temps, les appelants
le revendirent pour un prix plus élevé que celui qu'ils avaient payé
pour son acquisition, et le Ministre leur imposa une cotisation supplé-
mentaire afférente & un profit réalisé par eux pendant l'année d’im-
position 1960.
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La Commission d’Appel de I'Impdt (33 Tax, AB.C. p. 14) a maintenu la
cotisation supplémentaire afférente & un profit réalisé par les appelants
et imposé par le Ministre.

Chaque contribuable se pourvoit maintenant en appel devant cette Cour.

Jugé: Il appert que les profits qui forment P'objet du présent appel sont
des profits qui ne dotvent pas 8tre inclus dans le revenu des appelants,
nt étre imposés en vertu de la Lot de I'Impét et 1ls seralent, par con-
séquent, communément appelés: des gains de caputal.

2. Le seul fait qu'une personne, achetant une propriété dans le but de
Putiliser & titre de capital, pourrait &tre induite & la revendre, si un
prix suffisamment élevé lwm était offert, n'est pas suffisant pour
changer une acquisition de capital en une mitiative d’une nature ou
caractére commercial.

3. Pour donner & une transaction, qui comporte Pacquisition d’un capital,
le double caractére d’8tre auss1 en méme temps une nitiative d’une
nature commerciale, Pacquéreur doit avorr au moment de ’acquisition,
dans son esprit, la possibilité de revendre, comme motif, qui le
pousse & faire cette acquisition. En d’autres termes, il doit avoir
dans son esprit 1'dée que si certaines circonstances surviennent, il
a des esporrs de pouvoir la revendre 3 profit au lieu d’utihser la
chose acquise pour des fins de capital.

4. Une déeision qu'une telle motivation existe devrait 8tre basée sur des
inférences découlant des circonstances qui entourent la transaction
plutét que d’une preuve directe de ce que I'acquéreur avait en téte.

5. 8i un profit est un profit provenant d’un commerce ou d’une initiative
d’une nature ou d’un caractére commercial, il est imposable.

6. La vente par quelqu'un de toute son entreprise d’affaires ou commerciale
(autrement que par un moyen prévu & lart. 85E de la Loi) et #'il n’est
pas dans le commerce d’achat et de vente de commerces, n’est pas une
transaction imposable.

7. 81 en achetant ce commerce 1l n’avait pas comme une des raisons le
motivant & faire cet achat, 'dée de le revendre & profit, le profit
provenant de la vente subséquente n’est pas imposable.

8 La Cour ne voit aucun fondement dans les déclarations de Pintimé,
qui puisse justifier d’assujettir les appelants au fardeau de la preuve
sur quelque pomnt que ce soit (cf. Mwmster of National Revenue v.
Pullsbury Holdwngs Ltd. 1964, CT.C 204 p. 302).

Appel d’une décision de la Commission d’Appel de I'Tm-
pot sur le Revenu.

L’appel fut entendu par 'honorable Juge Noél 4 Québec.
Roger Létourneau, c.r. pour les appelants.
Paul Boivin, c.r. et Roger Tassé pour 'intimé.

Les faits et points de droit sont exposés dans les motivés
de la décision que rend maintenant (16 mars 1965) T'hono-
rable Juge NoEL.

I1 ¢’agit d'un pourvoi devant cette Cour de la décision
rendue le 19 juin 1963 par la Commission d’appel de I'im-
pdt' approuvant une cotisation supplémentaire afférente a

133 Tax ABC 14
9174221
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AJUSTEMENTS DU REVENU DECLARE

NeglJ. I PAUL RACINE

Revenu net déelaré ........... ...t
A ajouter:
Profit sur vente d’'un immeuble () ......... $ 1,666.66
Profit sur vente d’actions de Machineries
Provinciales Inc. ........coovviiiiennnnn 19,000.00
Profit sur vente de créance du Restaurant
PepDe c vt e 3,575.00
Revenu net corrigé: .................i.n
Exemptions personnelles ................. . 4,000.00
Dons de charité ........covvviieiiininnrnnnn 1,200.00
Revenu imposable corrigé: .................

Profit sur vente dun immeuble par MM.
A. Demers, F. Nolin et P. Racine.

Prix de vente .... ..... c.ioiiiiiiiiin, $30,000.00
L0701 1 P 25,000.00
Profit réalisé 3 partager en 8 .............. $ 5,000.00
Profit sur vente d’actions de Machineries Provinciales Inc.
Prix de vente ....ooveveriiiiiiiineaniiinns $20,000.00
L0741 3 1,000.00
Profit réalis ........coviiiiierinaniiriananns 19,000.00
Profit sur vente de créance du Restaurant Peppe.

Prix de vente ........ccoiiiiiiiiiianinnn, $ 14,575.00
Cofit viiiieiii s et 11,000.00
Profit réalis: ........civiiiiiiiiiiiinint 3,575.00

II. AMEDEE DEMERS.
Revenu net déelaré .........coieiiii tiin oen

A ajouter:

Profit sur vente d’un immeuble (}) ......... $ 1,666.66

Profit sur vente d’actions de Machineries
Provineiales Ine. .....cccvviieniiiinene 19,000.00

Part des revenus dans les Habitations St.
Louis Ltée corporation personnelle ......

Revenu net corrigé ....... ........ e
Exemptions personnelles ......... .... ... $ 1,500.00
Dons de charité ........... ... Lol.n 2,000.00

Revenu imposable corrigé: ......

[19651

un profit réalisé par les appelants pendant Pannée d’impo-
sition 1960. Le revenu déclaré des trois contribuables fut
ajusté comme suit & la suite de la cotisation supplémentaire
du Ministre:

$13,431.40

24.241.66
37,673.06

5,200.00
$32,473.06

$44,864.47

$20,666 66

3,579.48
$69,110.61

3,500.00
$65,610.61
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Profit sur vente d'un immeuble par MM. A.
Demers, F. Nolin et P. Racine.

Prix devente ...... . ..ottt $ 30,000.00
[0 25,000.00
Profit réalisé & partager en 3 ....... ....... 5,000.00

Profit sur wvente dactions de Machineries
Prouvinciales Inc.

Prix de vente ....... ... .iiiiih aeiiinnn $20,000.00
701 1 1,000.00
Profit réalisé .......... ... ol il 19,000.00

IIT. FRANCOIS NOLIN

Revenu net déclaré ...............ccciviiiinnn.

A ajouter:
Profit sur vente d’un immeuble (3) ....... $ 1,666.66
Profit sur vente d’actions de Machineries

Provinciales Ine. .. ....covvvininnnnn.. 19,000.00

Revenu net corrigé ............iiiiienin
Exemptions personnelles ...............oo.uue 2,500.00
Donsg de charité ......covvvvivnenvinninenn 1,000.00
Revenu imposable corrigé .................

Profit sur vente d’'un immeuble par MM. A.
Demers, F. Nolin et P. Racine.

Prix de vente .......ceovvviiiinininninnnn. $ 30,000.00
L0707 1 25,000.00
Profit réalisé & partager en 3 ............... 5,000.00

Profit sur vente d’actions de Machineries
Provinciales Inc.

Prix de vente ......oovvviveievnininienrnen $ 20,000.00
Colit vvvvveeinnennn e terereareteeearanes 1,000.00
Profit réalisé ....ovvviriiiinrivirenrnneins 19,000.00

Correction de lVimpdt additionnel pour les
anndes 19556 & 1959, relativement & la
récupération de la dépréciation.

Imp6t additionnel suivant le tableau annexé

Impdt additionel établi lors de la déclaration

Augmentation ........c..ociiiiiiiiiiieea..

[1965]

$43,205.90

20,666.66
63,872.56

3,600.00
60,372.56

$ 8648.75
7,437.34
1211.41

Je dois dire que dans 'appel de Paul Raecine, son procu-
reur durant ’appel déclara qu’il se désistait de Pappel logé &
Iencontre de I'inclusion dans son revenu d’un profit réalisé
sur vente de créance du Restaurant Peppe au montant de
$3,575 et il ne sera pas tenu compte de ce montant dans le

présent appel.

Le débat par conséquent ne porte que sur les profits
réalisés par les trois appelants et provenant de la vente d’'un
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immeuble et de la vente d’actions de Machineries Provincia-

Racine;  les, Inc.
DeMrers .
erNoux  Ces trois appels furent, de consentement, entendus en

Minionms oo TéMe temps par la Commission d’appel de U'imp6t ainsi que
l\gﬂggz par cette Cour et les parties par leurs procureurs convinrent
—— que Iappel dans les trois cas serait entendu sur la preuve

NoélJ.  faite devant la Commission d’appel de I'impét.

1965
—

Chaque contribuable interjette appel de ladite cotisation
pour I'année de taxation 1960 et souléve le méme moyen
d’appel lequel, dans les trois cas, doit &tre décidé par la
solution qui sera donnée & une seule question, celle de savoir
si certains profits provenant de transactions que les trois
appelants ont entreprises ensemble sont des profits prove-
nant d’une entreprise dans le sens donné 3 ce mot par la
Lot de Uimpét sur le revenu S.R.C. 1952, c. 148, suivant
les articles 3, 4 et 139 (1) (e) de ladite loi. Les articles 3 et
4 se lisent comme suit:

3. Le revenu d’un contribuable pour une année d’imposition, aux fins
de la présente Partie, est son revenu pour 'année de toutes prove-
nances & 'intérieur ou & l'extérieur du Canada et, sans restreindre
la généralité de ce qui précdde, comprend le revenu pour I'année
provenant

a) d’entreprises,
b) de biens, et
¢) de charges et d’emplois.

4. Sous réserve des autres dispositions de la présente Partie, le revenu
provenant, pour une année d’imposition, d’une entreprise ou de
biens est le bénéfice en découlant pour Pannée.

L’article 139 (1)(e) se lit comme suit:

e) <entreprise» comprend une profession, un métier, un com-
merce, une fabrication ou une activité de quelque genre que
ce soit et comprend une initiative ou affaire d’'un caractere
commercial, mais ne comprend pas une charge ou emploi;

S’ils sont des profits provenant d’une telle entreprise.
I'intimé en a & bon droit inclus un tiers en établissant le
revenu de chacun des trois appelants pour ’année d’imposi-
tion 1960. D’autre part, 8'ils ne sont pas des profits prove-
nant d’une telle entreprise, ils ne doivent pas étre inclus
dans le revenu des appelants ni étre imposés en vertu de la
Lot de Uimpét et ils seralent par conséquent ce que l'on
appelle communément des gains de capital.

Les profits qui forment 1’objet du présent appel sont, sans
entrer pour le moment dans le détail, des profits provenant
de:
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a) lacquisition d’un commerce en opération (as a 1965

—

going concern) du fiduciaire des détenteurs d’obli- Racrne;

gations d’une compagnie qui, avant la dite acquisi- o

tion, poursuivait ce commerce et qui, ce faisant, v.

£y s . MINISTRE DU

était devenue insolvable, et REVENU
NarronaL

b) aprés avoir opéré ce commerce pendant un certain ~— ___
temps, ils Pauraient revendu pour un prix plus éle- NoélJ.
vé que celui qu’ils avaient payé pour son acqui-
sition.

Comme nous le verrons plus loin, le moyen adopté fut de
créer une compagnie (dont les appelants acquirent un nom-
bre égal des actions émises) qui se porta acquéreur de
Pachalandage et de tous les actifs de ce commerce sauf un
batiment et le terrain qui furent acquis au nom des appe-
lants et ces derniers vendirent subséquemment les actions de
la compagnie ainsi que le terrain.

Je suis d’avis que, pour les fins d’imposition, cette fagon
de procéder ne peut affecter le caractére de la transaction.
En effet, cette transaction au point de vue impdt serait
exactement la méme si les appelants avaient tout s1mple-
ment acheté le tout en leur nom personnel.

I1 est certain qu’un profit ou une perte résultant de la
vente d'un commerce en opération (as a going concern),
4 moins que la transaction ne tombe sous I’article 85E de la
loi, n’affecte en rien la position du vendeur au point de vue
de son revenu parce qu’un profit résultant de la vente d’'un
commerce.-n’est pas un profit d’'un commerce. II suffit de se
référer & la décision de Frankel Corporation Ltd. v. Minis-
ter of National Revenue' pour s’en assurer. D’autre part, un
commerce peut &tre acheté et vendu dans le cours d'un
commerce d’achat et de vente de commerces ou dans le cours
d’une initiative ou affaire d’'un caractére commercial (tel
que défini par 139 (1) (e) supra) et, dans I'occurrence, un
profit réalisé 3 la suite de la revente d’'un tel commerce serait
un profit provenant de ce commerce ou de l'initiative ou
affaire commerciale du vendeur. Dans Gairdner Securities
Ltd. v. Minister of National Revenue® ces principes furent
soutenus et cette décision fut confirmée par la Cour
supréme®.

1119591 R.CS. 713.
2{19521 R.C. de VE. 448. 8[1954] CT.C. 24.
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ﬂef I1 apparait clairement de la preuve que le commerce en
Racixe;  question ne fut pas acquis dans le cours de I’exercice d’un
Eliﬁﬁi commerce de vente et de revente de commerces. La question
- qu’il s’agit alors de déterminer dans ces appels se restreint
Revenu  celle de savoir si 'acquisition du commerce en question fut
NamoNaL 1o début d’une initiative ou affaire d’une nature commerciale
NoélJ. comportant 'acquisition de ce commerce dans le but d’en
T disposer & profit. Il est donc nécessaire pour trancher cette

question d’examiner les faits.

En premier lieu, il est important de connaitre les activités
des appelants au moment méme ol les opérations en cause
ont commencé.

Pendant un certain nombre d’année qui précédérent les
transactions en cause, les appelants s’étaient engagés dans
des opérations de commerce et de placement tant & titre
individuel que conjointement. La preuve ne déerit pas leurs
commerces respectifs et les valeurs qu’ils détenaient avec
autant de précision qu’on pourrait peut-&tre le désirer, mais
cette description est tout de méme suffisante pour nous
permettre d’apprécier leurs aectivités. En effet, en plus de
détenir des propriétés immobiliéres pour y percevoir des
loyers, soit en leur nom personnel ou au nom de compagnies
dont ils détenaient toutes les actions, chacun des appelants
exploitait aussi séparément des commerces différents par le
moyen de compagnies qu’il contrdlait ou dont il détenait
toutes les actions. Les appelants en plus se sont aussi laneés
dans plusieurs entreprises par le truchement de compagnies
dont ils détenaient, & part égale, toutes les actions.

Une de ces compagnies opérait un commerce de transac-
tions de terrains. Toutes les autres acquirent des immeubles,
les développérent et les gardérent pour en percevoir des
loyers. Certaines de ces propriétés ainsi détenues compor-
tent un placement substantiel.

Les appelants réussirent & financer ces diverses entreprises
en souscrivant de trés petits montants d’argent & titre de
capital parce qu’ils avaient acquis dans la communauté une
réputation d’hommes dont le crédit et 'intégrité étaient tels
que la Banque de Montréal était préte a financer chacune de
leurs nouvelles acquisitions. Il arrivait assez souvent dans le
cours d’'une année que plusieurs de ces acquisitions se
faisaient par des emprunts faits & la banque de la presque
totalité du capital requis pour le financement préliminaire
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de la compagnie €érigée dans le but de mettre 4 exécution un i’fﬁ
projet particulier, et ce sur le seul endossement personnel Racing;

des trois appelants. E]’?E]Nl\%?;;

Chacun des appelants recevait un salaire de I'une ou de &
lautre des compagnies dont il s’occupait et recevait des Revexu
<,z s . . ry s NATIONAL
loyers des propriétés qu’il pouvait soit détenir personnelle-
ment ou qui étaient détenues par des compagnies dont il ou  NoélJ.
ils détenaient toutes les actions ou qu’il ou ils contrdlaient.
I1 semble cependant que, régle générale, les revenus prove-
nant de ces compagnies étaient employés & rembourser la
banque pour les préts accordés et, ainsi, augmentaient
d’autant la valeur des intéréts des actionnaires dans ces
compagnies plutdt que d’étre utilisés au paiement de divi-
dendes aux actionnaires.
On peut donc décrire les trois appelants comme étant
d’excellents hommes d’affaire, heureux dans leurs transac-
tions, chacun ayant plusieurs fers au feu, comportant des
opérations variées telles que la détention d’immeubles pour
fins de perception de loyers, 'opération d'une compagnie de
transport routier, celle d’'une compagnie de construction,
ainsi que d’'une compagnie faisant le commerce de terrains.
L’entreprise qui fut 'objet des transactions qui donnérent
lieu aux profits dont il s’agit dans ces appels était un
commerce d’achat et de vente de machineries lourdes et de
piéces opéré par Machineries Modernes Ltée. Cette compa-
gnie avait été gérée par un monsieur J. M. Dagenais qui en
détenait les actions et qui mourut laissant sa compagnie 3 sa
veuve et 3 ses deux fils. Cette compagnie devint subséquem-
ment insolvable, 4 tel point que Raymond Normandeau,
C.A,, fiduciaire des détenteurs d’obligations de la compa-
gnie, dut s’emparer de I'entreprise, y compris les propriétés
réelles et personnelles qu’elle comprenait. Le fiduciaire prit
possession desdits biens au mois de novembre 1959 et
demanda des soumissions pour l'achat de ce commerce.
Lorque, le 5 février 1960, les offres furent recues et exami-
nées, aucune d’elles ne fut approuvée par les inspecteurs de
la faillite. On approcha alors les appelants et ils furent
invités & acquérir cette entreprise. Les appelants firent une
offre le 15 mars 1960 et, le ou vers le 22 mars de la méme
année, M. Normandeau convint de vendre l'entreprise et
tous les biens de ladite compagnie aux appelants pour la
somme de $176,000. Ils prirent possession de ce commerce le
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25 mars 1960, bien que les formalités des transferts nécessai-
res ne furent exécutées que quelques semaines plus tard, ce
fait n’affectant d’ailleurs en rien le caractére de la transac-
tion pour les fing d’impot.

Durant la période qui préeéda leur décision d’acheter ce
commerce, les appelants mirent & point une entente condi-
tionnelle avec la famille Dagenais en vertu de laquelle ils
convinrent que si le fiduciaire leur vendait ’entreprise 3 leur
prix, les fils Dagenais pourraient continuer & participer & ce
commerce et la famille Dagenais aurait Popportunité d’y
acquérir un intérét de 45%, sauf en ce qui a trait 3 la
propriété réelle. Cette entente était basée sur le fait que
Vinventaire de ce commerce €était suffisant (il avait a ce
moment une valeur aux livres d’au dela de $500,000) pour
que son prix d’acquisition soit payé par le produit de la
vente d’'une partie de cet inventaire qui pouvait, semble-t-il,
étre vendu sans trop affecter le commerce en question. Il
appert aussi que les appelants crurent que bien que les fils
Dagenais n’avaient pu opérer ce commerce avec succes apres
la mort de leur pére, ils pourraient cependant le faire si un
systeme de comptabilité moderne était instauré pour con-
troler leurs opérations et s'ils recevaient, d’autre part, des
directives et un certain contréle de la part des appelants.
Les appelants pourraient ainsi, sans nuire & leurs activités
antérieures et sans qu’il soit nécessaire d’y consacrer trop de
leur temps, y ajouter un nouveau comnmerce.

Cette entente projetée avec la famille Dagenais fut exécu-
tée comme suit:

a) les appelants incorporérent une compagnie sous le
nom de Machineries Provinciales Inec., et souscrivi-
rent chacun $1,000 de ses actions; cette compagnie
ensuite acquit tout le commerce de Machineries
Modernes Ltée, autre que la propriété réelle, pour .
la somme de $151,000 comptant et les appelants
achetérent la propriété réelle utilisée dans le com-
merce de la compagnie pour un montant de $25,000
comptant avec entente que les appelants loue-
raient I'immeuble & la compagnie de sorte qu'il
continuerait 3 étre utilisé dans le commerce;

b) tout 'argent pour Vacquisition fut emprunté de la
banque sur le crédit personnel des appelants, et
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¢) une entente sous seing privé contenant les clauses
principales des engagements des parties fut exéeu-
tée par les appelants et 1a famille Dagenais.

Le 25 mars 1960, aprés l'acceptation par le fiduciaire de
Yoffre des appelants d’acheter 'entreprise et les biens de la
Compagnie Machineries Modernes Ltée et bien que tous les
transferts n’avaient pas été, & ce moment-13, exécutés, les
appelants prirent possession desdits biens et du commerce
et se mirent, dés lors, & lui insuffler une vie nouvelle par des
mesures telles que celles d’y introduire un nouveau systéme
amélioré de comptabilité, le réengagement d’employés qui
avaient été mis & pied 3 la suite de I'insolvabilité et 1’éta-
blissement d’agences nouvelles et autres relations d’affaires.
Ils commencérent également 3 disposer d'une partie de
I'inventaire de ce commerce dans le but de rembourser
les argents empruntés & la banque. C’est pendant cette
période que les appelants commencérent 3 craindre que les
fils Dagenais ne donneraient pas ce qu'ils attendaient d’eux
et seraient incapables d’assumer la responsabilité d’opérer ce
commerce sans un contrdle et une direction accrus que les
appelants ne pourraient, 4 cause du peu de temps dont ils
disposaient, leur donner. Ce commerce fut opéré pendant
environ quatre & six semaines par les nouveaux propriétaires
quand un dénommé Jean-Marie Baronet, gendre de I'appe-
lant Demers, apprit que les appelants avaient pris charge du
commerce Dagenais et, aprés quelques discussions, convint
avec eux d’acquérir leurs intéréts dans ce commerce en
achetant toutes les actions émises de Machineries Provin-
ciales Ine., ainsi que 'immeuble et le terrain qu’elle utilisait
pour la somme de $90,000.

Par cette transaction Baronet assumait les obligations des
appelants en vertu de leur entente avee la famille Dagenais
ainsi que le remboursement de 'emprunt qu’ils avaient fait
a la banque, que les appelants cependant durent continuer
4 garantir envers la banque par leur endossement personnel
du billet de Baronet.

Le prix payé par Baronet valut aux appelants un profit de
$5,000 sur la propriété immobiliére, soit $1,666.66 chacun, et
de $57,000 sur les actions, soit $19,000 chacun.

Baronet était en mesure de s’occuper & plein temps de la
gérance de cette compagnie et sous sa direction Machineries
Provinciales Inc. remboursa rapidement I'emprunt bancaire
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1965 ot Baronet se déclara fort heureux des opérations de la

RaciNg; compagnie.
DemErs , . . \
er NoLIv L’on pourrait envisager le probléme que comportent ces

Minonss pp 2PPels du point de vue des transactions légales suivantes:

N%“;‘I’gﬁfh a) Pachat et la revente d’une propriété immobiliére,
— et
NoglJ. , . .. . ,
— b) Tacquisition et la vente de toutes les actions d'une
compagnie.

Cependant, dans le but de déterminer si les profits en
question sont des profits découlant d’une initiative ou affaire
d’une nature commerciale, il me semble plus objectif de
considérer ces transactions comme I'envisagerait un homme
d’affaires, c’est-a-dire, tel que ci-haut mentionné, ’acquisi-
tion par les appelants d'une entreprise d’affaires et la
revente subséquente de cette entreprise & profit.

I1 me semble que la question que I'on doit se poser est
celle de savoir si le seul objectif des appelants lorsqu’ils ont
fait leur acquisition était d’ajouter ce commerce en cours a
toutes leurs autres entreprises ou s'ils ont acquis ce com-
merce dans le but de 'opérer et dans le but de le revendre &
profit suivant les circonstances qui pourraient surgir et les
offres qui pourraient leur étre faites.

En examinant cette question de savoir si les appelants
avaient, au moment de Pacquisition, ce que l'on a parfois
appelé une «intention secondaire»> de revendre cette entre-
prise commerciale si les circonstances s’y prétaient, il est
important de considérer ce que cette notion doit comporter.
I1 n’est pas, en effet, suffisant de trouver seulement que si un
acquéreur g'était au moment de I'acquisition arrété pour y
penser, il serait obligé d’admettre que si & la suite de son
acquisition une offre attrayante lui était faite il revendrait
car toute personne achetant une maison pour sa famille, une
peinture pour sa maison, de la machinerie pour son com-
merce ou un batiment pour sa manufacture serait obligée
d’admettre, si cette personne était honnéte et que la tran-
saction n’était pas exclusivement basée sur une question de
sentiment, que si on lui offrait un prix suffisamment élevé &
un moment quelconque aprés 'acquisition, elle revendrait.
11 appert done que le seul fait qu'une personne achetant une
propriété dans le but de P'utiliser & titre de capital pourrait
stre induite & la revendre si un prix suffisamment élevé lui
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était offert n’est pas suffisant pour changer une acquisition
de capital en une initiative d’une nature ou ecaractére
commercial. Ce n’est pas en effet ce que 'on doit entendre
par une <intention secondaire» si P'on veut utiliser cette
phraséologie.

Pour donner 3 une transaction qui comporte Pacquisition
d’un capital le double caractére d’étre aussi en méme
temps une initiative d’une nature commerciale, 'acquéreur
doit avoir, au moment de 'acquisition, dans son esprit, la
possibilité de revendre comme motif qui le pousse & faire
cette acquisition; c’est-a-dire qu’il doit avoir dans son esprit
I'idée que si certaines circonstances surviennent il a des
espoirs de pouvoir la revendre & profit au lieu d’utiliser la
chose acquise pour des fins de capital. D’une facon générale,
une décision qu'une telle motivation existe devrait é€tre
basée sur des inférences découlant des circonstances qui
entourent la transaction plutét que d’une preuve directe de
ce que acquéreur avait en téte.

Lorsqu’'un homme achéte une grande surface de terrain
dans le but avoué d’y construire, par exemple, un centre
d’achats et d’y louer des magasins pour en obtenir un revenu
de loyers, mais qu’au moment de l'acquisition il ne fait
aucun arrangement pour obtenir le financement permanent
d’un montant considérable d’argent qu’il devra y placer ou
qui sera requis pour les fins de son projet, ou aucun arrange-
ment pour obtenir des locataires et qu’il n’a obtenu aucune
information relativement 4 la question de savoir si le site en
question posséde les caractéristiques nécessaires et adéqua-
tes pour un tel projet, ou lorsque ce terrain est situé dans un
secteur qui est adjacent & un autre secteur qui pousse et qui
est en pleine expansion sur la périphérie et ol la valeur des
terrains a déja commencé 4 monter et ou l'acquéreur pos-
séde une expérience dans le domaine immobilier qui lui
permet d’anticiper les changements qui peuvent se produire
dans la valeur immobiliére, il 8’en suit presque une inférence
irrésistible que cet homme avait dans son esprit lorsqu’il
a acquis le terrain I'idée que §'il ne réussissait pas & faire les
arrangements nécessaires pour y établir un centre d’achats,
il pourrait indubitablement revendre ce terrain a profit.

Le probléme de I'intimé dans la présente cause a ceci en
commun avec l'exemple hypothétique du centre d’achats
dont je viens de parler en ce qu'il n’y a aucune preuve
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directe que la possibilité de revendre le commerce en ques-
tion ait été considérée dans I’esprit des appelants lorsqu’ils
ont décidé de faire leur acquisition; en fait la preuve est &
Peffet contraire. Toute la preuve présentée par les appelants

Revenu €8t & Ueffet qu’il n’existait pas une telle intention dans leur

NATIONAL

NoélJ.

esprit et 'intimé n’a offert aucune preuve qui ait pu contre-
dire cette preuve et je dois méme ajouter que cette preuve
des appelants n’a méme pas été mise en question par une
transquestion. Il n’a pas été suggéré & aucun des appelants
dans la transquestion et aucune question ne leur a été posée
a ce sujet, que la probabilité ou la possibilité d’une revente
de ce commerce & profit aurait été un des motifs qui ont fait
partie de leur décision lors de 'acquisition. Je n’ai d’autre
part aucune raison de douter de I'intégrité des appelants et
d’ailleurs la preuve au dossier ne me justifierait aucunement
de le faire et il me répugnerait dans les circonstances de
décider qu’ils ont faussement représenté la nature de cette
transaction. D’autant plus, tel qu’on vient de le voir, on ne
leur a pas donné par une transquestion I'opportunité d’ac-
cepter ou de rencontrer une version qui viendrait en conflit
avec les raisons qu’ils ont données pour justifier ou expliquer
leur transaction et sur ce point il est intéressant de noter les
déclarations de Lord Herschell L.C. et Lord Halsbury dans
Browne v. Dunn! aux pp. 70, 76 et 77:

Lord Herschell:

Now, my Lords, I cannot help saying that it seems to me to be absolutely
essential to the proper conduct of a cause, where it is intended to suggest
that a witness is not speaking the truth on a particular point, to direct
his attention to the fact by some questions put in eross-examination showing
that that imputation is intended to be made, and not to take his evidence
and pass it by as a matter altogether unchallenged, and then, when it is
impossible for him to explain, as perhaps he might have been able to do
if such questions had been put to him, the circumstances which it is sug-
gested indicate that the story he tells ought not to be believed, to argue
that he is a witness unworthy of credit. My Lords, I have always under-
stood that if you intend to impeach a witness you are bound, whilst he is
in the box, to give him an opportunity of making any explanation which
is open to him; and, as it seems to me;that is not only a rule of profes-
sional practice in the conduct of a case, but is essential to fair play and
fair dealing with witnesses.

Lord Halsbury:

My Lords, with regard to the manner in which the evidence was given in
this case, I cannot too heartily express my concurrence with the Lord
Chancellor as to the mode in which a trial should be conducted. To my
mind nothing would be more absolutely unjust than not to cross-examine

1(1894) 6 The Reports, 67.
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witnesses upon evidence which they have given, so as to give them notice,
and to give them an opportunity of explanation, and an opportunity very
often to defend their own character, and, not having given them such an
opportunity, to ask the jury afterwards to disbelieve what they have said,
although not one question has been directed either to their credit or to
the accuracy of the facts they have deposed to.

Il se pourrait cependant quand méme, étant donné le
témoignage intéressé des appelants, que les circonstances
soient telles qu’elles pourraient rendre irrésistible une infé-
rence qui contredirait leur intention exprimée dans leur
témoignage.

L’intimé g'appuie pour établir cette inférence sur les
opérations passées des appelants, leurs méthodes de finance-
ment, et le trés court délai qui s’est écoulé entre 'acquisition
et la revente.

Quant & ce qui concerne les opérations passées des appe-
lants, je n’y trouve rien qui indique qu’ils devaient avoir
dans leur esprit 'idée de revendre cette entreprise commer-
ciale comme facteur les motivant au moment de 'acquisi-
tion. En effet la preuve ne démontre pas qu’ils aient jamais
acheté et revendu une entreprise commerciale antérieure-
ment. Ils se sont sans doute engagés dans beaucoup d’opéra-~
tions commerciales mais, dans presque tous les cas, ils
semblent les avoir retenues pour les revenus futurs que ces
commerces pouvaient leur rapporter. Ils ont, il est vrai, une
compagnie qui fait le commerce de terrains mais il ’agit 13
d’un commerce entiérement différent de celui d’acheter et de
revendre une entreprise commerciale ou un commerce.

Quant au financement, il apparait clairement que I'ab-
sence de moyens financiers peut parfois indiquer irrésistible-
ment qu’on devait avoir 'intention de revendre si le finance-
ment nécessaire n’a pas été prévu ou arrangé. Dans le
présent cas cependant, les appelants avaient un plan en
vertu duquel ils avaient prévu le financement de cette
acquisition. Ils avaient en effet organisé le financement
intérimaire par le moyen de la banque et ils avaient consi-
déré que la banque pouvait étre remboursée en disposant
d’une partie des actifs de Uentreprise commerciale qu’ils
acquéraient. Les événements subséquents d’ailleurs ont dé-
montré que cette fagon de financement envisagée par les
appelants était parfaitement praticable puisque, effective-
ment, c’est de cette facon qu’il s’est opéré. De plus, leur plan
de financement pour cette acquisition était entiérement
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ment §'il n’existe pas d’explication satisfaisante de cette
revente rapide. Les appelants ici donnent une explication
pour la revente rapide que je trouve croyable et que j’ac-
cepte. Ils avaient beaucoup de fers au feu. Ils ont considéré
que le projet d’acquérir cette entreprise commerciale dont il
est question dans le présent appel et de l'opérer était
entiérement praticable, basé sur les prémisses que les fils
Dagenais, qui connaissaient ce commerce et en avaient
I'expérience, entreraient avec eux en fait comme des parte-
naires juniors et ils présumeérent que les fils Dagenais
agiraient de sorte qu’il leur serait permis de s’occuper de
leurs autres intéréts. Ils réalisérent cependant assez rapide-
ment qu’ils avaient présumé un peu trop de ce que les fils
Dagenais pouvaient leur fournir d’aide et & ce sujet leur
projet ou plan ne se matérialisa pas. En face d’une telle
situation, Baronet, qui pouvait fournir cette gérance cons-
tante requise dans l'intérét de ce commerce, surgit et par
son offre d’acquisition réglait non seulement le probléme
Dagenais mais donnait en méme temps aux appelants un
motif financier qui les induisait 4 abandonner leur projet.
J’irai méme jusqu’s dire qu’il se pourrait également qu’ils
alent été heureux de fournir au gendre de I'appelant Demers
une opportunité commerciale.

Je ne puis cependant rien trouver dans la preuve qui
puisse me justifier de rejeter le témoignage assermenté des
appelants quant aux explications qu’ils ont données pour
justifier la revente de ce commerce si t6t aprés I'avoir acquis
et ici également leur témoignage 3 ce sujet ne fut pas mis en
question dans la transquestion.

Si cette explication est acceptée, et je I'accepte entiére-
ment, la revente rapide aprés 'acquisition ne donne lieu &
aucune inférence que cette revente avec profit a été une des
raisons motivant les appelants lorsqu’ils ont aequis ce com-
merce.



2 Ex.C.R. EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1965]

L’intimé s’appuie également sur une déclaration des appe-
lants dans I'entente écrite avec la famille Dagenais qu’ils
avaient l'intention «si tout allait bien de continuer & opérer
ce commerce de machineries et de piécesy comme indiquant
une «intention secondaires & 'effet que si tout n’allait pas
bien ils utiliseraient ce commerce autrement. Cette déclara-
tion qui apparait dans un document qui semble avoir été
rédigé par des hommes d’affaires doit étre lu, il me semble,
dans le contexte ou il apparait.

En effet, les appelants & ce moment s’organisaient pour
donner & la famille Dagenais un intérét de 45% dans ce
commerce et pour employer les deux fils Dagenais. Dans ces
circonstaneces, il ne me semble pas que ce soit une précaution
anormale que d’indiquer qu’ils avaient I'intention de conti-
nuer d’opérer ce commerce seulement aussi longtemps que
tout marchait bien. Ceci non plus, & mon sens, n’indique pas
une intention de revendre 'entreprise commerciale comme
étant une possibilité motivante dans 'esprit des appelants &
ce moment. )

Je me dois aussi de relever la proposition avancée a
Iencontre des appelants par la Commission d’appel de
I'impdt & Veffet que §'il doit y avoir un accroissement de
capital, cet accroissement doit &tre un accroissement natu-
rel, c’est-a-dire que cela doit étre le résultat de circonstances
qui ne dépendent pas des activités des individus. Il y est dit
en effet qu’il doit &tre établi que «le profit représentait bien
une plus-value du terrain et des actions qui était dii & des
circonstances ou & des événements ne se rattachant pas &
Pactivité et a la volonté des appelantss. Il ne me semble pas
que cette déclaration refléte la position légale qu’on doit
prendre en vertu de la Lot de Pimpét sur le revenu. En effet,
si un profit est un profit provenant d’un commerce ou d’'une
initiative d’'une nature ou d’un caractére commercial, il est
imposable. Si le profit est fait par la vente d’une propriété
qui n’a pas été faite dans le cours d’'un commerce ou d'une
telle initiative, il n’est pas imposable. I1 est également clair
que la vente par quelqu’un de toute son entreprise d’affaires
ou commerciale (autrement que par un moyen prévu a Iart.
85E de la loi) n’est pas une transaction imposable. Il se
pourrait en effet q